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AMHERST TOWN COUNCIL 
AGENDA – WEDNESDAY, JANUARY 10, 2018 

Reception at 6:30 p.m.   
Meeting at 7:00 p.m. 

Town Hall, 174 S. Main Street, Amherst, VA  24521 
 
 
A. Reception – A reception will be held at 6:30 p.m. commemorating the service of Carrie Brown, welcoming Sara 

Carter as the new Town Manager and thanking Pete Huber for serving as Interim Town Manager. 
 

B. Call to Order – 7:00 p.m. - Mayor Tuggle 
 

C. Pledge of Allegiance - I pledge allegiance to the Flag of the United States of America, and to the Republic for which it stands, 

one Nation under God, indivisible, with liberty and justice for all. 

 
D. Invocation - Any invocation that may be offered before the official start of the Amherst Town Council meeting shall be the 

voluntary offering to, and for, the benefit of the Council. The views or beliefs expressed by the invocation speaker have not been 
previously reviewed or approved by Council and do not necessarily represent the religious beliefs or views of the Council in part 
or as a whole. No member of the audience is required to attend or participate in the invocation, and such decision will have no 
impact on their right to participate actively in the business of the Council. Copies of the policy governing invocations and setting 
forth the procedure by which a volunteer may deliver an invocation are available upon request at the Town Hall. 

 
E. Citizen Comments - Per the Town Council’s policy, any individual desiring to speak before the Council who has not met the 

agenda deadline requirement will be allowed a maximum of three minutes to speak before the Town Council. Any individual 
representing a bona fide group will be allowed a maximum of five minutes to speak before the Town Council. Placement on the 
agenda is at the Mayor’s discretion. 
 

F. Welcome of Sara Carter as the New Town Manager – Ms. Carter began her duties as our new Town Manager on 
Wednesday, January 10, 2018.  We welcome her to her first meeting.  For those who may not have met her at the 
December meeting, attached is the press release regarding her hiring and her resume.   

 
G. Public Hearings and Presentations  

 
1. Special Use Permit to allow light manufacturing at 488 South Main Street (Brockman building) – Pete Huber 

Attached is a special use permit application to allow light manufacturing and processing of electrical equipment 
and components in the former Brockman facility.  In this application, Mr. Catlett has provided a statement 
regarding his plans for the reuse of the building, a picture of the building and pictures of products proposed to 
be worked on or packaged in the building. 
 

A public hearing was been scheduled, and advertised.  Attached are the following items related to this 

application: 

a. Special Use Permit Application  
b. Advertising notice 
c. Notice to adjacent property owners 
d. A listing of property owners to whom a notice was mailed  
e. The sign affidavit  
f. Table of Zoning Uses  
g. Excerpt from Comprehensive Plan regarding Economic Development  
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ec. 18.1-302.126 of the Town Zoning Ordinance, defines a special use permit as “A use of the land which may 

be allowed in a zoning district in which the land is situated subject to the approval of the Town Council, after a 

public hearing thereon.”   

The attached table of zoning uses, specifies that light manufacturing may be allowed in a B-2 District as a 

special use.  This table allows for light manufacturing, processing or packaging of products (including machine 

shops without punch presses) provided all operations are conducted in a building which shall not have any 

opening other than a stationary window within 100 feet of a residential, agricultural or conservation district; 

shall not store or otherwise maintain any parts or waste material outside such building; and shall not create 

conditions of smoke, fumes, noise, odor or dust detrimental to health, safety or general welfare of the 

community; and shall be permanently screened from adjoining residential lots and districts by a wall, fence, 

evergreen hedge and/or other suitable enclosure of a minimum height of seven (7) feet at the original 

elevation of the property line. 

Mr. Catlett is aware of and agreeable to these standards.  If approved by the Town Council, the special use 

permit would remain with the property in the event that Mr. Catlett sold his business.  However, any new 

owner would be bound by the terms of the original application (see attachment 4a).  Thus, any changes from 

the activities described by Mr. Catlett would be binding on him and any future occupants of the property.  Only 

the Town Council would have the ability to amend the terms of the proposed special use permit using the same 

process of soliciting input from the Planning Commission and holding a public hearing as required for this initial 

proposal.  Attached is the portion of the Town’s Economic Development plan pertaining to economic 

development. 

Staff Report - Staff recommends approval of this request by the Planning Commission based on the need to 

reuse existing building.  The reuse of the Brockman building will reduce the number of vacant structures in the 

Town, while increasing employment opportunities for local citizens and help to further diversify the local 

economy. 

The Planning Commission considered the requested rezoning at their January meeting and unanimously 
recommended approval of the special use permit request.  
 

2. Annual Presentation of FOI and COIA Information – Attached is the most recent VML summary of the Freedom 
of Information Act (FOIA) and Conflict of Interest Act (COIA) regulations. 
 

H. Consent Agenda – Items on the consent agenda can be voted on as a block if all are in agreement with the 
recommended action or discussed individually. 

 
1. Town Council Minutes – Drafts of the December 13, 2017 meetings are attached. Please let Vicki Hunt or Pete 

Huber (540 440-0308) know of any concerns by Wednesday morning such that any needed corrections can be 
presented at the meeting. 
 

2. Water Treatment Plant Improvement Grant Acceptance – Attached is the grant award letter from the Virginia 
Department of Health.  Acceptance of this grant award is recommended. 
 

3. Organizational Assessment – Ken Watts – As discussed and approved at the December meeting, attached is a 
contract with the Berkley Group for the performance of an organizational assessment for the Town of Amherst 
to include one specific focus area on utilities at a total cost of $18,000.  The next step would be authorization for 
the Mayor to sign the agreement with the assessment due back to Council within 60 days. 
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4. Approval of FY2016-17 Audit Report – Attached is the completed audit report for the 2016-17 fiscal year for 
consideration and approval by Council following the November presentation by the auditor.  Once, approved, the 
auditing firm will prepare paper copies for distribution to Council members. 

 
I. Correspondence and Reports 

 
1. Planning Commission – December 6, 2017 meeting minutes - attached  

 
2. Staff Reports 

a. Interim Town Manager Monthly Report - attached 
b. Police Chief Monthly Report - attached 
c. Office Manager Monthly Report - attached 
d. Clerk of Council Monthly Report- attached 
e. Public Works Monthly Reports- attached 
f. Town Attorney Monthly Report – attached 

 
3. Council Committee Reports – see attached listing of committee responsibilities 

a. Finance Committee – Mrs. Carton  
b. Community Relations – Mr. Higginbotham 
c. Utilities Committee – Mr. Watts 

 
J. Discussion Items  
 

1. Purchase of New Police Vehicle – Bobby Shiflett – Staff recommends consideration to the purchase of a new 
police vehicle as previously included in the Town’s capital improvement budget. It is recommended that the Town 
move forward and purchase a new vehicle currently listed in the FY 17-18 budget.  In purchasing the new vehicle 
at this time, we would like to be able to keep the vehicle being replaced as a spare for the department.  If this 
concept is agreeable to the Council, Chief Shiflett will have all the cost associated with the vehicle purchase listed 
for further consideration by Council at the February meeting.   
 

2. Police Officer Work Space – Chief Shiflett and I recommend moving forward and upgrade the three officers’ 
current office space.  With concurrence of each of the affected employees, we recommend replacing the old desks 
in the office and install officer work stations.  The work station could be stand-alone units or preferably a built-in 
counter top along one wall with locking file cabinets underneath and cabinetry above the desk area on the left 
side of the office.  This plan would allow more space in the office and storage shelves then could be placed on the 
right back wall.  As with the above item, we would have prices for all these items for final consideration by the 
Council at the February meeting.   

 

Both the police vehicle and office improvement requests should be able to be made using the line items listed 
under the line item: 10-5000-5000 CIP & ONE TIME EXP.  General Fund Public Safety. 
 

3. Water Treatment Plant Improvement Bids – Pete Huber - Bids for the installation of sediment removal 
equipment will be received at 2:00 p.m. on Thursday, January 11, 2018.  In order for the project to continue 
moving forward as quickly as possible, it is recommended that Council delegate authorization to the utilities 
committee for tentative award of bids to be confirmed by Council at the January meeting. 
 

4. West Court Street Utility Line Replacement – Pete Huber - Bids for the replacement of water lines and a sewer 
force main will be received at 2 p.m. on Tuesday, January 16, 2018.  In order for the project to continue moving 
forward as quickly as possible, it is recommended that Council delegate authorization to the utilities committee 
for tentative award of bids to be confirmed by Council at the January meeting. 
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5. Bidding for Banking Services – Tracie Wright – Proposals for banking services were received on Friday, December 
15th.  Award of banking services to First National Bank is recommended based on the significant difference in 
costs.  In the overall picture, First National Bank would return a monthly return of $200 per month due to reduced 
minimum balance requirements allowing for investment of excess funds in a CD at First National or another bank 
as compared with a cost of $148 per month for their next closest competitor. 
 

6. RFP for Audit Services – Tracie Wright - The current audit contract is on a year-to-year basis.  Staff recommends 
consideration to soliciting proposals for a multi-year term of a minimum of three years with the option to extend 
it to five years at the option of the Council.  This change would provide both the Town and the auditing firm with 
the assurance of greater continuity from year to year.  
 

7. Credit for Leave Time – Pete Huber - Staff recommends consideration to crediting VRS time when calculating 
leave time for Town employees.  Currently employees only receive credit for time worked directly for the Town of 
Amherst.   This would help the Town in recruiting new employees and encourage employees to remain in VRS 
when changing jobs.  Crediting time worked for other localities would also match the approach taken by VRS 
when calculating years of service.  We anticipate this change would affect a total of four employees.   
 

8. Appointment to Joint Committee on Town County Cooperation – Pete Huber - Councilman Watts’ term on this 
committee expired on December 21, 2017.   
 

9. Door and Lock Replacements at Utility Plants – Gary Williams - Attached is a memo from Gary Williams 
requesting the repurposing of $13,218.50 for the replacement of doors and locks at various locations in the water 
and sewer systems.  Council had already budgeted these funds for maintenance improvements within the utility 
system.  Thus, this is a request for specific approval of how the funds would be used.  Attached are pictures of 
the current doors. 

 
K. Matters from Staff  
 
L. Matters from Town Council 

 
M. Anticipated Town Council Agenda Items for Next Month  
 
N. Citizen Comments 

 
O. Adjournment  
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PRESS RELEASE 

 

To:   Local Press   

 

From:   Pete Huber, Interim Town Manager 

 

Subject:  Hiring of Amherst Town Manager  

 

Date:  December 13, 2017 

 

 

The Amherst Town Council proudly announces the hiring of Sara Elizabeth Carter 

as its new Town Manager effective January 10, 2108. 

 

A graduate of Thomas Dale High School in Chesterfield County, Ms. Carter earned 

a bachelor’s degree in Government and Sociology from William and Marry in 

1993.  She went on to earn a master’s degree in Planning from the University of 

Virginia, graduating in 1995.   

 

Following graduation, she served as a Planner, Senior and Principal Planner for 

Chesterfield from 1995 through 2001 and from 2001 to January 2008 on a part-

time basis while raising her family.  Also while raising her family, she was the owner 

and creative Director of Appomattox Dance, LLC from 2008-2014.   

 

In January 2014 she began working for Cumberland County where she currently 

serves as the Planning Director and Zoning Administrator, Subdivision Agent, and 

the Erosion and Sediment Control Administrator.  During this time, she earned her 

Class 4 Water Operator’s License from the Virginia Department of Health having 

recently added the operation of Cumberland County’s water system to her 

duties. 

 

A resident of Appomattox, she has served on the Appomattox County Planning 

Commission since 2012 and on the Appomattox County Board of Supervisors since 

2014.  She did not run for re-election so her term will end on December31, 2017.   

 

The Town Council warmly welcomes Ms. Carter as Town Manager and Ms. Carter 

is excited about serving the Council, citizens and Town of Amherst businesses.  
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MEMO 
 
DATE:  December 15, 2017 
 
TO:  Dana Hubbard, Amherst New Era-Progress  
  

FROM: Pete Huber, Interim Town Manager PH 
 

 
Please print the ad below in the Amherst New Era Progress weekly paper on December 
21 and 28, 2017.   
 
A certificate of publication will be required for this advertisement. 
 
We request that the invoice be coded as: TC-PHN-180110.  
 
Thank you for your ongoing help in publicizing notices from the Town of Amherst. 
 
 

 

 
PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE 

 
The Town of Amherst Town Council will hold a public hearing at 7:00 PM on January 10, 2018 in the 
Council Chambers of the Town Hall at 174 South Main Street. The subject of the hearing is a special 
use permit requested by Reggie Catlett to allow JAK, LLC to do light machining and processing of 
electrical equipment and components in the former Brockman building located at 488 S. Main 
Street (TM#95A56). Documents relating to the request are available for public inspection at 
www.amherstva.gov and in the Town Hall during normal working hours. 
 



Name Address

Joyner T Jr. and Lois Dameron 1443 Northwood Circle Lynchburg, VA  24503

Steve T.  and Jerry L. Martin P. O. Box 308 Amherst, VA  24521

John S, Brenda J and Shelby A. Turner 732 Earley Farm Rd Amherst, VA  24521

June P. Driskill P. O. Box 95 Amherst, VA  24521

Kendall R & John P. Brockman P. O. Box 220 Amherst, VA  24521

VA State Police 515 South Main Street Amherst, VA  24521







AMHERST TOWN CODE 

   18.1-49.34 

 
TABLE 7.1 

A-1 R-1 R-2 T-1 R-3 R-4 B-1 CBD B-2 E-1 M-1 Description of Use 
 
ACCESSORY AND AGRICULTURAL USES 

     

P P P P P P P P P P P Accessory buildings and uses as provided in Section 901 herein.  
P P P P P P P P P P P Agricultural activities, including the raising of crops and animals, provided that agricultural use shall not be objectionable by 

reason of odor, dust, noise, pollution, erosion or drainage. 
       P P P P Antenna and equipment buildings associated with existing wireless telecommunication facilities as provided in Section 914 

herein. 
         P S Cemeteries. 
S S S P S S P P P   Church accessory uses involving 2,000 SF or more of building area, including day care centers, indoor recreation or 

fellowship halls, and schools. 
P P P P P P P P P P P Confined livestock facilities as provided in Section 916 herein. 
P S S S S S P P P   Home occupation in an accessory building to the main dwelling unit as provided in Section 905 herein.  
P P P P P P P P P   Home occupations within a dwelling unit as provided in Section 905 herein.  
P P P P P P P P P P P Public utilities: poles, lines, transformers, pipes, meters, and/or other facilities necessary for the provision and maintenance 

of public utilities; provided that electric service lines from the street property line to any residence or other permitted use 
shall be underground. Provided that only one line of poles will be allowed on any street. 

P P P P P P P P P P P Signs as provided in Section 908 herein. 
S S S S S S P P P P P Temporary uses including, but not limited to, sale of Christmas trees, tents for revivals, carnivals, but such use not 

permitted for a period to exceed four (4) months in any calendar year.  
 
RESIDENTIAL USES 

       

S S P P P P      Apartments in an existing single family dwelling. 
P S S P S S P P P   Bed and Breakfast lodging, provided that the owner and family must occupy the residence and own the business, the 

single-family dwelling appearance be maintained, and adequate off-street parking is provided to the rear of the front 
setback of the dwelling. 

P P P P P P P P P   Churches, manses, parish houses and adjacent cemeteries.  
P P P P P P P P P   Garages, private.  
P     S      Individual manufactured or modular homes nineteen (19) feet or greater in width placed on continuous masonry 

foundations.  
     S      Manufactured home parks, as provided in Section 913 herein. 
    P  P P P   Multi-family dwellings with an aggregate of three (3) or more units as specified in Section 906 herein. 
S S S S S S S S S   Planned unit developments, as provided in Section 917 herein. 
P P P P P P P P P   Single-family dwellings, except for mobile homes and manufactured homes.  
       P    Single family, two family and multifamily dwellings within a building that contains a business, provided that no dwelling shall 

be on the sidewalk-level floor of the front of the building. 
   P P  P P P   Townhouses, as provided in Section 912 herein, and condominiums.  
  P         Townhouses, as provided in Section 912 herein, with no more than four townhouses within any one development. 
P  P P P P P P P   Two-family dwelling units and semi-detached dwellings.  
 

(Amended June 10, 2013) 



AMHERST TOWN CODE 

   18.1-50.34 

 
A-1 R-1 R-2 T-1 R-3 R-4 B-1 CBD B-2 E-1 M-1 Description of Use 
COMMERCIAL USES      
       S S   Adult entertainment establishments. 
   P   P P P   Antique and gift shops.  
          S Arenas, auditoriums or stadiums. 
       P P  P Automobile laundry or car wash, provided that a paved area shall be located on the same lot for the storage of vehicles 

awaiting entrance to the washing process.  
       P P   Automobile service stations as provided in Section 902 herein.  
       P P  P Automobile, motor home, travel trailer, and mobile home sales (new and used) which need not be enclosed, but any 

mechanical or body repair must be conducted entirely within a structure which shall not have any opening, other than a 
stationary window, within 100 feet of a residential district and provided further that all vehicles on a used car sales lot must be 
in operating condition at all times.  

       S S   Automotive repair garage, mechanical and body, provided all operations are conducted in a building which shall not have any 
opening other than a stationary window within 100 feet of a residential district and which shall not store or otherwise maintain 
any parts or waste material outside such building.  

       P P   Bakeries employing not more than ten (10) persons other than clerks and vehicle drivers. 
      S P P   Banks and savings and loan institutions.  
       S S   Bowling alleys, roller skating and ice skating rinks, billiard parlors, pool rooms, dance halls, game rooms, pinball parlors, 

electronic game centers, golf driving ranges, and similar forms of amusement.  
       P P   Building materials dealer, not including handling of bulk materials such as sand and gravel.  
       S S   Building materials dealer.  
       P P   Catering establishments.  
   P   P P P   Clinics and medical offices.  
       P P   Convenience stores; In the event that gasoline or fuel is sold together with any other uses allowed in this district there must 

be compliance with Section 9 of this ordinance. 
 S S P S S P P P   Day care centers.  
      S P P   Drug stores and other establishment for the filling of prescriptions and sale of pharmaceutical and similar supplies.  
      P P P  P Emergency services.  
       P P   Agricultural, farm and lawn machinery display, sales and services, provided that all inoperable machinery must not be visible 

from any public right of way. 
       S S  P Feed and seed stores.  
   P   P P P   Funeral homes.  
       P P   Furniture stores.  
       S S  P Garages, private and public.  
S           Golf driving ranges.  
      S P P   Grocery stores.  
       P P   Hardware stores.  
          P Kennels.  
          P Laboratories, pharmaceutical or medical.  
       P P   Machinery sales and services.  
       P P   Motels, motor hotels and motor inns.  
      P P P   Newsstands.  
S           Nonmotorized bicycle (motorcross) racing facilities.  
          S Outdoor theaters, provided the face of the screen is not visible from any arterial or collector streets located within 2,000 feet 

of such screen.  
       S S   Pest exterminating businesses.  



AMHERST TOWN CODE 

   18.1-51.34 

 
A-1 R-1 R-2 T-1 R-3 R-4 B-1 CBD B-2 E-1 M-1 Description of Use 
       P P   Printing plants and newspaper offices.  
   P   P P P   Professional office buildings.  
       P P   Radio and TV offices and studios.  
       P P   Restaurants.  
          P Retail and wholesale greenhouses and nurseries.  
       P P   Retail automotive parts stores.  
      S P P   Retail nurseries with greenhouses.  
       S p   Retail sales and services not specifically delineated herein, provided all items offered for sale are either  

screened from view or under roof.  
   P   P P P   Retail service stores such as bakeries, barber shops, beauty parlors, shoe shops, self-service laundries, and establishments 

for receiving and distributing articles for laundering, drying and dry cleaning. 
          P Sale of products produced on the premises.  
       P P   Satellite dish antenna sales and service establishments.  
       S S   Self-service mini-storage and warehouse facilities. 
       P P   Shopping centers as provided in Section 909 herein. 
       P P   Theaters, indoor.  
   S   S P P   Time-shares. 
       S S   Veterinary hospitals and clinics.  
   S    P P   Videotape sales and rental establishments.  
      P P P   Wearing apparel stores.  
       S S S S Wireless telecommunication facilities as provided in Section 914 herein. 
 
INSTITUTIONAL USES 

     

      P P P   Clubs and lodges, fraternal, civic and patriotic.  
      S P P   Community centers  
       S S   Day care centers.  
      S P P P P Government office buildings, including buildings occupied any local, regional, state or federal agency including courthouses. 
   P P  P P P   Hospitals and nursing homes.  
       S S S S Jails 
   P   P P P   Public and private schools and accompanying dormitories and facilities.  
   P   P P P   Public libraries.  
P P P P P P P P P   Public parks and playgrounds provided recreational facilities shall not be less than two hundred fifty (250 feet from any 

residential lot line.  
S           School support facilities. 
     P P P P   Social, civic, patriotic and recreational clubs, lodges and fraternal orders.  
   P   P P P   U.S. Post Offices.  
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   18.1-52.34 

 
A-1 R-1 R-2 T-1 R-3 R-4 B-1 CBD B-2 E-1 M-1 Description of Use 
INDUSTRIAL USES          
       P P   Carpentry and cabinet making shops.  
       P P   Cold storage plants and frozen food lockers not including lard rendering and abattoirs.  
       S S  S Contractor facilities and storage yards and establishments for installation and servicing products with outside storage of 

materials and machinery.  
       P P  P Contractor facilities not involving outside storage of materials and machinery. 
       P P   Dry cleaning plants.  
          P Frozen food processors, lockers and ice manufacturing.  
       S S  P Light manufacturing, processing or packaging of products (including machine shops without punch presses) provided all 

operations are conducted in a building which shall not have any opening other than a stationary window within 100 feet of a 
residential, agricultural or conservation district; shall not store or otherwise maintain any parts or waste material outside such 
building; and shall not create conditions of smoke, fumes, noise, odor or dust detrimental to health, safety or general welfare 
of the community; and shall be permanently screened from adjoining residential lots and districts by a wall, fence, evergreen 
hedge and/or other suitable enclosure of a minimum height of seven(7) feet at the original elevation of the property line.  

          P Manufacturing, processing, fabricating, assembling, distributing or packaging of products including, but not limited to: 
business equipment, die-cut paperboard and cardboard; glass products made of purchased glass; electrical lighting and 
wiring equipment; dairy products; baked and confectioners goods; fruit and vegetable processing, canning and storage; 
electronic components; professional, scientific, engineering; laboratory, or research instruments; electronic computing 
instruments; iron and steel, musical instruments; toys; rubber and metal stamps; photographic equipment; drugs; fire 
extinguisher; sporting and athletic goods, lithographic and printing processes; radio and television receiving sets; appliances; 
watches; clocks; and optical goods.  

          P Moving and storage establishments.  
      S S S  P Oil and gas exploration, extraction and production, provided the provisions of Sections 45.1-106 through 45.1-144 (45.1-286 

through 45.1-361) Code of Virginia, 1950, as amended, and the oil and gas rules and regulations promulgated by the Virginia 
Department of Labor and Industry are adhered to.  

P           Packing and distribution plants for horticultural products, provided such plants are incidental to agricultural operation of the 
property on which such plants are located.  

          P Printing establishments.  
          S Processing and sale of milk and milk products, both wholesale or retail.  
       S S  S Radio and TV transmission towers (provided the tower is so located that its minimum distance from any lot line shall equal 

the maximum height of the tower above ground level).  
       S S  S Radio and TV transmitters.  
       S S   Shopping centers as provided in Section 909 herein.  
       S S  P Sign manufacturing.  
          P Soft drink and bottling plants.  
       S S  P Tire recapping, provided all operations are conducted in a building which shall not have any opening other than a stationary 

window within 100 feet of a residential district and which shall not store or otherwise maintain any parts or waste material 
outside such building.  

          P Transportation terminals and facilities.  
          S Truck stops as provided in Section 903 herein.  
       S S  P Warehousing operations.  
       S S  S Welding, blacksmith, or machine shops, excluding punch presses.  
       S S  P Wholesale and jobbing establishments.  
          S Yards for storage and/or sale of coal, petroleum products, or flammable gases, .  
       S S  S Yards for storage and/or sale of lumber, building materials, or contracting equipment. 
         P  Uses listed in Section 18.1-707.02 of this ordinance. 



15. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 

Earlier portions of this Comprehensive Plan outline historical and current economic conditions in the Town 
of Amherst.  They discuss some of the barriers to and opportunities for its future economic stability.  This 
Economic Development Plan outlines the strategies and actions that the Town of Amherst will use to 
maintain an economically secure future. 
 
The Town of Amherst’s philosophy in developing its Economic Development Plan is that the community 
can best support a sound economic development effort by reducing regulatory hurdles, fostering the private 
sector’s ability to support economic development, and encouraging government agencies to develop 
programs and projects that will support the community’s economic well-being.  The Town desires to achieve 
the same goals as other communities such as:  

 facilitating the creation of more and better jobs; 
 improving the overall tax base relative to the overall cost of providing services; 
 diversifying the economic base as insurance against industry downturns, strikes and 

company downsizing; 
 ensuring an effective infrastructure to meet growth and technology demands; and 
 ensuring availability to cultural, environmental and natural resources which enhance the 

quality of life for the residents of the community. 
 
Like every other community, the Town of Amherst will work to meet these goals by improving the 
competitive position of the Town and surrounding region, attracting new business and industry and 
innovative economic opportunities, providing support to existing industry and commercial enterprises, and 
protecting and enhancing cultural and natural resources.  The Town of Amherst will work to maintain its 
position as the major center for commerce and industry in northern Amherst County and an important 
economic development zone for the Lynchburg Metropolitan Statistical Area.  
 
The Town of Amherst has defined its role in these activities as summarized within this Economic 
Development Plan. The Town’s economic development program centers on the following initiatives which 
are outlined in more detail below: 

 Supporting the Brockman Park project; 
 Fostering the reinvigoration of the downtown area; and 
 Supporting other local, regional and state agencies in their economic development 

initiatives. 
 
Brockman Park 
Background 
The Town of Amherst’s L. Barnes Brockman, Sr. Business and Industrial Park on U.S. Route 60 East 
consists of over 140 usable acres divided into 16 commercial and industrial sites. Streets, water lines, sewer 
lines, electricity, and fiber optic telecommunication cables have been installed to serve the sites. Thirteen 
sites ranging in size from 2 to 33 acres remain available for occupancy.  The Town has invested $3,000,000 
in the project, and the Town’s goal is to recover these monies through taxes, land sales, and grants in the 
coming years.  Brockman Park is also located in Amherst County, and as the benefits of that development 
will accrue to both the Town and County the two governments have an arrangement to jointly and 
aggressively market the sites.  
 
Generally, the range of potential commercial and light industrial uses allowed in the park is extremely broad 
as defined by the Town of Amherst zoning ordinance.  More practically, however, the range of uses for 
Brockman Park is likely to reflect those already in the region.  Most probably the first two tiers of smaller 
lots (2-7 acres) off U.S. Route 60 will prove most attractive to a limited range of light manufacturers 
(machine shops, assembly of pre-manufactured parts, printing, etc.), area distributors taking advantage of 
the Lynchburg/U.S. Route 29 Bypass, small technology firms, and service businesses that do not rely on 
retail traffic. In time, the potential exists for a developer to purchase one or two lots on which to build several 



speculative office buildings or production space that can be used by small growing businesses and start-
ups. Larger lots at the rear of the development offer potential for heavier taxable investment in plant and 
machinery, plus a greater number of jobs. For these reasons, the larger lots are being reserved for 
manufacturers, processors, large-scale data centers, etc. rather than storage yards, freight terminals, and 
warehouses.  
 

Figure 8: Brockman Park Master Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Geographic Target Markets 
Over the past decades, Amherst and surrounding areas have been beneficiaries of business expansions 
and relocations when business operators consider locations for their companies.  Amherst offers 
opportunities (land, utilities, access) capable of handling both new and growing businesses. Existing firms 
can account for as much as 70%-80% of all new growth in a region in any given year and Amherst is able 
to meet the growth projected in the region at Brockman Park.�
 
A second market opportunity for Brockman Park tenants is relocations from outside Region 2000 and State 
of Virginia. Continued movement of firms will take place nationally and internationally, and the Town and 
County of Amherst are positioned with an industrial park that can prove attractive.  Most probably, the larger 
sites, numbers 13-16, will offer the greatest potential for this type of relocation. 

Marketing Message 
In marketing Brockman Park, representatives of the Town and County of Amherst will have to be prepared 
to convey two themes: 
 

(a) Community Characteristics -- All persons working with clients must be fully aware of and be 
able to recite a range of community information important to representatives of prospective 
businesses; and the means must be available to document such information. Topics such as cost-
of-living, the quality of schools, work force training, recreational opportunities, supporting services 
(machine shops, computer support, medical services, etc.) are important and must be addressed 
to business visitors. Regional partners are expected to provide considerable assistance in this 



regard, but more specific local data is always required. These community characteristics, which 
also involve resources of the region, must “sell” the client on Amherst as a general location. These 
will probably be most important to relocations outside of Region 2000 as local firms will already 
have basic knowledge or will determine many such matters to be unimportant. 
 
(b) Site Specific Characteristics -- The “message” on Brockman Park must project the reasons to 
select this particular physical location over others in the region. Characteristics on which marketing 
is to be based include (1) sites for a variety of commercial-industrial uses in a semi-rural 
environment; (2) waterlines, sewer lines, streets, electricity, and fiber which have already been 
installed to serve all sites; (3) availability of County and Town services; (4) the major improved 
industrial park on the north/south U.S. 29 axis between Charlottesville and Lynchburg; and (5) 
location at the northern terminus of Lynchburg’s U.S. 29 Bypass, providing access to a majority of 
businesses and population in the region within 30 minutes. Together, these are the factors that will 
distinguish the Brockman Park from others with which it will compete. Staff, local elected 
representatives, and members of the AIDA all should be able to convey these themes.  

 
Brochures have been developed and need to be maintained. These documents will be used in several 
ways: 

 
(a) Town-County Cooperation - to highlight Town and County characteristics and convey the fact 
that the communities have a solid working relationship. 
 
(b) Outside Relocations - Virginia Economic Development Partnership, American Electric Power, 
economic development consultants, and other groups and agencies who could be a first point of 
contact for companies locating facilities in Virginia will be solicited for their assistance and provided 
sufficient brochures for their use. Note that this is a repetitive process taking advantage of all 
opportunities to convey the Amherst message. It is not realistic to expect immediate dividends from 
this effort as it will take time to fully educate many of these “allies” on the potential in Amherst. 
 
(c) Regional Expansions and Relocations - Again, probably the greatest potential for success 
lies in the Region 2000 target market area. The Town will put forth a strong effort to provide 
information through word of mouth, flyers and web sites explaining the merits of a Brockman Park 
location with those businesses/persons that might influence another business location. These 
include area banks, engineering firms, realtors, attorneys, existing Amherst businesses, utilities, 
and others to be identified. Help in spreading information about the park will be sought from entities 
such as the Amherst County Chamber of Commerce, Sweet Briar College, local and regional 
publications, and regional groups. This, most particularly, must be a repetitive process that sets a 
“state-of-mind” in the region for Amherst as a preferred business location. 

Framework for Negotiating with Potential Tenants 
A number of factors/guidelines that establish the framework within which Brockman Park lots will be offered 
have been established. None of these guidelines are considered absolutely rigid, but deviation while 
negotiating a transaction will require considerable justification. The factors are as follows: 

 
(a) Asking prices – Lots in Brockman Park are priced according to size, location and desirability. 
The prices shown on the master plan graphic above should be considered a starting point for 
negotiations. 
 
(b) Incentives - The base price of each site can be reduced in value/cost by up to the total (Town 
and county) taxes that will be paid in 3-5 years by a new development. This formula will make it 
possible to obtain highly competitive costs for sites when factoring both County and Town taxes, to 
the extent that a reduction could easily get to the $10,000 per acre or less price point on many 
sites. 
 
(c) Real Estate Commissions - Commissions on the sale of sites will be paid at the rate of 6% to 
properly registered realtors/brokers.  



 
(d) Project Responsibility - Development of all projects on behalf of the Town of Amherst will be by 
the Town of Amherst Industrial Authority. Projects will be recommended by the Authority to the 
Town Council for final acceptance or rejection. 

 
Downtown Reinvigoration 
The Town of Amherst has recently focused much attention on how to improve its downtown area. This 
culminated in a consultant’s study on economic restructuring and improving downtown Amherst’s physical 
attributes. The vision articulated in the study is that: 

 Downtown Amherst will position itself as the quaint downtown destination for local residents and 
visitors in the greater Amherst area; 

 Downtown Amherst will become the center of community activity where residents and visitors can 
gather in a pleasant, pedestrian-friendly environment; 

 Downtown Amherst will strengthen its existing retail base and recruit new businesses and 
investments while ultimately becoming a more complete center with new shops, restaurants, and 
residences; and 

 Town allies will be active partners with the goal of promoting downtown, recruiting businesses and 
enhancing the whole community. 

 
To achieve this vision, the Town of Amherst will employ the following policies:  

Branding and Promotion 
One of the outcomes of the study was a branding campaign that would use the logo shown below. The 
Town will encourage the use of adopted logo materials as a way to promote the identity of downtown 
Amherst. Possible extension of this uniform branding to other organizations and efforts include web sites, 
e-blasts, brochures and maps, promotional materials developed and used by Amherst County and regional 
agencies and the Amherst County Chamber of Commerce. 
 
 

Figure 9: Amherst Brand 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Technology 
The Town of Amherst recognizes the increasing role that technology plays in a community’s success. In 
support of this, the Town will continue to maintain and improve its web site. 
 
There is an increased emphasis on technology infrastructure, technology and business facilities for new 
businesses, and development of a technology zone with appropriate local incentives. The Town will pursue 
opportunities that will encourage bringing technology jobs to the community. For instance, the Town might 
develop a component or an extension of Brockman Park for technology specialties, or even downtown, 
where technology businesses are encouraged with special tax and other incentives as is found in 
technology zones per Virginia Code Section 58.1-3850 which gives communities the ability to provide tax 
breaks and other incentives to attract and retain technology businesses. 



Festivals and Events 
Healthy downtowns often feature events and festivals. The Town will continue to support events that feature 
enjoyable activities held in downtown Amherst. Currently the Town has two classic car shows annually, 
there is a weekly farmers market during the summer which features locally grown produce and homemade 
items. The High School has an annual “Iron Man 5k” event on S. Main Street.  

Downtown Organization 
Many organizations and individuals are interested in improving downtown Amherst. Along with the Town of 
Amherst, these include downtown merchants and business operators, local service clubs and community 
groups, the Amherst County Chamber of Commerce and Amherst County. To facilitate the promotion and 
improvement of the downtown area, the Town will provide non-financial support for the creation of an 
organization that will coordinate downtown revitalization efforts. This organization should be developed 
based on the “main street” model promoted by the National Trust for Historic Preservation. 

Parking 
It is recognized that increased activity in downtown Amherst will aggravate the problems associated with 
the availability of parking spaces there. This problem will be addressed under the transportation section of 
the Comprehensive Plan. 

Signage 
With the goal of welcoming newcomers, visitors and tourists, the Town will develop and install a downtown 
wayfarer signage program - for the benefit of both walkers and motorists - as time and funding permits. The 
benefits of this would be to direct individuals to appropriate in-town venues such as the courthouse, 
museum, library, and various government offices as well as restaurants and retail outlets. 
 
Support for Local, Regional and State Groups 
The Town has many partners in economic development and will endeavor to support their activities as 
benefits the Town of Amherst as follows: 

Amherst County Chamber of Commerce 
The stated mission of the voluntary association of the individuals and companies interested in promoting 
commerce in Amherst County known as the Amherst County Chamber of Commerce is “To advance 
commercial, industrial, professional domestic and global interests in Amherst County and its trade area; to 
increase members' presence; to be of service to members in any way we can help for..."Your business is 
our business.” 
 
Chamber activities include community outreach via various publications and brochures, maintenance of a 
website (www.amherstvachamber.com), distribution of relocation and travel packets, a customer-to-
customer and business-to-business referral service, sponsorship of networking opportunities and promotion 
of community events. The Town will support these activities through its chamber membership and 
participation in many of the activities that more directly benefit the Town of Amherst if, for no other reason, 
it would fall to Amherst County or the Town of Amherst to provide those functions if the Chamber did not 
exist. 

Amherst County 
In recent years Amherst County has greatly expanded its economic development effort by providing staff 
dedicated to that area, funding tourism and industrial park development, and creating a county industrial 
development authority. Recent and ongoing county initiatives include: 

 Developing the capacity, programs and facilities necessary to attract new business 
investment and employment to the area; 

 Completion of a comprehensive economic development strategy; 
 Creating and maintaining a website to promote the area as a place to visit, live and do 

business; 
 Supporting incentives for local business investment; 



 Promoting the retention and growth of existing local businesses and working to remove the 
restraints on the growth of existing local businesses; 

 Promoting and expanding recreation, tourism and cultural opportunities in the area via 
development of a visitors center and promotion of local events and destinations; and 

 Sponsoring a branch of Central Virginia Community College in the Town of Amherst. 
 
The Town of Amherst will support these activities since they will benefit the Town’s residents and business 
operators. In particular, the Town will endeavor to support the county’s tourism promotion initiatives as they 
evolve and expand in the coming years. 

Region 2000 Local Government Council 
Many of the Town’s residents work in areas south of Amherst County, most notably in and near the City of 
Lynchburg. Lynchburg is also the regional hub for commerce with the only malls and services such as 
hospitals and airports. As a formal recognition that the Town of Amherst is strongly linked economically to 
the region, the Town is included by the Bureau of the Census in the Lynchburg Metropolitan Statistical 
Area. 
 
In general, Region 2000’s work plan includes: 

 Cultivating a capable workforce;  
 Supporting the region’s existing businesses and attracting new businesses and new jobs; 

and 
 Assisting the chambers of commerce and other economic development organization in 

promoting our region to the world 
 
Specifically, the Region 2000 Local Government Council serves as a catalyst to creating more wealth in 
Region 2000 communities, better jobs and higher incomes for Region 2000 citizens, greater earnings for 
Region 2000 companies, and larger tax bases for Region 2000 communities through activities related to: 
 

 Workforce Recruitment and Training – Deliver effective recruitment programs to help businesses 
find a qualified workforce of professionals, college graduates, and technology-based employees; 
stimulate appropriate and measurable career and technical education programs to assist filling 
entry-level positions. 

 
 Economic Development Planning– Preparation and maintenance of the regional comprehensive 

economic development strategy. 
 
 Communication and Metrics – Provide stakeholders, public officials, and citizens of Region 2000 

with information that illustrates measurable objectives and achievements. 
 
The Town will support these activities through its membership in Region 2000 organizations and 
participation as appropriate in the organization’s activities and the operations of its affiliates. 
 

Virginia Economic Development Partnership 
The Virginia Economic Development Partnership provides marketing, economic and demographic 
information, and site selection information for the whole Commonwealth of Virginia. The VEDP works on a 
national and international level to promote Virginia for economic development. The most direct way this 
organization supports the Town of Amherst is via its detailed research on available industrial sites, 
proposing Town sites to major investor/employer prospects, and coordination of site visits by those 
prospects. 
 
The Town is well represented by direct participation of Amherst County and Region 2000 in many of the 
VEDP’s activities. The Town of Amherst will support future VEDP initiatives as appropriate to the Town as 
they develop. 
�
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Introduction
June 2017
THIS UPDATED GUIDE is designed to help local 
government officials understand their responsibili-
ties under the Virginia Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA), Virginia Conflict of Interests Act (COIA) and 
Virginia Public Records Act.

Each of the acts requires council members and cer-
tain other elected and appointed officials to read and 
familiarize themselves with the three sets of laws.

This 2017 Virginia Municipal League publication 
explains both laws in non-legal terms as much as pos-
sible.  It is not written for lawyers, though we hope it 
will be useful for attorneys, too.

Updates throughout this publication, including 
those explaining changes in the law made by the 2017 
General Assembly, were written by VML.*   

While FOIA and COIA constitute a large part of 
the rules of conduct for state and local government 
officials, local officials might also want to consult a pub-
lication produced by VML and George Mason Univer-
sity on ethical conduct.  The Ethical GPS, Navigating 
Everyday Dilemmas is a comprehensive guide to ethics.  
VML encourages city and town council members to 
consult it when questions arise about the propriety of a 
course of action.

*The code was compiled by VML. We urge you tlo compare with 
the online Virginia Code after July 1.
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Virginia Freedom of 
Information Act

Guide for Local Government Officials
Introduction

The Virginia Freedom of Information Act was 
enacted by the General Assembly in 1968. In the years 
since, the law has undergone major revisions and has 
been modified annually to address new situations. The 
2017 version includes the culmination of a comprehen-
sive three-year study of the Virginia Freedom of Infor-
mation Act (“Act”) conducted by the Virginia FOIA 
Advisory Council.

Local public officials are required to read and 
familiarize themselves with the law. § 2.2-3702(ii). This 
guide provides useful assistance in meeting that obliga-
tion. Many provisions of the act address state agencies 
and other matters that do not concern local govern-
ments. Those provisions are not discussed. This guide 
will help local officials become familiar with their 
obligations under the law. 

The Freedom of Information Act Advisory Coun-
cil (“FOIA Council”), through its staff, provides local 
officials with timely information about the act that 
will assist in compliance. Contact information for the 
staff is found later in this report and can be found at       
http://foiacouncil.dls.virginia.gov/.

This guide has two major sections – meetings of a 
public body and records of a public body. The term 
“public body” will be used to generally describe any 
locally elected public body, such as city and town 
councils, as well as county boards and committees of 
all such bodies. Where a difference exists in the act’s 
requirements for a specific type of local elected public 
body, the difference is noted.

Purpose of the act
FOIA generally determines how local public bodies 

must conduct their meetings, from city council sessions 
to a citizen advisory committee recommending where 
to locate a new sidewalk. The act also regulates the 
public’s access to local government records. 

The guiding principle of FOIA is openness. The 
act aims to “[ensure] the people of the Commonwealth 
ready access to records in the custody of public officials 

and free entry to meetings of public bodies wherein 
the business of the people is being conducted.” § 2.2-
3700(B). The section further declares that “the affairs 
of government are not intended to be conducted in an 
atmosphere of secrecy since at all times the public is to 
be the beneficiary of any action taken at any level of 
government.” Id.

Thus, FOIA attempts to ensure that Virginia’s citi-
zens have the ability to observe how their elected public 
officials are conducting public business. 

What’s New
In 2014, House Joint Resolution No. 96 directed 

the FOIA Council to study all exemptions to FOIA to 
determine if they were still appropriate and necessary.  
This year the General Assembly passed two major 
omnibus bills that stemmed from the study.  One of 
the significant changes was the addition on the FOIA 
Council website of an online comment form.  Locali-
ties with a population greater than 250 are required to 
post a link to this comment form.  Legislation in 2017 
also required the FOIA Council to create and provide 
training for FOIA officers.   This complements last 
year’s bill that required each locality with a population 
of more than 250 to designate a FOIA Officer, pro-
vide yearly training either through the FOIA Council 
or their designated attorney, and post both the FOIA 
officer’s contact information and FOIA rights and re-
sponsibilities on its website.  The relevant changes and 
legislation are noted in the general discussion below, 
along with several other important pieces of legislation 
related to public access. 

I. Notices.
During both the 2016 and 2017 legislative ses-

sions, a lot of new notice requirements were placed on 
localities.  All local public bodies shall designate and 
publicly identify one or more FOIA officers who will be 
responsible for FOIA requests in their locality.  In addi-
tion, they must be trained annually by either the FOIA 
Council or their locality’s attorney. §2.2-3704.2.  The 
name of the designated officer/officers must be provid-



4 2016-2017 Virginia Freedom of  Information Act | Conflict of  Interests Act | Virginia Public Records Act          

ed to the FOIA Council by July 1st of each year.  
Any city or town with a population of more than 

250 shall now post rights and responsibilities on their 
website. §2.2-3704.1.   A template of the rights and re-
sponsibilities is available on the FOIA Council website 
and can be easily adapted to any locality.  

Cities and towns with a population of more than 
250 shall also include a link on their official govern-
ment public website to an online public comment form 
that will be on the FOIA Council’s website.  

Notice of date, time and location of a public meet-
ing should be posted on the official government website 
if there is one and also the usual places: in a public lo-
cation where notices are usually posted and at the office 
of the clerk or if there is no clerk, the officer of the chief 
administrator. §2.2-3707.   

If a meeting is continued; notice shall be given to 
the public contemporaneously with the notice to the 
members of the public body conducting the meeting. 
§2.2-3708.

II. Meetings.
The basic principle of FOIA is that all meetings 

of public bodies are open to the public. Section 2.2-
3700(B) makes this clear:

All public records and meetings shall be presumed 
open, unless an exemption is properly invoked. The 
provisions of this chapter shall be liberally construed 
to promote an increased awareness by all persons of 
governmental activities and afford every opportunity to 
citizens to witness the operations of governments. Any 
exemption from public access to meetings shall be nar-
rowly construed and no shall be meeting closed to the 
public unless specifically made exempt pursuant to this 
chapter or other specific provision of law.

Nevertheless, the act contains numerous excep-
tions to the open meeting requirement. Some issues 
may be discussed in a meeting closed to the public. For 
instance, public bodies may hold a closed meeting if an 
open discussion will lead to the release of information 
that certain other state laws require to be kept secret. 
See § 2.2-3711(A)(26), (33), (34). Still, the fact that a 
meeting may be closed does not mean that it must be or 
even should be closed. Furthermore, any exceptions are 
to be narrowly construed.

A. Public body.
The open meeting requirements apply whenever 

a public body holds or participates in a meeting. The 
definition of “public body” is very broad. See § 2.2-

3701. City and town councils and county boards of 
supervisors obviously are included. All committees and 
subcommittees are included, whether any members 
of the local governing body serve on the committee. 
Citizen committees are included if the committee is 
charged with either carrying out some function for the 
public body or advising it.  Private police departments 
are included for the purpose of access to public records.  
FOIA specifically states that having citizen members 
does not exempt the body from the act.  Accordingly, 
a citizens’ committee formed by the city or town to 
advise where a park or school should be located would 
be a public body subject to FOIA.

A committee of a council is a public body, as noted 
above. Whether the committee is a standing commit-
tee or an ad hoc committee, it is subject to the act. If 
the chair of a four-member finance committee appoints 
two members to negotiate a contract or to carry out 
some other role, that subcommittee of the finance com-
mittee is also subject to the act.

B. What is a meeting?
City and town council meetings, county board 

meetings and committee meetings of a public body are 
certainly meetings regulated by the act. Like the defini-
tion of public body, the definition of meeting is broadly 
construed under § 2.2-3701, intending to capture any 
meeting where public business is transacted or dis-
cussed. A council work session is also a meeting, as is 
any other “informal assemblage” of as many as three 
members of a public body (or a quorum, if quorum is 
less than three members) where public business of the 
locality is discussed.

FOIA typically applies to public body gatherings 
irrespective of the meeting’s location. It doesn’t mat-
ter if a meeting is held in the council chambers or at a 
council retreat held out of the locality. 

Attendance at a VML Annual Conference or a Na-
tional League of Cities meeting is sometimes a touchy 
subject. Because of the broad definition of public meet-
ing, some councils and boards consider attendance at 
a state or national conference to be a meeting, and will 
comply with the notice requirements of the act (dis-
cussed below) to be on the safe side, even though there 
is no plan to discuss the locality’s public business. This 
action sometimes invokes a negative response from 
the media or citizens who complain that they can-
not attend the out-of-town meeting. Conversely, if the 
council doesn’t consider attendance at a conference to 
be a meeting, then the complaint becomes one that the 
council has left town for a private or secret meeting. 
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The best practice is to announce the conference at a 
council meeting, but not describe it as a meeting of the 
locality, and to strictly avoid discussing town, city, or 
county business while attending the conference.

A gathering of council does not create a meeting if 
public business is not discussed or carried out and the 
gathering was not called for the purpose of doing public 
business. § 2.2-3707. This section is aimed at allowing 
participation in community events or parties. Without 
this section, a citizen could criticize a council for hold-
ing a meeting if three members of council happen to 
show up at a community forum. 

The definition of meeting includes a gathering 
of two or more members of a public body to discuss 
public business. §2.2-3701.  It is not a meeting 1) when 
the discussion or transaction of any public business is 
no part or purpose of the gathering or attendance, 2) 
the gathering was not prearranged for the purpose of 
public business, or 3) if the attendees are at a public 
forum, debate, or candidate appearance that is held to 
inform the electorate and no public business is being 
transacted, even if the performance of members is a 
topic of discussion or debate at the gathering.  Finally, 
a meeting of employees for business purposes does not 
constitute a meeting, under the § 2.2-3701 definition.  

Number of public officials needed                  
to constitute a meeting

Obviously, any meeting of a council qualifies as 
a public meeting. For the purposes of the act, such a 
council meeting is created if a majority of council, or 
three members, regardless of how many are needed 
for a majority, get together and discuss public business.      
§ 2.2-3701. Therefore, if three members of a council 
meet to discuss or act on government business, that cre-
ates a council meeting for purposes of FOIA, even if it 
is not a meeting per the locality’s rules. 

In contrast, if the three members are on a com-
mittee and meet as the committee, that meeting is a 
committee meeting, not a council meeting. If addi-
tional council members attend a committee meeting, 
that does not necessarily convert the meeting from a 
committee meeting to a council meeting. This was 
established in a Winchester Circuit Court opinion in 
Shenandoah Publishing House, Inc. v. Winchester City Council, 
37 Va. Cir 149 (1995).   

Notice provisions
General notice requirements that are spelled out in 

the act must be followed in order to hold any meeting 
of a public body. The state code also contains numer-
ous specific notice and advertising requirements for 

particular types of public business. These specific, 
subject matter requirements apply only if the public 
body is discussing the relevant type of public business. 
Examples include notice of zoning actions (§ 15.2-2204) 
and adopting budgets (§ 15.2-2506). In all cases, the 
more general requirements in FOIA need to be fol-
lowed in addition to any other requirements. For all 
regular meetings of a council, committee, board, or 
other agency, notice must be posted on the body’s of-
ficial public government website if any, public bulletin 
board or prominent public location and in the council 
clerk’s office, or, if there is none in the office of the chief 
administrator. The notice must state the date, time 
and location of the meeting and must be posted at least 
three days before the date the meeting is to take place. 
§ 2.2-3707(C).

For regular meetings, a simple way to comply with 
this requirement is to post a single notice listing the 
information for all meetings of the next year. This 
way, nobody will forget to give notice of a regularly 
scheduled meeting. For special, emergency meetings 
or continued meetings, the notice must be reasonable 
given the circumstances. The notice must be given to 
the public contemporaneously with the notice to the 
members being called to attend. § 2.2-3707(D).

Any person may file an annual request for notice of 
all meetings. In that case, the public body must notify 
the person making the request of all meetings. Sending 
the annual schedule of all regular meetings will assist in 
complying with this obligation. If the requester supplies 
an e-mail address, all notices may be sent via e-mail, 
unless the person objects. § 2.2-3707(E).

If a citizen submits an e-mail address and other 
personal information, such as a home address, to the 
locality for the purpose of being notified of meetings 
and other events, that e-mail address and other infor-
mation need not be disclosed to others by the locality, 
pursuant to § 2.2-3705.1(10), but only if the person who 
has submitted the e-mail address requests the non-
disclosure. Localities that are interested in keeping 
e-mail addresses private may want to send an e-mail to 
all e-mail recipients asking them to advise whether they 
want to have their e-mail address withheld and should 
have a check-box asking if the person wants to opt out 
of disclosure on the webpage where citizens sign up.

Meeting minutes
Minutes of council meetings must be taken at all 

open meetings. § 2.2-3707(H). Minutes must be writ-
ten and include the meeting’s date, time, and location, 
along with attendance, a summary of discussed mat-
ters, and any votes taken. Minutes of council commit-
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tee meetings are required to be taken only if a majority 
of the members of the council serve on the committee. 

Draft minutes and any audio or video record-
ing made of a meeting are available to the public for 
inspection and copying. § 2.2-3707(H). This means that 
draft minutes must be disclosed if requested. 

The agenda packet and all materials furnished to 
the members of the council (except documents that are 
exempt from disclosure, such as advice of the town or 
city attorney) must be made available for public inspec-
tion at the same time it is distributed to the members.   
§ 2.2-3707(F). Any records that are exempt from disclo-
sure do not need to be made available. The practical 
problem is for staff to remember to cull any exempt 
documents when making the public copy of the agenda. 
The better practice is to not include exempt documents 
as a part of the agenda, but to send them separately.

Recording meetings
Citizens have an absolute right to photograph and 

make video or audiotapes of public meetings. While 
the council may establish rules for where the equip-
ment may be set up so meetings are not disrupted, the 
recording equipment may not be excluded altogether.      
§ 2.2-3707(A). Council may not meet in a location 
where recordings are prohibited. If a courtroom, for 
example, has a standing order forbidding any form of 
recordation, public body meetings must be held else-
where. § 2.2-3707(G ).

Electronic meetings
Generally, council may not hold a meeting via elec-

tronic media, including a conference call, pursuant to 
§§ 2.2-3707 & 3708. There are two exceptions:

First, if the governor declares an emergency, the 
council may hold an electronic meeting, where mem-
bers phone in or participate by other electronic means, 
solely to address the emergency. Council must give 
notice to the public to the extent possible and must 
provide public access to the meeting. § 2.2-3708(G).  
Also, all the facts that justify the emergency electronic 
meeting should be reflected in the meeting minutes.  

Second, a member of council may participate elec-
tronically if he or she cannot attend due to a temporary 
or permanent disability, other medical condition, or 
due to an emergency or personal matter and the public 
records document that fact.  The minutes should record 
the reason for the member’s absence and the remote 
location from which the member participated.  The 
remote participant must be heard by all persons at the 
primary meeting location as well.  Each public body 

must develop a written policy regulating electronic 
participation by its members.  Once this policy is 
adopted, it must be applied uniformly to all members.  
A member’s participation from a remote location may 
be disapproved if it violates the established policy.  The 
disapproval must be noted in the body’s minutes.  An 
individual may participate electronically in no more 
than two meetings per year if your reason is an emer-
gency or personal matter.  The body must maintain a 
physical quorum for the meeting. § 2.2-3708.1.  

In addition to these exceptions, council members 
have some flexibility in communicating through e-
mail. A 2004 Virginia Supreme Court opinion, Beck v. 
Shelton, 267 Va. 482; 593 S.E.2d 195, ruled that council 
members e-mailing each other did not create a meeting 
for purposes of FOIA. In Beck, multiple e-mails were 
sent by an individual council member to all other mem-
bers; some e-mails were in a reply to all members, and 
in one or two of the e-mails, the reply was made more 
than 24 hours after the e-mail to which it replied. The 
court found that no meeting had occurred, although 
the opinion noted that the outcome may have been dif-
ferent had the e-mails been part of instant messaging or 
a chat room discussion.

The Virginia Supreme Court reinforced its Beck rea-
soning in Hill v. Fairfax County School Board, No. 111805 
( June 7, 2012). Hill involved e-mails between members 
of a school board that were exchanged over an even 
shorter interval than in Beck. Back-and-forth communi-
cations only occurred between two board members (not 
the three required for a meeting under FOIA). Any e-
mail that was received by three or more members was 
found to be of an informational or unilateral nature 
and did not create any discussion among members. Fol-
lowing Beck, the court reiterated that e-mails between 
council members must be sufficiently simultaneous to 
create a meeting for the purposes of FOIA. Hill af-
firmed the lower court’s finding that the school board 
members’ communications did not create a meeting 
because the e-mails did not show the simultaneity or 
group discussion required under FOIA. Thus, respon-
sive e-mails between at least three council members 
must occur within quick succession to constitute an 
assembly of members (though the precise responsive 
speed that would be necessary is unclear). 

Beck and Hill indicate that e-mail communication 
between more than two council members may com-
prise a meeting under FOIA if consisting of mutual 
discussion within a time frame short enough to be con-
sidered an assemblage. In light of these cases, council 
members have some discretion to send e-mails to other 
members if this takes place over an extended timeframe 
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or if non-conversational. (However, these e-mails will 
almost always be public records and subject to FOIA’s 
disclosure provisions; see Part II of this guide.) None-
theless, council members should be cautious when 
communicating public business over e-mail because the 
courts have not clearly stated at what point responsive 
e-mails are considered an assemblage. Furthermore, 
this vagueness will only become amplified as technol-
ogy improves and e-mail communication becomes ever 
more instantaneous. If a series of e-mails is found to be 
sufficiently analogous to an assembly of three or more 
council members, then all of FOIA’s requirements ap-
ply. In that case, demonstrating how a group of e-mails 
among council members was open to the public may 
prove difficult.

Text messages have been the subject of many discus-
sions by the FOIA Council in the last year or so.   If 
you conduct business via text message, you are obli-
gated to retain those records under the Public and all 
of the FOIA rules apply.  

Voting
All votes must be made publicly. Secret ballots are 

not allowed, unless permitted by some other provision 
of law. § 2.2-3710(A). This section, however, specifically 
authorizes each member of council to contact other 
members of a council or other body “for the purpose 
of ascertaining a member’s position” on public business 
without making the position public. § 2.2-3710(B).  Fur-
ther, nonbinding votes may be taken in closed session.  

Remote Public Participation 
Public bodies that wish to allow their members to 

participate in meetings remotely, in case of a personal 
matter or medical condition, must establish a policy 
governing electronic participation that complies with   
§ 2.2-3708.1. Members will be allowed to participate as 
long as the reason for their absence does not violate the 
established policy.  

C. Closed meetings.
A closed meeting is a meeting of a council or other 

public body from which the public is excluded. It may 
be held only for specific reasons, which are delineated 
in the act. Closed meetings must be entered into during 
an open meeting of the public body (the specific proce-
dures are described below). After the closed portion of a 
meeting, the council must reconvene in open session to 
certify that the closed meeting portion was carried out 
legally. There are exceptions to the requirement that 
a closed meeting be held as a part of an open meeting. 

They are discussed below.

Purposes for closed meetings
Section §2.2-3711 sets out four reasons for holding 

a closed meeting. A city or town council or board of 
supervisors will generally need to hold a closed meeting 
for one of six of the possibilities:

• Personnel matters - subsection 1;
• Real property - subsection 3;
• Privacy of individuals unrelated to public business 

- subsection 4;
• Prospective business - subsection 5; 
• Consultation with legal counsel - subsection 7; and
• Terrorism- subsection 19.
1. Personnel matters. § 2.2-3711(A)(1) authorizes 

a closed meeting for: “[d]iscussion, consideration or 
interviews of prospective candidates for employment; 
assignment, appointment, promotion, performance, de-
motion, salaries, disciplining or resignation of specific 
public officers, appointees or employees of any public 
body.”

The most significant requirement in the subsection 
is that the discussion be about one or more specific 
people. This means that the council may not discuss 
general personnel issues in a closed meeting. For 
example, the council would not be authorized to meet 
behind closed doors to discuss a pay plan or set salaries 
for all employees. The council could, however, meet to 
discuss the pay increase to be given an employee or ap-
pointee, based on the council’s discussion in the meet-
ing of the employee’s performance.

Note that the section applies to three classes of pub-
lic officials: public officers, public appointees and em-
ployees of the public body. Therefore, the council could 
discuss the performance of a specific planning commis-
sion member in closed meeting since that person is an 
appointee of the council.

Two Virginia attorney general opinions have cloud-
ed the use of the section for a closed meeting discussion 
of most employees and some other public officials. In 
an opinion issued Dec. 16, 1998, the attorney general 
opined that a council may not hold a closed meeting 
to discuss employees who are not directly employed by 
the council. The opinion states that only the manager, 
clerk, and city attorney could be discussed in a closed 
meeting, because the city charter stated that only those 
three employees are under the “full supervisory author-
ity” of the council. The attorney general confirmed 
the opinion in a second opinion dated May 18, 2000, 
which was written in response to a request for reconsid-
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eration. 2000 WL 8752.
Many local government attorneys, as well as VML, 

disagree with this opinion. The specific language of 
the subsection allowing a closed meeting for personnel 
matters states that the individual must be an employee 
of the public body. The opinion limits the term “em-
ployee of the public body” in a manner that is inconsis-
tent with the common understanding of the authority 
of a city or town council over all employees, not just 
those who report directly to the council. If a council 
directs the manager to fire an employee for a problem 
it discussed in a closed meeting, the manager would 
be expected to fire the individual. Direct supervisory 
control by council may not exist, but the council retains 
the ultimate responsibility for the operation of the city 
or town; hence, the council should logically retain the 
ability to confidentially discuss the employee. The 
FOIA Council does advise that, even accepting the at-
torney’s general opinion, the council could convene in 
closed session to discuss the manager’s handling of the 
personnel matter, since the manager is a direct employ-
ee of the council. 

The other opinion that has cast a cloud on the use 
of the exemption was issued April 5, 1999. It states 
that a school board cannot meet in closed session to 
discuss choosing a chairman and vice chairman. The 
rationale was that the chairman and vice chairman 
are not appointed or employed by the public body. The 
specific words of the section, however, make personnel 
matters apply to “specific public officers, appointees or 
employees” of the public body. Certainly, the chairman 
is a public officer and appointee of the school board, 
since the board makes the appointment or election in 
the case in the opinion, and the chair is the leader of 
the board.

Opinions of the attorney general do not have the 
effect of a court decision. They are only opinions that 
may be considered for guidance. Courts will give some 
weight to such opinions, but are not bound by them. 
Localities are cautioned in this area. It is always pos-
sible that a judge will simply follow an opinion without 
evaluating its merits. In that case, a locality could find 
itself losing a case in court over either of these two is-
sues.

2. Real property. A closed session for discussion 
of real property issues is allowed for the acquisition of 
land for a public purpose or disposition of publicly held 
land, but only if discussing the matter in open session 
would harm the council’s bargaining position. § 2.2-
3711(A)(3).

The council does not need to state why an open dis-

cussion would harm its position in the motion to hold 
a closed meeting. Still, a council should be prepared to 
defend the closed meeting if challenged.

3. Privacy of individuals unrelated to public 
business. Local governments do not use this sec-
tion very often because a council meeting is generally 
limited to discussing public business. However, if as a 
part of public business a matter arises that affects the 
privacy of an individual unrelated to public business, 
the meeting may be carried out in private. 

This provision’s usefulness can be illustrated 
through discussion of routing a new street. If a land-
owner who could be displaced has a medical condi-
tion that would make condemning his home a life 
threatening situation, that would be a privacy issue for 
the citizen not related to public business. It would be 
appropriate for the council to avoid discussion in the 
public view, in order to protect the individual’s privacy. 
§ 2.2-3711(A)(4).

4. Prospective business and business reten-
tion. In today’s competitive market for recruiting 
and retaining businesses, much negotiation goes on 
between the council and a company, often involving 
tax benefits, land deals, employment incentives and 
similar matters. If that kind of information is discussed 
in public session, competing localities from other states 
will gain a competitive advantage, since they will know 
how much must be offered to take the business away 
from the Virginia locality. Section 2.2-3711(A)(5) allows 
a closed meeting to protect these negotiations.

In order to enter into a closed meeting, there must 
have been no “announcement” of the interest of the 
business in the community. Whether a local newspa-
per’s report of the business interest may constitute an 
announcement of the interest is an unresolved question. 
One circuit court has ruled that a news report with-
out any statement by the government qualifies as an 
announcement. The state FOIA office, however, takes 
the position that an announcement is something more 
than a newspaper report speculating about business. 
If a public official or official of the business makes the 
statement about the business in an official capacity, that 
clearly constitutes an announcement and the section 
could not be invoked.

The section not only authorizes a meeting for the lo-
cation of a business, but also the expansion of an existing 
business. In the case of an expansion, there must have 
been no announcement of the interest in expanding.

A locality may also go into closed session to discuss 
the retention of an existing business. The code autho-
rizes this when the retention discussion relies on pro-
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prietary information from the business, or memoranda 
and/or working papers from the public body that, if 
publicized, would be adverse to the financial interests 
of the locality.  §§ 2.2-3711(40) & 2.2-3705.6(3).

5. Consultation with legal counsel. This 
important provision is limited to three types of legal 
matters:

1. Actual litigation;
2. Probable litigation: § 2.2-3711(A)(7);
and,
3. Specific legal matters requiring the advice of 

counsel. § 2.2-3711(A)(8).
In actual or probable litigation, a closed meeting 

can be held only if holding a discussion in the open 
“adversely affect[s] the negotiating or litigating pos-
ture” of the council. § 2.2-3711(A)(7). For example, 
there is no need to hold a closed meeting to simply 
explain to council that the locality had been sued. The 
suit is a public record in the circuit court clerk’s office, 
therefore a briefing that the suit had been filed should 
be done in open meeting. In contrast, a briefing by 
the city attorney on the strategy for defending the suit 
would be appropriate for a closed meeting because 
open discussion would obviously hinder the defense. 

Actual litigation refers to existing litigation. Prob-
able litigation is defined to mean that a suit has been 
“specifically threatened” or the council or its attorney 
has a “reasonable basis” to believe a suit will be filed. 

The third category is limited to “consultation with 
counsel ... regarding specific legal matters” requiring 
legal advice. § 2.2-3711(A)(8). This category, like the 
two litigation categories, is limited to consulting the 
attorney (or other staff members or consultants) about 
a legal issue facing the locality that is an appropriate 
matter for a closed meeting. Simply having an attorney 
present does not allow a general discussion among the 
members about other issues. If non-attorney staff mem-
bers participate, the attorney should still be present and 
participating in the consultation. 

This rule was demonstrated in the March 2000 
Richmond Circuit Court opinion Colonial Downs, L.P v. 
Virginia Racing Commission, (2000 WL 305986). In that 
case, the racing commission went into a closed meeting 
for consultation with counsel, but spent the time hold-
ing a general discussion of Colonial Downs’ application 
for licensing. The court held that the meeting was a 
violation of the act.

6. Terrorism. After the September 11 terrorist 
attacks, it became clear that some provisions of the act 
made it easy for a terrorist to gain security information 

through a FOIA request. One step in response was to 
allow a meeting in closed session to discuss planning to 
protect from terrorist activity or specific cybersecurity 
threats or vulnerabilities under § 2.2-3711(A)(19).  The 
public body may meet to be briefed by staff, attorneys 
or law-enforcement or emergency personnel to respond 
to terrorist or “a related threat to public safety”. This 
exemption applies “where discussion in an open meet-
ing would jeopardize the safety of any person or the 
security of any facility, building, structure, information 
technology system or software program; or discussion 
of reports or plans related to the security of any gov-
ernmental facility, building or structure, or the safety of 
persons using such facility, building or structure.” 

New Closed Meeting Authorizations     
for 2017

Legislation adopted in 2017 moved the authoriza-
tion for closed session relating to consultation with legal 
counsel employed or retained by a public body to its 
own section. §2.2-3711(8).  

Closed meetings are authorized for local finance 
boards or boards of trustees established by local public 
bodies for postemployment purposes. §2.2-3711(A)(20). 

Language also was added this year to allow for 
closed meetings of “discussion or consideration of 
confidential proprietary information and trade secrets 
developed and held by a local public body providing 
certain telecommunications services or cable television 
services .... ”. §2.2-3711(A)(33).

Procedures for closed meetings
Getting into closed meetings. In order to go 

from an open meeting to a closed meeting, there must 
be a recorded vote in open meeting. The motion must 
include the following elements:

1. The subject must be identified (example: new 
park in east end of city);

2. A statement of the purpose of the meeting (ac-
quiring land for park); and,

3. A reference to the code section authorizing the 
meeting. § 2.2-3712(A).

The degree of specificity in the statement of the 
subject of a meeting varies with the nature of the issue. 
A discussion about a pending lawsuit should name the 
suit. After all, the pleadings are public and the suit 
may well have been the subject of a newspaper article. 
On the other hand, a discussion of a sensitive person-
nel matter should not contain much specificity in the 
motion, so as to not embarrass the employee who is the 
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subject of the meeting. The council will need to exer-
cise discretion in the motion’s specificity. 

Nonetheless, in no case will it be sufficient to make a 
general statement to satisfy the first and second require-
ments above. “Personnel matters, pursuant to FOIA” 
is inadequate for a motion for a closed meeting. The 
Virginia Supreme Court opinion in White Dog Pub-
lishing, Inc. v. Culpeper County Board of Supervisors, 
made this clear. 

During a closed meeting, only the topics identified 
in the motion may be discussed. § 2.2-3712(C). In order 
to discuss more than one topic, the council should 
either include both topics in one motion, which is the 
preferred method, or come out of closed meeting and 
re-enter after making a motion on the second topic. 
The council may record minutes, but that is not re-
quired. In almost every case, it is not a good idea. The 
minutes serve little purpose, since the council must take 
any action in open meeting, and there will be a record 
of the open meeting. § 2.2-3712(I).

Va. Code § 2.2-3712(H) states that any official vote 
or action must he held in open session. Many local 
governments, therefore, take no more than a straw poll 
during a closed meeting, or take no votes at all, no mat-
ter how informal.

Getting out of closed meeting. At the conclusion 
of each closed meeting, the public body must certify in 
open session that it complied with the act by a roll call 
vote. The vote must confirm that the meeting was held 
for purposes allowed by the act and that while in the 
closed session, only those matters identified in the mo-
tion to hold a closed meeting were discussed. If a mem-
ber disagrees, he must state how the closed meeting did 
not satisfy the requirements of the act before the vote is 
taken. § 2.2-3712(D). A record of the vote must be kept 
in the public body’s records.

Interviewing chief administrative officer can-
didates. Most closed meetings must be held as a part 
of an open meeting, so the public knows the time and 
place of it. The act contains an important exception for 
local governments in § 2.2-3712(B). If a public body is to 
hold interviews for its chief administrative officer, it may 
make a single announcement in open meeting that it will 
hold interviews. It need not identify the location of the 
interviews or the names of the interviewees. The inter-
views must be held within 15 days of the motion.

Annexation agreements - no FOIA require-
ments. Independent of FOIA, Va. Code § 15.2-
2907(D) allows a council or board to hold meetings 
on matters concerning annexation or a voluntary 
settlement agreement with no FOIA implications. This 

means notice need not be given, the public need not 
be invited, and minutes need not be taken. No other 
FOIA requirements need to be followed. The section 
does not prohibit a public body from following the 
FOIA requirements, but they are not mandatory.

III. Records.
A major purpose of FOIA is to set out the rules for 

public record disclosure. The general rule in FOIA 
concerning records is that they are open to public 
inspection and copying. However, many categories of 
records are exempt from public access. Most of these 
categories do not apply to local governments. The fact 
that a record may be exempt from disclosure does not 
require it to be withheld. Each exemption section states 
in the opening sentence that the records “may be dis-
closed by the custodian in his discretion, except where 
such disclosure is prohibited by law.” § 2.2-3705.1, 2, 3, 
4, 5, 6, 7. 

Some records, however, are prohibited from be-
ing disclosed at all. The custodian has no discretion to 
permit their disclosure. The main examples are certain 
tax records that Va. Code § 58.1-3 requires to be kept 
confidential, and matters for which the Privacy Protec-
tion Act prohibits disclosure. The act applies to records 
of the public body, whether the records are on paper, 
or in an electronic form, such as e-mails, databases and 
other electronic formats.

A. Responding to disclosure requests
Custodian of records. The records provisions 

of the act use the term “custodian of the records” as 
the person who has the responsibility to respond. Some 
sections mention the obligation of the public body, but 
the responsibility is clearly with the custodian. If suit is 
brought over a violation, however, the public body can 
expect to be named as a defendant.

One temptation is to deny a request because it was 
made to the wrong public official. If another public of-
ficial who works in the same local government has the 
records, the request should not be denied just because it 
was directed to the wrong official if the recipient knows 
or should know that the records are available from an-
other official. In this case, the official should respond to 
the request with the contact information for the other 
public body or just work with the other official to pro-
vide the records. § 2.2-3704(B)(3).  With the designation 
of the FOIA officer this should not be an issue, but it 
continues to be a question we receive.  

If the locality stores archived records off-site, and 
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the records are in control of a third party, it is still the 
public body’s responsibility to retrieve those records 
if they are requested. § 2.2-3704( J). The Library of 
Virginia is the custodian of the records if the locality 
properly archives records with the state library.  If the 
records were properly archived a locality could refer 
the request to the Library of Virginia. 

Procedures for handling requests. Any citizen 
or member of the media may request an opportunity to 
inspect and/or copy public records. The request does 
not have to refer to the act, but only needs to identify 
the records with reasonable specificity. § 2.2-3704(B). 
There is no authority to require the request to be in 
writing, nor may the custodian of the records refuse 
to reply to a request if the requester refuses to put a 
request in writing. Some government offices ask for the 
request to be reduced to writing. This is a useful policy 
because it helps the custodian better understand what 
is being requested. That helps the requester, since the 
custodian can shorten the time researching records, 
thereby reducing the cost to the individual. If the 
individual declines to reduce the request to writing, a 
helpful option is to confer with the individual and write 
down the request, allowing the person to see the note 
and hopefully sign it, so no confusion will exist. The 
requester does not have say why the records are sought, 
and the government is not allowed to ask why the re-
cords are being requested, or what they will be used for.   

The custodian may require the person asking to see 
or copy records for his name and legal address. § 2.2-
3704(A). This 2002 amendment is part of the terrorism 
bill, but is not limited to requests relating to terrorism. 
The act is not clear on what happens if the requester 
refuses. VML suggests that if the requester does refuse, 
the language that the custodian “may require” the 
information necessarily implies that the custodian may 
refuse to allow access to the records.

The act does not give any rights to people who are 
not residents of Virginia, or to media representatives 
if the media entity does not publish or broadcast into 
the state. § 2.2-3704. As a practical matter, however, 
many government agencies don’t discriminate based 
on where the requester is from. It is generally easy 
for an out-of-state person or media representative to 
find a Virginia individual to make the request. There-
fore, there is little point in denying a request based on 
residency. Still, there is nothing that prohibits denying 
the request, so a locality is certainly free to follow the 
statute. The right to refuse has been affirmed by the 
courts.

B. Types of responses
There are three possible responses to a request:
1. Provide the records;
2. Obtain seven additional days to respond; or,
3. Claim an exemption to all or a portion of the 

request.
The initial response must be made within five busi-

ness days of the receipt of the request, pursuant to § 
2.2-3704, regardless of which response is used. If the 
custodian fails to respond within the times required, 
§ 2.2-3704 considers that to be a denial of the request 
and makes it a violation of the act.

Notably, the custodian is not required to create 
records if they do not exist. § 2.2-3704(D). For example, 
if a request is for a list of trash collectors who do busi-
ness in a locality, and the locality does not have such 
information, there is no requirement to create that list. 
Subsection D does encourage public bodies to abstract 
or summarize information in a manner agreed to with 
the requester.

1. Provide the records. The first response, pro-
viding the records, is straightforward. The custodian 
simply makes them available. If the individual asks to 
receive copies, the copies need to be made within the 
five days, if possible, or at such time the custodian and 
requester agree.

2. Obtain seven additional days to respond. 
Similarly, if it is “not practically possible to provide the 
... records or to determine whether they are available,” 
§ 2.2-3704(B)(4), within the five days, the custodian may 
send a written response to the person explaining the con-
ditions that make the response impractical. Upon com-
pliance with this requirement, the custodian will have an 
additional seven workdays to respond. The added seven 
days does not begin until the end of the fifth day of the 
initial period. For example, if the custodian sends a letter 
on the second day after receipt of the request, he or she 
will still have a total of 12 workdays to respond.

One unanswered question is whether the custodian 
may claim more time to respond based on the time it 
takes to determine whether an exemption applies. The 
quoted language above uses the term “available.” It 
is not clear whether deciding if an exemption applies 
is included in determining whether records are avail-
able. In discussions with the Virginia Press Association 
during the 2000 committee meetings on changes to the 
act, the VPA spokesman represented that the associa-
tion would not contest a custodian’s obtaining extra 
time to determine if exemptions apply. No court has 
answered the issue.
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In addition to the 12 days to reply, a public body 
may petition a court for even more time to respond to 
a request. The additional time will likely be granted 
if the public body can demonstrate that the volume of 
records requested is so large that it would disrupt its 
operations to respond in the prescribed time and that it 
is unable to reach an agreement for a time to respond 
with the requester. § 2.2-3704(C).

3. Claim a partial or full exemption to the 
request. If one or more of the many exemptions ap-
ply, the custodian may, within the five workday limit, 
send the requester a written explanation of why all or 
some of the records are exempt. The explanation must 
identify the subject matter of the records (example: 
performance evaluations) and must cite the section of 
FOIA that authorizes the exemption. § 2.2-3704(B)(2). 
If only a portion of the requested records is exempt, the 
non-exempt parts must be made available within the 
five days, unless additional time is properly invoked.

In 1999, the Virginia Supreme Court decided Law-
rence v. Jenkins, 258 Va. 598, a case in which a county 
zoning administrator failed to supply the code section 
he was relying on to exempt certain information in 
response to a FOIA request. The act required the code 
sections to be identified in the written response to the 
requester. Long after the time to respond had passed, 
the administrator sent the individual a letter identify-
ing the code section. The court ruled that the violation 
still did not permit the individual to see the records 
and ruled that the records were exempt. Even though 
the zoning administrator did fail to meet FOIA re-
quirements, the court determined the violation did not 
harm the requestor because he would not have been 
allowed to see the records if the act had been complied 
with. VML does not recommend relying on Lawrence.   
Every effort should be made to include the code section 
allowing the exemption in the initial correspondence. 

Charges for responding to a request
The public body may charge the requester for 

searching and copying records. The costs must be 
reasonable, not to exceed the actual cost “incurred in 
accessing, duplicating, supplying, or searching for the 
requested records.” § 2.2-3704(F). A public body may 
not charge for overhead items, such as utilities, debt 
payments and the like. The hourly salary rate of any lo-
cal employee who spends time researching and assem-
bling records for the request may be charged, as may 
actual copying costs. 

In responding to a request for duplication of part of 
a geographic information system database by making 
copies of GIS maps, the locality may base its charge on 

a per acre cost if the area requested exceeds 50 acres.   
§ 2.2-3704(F).

If the custodian determines that the cost of re-
sponding will be more than $200, he may demand the 
requester to agree to pay a deposit in the amount of 
the projected costs before any information is disclosed. 
The time limits are tolled until payment of the deposit. 
The custodian is not required to send the estimate in 
writing, though providing a written estimate is the bet-
ter practice, in order to avoid a claim by the individual 
that no deposit was requested. § 2.2-3704(H).

Format of records
Confusingly, the custodian must provide computer 

records in any “tangible medium identified by the 
requester,” except that it need not produce the mate-
rial found in an electronic database in “a format not 
regularly used by the public body.” § 2.2-3704(G). 
The subsection is further muddied by a statement that 
provides – not withstanding this limitation – that the 
public body is to attempt to come to an agreement with 
the requester regarding the format of the documents 
to be supplied. Thus, a public body does not have to 
disclosure electronic records in a format it does not 
regularly use, but must comply with any request for 
records maintained in a medium the public body uses 
in the regular course of business. 

In a June 1, 1999 opinion, the attorney general 
opined that a local commissioner of the revenue is not 
required to make a copy of the personal property book 
for a citizen. The personal property book is a large, 
computer-generated bound book that every commis-
sioner maintains. The attorney general reasoned that 
the act allows the commissioner to put the burden of 
copying on the citizen if the office has no means to 
copy the document. The same reasoning would apply 
to other local government agencies where the agency is 
incapable of providing requested information stored on 
electronic databases. § 2.2-3704(G).    

E-mails and Text Messages
E-mails have generated much controversy since 

they began being used in government business opera-
tion. E-mails that deal with public business are public 
records. E-mails kept on the home computer of a coun-
cil member or local government employee that relate to 
the transaction of public business are public and subject 
to inspection and copying by a citizen who makes a 
request to see the records.

Text messages have become the subject of many 
FOIA requests as well.  These must be produced if 
requested and are subject to the records retention rules 
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as well.  If you are transacting public business; the own-
ership of the device is irrelevant.   The FOIA Council 
is beginning a discussion on emerging technology this 
summer.  

Draft documents
Draft documents are records. The specific men-

tion of draft records in the Code is to the minutes of a 
public body. Section § 2.2-3707 specifically states that 
draft minutes are available for inspection. Some local 
governments once had policies that denied the public 
viewing of draft minutes. The act prohibits such poli-
cies. Some draft documents fall into the working papers 
exemption. In that case, or if any other exemption ap-
plies, the draft documents are not required to be made 
available for inspection.

C. Exemptions list.
The list of records that may be held exempt from 

disclosure by the custodian is set out in seven separate, 
lengthy sections. Fortunately, the sections are arranged 
by subject area in order to make it easier to find the 
exemptions that may apply. 

The current sections are:
• Exclusions of general application to public bodies: 

§ 2.2-3705.1. 
• Exclusions; records relating to public safety: § 2.2-

3705.2. 
• Exclusions; records relating to administrative 

investigations: § 2.2-3705.3. 
• Exclusions; educational records and certain re-

cords of educational institutions: § 2.2-3705.4. 
• Exclusions; health and social services records:        

§ 2.2-3705.5. 
• Exclusions; proprietary records and trade secrets:  

§ 2.2-3705.6. 
• Exclusions; records of specific public bodies and 

certain other limited exemptions: § 2.2-3705.7. 
 Most local governments will only use 20 or so of 

the exemptions, and only 10 will apply frequently. The 
exemptions that most often apply to local government 
are:

• “State income, business, and estate tax returns, 
personal property tax returns, scholastic and 
confidential records held pursuant to § 58.1-3.” § 
2.2-3705.7(1).

• “Personnel records containing information con-
cerning identifiable individuals, except that access 

shall not be denied to the person who is the subject 
thereof.” § 2.2-3705.1.(1). Any adult subject may 
waive confidentiality, in which case the govern-
ment may release information on the person.

Added this year is the following language which 
was already the law: “No provision of this chapter or 
any provision of Chapter 38 (§ 2.2-3800 et seq.) shall be 
construed as denying public access to (i) contracts between 
a public body and its officers or employees, other than 
contracts settling public employee employment disputes held 
confidential as personnel records under § 2.2-3705.1; (ii) 
records of the name, position, job classification, official 
salary, or rate of pay of, and records of the allowances or 
reimbursements for expenses paid to, any officer, official, 
or employee of a public body; or (iii) the compensation or 
benefits paid by any corporation organized by the Virginia 
Retirement System or its officers or employees. The provi-
sions of this subdivision, however, shall not require public 
access to records of the official salaries or rates of pay of 
public employees whose annual rate of pay is $10,000 or 
less.”

• “Working papers and correspondence of the ... 
mayor or chief executive officer of any political 
subdivision of the Commonwealth .... However, no 
record which is otherwise open to inspection un-
der this chapter shall be deemed exempt by virtue 
of the fact that it has been attached to or incor-
porated within any working paper or correspon-
dence. Working papers will not be information 
that is publicly available that has been aggregated, 
combined, or changed in format without substan-
tive analysis or revision.  § 2.2-3705.7(2).  

As used in this subdivision: “Working papers” 
means those records prepared by or for an above 
named public official for his personal or delibera-
tive use. Generally, once the records have been 
shared by the chief administrative officer (county 
administrator or city or town manager), the 
records lose the working papers status, unless the 
records are collected from the council members or 
other people who have accessed them at the end of 
a meeting where the records were distributed.

• Consultants’ reports as working papers: Working 
papers, by the above definition, applies to records 
prepared by or for a manager or mayor for his 
personal or deliberative use. Once a consultant’s 
report is distributed or disclosed to council or 
the council has scheduled any action on a matter 
that is the subject of the consultant’s report, the 
report loses its exempt status as a working paper. 
§ 2.2-3705.8(B). Therefore, until either of the two 
conditions occur, the report may be withheld as 
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a working paper. Once either event occurs, the 
working paper’s status ceases to exist. If the report 
is exempt for other reasons, it remains exempt.

• “Written advice of legal counsel to state, regional 
or local public bodies or public officials, and any 
other records protected by the attorney client 
privilege.” § 2.2-3705.1(2).

• “Legal memoranda and other work product com-
piled specifically for use in litigation or for use in 
an active administrative investigation concerning 
a matter which is properly the subject of a closed 
meeting under § 2.2-3711.” § 2.2-3705.1(3).

Subsections 2 and 3 of § 2.2-3705.1 are the 
classic attorney client and attorney’s work product 
rules.

• “Library records which can be used to identify 
both (i) both (a) any library patron who has bor-
rowed material from a library, (b) the material 
such patron borrowed or (ii) any library patron un-
der 18 years of age.  For purposes of this clause (ii), 
access shall not be denied to the parent, including 
a noncustodial parent, or guardian of such library 
patron.” § 2.2-3705.7(3).

• “Any test or examination used, administered 
or prepared by any public body for purposes 
of evaluation of (i) any student or any student’s 
performance, (ii) any employee or employment 
seeker’s qualifications or aptitude for employment, 
retention, or promotion, or (iii) qualifications for 
any license or certificate issued by a public body.”          
§ 2.2-3705.1(4). This subsection includes exemp-
tions for test keys and any information that would 
defeat the usefulness of the test.

• “Records recorded in or compiled exclusively for 
use in closed meetings lawfully held pursuant to    
§ 2.2-3711. However, no record which is other-
wise open to inspection under this chapter shall 
be deemed exempt by virtue of the fact that it has 
been reviewed or discussed in a closed meeting.”   
§ 2.2-3705.1(5).

• “Computer software developed by or for a ... politi-
cal subdivision of the Commonwealth.” § 2.2-
3705.1(7).

• “Customer account information of a public util-
ity affiliated with a political subdivision of the 
Commonwealth, including the customer’s name 
and service address, but excluding the amount of 
utility service provided and the amount of money 
charged or paid for such utility service.” § 2.2-
3705.7(7). Note that under this subsection, anyone 

has access to the volume of service used by a cus-
tomer and the price paid, even though the name 
and address of a customer need not be given. A 
typical example of how this works: An individual 
could not demand a listing of the names of cus-
tomers, but could demand to know how much 
water, gas, or electricity a customer has used and 
the amount paid for the same, where the person 
names the customer.

• “Appraisals and cost estimates of real property 
subject to a proposed purchase, sale or lease, prior 
to the completion of such purchase, sale or lease.” 
§ 2.2-3705.1(8).

This section has been modified by Va. Code      
§ 25-248. Local governments are now in the list 
of agencies that must follow the Uniform Reloca-
tion Assistance Act. One of the obligations, in 
subsection (b) requires that: “real property shall be 
appraised before the initiation of negotiations, and 
the owner or his designated representative shall be 
given an opportunity to accompany the appraiser 
during his inspection of the property.” Therefore, 
in any purchase of land to which the URAA ap-
plies, the landowner must be allowed to see a copy 
of the appraisal, and the appraisal must be done 
before beginning negotiations for the land.

• “Confidential information designated as trade 
secrets or proprietary information by any person 
who has submitted to a public body an application 
for prequalification to bid on public construction 
projects in accordance with subsection B of § 2.2-
4317.” § 2.2-3705.6(10). Language in the Procure-
ment Act supports this exemption.

• “Information contained in (i) engineering, archi-
tectural, or construction drawings; (ii) operational, 
procedural, tactical planning, or training manuals; 
(iii) staff meeting minutes; or (iv) other records that 
reveal any of the following, the disclosure of which 
would jeopardize the safety or security of any per-
son; governmental facility, building, or structure; 
or public or private commercial office, multifam-
ily residential, or retail building or its occupants.        
§ 2.2-3705.2(14).

This section continues on to include critical 
infrastructure and information related to such as 
well as vulnerability assessments and information 
technology.

NOTE: If you receive a request for these types 
of records, the public body is responsible for no-
tifying the Secretary of Public Safety and Home-
land Security or their designees.
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• Personal information furnished to a public body 
for the purpose of receiving electronic mail from 
the public body, provided that the electronic mail 
recipient has requested that the public body not 
disclose such information. However, access shall 
not be denied to the person who is the subject 
of the record. § 2.2-3705.1(10).  Personal contact 
information includes home or business address, 
email address or telephone number.  

• The name, address and phone number of a person 
complaining about another person on a Zoning, 
Building Code or Fire Prevention Code complaint 
are exempt from disclosure. This provision is not 
limited to criminal complaints: it applies in any 
investigation of the complaints. § 2.2-3705.3(8). 

§2.2-3705.5(9) exempts information or records of 
local or regional adult fatality review teams from 
disclosure. HB 1558. Any locality participating 
in such review teams may withhold records and 
information to the extent the information is made 
confidential by § 32.1-283.6.

D. Criminal incident information.
The majority of the rules for criminal incident in-

formation are set out in § 2.2-3706. The section’s basic 
requirement is that “criminal incident information” has 
to be made available only if it applies to a felony. This 
means that local law enforcement officials do not have 
to make misdemeanor criminal incident information 
available. The policy behind the distinction between 
misdemeanors and felonies is based on the prob-
able burden that would be shouldered by local police 
departments and sheriff’s offices if required to make 
public information about every misdemeanor.

There are several exemptions that allow a law enforce-
ment agency to withhold information in order to promote 
public safety and to not hinder ongoing criminal investiga-
tions. If release would hinder an investigation or be likely 
to cause the criminal to flee or destroy evidence, it need 
not be released. Once the reason for concern has ended, 
the exemption no longer applies. However, § 2.2-3706(A)
(1)(b),(c) requires the names of adult arrestees and the 
status of charges or arrests to be released.

The identities of crime victims and confidential 
informants do not need to be released. There is no time 
limit on this exemption. Thus, unlike other informa-
tion, the exemption continues even after the reason for 
concern ceases to exist.

Various other criminal records are exempt:
• complaints, memos, correspondence and evidence 

that is not “criminal incident information;”

• photos of adult arrestees, if release would harm an 
investigation or prosecution;

• confidential reports made to the police or sheriffs 
personnel;

• local crime commission information identifying 
persons providing information about criminal 
activity; and,

• neighborhood watch program information that 
contains the names, addresses or schedules of the 
watch participants, if the information is provided 
under a promise of anonymity.

The provision exempting law-enforcement records 
containing police and other tactical plans that need 
to be kept secure for safety reasons is set out in § 2.2-
3706(A)(2)(e).

Those portions of noncriminal incident and other 
noncriminal investigative reports or materials that 
contain identifying information of a personal, medical, 
or financial nature may be withheld where the release 
of such information would jeopardize the safety or 
privacy of any person.  Access to personnel records of 
persons employed by a law-enforcement agency shall be 
governed by the provisions of subdivision (A)(2)(i) of this 
section and subdivision 1 of §2.2-3705.1, as applicable.”  
This section used to specifically refer to the records in 
§15.2-1722, but the reference has been removed.

§ 2.2-3706(A)(2)(g) exempts from disclosure the 
mobile phone and pager numbers of police officers for 
devices provided by the police department to assist the 
officers in carrying out their duties. This arose from 
attempts by reporters to obtain the cell phone numbers 
of police officers, then calling while the officers were on 
a call.

SB1102 this year requires that records of a com-
pleted unattended death investigation be released to the 
most immediate family member of the decedent. If the 
person is not a person of interest in the matter. §2.2-
3706(A)(1)(d).   

Rights of penal institution inmates under FOIA
Section 2.2-3703(C) denies people who are in a local 

jail or state or federal penitentiary any rights under 
FOIA. The only rights are those guaranteed by the 
Constitution, such as the right to subpoena evidence.

Enforcement provisions
Any person who feels a public body or public official 

has violated the act may file suit in the general district 
or circuit court of the locality where the body or official 
operates. § 2.2-3713(A). A FOIA action may commence 
in the name of a person, even if the plaintiff’s attorney, 
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acting on his or her behalf, made the original FOIA 
request. The case must be heard within seven days of 
filing. § 2.2-3713(C). As a practical matter, this rocket 
docket provision inconveniences judges greatly, as their 
court schedules are usually very busy. Saturday hear-
ings are common for FOIA cases.

The petitioner must state a claim of a violation with 
reasonable specificity, pursuant to subsection D. Even 
though a suit is filed by the complaining citizen, the 
public body must put on its evidence first and must 
prove that it has complied with the act. It is not the 
petitioner’s obligation to prove the violation. § 2.2-3713.

The court may award an injunction against re-
peated violations, or even for a single occurrence of 
noncompliance. Further, if the petitioner wins the case, 
he may be awarded attorney’s fees by the court. If the 
court determines that an official willfully or knowingly 
violated the law, it is required to impose a civil penalty 
against him or her in an amount between $500 and 
$2,000 for a first offense and $2,000 to $5,000 for sub-
sequent offenses. The penalties are to be paid into the 
Literary Fund. § 2.2-3714.

Freedom of Information      
Advisory Council

The Freedom of Information Advisory Council 
serves primarily as an office to answer questions about 
FOIA made by government agencies, the public, and 
the media. An attorney who staffs the office makes 
the opinions of the council. The opinions are to be 
informal, advisory, and nonbinding. If a government 
agency submits records for a review and advice by the 
FOIA officer, the officer may not release the submitted 
information without the permission of the agency that 
submitted them.

The office has a toll-free number (866) 448-4100 
for requests, and has a website: http://foiacouncil.dls.
virginia.gov/. The council has lists of written opinions 
on the website.  

All localities should appoint a FOIA Officer and 
provide their contact information on the government 
website. §2.2-3704.2.  Each locality that has more than 
250 people shall post the FOIA rights and responsibili-
ties, as well as a link to the FOIA Council online public 
comment form on its government website. §2.2-3704.1.  

In addition to issuing opinions, which may be made 
via telephone, letter or e-mail, the FOIA office con-
ducts FOIA training for the FOIA Officer and any 
other government officials. Because public officials 
must read and familiarize themselves with the act, the 

training sessions are an important opportunity to learn 
the act’s requirements. § 30-179.

Summary
The Freedom of Information Act includes many 

requirements and restrictions pertaining to public 
access of government information. The basic policy 
woven throughout the act makes clear that the public 
is to have free access to government information and 
meetings. The act sets out the types of meetings that 
can be closed. The exemptions protect the operation of 
government reasonably well.

FOIA will continue to evolve to meet the changing 
expectations of the public and government agencies. 
In the area of electronic information, expect to see 
significant changes as the General Assembly makes the 
act more relevant in the fast-changing electronic age. 
For example, application of the act to the use of e-mail, 
instant messaging and other social media software will 
likely be revisited many times! 
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§ 2.2-3700. Short title; policy.
A. This chapter may be cited as «The Virginia 

Freedom of Information Act.»
B. By enacting this chapter, the General Assembly 

ensures the people of the Commonwealth ready access 
to public records in the custody of a public body or 
its officers and employees, and free entry to meetings 
of public bodies wherein the business of the people is 
being conducted. The affairs of government are not 
intended to be conducted in an atmosphere of secrecy 
since at all times the public is to be the beneficiary of 
any action taken at any level of government. Unless 
a public body or its officers or employees specifically 
elect to exercise an exemption provided by this chap-
ter or any other statute, every meeting shall be open 
to the public and all public records shall be available 
for inspection and copying upon request. All public 
records and meetings shall be presumed open, unless 
an exemption is properly invoked.

The provisions of this chapter shall be liberally 
construed to promote an increased awareness by all 
persons of governmental activities and afford every 
opportunity to citizens to witness the operations of gov-
ernment. Any exemption from public access to records 
or meetings shall be narrowly construed and no record 
shall be withheld or meeting closed to the public unless 
specifically made exempt pursuant to this chapter or 
other specific provision of law. This chapter shall not be 
construed to discourage the free discussion by govern-
ment officials or employees of public matters with the 
citizens of the Commonwealth.

All public bodies and their officers and employees 
shall make reasonable efforts to reach an agreement 
with a requester concerning the production of the 
records requested.

Any ordinance adopted by a local governing body 
that conflicts with the provisions of this chapter shall 
be void.

§ 2.2-3701. Definitions.
As used in this chapter, unless the context requires a 

different meaning:
“Closed meeting” means a meeting from which the 

public is excluded.
“Electronic communication” means any audio or 

combined audio and visual communication method.
“Emergency” means an unforeseen circumstance 

rendering the notice required by this chapter impos-
sible or impracticable and which circumstance requires 
immediate action.

“Information” as used in the exclusions established 
by §§ 2.2-3705.1 through 2.2-3705.7, means the content 
within a public record that references a specifically 
identified subject matter, and shall not be interpreted 
to require the production of information that is not 
embodied in a public record.

“Meeting” or “meetings” means the meetings 
including work sessions, when sitting physically, or 
through telephonic or video equipment pursuant to § 
2.2-3708 or 2.2-3708.1, as a body or entity, or as an 
informal assemblage of (i) as many as three members or 
(ii) a quorum, if less than three, of the constituent mem-
bership, wherever held, with or without minutes being 
taken, whether or not votes are cast, of any public body. 
Neither the gathering of employees of a public body nor 
the gathering or attendance of two or more members 
of a public body (i) at any place or function where no 
part of the purpose of such gathering or attendance is 
the discussion or transaction of any public business, 
and such gathering or attendance was not called or 
prearranged with any purpose of discussing or trans-
acting any business of the public body, or (ii) at a public 
forum, candidate appearance, or debate, the purpose 
of which is to inform the electorate and not to transact 
public business or to hold discussions relating to the 
transaction of public business, even though the perfor-
mance of the members individually or collectively in 
the conduct of public business may be a topic of discus-
sion or debate at such public meeting, shall be deemed 
a “meeting” subject to the provisions of this chapter.

“Open meeting” or “public meeting” means a 
meeting at which the public may be present.

“Public body” means any legislative body, author-
ity, board, bureau, commission, district or agency of 
the Commonwealth or of any political subdivision of 
the Commonwealth, including cities, towns and coun-
ties, municipal councils, governing bodies of counties, 
school boards and planning commissions; boards of 
visitors of public institutions of higher education; and 
other organizations, corporations or agencies in the 
Commonwealth supported wholly or principally by 
public funds. It shall include (i) the Virginia Birth-Re-
lated Neurological Injury Compensation Program and 
its board of directors established pursuant to Chapter 
50 (§ 38.2-5000 et seq.) of Title 38.2 and (ii) any com-
mittee, subcommittee, or other entity however desig-
nated, of the public body created to perform delegated 
functions of the public body or to advise the public 
body. It shall not exclude any such committee, subcom-
mittee or entity because it has private sector or citizen 
members. Corporations organized by the Virginia 
Retirement System are “public bodies” for purposes of 
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this chapter.
For the purposes of the provisions of this chapter 

applicable to access to public records, constitutional 
officers and private police departments as defined in § 
9.1-101 shall be considered public bodies and, except 
as otherwise expressly provided by law, shall have the 
same obligations to disclose public records as other 
custodians of public records.

“Public records” means all writings and record-
ings that consist of letters, words or numbers, or their 
equivalent, set down by handwriting, typewriting, 
printing, photostatting, photography, magnetic im-
pulse, optical or magneto-optical form, mechanical or 
electronic recording or other form of data compilation, 
however stored, and regardless of physical form or 
characteristics, prepared or owned by, or in the posses-
sion of a public body or its officers, employees or agents 
in the transaction of public business.

Regional public body” means a unit of government 
organized as provided by law within defined boundar-
ies, as determined by the General Assembly, which unit 
includes two or more localities.

“Scholastic records” means those records contain-
ing information directly related to a student or an 
applicant for admission and maintained by a public 
body that is an educational agency or institution or by 
a person acting for such agency or institution.

§ 2.2-3702. Notice of chapter.
Any person elected, reelected, appointed or reap-

pointed to any body not excepted from this chapter 
shall (i) be furnished by the public body›s administrator 
or legal counsel with a copy of this chapter within two 
weeks following election, reelection, appointment or 
reappointment and (ii) read and become familiar with 
the provisions of this chapter.

§ 2.2-3703. Public bodies and records to 
which chapter inapplicable; voter registration 
and election records; access by persons 
incarcerated in a state, local, or federal 
correctional facility.

A. The provisions of this chapter shall not apply to:
1. The Virginia Parole Board, except that (i) 

information from the Virginia Parole Board 
providing the number of inmates considered by 
such Board for discretionary parole, the number 
of inmates granted or denied parole, and the 
number of parolees returned to the custody of 
the Department of Corrections solely as a result 

of a determination by such Board of a violation 
of parole shall be open to inspection and avail-
able for release, on a monthly basis, as provided 
by § 2.2-3704 and (ii) all records concerning the 
finances of the Virginia Parole Board shall be 
public records and subject to the provisions of 
this chapter. The information required by clause 
(i) shall be furnished by offense, sex, race, age of 
the inmate, and the locality in which the convic-
tion was obtained, upon the request of the party 
seeking the information;

2. Petit juries and grand juries;
3. Family assessment and planning teams estab-

lished pursuant to § 2.2-5207;
4. The Virginia State Crime Commission; and
5. The records required by law to be maintained 

by the clerks of the courts of record, as defined 
in §1-212, and courts not of record, as defined in 
§16.1-69.5. However, other records maintained 
by the clerks of such courts shall be public 
records and subject to the provisions of this 
chapter.

B. Public access to voter registration and election 
records shall be governed by the provisions of Title 
24.2 and this chapter. The provisions of Title 24.2 shall 
be controlling in the event of any conflict.

C. No provision of this chapter or Chapter 21 (§ 30-
178 et seq.) of Title 30 shall be construed to afford any 
rights to any person (i) incarcerated in a state, local or 
federal correctional facility, whether or not such facil-
ity is (a) located in the Commonwealth or (b) operated 
pursuant to the Corrections Private Management Act 
(§ 53.1-261 et seq.) or (ii) civilly committed pursuant to 
the Sexually Violent Predators Act (§ 37.2-900 et seq.). 
However, this subsection shall not be construed to 
prevent such persons from exercising their constitution-
ally protected rights, including, but not limited to, their 
right to call for evidence in their favor in a criminal 
prosecution.

§ 2.2-3703.1. Disclosure pursuant to court 
order or subpoena.

Nothing contained in this chapter shall have any 
bearing upon disclosures required to be made pursuant 
to any court order or subpoena. No discretionary ex-
emption from mandatory disclosure shall be construed 
to make records covered by such discretionary exemp-
tion privileged under the rules of discovery, unless 
disclosure is otherwise prohibited by law.



20 2016-2017 Virginia Freedom of  Information Act | Conflict of  Interests Act | Virginia Public Records Act          

2.2-3704. Public records to be open to 
inspection; procedure for requesting records 
and responding to request; charges; transfer of 
records for storage, etc.

A. Except as otherwise specifically provided by 
law, all public records shall be open to citizens of the 
Commonwealth, representatives of newspapers and 
magazines with circulation in the Commonwealth, and 
representatives of radio and television stations broad-
casting in or into the Commonwealth during the regu-
lar office hours of the custodian of such records. Access 
to such records shall be provided by the custodian in 
accordance with this chapter by inspection or by pro-
viding copies of the requested records, at the option of 
the requester. The custodian may require the requester 
to provide his name and legal address. The custodian 
of such records shall take all necessary precautions for 
their preservation and safekeeping.

B. A request for public records shall identify the 
requested records with reasonable specificity. The re-
quest need not make reference to this chapter in order 
to invoke the provisions of this chapter or to impose the 
time limits for response by a public body. Any public 
body that is subject to this chapter and that is the custo-
dian of the requested records shall promptly, but in all 
cases within five working days of receiving a request, 
provide the requested records to the requester or make 
one of the following responses in writing:

1. The requested records are being entirely with-
held. Such response shall identify with reasonable 
particularity the volume and subject matter of 
withheld records, and cite, as to each category of 
withheld records, the specific Code section that 
authorizes the withholding of the records.

2. The requested records are being provided in part 
and are being withheld in part. Such response 
shall identify with reasonable particularity the 
subject matter of withheld portions, and cite, as 
to each category of withheld records, the specific 
Code section that authorizes the withholding of 
the records.

3. The requested records could not be found or 
do not exist. However, if the public body that 
received the request knows that another public 
body has the requested records, the response 
shall include contact information for the other 
public body.

4. It is not practically possible to provide the re-
quested records or to determine whether they are 
available within the five-work-day period. Such 
response shall specify the conditions that make 

a response impossible. If the response is made 
within five working days, the public body shall 
have an additional seven work days in which to 
provide one of the four preceding responses.

C. Any public body may petition the appropriate 
court for additional time to respond to a request for 
records when the request is for an extraordinary vol-
ume of records or requires an extraordinarily lengthy 
search, and a response by the public body within the 
time required by this chapter will prevent the public 
body from meeting its operational responsibilities. Be-
fore proceeding with the petition, however, the public 
body shall make reasonable efforts to reach an agree-
ment with the requester concerning the production of 
the records requested.

D. Subject to the provisions of subsection G, no pub-
lic body shall be required to create a new record if the 
record does not already exist. However, a public body 
may abstract or summarize information under such 
terms and conditions as agreed between the requester 
and the public body.

E. Failure to respond to a request for records shall 
be deemed a denial of the request and shall constitute a 
violation of this chapter.

F. A public body may make reasonable charges not 
to exceed its actual cost incurred in accessing, duplicat-
ing, supplying, or searching for the requested records. 
No public body shall impose any extraneous, interme-
diary, or surplus fees or expenses to recoup the general 
costs associated with creating or maintaining records 
or transacting the general business of the public body. 
Any duplicating fee charged by a public body shall 
not exceed the actual cost of duplication. The public 
body may also make a reasonable charge for the cost 
incurred in supplying records produced from a geo-
graphic information system at the request of anyone 
other than the owner of the land that is the subject of 
the request. However, such charges shall not exceed the 
actual cost to the public body in supplying such re-
cords, except that the public body may charge, on a pro 
rata per acre basis, for the cost of creating topographi-
cal maps developed by the public body, for such maps 
or portions thereof, which encompass a contiguous area 
greater than 50 acres. All charges for the supplying of 
requested records shall be estimated in advance at the 
request of the citizen.

G. Public records maintained by a public body in 
an electronic data processing system, computer data-
base, or any other structured collection of data shall be 
made available to a requester at a reasonable cost, not 
to exceed the actual cost in accordance with subsection 
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F. When electronic or other databases are combined 
or contain exempt and nonexempt records, the public 
body may provide access to the exempt records if not 
otherwise prohibited by law, but shall provide access to 
the nonexempt records as provided by this chapter.

Public bodies shall produce nonexempt records 
maintained in an electronic database in any tangible 
medium identified by the requester, including, where 
the public body has the capability, the option of post-
ing the records on a website or delivering the records 
through an electronic mail address provided by the 
requester, if that medium is used by the public body 
in the regular course of business. No public body shall 
be required to produce records from an electronic 
database in a format not regularly used by the public 
body. However, the public body shall make reasonable 
efforts to provide records in any format under such 
terms and conditions as agreed between the requester 
and public body, including the payment of reasonable 
costs. The excision of exempt fields of information from 
a database or the conversion of data from one available 
format to another shall not be deemed the creation, 
preparation, or compilation of a new public record.

H. In any case where a public body determines 
in advance that charges for producing the requested 
records are likely to exceed $200, the public body may, 
before continuing to process the request, require the 
requester to agree to payment of a deposit not to exceed 
the amount of the advance determination. The deposit 
shall be credited toward the final cost of supplying the 
requested records. The period within which the public 
body shall respond under this section shall be tolled 
for the amount of time that elapses between notice of 
the advance determination and the response of the 
requester.

I. Before processing a request for records, a public 
body may require the requester to pay any amounts 
owed to the public body for previous requests for re-
cords that remain unpaid 30 days or more after billing.

J. In the event a public body has transferred posses-
sion of public records to any entity, including but not 
limited to any other public body, for storage, main-
tenance, or archiving, the public body initiating the 
transfer of such records shall remain the custodian of 
such records for purposes of responding to requests for 
public records made pursuant to this chapter and shall 
be responsible for retrieving and supplying such public 
records to the requester. In the event a public body has 
transferred public records for storage, maintenance, 
or archiving and such transferring public body is no 
longer in existence, any public body that is a succes-

sor to the transferring public body shall be deemed 
the custodian of such records. In the event no succes-
sor entity exists, the entity in possession of the public 
records shall be deemed the custodian of the records 
for purposes of compliance with this chapter, and 
shall retrieve and supply such records to the requester. 
Nothing in this subsection shall be construed to apply 
to records transferred to the Library of Virginia for 
permanent archiving pursuant to the duties imposed by 
the Virginia Public Records Act (§ 42.1-76 et seq.). In 
accordance with § 42.1-79, the Library of Virginia shall 
be the custodian of such permanently archived records 
and shall be responsible for responding to requests for 
such records made pursuant to this chapter.

§ 2.2-3704.01. Records containing both 
excluded and nonexcluded information;       
duty to redact.

No provision of this chapter is intended, nor shall it 
be construed or applied, to authorize a public body to 
withhold a public record in its entirety on the grounds 
that some portion of the public record is excluded from 
disclosure by this chapter or by any other provision of 
law. A public record may be withheld from disclosure 
in its entirety only to the extent that an exclusion from 
disclosure under this chapter or other provision of 
law applies to the entire content of the public record. 
Otherwise, only those portions of the public record 
containing information subject to an exclusion under 
this chapter or other provision of law may be withheld, 
and all portions of the public record that are not so 
excluded shall be disclosed.

§ 2.2-3704.1. Posting of notice of rights 
and responsibilities by state and local 
public bodies; assistance by the Freedom of 
Information Advisory Council. 

A. All state public bodies subject to the provisions 
of this chapter any county or city, or any town with a 
population of more than 250, and any school board 
shall make available the following information to 
the public upon request and shall post a link to such 
information on the homepage of their respective official 
public government websites:

1. A plain English explanation of the rights of a 
requester under this chapter, the procedures to 
obtain public records from the public body, and 
the responsibilities of the public body in comply-
ing with this chapter. For purposes of this section, 
“plain English” means written in nontechnical, 
readily understandable language using words 



22 2016-2017 Virginia Freedom of  Information Act | Conflict of  Interests Act | Virginia Public Records Act          

of common everyday usage and avoiding legal 
terms and phrases or other terms and words of 
art whose usage or special meaning primarily is 
limited to a particular field or profession;

2. Contact information for the FOIA officer des-
ignated by the public body pursuant to § 2.2-
3704.2 to (i) assist a requester in making a request 
for records or (ii) respond to requests for public 
records;

3. A general description, summary, list, or index of 
the types of public records maintained by such 
public body;

4. A general description, summary, list, or index 
of any exemptions in law that permit or require 
such public records to be withheld from release;

5. Any policy the public body has concerning the 
type of public records it routinely withholds from 
release as permitted by this chapter or other law; 
and

6. The following statement: “A public body may 
make reasonable charges not to exceed its actual 
cost incurred in accessing, duplicating, supplying, 
or searching for the requested records. No public 
body shall impose any extraneous, intermediary, 
or surplus fees or expenses to recoup the general 
costs associated with creating or maintaining 
records or transacting the general business of 
the public body. Any duplicating fee charged by 
a public body shall not exceed the actual cost of 
duplication. All charges for the supplying of re-
quested records shall be estimated in advance at 
the request of the citizen as set forth in subsection 
F of § 2.2-3704 of the Code of Virginia.”

B. Any state public body subject to the provisions 
of this chapter and any county or city, and any town 
with a population of more than 250, shall post a link 
on its official public government website to the online 
public comment form on the Freedom of Information 
Advisory Council’s website to enable any requester to 
comment on the quality of assistance provided to the 
requester by the public body.

C. The Freedom of Information Advisory Council, 
created pursuant to § 30-178, shall assist in the develop-
ment and implementation of the provisions of subsec-
tion A, upon request.

§ 2.2-3704.2. Public bodies to designate      
FOIA officer.

A. All state public bodies, including state authori-
ties, that are subject to the provisions of this chapter 

and all local public bodies that are subject to the 
provisions of this chapter, shall designate and publicly 
identify one or more Freedom of Information Act of-
ficers (FOIA officer) whose responsibility is to serve as 
a point of contact for members of the public in request-
ing public records and to coordinate the public body›s 
compliance with the provisions of this chapter.

B. For such state public bodies, the name and con-
tact information of the public body›s FOIA officer to 
whom members of the public may direct requests for 
public records and who will oversee the public body›s 
compliance with the provisions of this chapter shall 
be made available to the public upon request and be 
posted on the respective public body›s official public 
government website at the time of designation and 
maintained thereafter on such website for the duration 
of the designation.

C. For such local public bodies, the name and 
contact information of the public body’s FOIA officer 
to whom members of the public may direct requests for 
public records and who will oversee the public body’s 
compliance with the provisions of this chapter shall be 
made available in a way reasonably calculated to pro-
vide notice to the public, including posting at the public 
body’s place of business, posting on its official public 
government website, or including such information in 
its publications.

D. For the purposes of this section, local public bod-
ies shall include constitutional officers.

E. Any such FOIA officer shall possess specific 
knowledge of the provisions of this chapter and be 
trained at least annually by legal counsel for the public 
body or the Virginia Freedom of Information Advisory 
Council (the Council) or through an online course of-
fered by the Council.  Any such training shall docu-
ment that the training required by this subsection has 
been fulfilled.

F. The name and contact information of a FOIA 
officer trained by legal counsel of a public body shall be 
(i) submitted to the Council by July 1 of each year on a 
form developed by the Council for that purpose and (ii) 
updated in a timely manner in the event of any changes 
to such information.

G. The Council shall maintain on its website a 
listing of all FOIA officers, including name, contact in-
formation, and the name of the public body such FOIA 
officers serve. 
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§ 2.2-3705.1. Exclusions to application of 
chapter; exclusions of general application to 
public bodies.

The following information contained in a public 
record is excluded from the mandatory disclosure 
provisions of this chapter but may be disclosed by the 
custodian in his discretion, except where such disclo-
sure is prohibited by law. Redaction of information 
excluded under this section from a public record shall 
be conducted in accordance with § 2.2-3704.01.

1. Personnel information concerning identifi-
able individuals, except that access shall not be 
denied to the person who is the subject thereof. 
Any person who is the subject of such informa-
tion and who is 18 years of age or older may 
waive, in writing, the protections afforded by 
this subdivision. If the protections are so waived, 
such information shall be disclosed. Nothing in 
this subdivision shall be construed to authorize 
the withholding of any resumes or applications 
submitted by persons who are appointed by the 
Governor pursuant to § 2.2-106 or 2.2-107.

No provision of this chapter or any provi-
sion of Chapter 38 (§ 2.2-3800 et seq.) shall be 
construed as denying public access to (i) contracts 
between a public body and its officers or employ-
ees, other than contracts settling public employee 
employment disputes held confidential as person-
nel records under § 2.2-3705.1; (ii) records of the 
name, position, job classification, official salary, 
or rate of pay of, and records of the allowances or 
reimbursements for expenses paid to, any officer, 
official, or employee of a public body; or (iii) the 
compensation or benefits paid by any corporation 
organized by the Virginia Retirement System or 
its officers or employees. The provisions of this 
subdivision, however, shall not require public 
access to records of the official salaries or rates of 
pay of public employees whose annual rate of pay 
is $10,000 or less.

2. Written advice of legal counsel to state, regional 
or local public bodies or the officers or employees 
of such public bodies, and any other information 
protected by the attorney-client privilege.

3. Legal memoranda and other work product com-
piled specifically for use in litigation or for use in 
an active administrative investigation concerning 
a matter that is properly the subject of a closed 
meeting under § 2.2-3711.

4. Any test or examination used, administered or 
prepared by any public body for purposes of eval-

uation of (i) any student or any student’s perfor-
mance, (ii) any employee or employment seeker’s 
qualifications or aptitude for employment, reten-
tion, or promotion, or (iii) qualifications for any 
license or certificate issued by a public body.

As used in this subdivision, “test or exami-
nation” shall include (a) any scoring key for any 
such test or examination and (b) any other docu-
ment that would jeopardize the security of the 
test or examination. Nothing contained in this 
subdivision shall prohibit the release of test scores 
or results as provided by law, or limit access to 
individual records as provided by law. However, 
the subject of such employment tests shall be 
entitled to review and inspect all records relative 
to his performance on such employment tests.

When, in the reasonable opinion of such public 
body, any such test or examination no longer has 
any potential for future use, and the security of fu-
ture tests or examinations will not be jeopardized, 
the test or examination shall be made available to 
the public. However, minimum competency tests 
administered to public school children shall be 
made available to the public contemporaneously 
with statewide release of the scores of those taking 
such tests, but in no event shall such tests be made 
available to the public later than six months after 
the administration of such tests.

5. Records recorded in or compiled exclusively for 
use in closed meetings lawfully held pursuant to 
§ 2.2-3711. However, no record that is otherwise 
open to inspection under this chapter shall be 
deemed exempt by virtue of the fact that it has 
been reviewed or discussed in a closed meeting.

6. Vendor proprietary information software that 
may be in the public records of a public body. For 
the purpose of this subdivision, “vendor propri-
etary information software” means computer 
programs acquired from a vendor for purposes of 
processing data for agencies or political subdivi-
sions of the Commonwealth.

7. Computer software developed by or for a state 
agency, state-supported institution of higher 
education or political subdivision of the Com-
monwealth.

8. Appraisals and cost estimates of real property sub-
ject to a proposed purchase, sale, or lease, prior to 
the completion of such purchase, sale, or lease.

9. Information concerning reserves established in 
specific claims administered by the Department 
of the Treasury through its Division of Risk 
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Management as provided in Article 5 (§ 2.2-1832 
et seq.) of Chapter 18, or by any county, city, or 
town; and investigative notes, correspondence 
and information furnished in confidence with re-
spect to an investigation of a claim or a potential 
claim against a public body’s insurance policy 
or self-insurance plan. However, nothing in this 
subdivision shall prevent the disclosure of infor-
mation taken from inactive reports upon expira-
tion of the period of limitations for the filing of a 
civil suit.

10. Personal contact information, §2.2-3801 fur-
nished to a public body for the purpose of 
receiving electronic mail from the public body, 
provided that the electronic mail recipient has 
requested that the public body not disclose such 
information. However, access shall not be denied 
to the person who is the subject of the record. 
As used in this subdivision, “personal contact 
information” means the information provided 
to the public body for the purpose of receiving 
electronic mail from the public body and includes 
home or business (i) address, (ii) email address, 
or (iii) telephone number or comparable number 
assigned to any other electronic communication 
device.

11. Communications and materials required to be 
kept confidential pursuant to § 2.2-4119 of the 
Virginia Administrative Dispute Resolution Act 
(§ 2.2-4115 et seq.).

12. Information relating to the negotiation and 
award of a specific contract where competition 
or bargaining is involved and where the release 
of such information would adversely affect the 
bargaining position or negotiating strategy of the 
public body. Such information shall not be with-
held after the public body has made a decision to 
award or not to award the contract. In the case of 
procurement transactions conducted pursuant to 
the Virginia Public Procurement Act (§ 2.2-4300 
et seq.), the provisions of this subdivision shall 
not apply, and any release of information relat-
ing to such transactions shall be governed by the 
Virginia Public Procurement Act.

13. Account numbers or routing information for any 
credit card, debit card, or other account with a 
financial institution of any person or public body. 
However, access shall not be denied to the person 
who is the subject of the information. For the 
purposes of this subdivision, “financial institu-
tion” means any organization authorized to do 

business under state or federal laws relating to 
financial institutions, including, without limita-
tion, banks and trust companies, savings banks, 
savings and loan companies or associations, and 
credit unions.

§ 2.2-3705.2. Exclusions to application of 
chapter; records relating to public safety.

The following information contained in a public 
record is excluded from the mandatory disclosure 
provisions of this chapter but may be disclosed by the 
custodian in his discretion, except where such disclo-
sure is prohibited by law. Redaction of information 
excluded under this section from a public record shall 
be conducted in accordance with § 2.2-3704.01.

1. Confidential information, including victim iden-
tity, provided to or obtained by staff in a rape 
crisis center or a program for battered spouses.

2. Information that describes the design, func-
tion, operation, or access control features of any 
security system, whether manual or automated, 
which is used to control access to or use of any 
automated data processing or telecommunica-
tions system.

3. Information that would disclose the security 
aspects of a system safety program plan adopted 
pursuant to 49 C.F.R. Part 659 by the Common-
wealth’s designated Rail Fixed Guideway Sys-
tems Safety Oversight agency; and information 
in the possession of such agency, the release of 
which would jeopardize the success of an ongoing 
investigation of a rail accident or other incident 
threatening railway safety.

4. Information concerning security plans and specif-
ic assessment components of school safety audits, 
as provided in § 22.1-279.8.

Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed 
to prevent the disclosure of information relating 
to the effectiveness of security plans after (i) any 
school building or property has been subjected to 
fire, explosion, natural disaster, or other cata-
strophic event or (ii) any person on school prop-
erty has suffered or been threatened with any 
personal injury.

5. Information concerning the mental health assess-
ment of an individual subject to commitment as 
a sexually violent predator under Chapter 9 (§ 
37.2-900 et seq.) of Title 37.2 held by the Com-
mitment Review Committee; except that in no 
case shall information identifying the victims of a 
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sexually violent predator be disclosed.
6. Subscriber data provided directly or indirectly by 

a communications services provider to a public 
body that operates a 911 or E-911 emergency 
dispatch system or an emergency notification 
or reverse 911 system if the data is in a form not 
made available by the communications services 
provider to the public generally. Nothing in this 
subdivision shall prevent the disclosure of sub-
scriber data generated in connection with specific 
calls to a 911 emergency system, where the re-
quester is seeking to obtain public records about 
the use of the system in response to a specific 
crime, emergency or other event as to which a 
citizen has initiated a 911 call.

For the purposes of this subdivision:
“Communications services provider” means 

the same as that term is defined in § 58.1-647.
“Subscriber data” means the name, address, 

telephone number, and any other information 
identifying a subscriber of a communications 
services provider.

7. Subscriber data collected by a local governing 
body in accordance with the Enhanced Public 
Safety Telephone Services Act (§ 56-484.12 et 
seq.) and other identifying information of a per-
sonal, medical, or financial nature provided to a 
local governing body in connection with a 911 or 
E-911 emergency dispatch system or an emer-
gency notification or reverse 911 system if such 
records are not otherwise publicly available.

Nothing in this subdivision shall prevent the 
disclosure of subscriber data generated in con-
nection with specific calls to a 911 emergency 
system, where the requester is seeking to obtain 
public records about the use of the system in 
response to a specific crime, emergency or other 
event as to which a citizen has initiated a 911 call.

For the purposes of this subdivision:
“Communications services provider” means 

the same as that term is defined in § 58.1-647.
“Subscriber data” means the name, address, 

telephone number, and any other information 
identifying a subscriber of a communications 
services provider.

8. Information held by the Virginia Military Ad-
visory Council or any commission created by 
executive order for the purpose of studying and 
making recommendations regarding prevent-
ing closure or realignment of federal military 
and national security installations and facilities 

located in Virginia and relocation of such facili-
ties to Virginia, or a local or regional military 
affairs organization appointed by a local govern-
ing body, that would (i) reveal strategies under 
consideration or development by the Council or 
such commission or organizations to prevent the 
closure or realignment of federal military instal-
lations located in Virginia or the relocation of 
national security facilities located in Virginia, to 
limit the adverse economic effect of such realign-
ment, closure, or relocation, or to seek additional 
tenant activity growth from the Department of 
Defense or federal government or (ii) disclose 
trade secrets, as defined in the Uniform Trade 
Secrets Act (§ 59.1-336 et seq.), provided to the 
Council or such commission or organizations in 
connection with their work.

In order to invoke the trade secret protec-
tion provided by clause (ii), the submitting entity 
shall, in writing and at the time of submission (a) 
invoke this exclusion, (b) identify with specific-
ity the information for which such protection is 
sought, and (c) state the reason why such protec-
tion is necessary. Nothing in this subdivision 
shall be construed to prevent the disclosure of all 
or part of any record, other than a trade secret 
that has been specifically identified as required by 
this subdivision, after the Department of Defense 
or federal agency has issued a final, unappealable 
decision, or in the event of litigation, a court of 
competent jurisdiction has entered a final, unap-
pealable order concerning the closure, realign-
ment, or expansion of the military installation or 
tenant activities, or the relocation of the national 
security facility, for which records are sought.

9. Information, as determined by the State Comp-
troller, that describes the design, function, opera-
tion, or implementation of internal controls over 
the Commonwealth’s financial processes and 
systems, and the assessment of risks and vulner-
abilities of those controls, including the annual 
assessment of internal controls mandated by the 
State Comptroller, if disclosure of such informa-
tion would jeopardize the security of the Com-
monwealth’s financial assets. However, records 
relating to the investigation of and findings con-
cerning the soundness of any fiscal process shall 
be disclosed in a form that does not compromise 
internal controls. Nothing in this subdivision 
shall be construed to prohibit the Auditor of 
Public Accounts or the Joint Legislative Audit 
and Review Commission from reporting internal 
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control deficiencies discovered during the course 
of an audit.

10. Information relating to the Statewide Agencies 
Radio System (STARS) or any other similar local 
or regional public safety communications system 
that (i) describes the design, function, program-
ming, operation, or access control features of the 
overall system, components, structures, indi-
vidual networks, and subsystems of the STARS 
or any other similar local or regional communi-
cations system or (ii) relates to radio frequencies 
assigned to or utilized by STARS or any other 
similar local or regional communications system, 
code plugs, circuit routing, addressing schemes, 
talk groups, fleet maps, encryption, or program-
ming maintained by or utilized by STARS or 
any other similar local or regional public safety 
communications system.

11. Information concerning a salaried or volunteer 
Fire/EMS company or Fire/EMS department 
if disclosure of such information would reveal 
the telephone numbers for cellular telephones, 
pagers, or comparable portable communication 
devices provided to its personnel for use in the 
performance of their official duties.

12. Information concerning the disaster recovery 
plans or the evacuation plans in the event of fire, 
explosion, natural disaster, or other catastrophic 
event for hospitals and nursing homes regulated 
by the Board of Health pursuant to Chapter 5 
(§ 32.1-123 et seq.) of Title 32.1 provided to the 
Department of Health. Nothing in this subdivi-
sion shall be construed to prevent the disclosure 
of information relating to the effectiveness of 
executed evacuation plans after the occurrence of 
fire, explosion, natural disaster, or other cata-
strophic event.

13. Records received by the Department of Crimi-
nal Justice Services pursuant to §§ 9.1-184, 22.1-
79.4, and 22.1-279.8 or for purposes of evaluating 
threat assessment teams established by a public 
institution of higher education pursuant to § 23.1-
805 or by a private nonprofit institution of higher 
education, to the extent such records reveal secu-
rity plans, walk-through checklists, or vulnerabil-
ity and threat assessment components.

14. Information contained in (i) engineering, ar-
chitectural, or construction drawings; (ii) opera-
tional, procedural, tactical planning, or training 
manuals; (iii) staff meeting minutes; or (iv) other 
records that reveal any of the following, the 

disclosure of which would jeopardize the safety 
or security of any person; governmental facility, 
building, or structure or persons using such facil-
ity, building, or structure; or public or private 
commercial office, multifamily residential, or 
retail building or its occupants:

a. Critical infrastructure information or the 
location or operation of security equipment and 
systems of any public building, structure, or 
information storage facility, including ventila-
tion systems, fire protection equipment, manda-
tory building emergency equipment or systems, 
elevators, electrical systems, telecommunications 
equipment and systems, or utility equipment and 
systems;

b. Vulnerability assessments, information not 
lawfully available to the public regarding spe-
cific cybersecurity threats or vulnerabilities, or 
security plans and measures of an entity, facil-
ity, building structure, information technology 
system, or software program;

c. Surveillance techniques, personnel deploy-
ments, alarm or security systems or technologies, 
or operational or transportation plans or proto-
cols; or

d. Interconnectivity, network monitoring, net-
work operation centers, master sites, or systems 
related to the Statewide Agencies Radio System 
(STARS) or any other similar local or regional 
public safety communications system.

The same categories of records of any person 
or entity submitted to a public body for the pur-
pose of antiterrorism response planning or cyber-
security planning or protection may be withheld 
from disclosure if such person or entity in writing 
(a) invokes the protections of this subdivision, (b) 
identifies with specificity the records or portions 
thereof for which protection is sought, and (c) 
states with reasonable particularity why the pro-
tection of such records from public disclosure is 
necessary to meet the objective of antiterrorism, 
cybersecurity planning or protection, or critical 
infrastructure information security and resil-
ience. Such statement shall be a public record 
and shall be disclosed upon request.

Any public body receiving a request for 
records excluded under clauses (a) and (b) of this 
subdivision 14 shall notify the Secretary of Public 
Safety and Homeland Security or his designee of 
such request and the response made by the public 
body in accordance with § 2.2-3704.

Nothing in this subdivision 14 shall prevent 



2016-2017 Virginia Freedom of  Information Act | Conflict of  Interests Act | Virginia Public Records Act            27

the disclosure of records relating to (1) the struc-
tural or environmental soundness of any such 
facility, building, or structure or (2) an inquiry 
into the performance of such facility, building, or 
structure after it has been subjected to fire, explo-
sion, natural disaster, or other catastrophic event.

As used in this subdivision, “critical infra-
structure information” means the same as that 
term is defined in 6 U.S.C. § 131

2.2-3705.3. Exclusions to application of 
chapter; records relating to administrative 
investigations.

The following information contained in a public 
record is excluded from the mandatory disclosure 
provisions of this chapter but may be disclosed by the 
custodian in his discretion, except where such disclo-
sure is prohibited by law. Redaction of information 
excluded under this section from a public record shall 
be conducted in accordance with § 2.2-3704.01.

1. (Effective until July 1, 2018) Information relat-
ing to investigations of applicants for licenses 
and permits, and of all licensees and permittees, 
made by or submitted to the Alcoholic Bever-
age Control Board, the Virginia Lottery, the 
Virginia Racing Commission, the Department 
of Agriculture and Consumer Services relating 
to investigations and applications pursuant to 
Article 1.1:1 (§ 18.2-340.15 et seq.) of Chapter 8 of 
Title 18.2, or the Private Security Services Unit 
of the Department of Criminal Justice Services.

2. Records of active investigations being conducted 
by the Department of Health Professions or by 
any health regulatory board in the Common-
wealth pursuant to § 54.1-108.

3. Investigator notes, and other correspondence 
and information, furnished in confidence with 
respect to an active investigation of individual 
employment discrimination complaints made to 
the Department of Human Resource Manage-
ment, to such personnel of any local public body, 
including local school boards, as are responsible 
for conducting such investigations in confidence, 
or to any public institution of higher educa-
tion. However, nothing in this subdivision shall 
prevent the disclosure of information taken from 
inactive reports in a form that does not reveal the 
identity of charging parties, persons supplying 
the information, or other individuals involved in 
the investigation.

4. Records of active investigations being conducted 

by the Department of Medical Assistance Ser-
vices pursuant to Chapter 10 (§ 32.1-323 et seq.) 
of Title 32.1.

5. Investigative notes and other correspondence and 
information furnished in confidence with respect 
to an investigation or conciliation process involv-
ing an alleged unlawful discriminatory practice 
under the Virginia Human Rights Act (§ 2.2-
3900 et seq.) or under any local ordinance ad-
opted in accordance with the authority specified 
in § 2.2-524, or adopted pursuant to § 15.2-965, 
or adopted prior to July 1, 1987, in accordance 
with applicable law, relating to local human 
rights or human relations commissions. How-
ever, nothing in this subdivision shall prevent the 
distribution of information taken from inactive 
reports in a form that does not reveal the identity 
of the parties involved or other persons supplying 
information.

6. Information relating to studies and investigations 
by the Virginia Lottery of (i) lottery agents, (ii) 
lottery vendors, (iii) lottery crimes under §§ 58.1-
4014 through 58.1-4018, (iv) defects in the law 
or regulations that cause abuses in the admin-
istration and operation of the lottery and any 
evasions of such provisions, or (v) the use of the 
lottery as a subterfuge for organized crime and 
illegal gambling where such information has not 
been publicly released, published or copyrighted. 
All studies and investigations referred to under 
clauses (iii), (iv), and (v) shall be open to inspec-
tion and copying upon completion of the study or 
investigation.

7. Investigative notes, correspondence and informa-
tion furnished in confidence, and records other-
wise exempted by this chapter or any Virginia 
statute, provided to or produced by or for (i) the 
Auditor of Public Accounts; (ii) the Joint Legisla-
tive Audit and Review Commission; (iii) an ap-
propriate authority as defined in § 2.2-3010 with 
respect to an allegation of wrongdoing or abuse 
under the Fraud and Abuse Whistle Blower 
Protection Act (§ 2.2-3009 et seq.); (iv) the Office 
of the State Inspector General with respect to an 
investigation initiated through the Fraud, Waste 
and Abuse Hotline or an investigation initiated 
pursuant to Chapter 3.2 (§ 2.2-307 et seq.); (v) 
internal auditors appointed by the head of a state 
agency or by any public institution of higher 
education; (vi) the committee or the auditor with 
respect to an investigation or audit conducted 
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pursuant to § 15.2-825; or (vii) the auditors, 
appointed by the local governing body of any 
county, city, or town or a school board, who by 
charter, ordinance, or statute have responsibil-
ity for conducting an investigation of any officer, 
department, or program of such body. Informa-
tion contained in completed investigations shall 
be disclosed in a form that does not reveal the 
identity of the complainants or persons supplying 
information to investigators. Unless disclosure 
is excluded by this subdivision, the information 
disclosed shall include the agency involved, the 
identity of the person who is the subject of the 
complaint, the nature of the complaint, and 
the actions taken to resolve the complaint. If an 
investigation does not lead to corrective action, 
the identity of the person who is the subject of the 
complaint may be released only with the consent 
of the subject person. Local governing bodies 
shall adopt guidelines to govern the disclosure 
required by this subdivision.

8.  The names, addresses, and telephone numbers 
of complainants furnished in confidence with 
respect to an investigation of individual zoning 
enforcement complaints or complaints relating to 
the Uniform Statewide Building Code (§ 36-97 
et seq.) or the Statewide Fire Prevention Code (§ 
27-94 et seq.) made to a local governing body.

9. Records of active investigations being conducted 
by the Department of Criminal Justice Services 
pursuant to Article 4 (§ 9.1-138 et seq.), Article 
4.1 (§ 9.1-150.1 et seq.), Article 11 (§ 9.1-185 et 
seq.), and Article 12 (§ 9.1-186 et seq.) of Chapter 
1 of Title 9.1.

10. Information furnished to or prepared by the 
Board of Education pursuant to subsection D of 
§ 22.1-253.13:3 in connection with the review or 
investigation of any alleged breach in security, 
unauthorized alteration, or improper adminis-
tration of tests by local school board employees 
responsible for the distribution or administra-
tion of the tests. However, this section shall not 
prohibit the disclosure of such information to (i) a 
local school board or division superintendent for 
the purpose of permitting such board or super-
intendent to consider or to take personnel action 
with regard to an employee or (ii) any requester, 
after the conclusion of a review or investigation, 
in a form that (a) does not reveal the identity of 
any person making a complaint or supplying 
information to the Board on a confidential basis 

and (b) does not compromise the security of any 
test mandated by the Board.

11. Information contained in (i) an application for 
licensure or renewal of a license for teachers and 
other school personnel, including transcripts or 
other documents submitted in support of an ap-
plication, and (ii) an active investigation conduct-
ed by or for the Board of Education related to the 
denial, suspension, cancellation, revocation, or 
reinstatement of teacher and other school per-
sonnel licenses including investigator notes and 
other correspondence and information, furnished 
in confidence with respect to such investigation. 
However, this subdivision shall not prohibit the 
disclosure of such (a) application information to 
the applicant at his own expense or (b) investiga-
tion information to a local school board or divi-
sion superintendent for the purpose of permitting 
such board or superintendent to consider or to 
take personnel action with regard to an employ-
ee. Information contained in completed investi-
gations shall be disclosed in a form that does not 
reveal the identity of any complainant or person 
supplying information to investigators. The 
completed investigation information disclosed 
shall include information regarding the school or 
facility involved, the identity of the person who 
was the subject of the complaint, the nature of 
the complaint, and the actions taken to resolve 
the complaint. If an investigation fails to support 
a complaint or does not lead to corrective action, 
the identity of the person who was the subject of 
the complaint may be released only with the con-
sent of the subject person. No personally identifi-
able information regarding a current or former 
student shall be released except as permitted by 
state or federal law.

12. Information provided in confidence and related 
to an investigation by the Attorney General 
under Article 1 (§ 3.2-4200 et seq.) or Article 3 
(§ 3.2-4204 et seq.) of Chapter 42 of Title 3.2, 
Article 10 (§ 18.2-246.6 et seq.) of Chapter 6 or 
Chapter 13 (§ 18.2-512 et seq.) of Title 18.2, or 
Article 1 (§ 58.1-1000) of Chapter 10 of Title 
58.1. However, information related to an inves-
tigation that has been inactive for more than six 
months shall, upon request, be disclosed provid-
ed such disclosure is not otherwise prohibited by 
law and does not reveal the identity of charging 
parties, complainants, persons supplying infor-
mation, witnesses, or other individuals involved 
in the investigation.
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§ 2.2-3705.4. Exclusions to application of 
chapter; educational records and certain 
records of educational institutions.

The following information contained in a public 
record is excluded from the mandatory disclosure 
provisions of this chapter but may be disclosed by the 
custodian in his discretion, except where such disclo-
sure is prohibited by law. Redaction of information 
excluded under this section from a public record shall 
be conducted in accordance with § 2.2-3704.01.

1. Scholastic records containing information con-
cerning identifiable individuals, except that such 
access shall not be denied to the person who is 
the subject thereof, or the parent or legal guard-
ian of the student. However, no student shall 
have access to (i) financial records of a parent or 
guardian or (ii) records of instructional, super-
visory, and administrative personnel and edu-
cational personnel ancillary thereto, that are in 
the sole possession of the maker thereof and that 
are not accessible or revealed to any other person 
except a substitute.

The parent or legal guardian of a student 
may prohibit, by written request, the release of 
any individual information regarding that stu-
dent until the student reaches the age of 18 years. 
For scholastic records of students under the age of 
18 years, the right of access may be asserted only 
by his legal guardian or parent, including a non-
custodial parent, unless such parent’s parental 
rights have been terminated or a court of com-
petent jurisdiction has restricted or denied such 
access. For scholastic records of students who 
are emancipated or attending a state-supported 
institution of higher education, the right of access 
may be asserted by the student.

Any person who is the subject of any scholas-
tic record and who is 18 years of age or older may 
waive, in writing, the protections afforded by this 
subdivision. If the protections are so waived, such 
records shall be disclosed.

2. Confidential letters and statements of recom-
mendation placed in the records of educational 
agencies or institutions respecting (i) admission 
to any educational agency or institution, (ii) an 
application for employment or promotion, or (iii) 
receipt of an honor or honorary recognition.

3. Information held by the Brown v. Board of 
Education Scholarship Awards Committee that 
would reveal personally identifiable information, 
including scholarship applications, personal fi-

nancial information, and confidential correspon-
dence and letters of recommendation.

4. Information of a proprietary nature produced or 
collected by or for faculty or staff of public insti-
tutions of higher education, other than the insti-
tutions’ financial or administrative records, in 
the conduct of or as a result of study or research 
on medical, scientific, technical or scholarly is-
sues, whether sponsored by the institution alone 
or in conjunction with a governmental body or a 
private concern, where such information has not 
been publicly released, published, copyrighted or 
patented.

5. Information held by the University of Virginia 
or the University of Virginia Medical Center 
or Eastern Virginia Medical School, as the 
case may be, that contain proprietary, business-
related information pertaining to the operations 
of the University of Virginia Medical Center or 
Eastern Virginia Medical School, as the case 
may be, including business development or mar-
keting strategies and activities with existing or 
future joint venturers, partners, or other parties 
with whom the University of Virginia Medi-
cal Center or Eastern Virginia Medical School, 
as the case may be, has formed, or forms, any 
arrangement for the delivery of health care, if 
disclosure of such information would be harm-
ful to the competitive position of the University 
of Virginia Medical Center or Eastern Virginia 
Medical School, as the case may be.

6. Personal information, as defined in § 2.2-3801, 
provided to the Board of the Virginia College 
Savings Plan or its employees by or on behalf 
of individuals who have requested information 
about, applied for, or entered into prepaid tuition 
contracts or savings trust account agreements 
pursuant to Chapter 7 (§ 23.1-700 et seq.) of Title 
23.1, including personal information related to 
(i) qualified beneficiaries as that term is defined 
in § 23.1-700, (ii) designated survivors, or (iii) 
authorized individuals. Nothing in this subdivi-
sion shall be construed to prevent disclosure or 
publication of information in a statistical or other 
form that does not identify individuals or provide 
personal information. Individuals shall be pro-
vided access to their own personal information.

For purposes of this subdivision:
“Authorized individual” means an individual 

who may be named by the account owner to 
receive information regarding the account but 
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who does not have any control or authority over 
the account.

“Designated survivor” means the person who 
will assume account ownership in the event of 
the account owner’s death.

7. Information maintained in connection with 
fundraising activities by or for a public institution 
of higher education that would reveal (i) personal 
fundraising strategies relating to identifiable 
donors or prospective donors or (ii) wealth assess-
ments; estate, financial, or tax planning informa-
tion; health-related information; employment, 
familial, or marital status information; electronic 
mail addresses, facsimile or telephone numbers; 
birth dates or social security numbers of identifi-
able donors or prospective donors. Nothing in 
this subdivision, however, shall be construed to 
prevent the disclosure of information relating 
to the amount, date, purpose, and terms of the 
pledge or donation, or the identity of the donor 
unless the donor has requested anonymity in 
connection with or as a condition of making a 
pledge or donation. The exclusion provided by 
this subdivision shall not apply to protect from 
disclosure (i) the identities of sponsors providing 
grants to or contracting with the institution for 
the performance of research services or other 
work or (ii) the terms and conditions of such 
grants or contracts.

8. Information held by a threat assessment team 
established by a local school board pursuant to 
§ 22.1-79.4 or by a public institution of higher 
education pursuant to § 23.1-805 relating to the 
assessment or intervention with a specific indi-
vidual. However, in the event an individual who 
has been under assessment commits an act, or 
is prosecuted for the commission of an act that 
has caused the death of, or caused serious bodily 
injury, including any felony sexual assault, to 
another person, such information of the threat 
assessment team concerning the individual under 
assessment shall be made available as provided 
by this chapter, with the exception of any crimi-
nal history records obtained pursuant to § 19.2-
389 or 19.2-389.1, health records obtained pursu-
ant to § 32.1-127.1:03, or scholastic records as 
defined in § 22.1-289. The public body providing 
such information shall remove personally iden-
tifying information of any person who provided 
information to the threat assessment team under 
a promise of confidentiality.

§ 2.2-3705.5. Exclusions to application of 
chapter; health and social services records.

The following information contained in a public 
record is excluded from the mandatory disclosure 
provisions of this chapter but may be disclosed by the 
custodian in his discretion, except where such disclo-
sure is prohibited by law. Redaction of information 
excluded under this section from a public record shall 
be conducted in accordance with § 2.2-3704.01.

1. Health records, except that such records may be 
personally reviewed by the individual who is the 
subject of such records, as provided in subsection 
F of § 32.1-127.1:03.

Where the person who is the subject of health 
records is confined in a state or local correctional 
facility, the administrator or chief medical officer 
of such facility may assert such confined person’s 
right of access to the health records if the admin-
istrator or chief medical officer has reasonable 
cause to believe that such confined person has 
an infectious disease or other medical condition 
from which other persons so confined need to be 
protected. Health records shall only be reviewed 
and shall not be copied by such administrator 
or chief medical officer. The information in the 
health records of a person so confined shall con-
tinue to be confidential and shall not be disclosed 
by the administrator or chief medical officer of 
the facility to any person except the subject or 
except as provided by law.

Where the person who is the subject of health 
records is under the age of 18, his right of access 
may be asserted only by his guardian or his par-
ent, including a noncustodial parent, unless such 
parent’s parental rights have been terminated, a 
court of competent jurisdiction has restricted or 
denied such access, or a parent has been denied 
access to the health record in accordance with § 
20-124.6. In instances where the person who is the 
subject thereof is an emancipated minor, a student 
in a public institution of higher education, or is a 
minor who has consented to his own treatment as 
authorized by § 16.1-338 or 54.1-2969, the right of 
access may be asserted by the subject person.

For the purposes of this chapter, statistical 
summaries of incidents and statistical data con-
cerning abuse of individuals receiving services 
compiled by the Commissioner of Behavioral 
Health and Developmental Services shall be dis-
closed. No such summaries or data shall include 
any information that identifies specific individu-
als receiving services.
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2. Applications for admission to examinations or for 
licensure and scoring records maintained by the 
Department of Health Professions or any board 
in that department on individual licensees or ap-
plicants; information required to be provided to 
the Department of Health Professions by certain 
licensees pursuant to § 54.1-2506.1; information 
held by the Health Practitioners’ Monitoring 
Program Committee within the Department of 
Health Professions that identifies any practitioner 
who may be, or who is actually, impaired to the 
extent that disclosure is prohibited by § 54.1-2517; 
and information relating to the prescribing and 
dispensing of covered substances to recipients and 
any abstracts from such information that are in 
the possession of the Prescription Monitoring Pro-
gram (Program) pursuant to Chapter 25.2 (§ 54.1-
2519 et seq.) of Title 54.1 and any material relating 
to the operation or security of the Program.

3. Reports, documentary evidence, and other infor-
mation as specified in §§ 51.5-122, and 51.5-141, 
and 63.2-104 Chapter 1 (§ 63.2-100 et seq.) of 
Title 63.2 and information and statistical regis-
tries required to be kept confidential pursuant to 
Chapter 1 (§ 63.2-100 et seq.) of Title 63.2.

4. Investigative notes; proprietary information not 
published, copyrighted or patented; informa-
tion obtained from employee personnel records; 
personally identifiable information regarding 
residents, clients or other recipients of services; 
other correspondence and information furnished 
in confidence to the Department of Social Ser-
vices in connection with an active investigation 
of an applicant or licensee pursuant to Chapters 
17 (§ 63.2-1700 et seq.) and 18 (§ 63.2-1800 et 
seq.) of Title 63.2; and information furnished to 
the Office of the Attorney General in connec-
tion with an investigation or litigation pursuant 
to Article 19.1 (§ 8.01-216.1 et seq.) of Chapter 3 
of Title 8.01 and Chapter 9 (§ 32.1-310 et seq.) of 
Title 32.1. However, nothing in this subdivision 
shall prevent the disclosure of information from 
the records of completed investigations in a form 
that does not reveal the identity of complainants, 
persons supplying information, or other individu-
als involved in the investigation.

5. Information collected for the designation and 
verification of trauma centers and other specialty 
care centers within the Statewide Emergency 
Medical Services System and Services pursuant 
to Article 2.1 (§ 32.1-111.1 et seq.) of Chapter 4 of 

Title 32.1.
6. Reports and court documents relating to involun-

tary admission required to be kept confidential 
pursuant to § 37.2-818.

7. Information acquired (i) during a review of any 
child death conducted by the State Child Fatality 
Review team established pursuant to § 32.1-283.1 
or by a local or regional child fatality review 
team to the extent that such information is made 
confidential by § 32.1-283.2; (ii) during a review of 
any death conducted by a family violence fatality 
review team to the extent that such information is 
made confidential by § 32.1-283.3; or (iii) during a 
review of any adult death conducted by the Adult 
Fatality Review Team to the extent made confi-
dential by § 32.1-283.5 or by a local or regional 
adult fatality review team to the extent that such 
information is made confidential by § 32.1-283.6.

8. Patient level data collected by the Board of 
Health and not yet processed, verified, and 
released, pursuant to § 32.1-276.9, to the Board 
by the nonprofit organization with which the 
Commissioner of Health has contracted pursuant 
to § 32.1-276.4.

9. Information relating to a grant application, or 
accompanying a grant application, submitted 
to the Commonwealth Neurotrauma Initiative 
Advisory Board pursuant to Article 12 (§ 51.5-
178 et seq.) of Chapter 14 of Title 51.5 that would 
(i) reveal (a) medical or mental health records or 
other data identifying individual patients or (b) 
proprietary business or research-related informa-
tion produced or collected by the applicant in the 
conduct of or as a result of study or research on 
medical, rehabilitative, scientific, technical, or 
scholarly issues, when such information has not 
been publicly released, published, copyrighted, or 
patented, and (ii) be harmful to the competitive 
position of the applicant.

10. Any information copied, recorded, or received 
by the Commissioner of Health in the course of 
an examination, investigation, or review of a man-
aged care health insurance plan licensee pursuant 
to §§ 32.1-137.4 and 32.1-137.5, including books, 
records, files, accounts, papers, documents, and 
any or all computer or other recordings.

11. Records of the Virginia Birth-Related Neuro-
logical Injury Compensation Program required 
to be kept confidential pursuant to § 38.2-5002.2.

12. Information held by the State Health Commis-
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sioner relating to the health of any person subject 
to an order of quarantine or an order of isolation 
pursuant to Article 3.02 (§ 32.1-48.05 et seq.) 
of Chapter 2 of Title 32.1. However, nothing in 
this subdivision shall be construed to prevent the 
disclosure of statistical summaries, abstracts, or 
other information in aggregate form.

13. The names and addresses or other contact 
information of persons receiving transporta-
tion services from a state or local public body 
or its designee under Title II of the Americans 
with Disabilities Act, (42 U.S.C. § 12131 et seq.) 
or funded by Temporary Assistance for Needy 
Families (TANF) created under § 63.2-600.

14. Information held by certain health care com-
mittees and entities that may be withheld from 
discovery as privileged communications pursuant 
to § 8.01-581.17.

§ 2.2-3705.6. Exclusions to application of 
chapter; proprietary records and trade secrets.

The following information contained in a public 
record is excluded from the mandatory disclosure 
provisions of this chapter but may be disclosed by the 
custodian in his discretion, except where such disclo-
sure is prohibited by law. Redaction of information 
excluded under this section from a public record shall 
be conducted in accordance with § 2.2-3704.01.

1. Proprietary information gathered by or for the 
Virginia Port Authority as provided in § 62.1-
132.4 or 62.1-134.1.

2. Financial statements not publicly available filed 
with applications for industrial development 
financings in accordance with Chapter 49 (§ 
15.2-4900 et seq.) of Title 15.2.

3. Proprietary information, voluntarily provided by 
private business pursuant to a promise of confi-
dentiality from a public body, used by the public 
body for business, trade, and tourism develop-
ment or retention; and memoranda, working 
papers, or other information related to businesses 
that are considering locating or expanding in 
Virginia, prepared by a public body, where 
competition or bargaining is involved and where 
disclosure of such information would adversely 
affect the financial interest of the public body.

4. Information that was filed as confidential under 
the Toxic Substances Information Act (§ 32.1-239 
et seq.), as such Act existed prior to July 1, 1992.

5. Fisheries data that would permit identification 
of any person or vessel, except when required by 
court order as specified in § 28.2-204.

6. Confidential financial statements, balance sheets, 
trade secrets, and revenue and cost projections 
provided to the Department of Rail and Public 
Transportation, provided such information is 
exempt under the federal Freedom of Informa-
tion Act or the federal Interstate Commerce 
Act or other laws administered by the Surface 
Transportation Board or the Federal Railroad 
Administration with respect to data provided in 
confidence to the Surface Transportation Board 
and the Federal Railroad Administration.

7. Proprietary information related to inventory and 
sales, voluntarily provided by private energy 
suppliers to the Department of Mines, Minerals 
and Energy, used by that Department for energy 
contingency planning purposes or for developing 
consolidated statistical information on energy 
supplies.

8. Confidential proprietary information furnished 
to the Board of Medical Assistance Services 
or the Medicaid Prior Authorization Advisory 
Committee pursuant to Article 4 (§ 32.1-331.12 et 
seq.) of Chapter 10 of Title 32.1.

9. Proprietary, commercial or financial information, 
balance sheets, trade secrets, and revenue and 
cost projections provided by a private transpor-
tation business to the Virginia Department of 
Transportation and the Department of Rail and 
Public Transportation for the purpose of con-
ducting transportation studies needed to obtain 
grants or other financial assistance under the 
Transportation Equity Act for the 21st Cen-
tury (P.L. 105-178) for transportation projects if 
disclosure of such information is exempt under 
the federal Freedom of Information Act or the 
federal Interstate Commerce Act or other laws 
administered by the Surface Transportation 
Board or the Federal Railroad Administration 
with respect to data provided in confidence to the 
Surface Transportation Board and the Federal 
Railroad Administration. However, the exclusion 
provided by this subdivision shall not apply to 
any wholly owned subsidiary of a public body.

10. Confidential information designated as provided 
in subsection F of § 2.2-4342 as trade secrets or 
proprietary information by any person in con-
nection with a procurement transaction or by 
any person who has submitted to a public body 
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an application for prequalification to bid on 
public construction projects in accordance with 
subsection B of § 2.2-4317.

11. a. Memoranda, staff evaluations, or other infor-
mation prepared by the responsible public entity, 
its staff, outside advisors, or consultants exclusive-
ly for the evaluation and negotiation of proposals 
filed under the Public-Private Transportation Act 
of 1995 (§ 33.2-1800 et seq.) or the Public-Private 
Education Facilities and Infrastructure Act of 
2002 (§ 56-575.1 et seq.) where (i) if such informa-
tion was made public prior to or after the execu-
tion of an interim or a comprehensive agreement, 
§ 33.2-1820 or 56-575.17 notwithstanding, the 
financial interest or bargaining position of the 
public entity would be adversely affected and (ii) 
the basis for the determination required in clause 
(i) is documented in writing by the responsible 
public entity; and

b. Information provided by a private entity to 
a responsible public entity, affected jurisdiction, 
or affected local jurisdiction pursuant to the pro-
visions of the Public-Private Transportation Act 
of 1995 (§ 33.2-1800 et seq.) or the Public-Private 
Education Facilities and Infrastructure Act of 
2002 (§ 56-575.1 et seq.) if disclosure of such 
information would reveal (i) trade secrets of the 
private entity as defined in the Uniform Trade 
Secrets Act (§ 59.1-336 et seq.); (ii) financial in-
formation of the private entity, including balance 
sheets and financial statements, that are not gen-
erally available to the public through regulatory 
disclosure or otherwise; or (iii) other information 
submitted by the private entity where if such 
information was made public prior to the execu-
tion of an interim agreement or a comprehensive 
agreement, the financial interest or bargaining 
position of the public or private entity would be 
adversely affected. In order for the information 
specified in clauses (i), (ii), and (iii) to be excluded 
from the provisions of this chapter, the private 
entity shall make a written request to the respon-
sible public entity:

(1) Invoking such exclusion upon submission 
of the data or other materials for which protec-
tion from disclosure is sought;

(2) Identifying with specificity the data or 
other materials for which protection is sought; 
and

(3) Stating the reasons why protection is 
necessary.

The responsible public entity shall determine 

whether the requested exclusion from disclosure 
is necessary to protect the trade secrets or finan-
cial information of the private entity. To protect 
other information submitted by the private entity 
from disclosure, the responsible public entity 
shall determine whether public disclosure prior to 
the execution of an interim agreement or a com-
prehensive agreement would adversely affect the 
financial interest or bargaining position of the 
public or private entity. The responsible public 
entity shall make a written determination of the 
nature and scope of the protection to be afforded 
by the responsible public entity under this sub-
division. Once a written determination is made 
by the responsible public entity, the information 
afforded protection under this subdivision shall 
continue to be protected from disclosure when 
in the possession of any affected jurisdiction or 
affected local jurisdiction.

Except as specifically provided in subdivision 
11 a, nothing in this subdivision shall be con-
strued to authorize the withholding of (a) pro-
curement records as required by § 33.2-1820 or 
56-575.17; (b) information concerning the terms 
and conditions of any interim or comprehensive 
agreement, service contract, lease, partnership, 
or any agreement of any kind entered into by the 
responsible public entity and the private entity; 
(c) information concerning the terms and condi-
tions of any financing arrangement that involves 
the use of any public funds; or (d) information 
concerning the performance of any private entity 
developing or operating a qualifying transporta-
tion facility or a qualifying project.

For the purposes of this subdivision, the terms 
“affected jurisdiction,” “affected local jurisdic-
tion,” “comprehensive agreement,” “interim 
agreement,” “qualifying project,” “qualifying 
transportation facility,” “responsible public 
entity,” and “private entity” shall mean the same 
as those terms are defined in the Public-Private 
Transportation Act of 1995 (§ 33.2-1800 et seq.) 
or in the Public-Private Education Facilities and 
Infrastructure Act of 2002 (§ 56-575.1 et seq.).

12. Confidential proprietary information or trade 
secrets, not publicly available, provided by a 
private person or entity pursuant to a promise of 
confidentiality to the Virginia Resources Author-
ity or to a fund administered in connection with 
financial assistance rendered or to be rendered 
by the Virginia Resources Authority where, if 
such information were made public, the financial 
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interest of the private person or entity would be 
adversely affected.

13. Trade secrets, as defined in the Uniform Trade 
Secrets Act (§ 59.1-336 et seq.), or confidential 
proprietary information that is not generally 
available to the public through regulatory dis-
closure or otherwise, provided by a (i) bidder or 
applicant for a franchise or (ii) franchisee under 
Chapter 21 (§ 15.2-2100 et seq.) of Title 15.2 to 
the applicable franchising authority pursuant to 
a promise of confidentiality from the franchising 
authority, to the extent the information relates to 
the bidder’s, applicant’s, or franchisee’s financial 
capacity or provision of new services, adoption of 
new technologies or implementation of improve-
ments, where such new services, technologies, 
or improvements have not been implemented by 
the franchisee on a nonexperimental scale in the 
franchise area, and where, if such information 
were made public, the competitive advantage 
or financial interests of the franchisee would be 
adversely affected.

In order for trade secrets or confidential 
proprietary information to be excluded from the 
provisions of this chapter, the bidder, applicant, 
or franchisee shall (a) invoke such exclusion 
upon submission of the data or other materials 
for which protection from disclosure is sought, 
(b) identify the data or other materials for which 
protection is sought, and (c) state the reason why 
protection is necessary.

No bidder, applicant, or franchisee may 
invoke the exclusion provided by this subdivision 
if the bidder, applicant, or franchisee is owned or 
controlled by a public body or if any representa-
tive of the applicable franchising authority serves 
on the management board or as an officer of the 
bidder, applicant, or franchisee.

14. Information of a proprietary nature furnished 
by a supplier of charitable gaming supplies to the 
Department of Agriculture and Consumer Ser-
vices pursuant to subsection E of § 18.2-340.34.

15. Information related to Virginia apple producer 
sales provided to the Virginia State Apple Board 
pursuant to § 3.2-1215.

16. Trade secrets, as defined in the Uniform Trade 
Secrets Act (§ 59.1-336 et seq.) of Title 59.1, submit-
ted by CMRS providers as defined in § 56-484.12 
to the Wireless Carrier E-911 Cost Recovery Sub-
committee created pursuant to § 56-484.15, relating 
to the provision of wireless E-911 service.

17. Information relating to a grant or loan applica-
tion, or accompanying a grant or loan applica-
tion, to the Innovation and Entrepreneurship 
Investment Authority pursuant to Article 3 (§ 
2.2-2233.1 et seq.) of Chapter 22 of Title 2.2 or 
to the Commonwealth Health Research Board 
pursuant to Chapter 5.3 (§ 32.1-162.23 et seq.) of 
Title 32.1 if disclosure of such information would 
(i) reveal proprietary business or research-related 
information produced or collected by the ap-
plicant in the conduct of or as a result of study 
or research on medical, rehabilitative, scientific, 
technical, technological, or scholarly issues, when 
such information has not been publicly released, 
published, copyrighted, or patented, and (ii) be 
harmful to the competitive position of the ap-
plicant.

18. Confidential proprietary information and trade 
secrets developed and held by a local public 
body (i) providing telecommunication services 
pursuant to § 56-265.4:4 and (ii) providing cable 
television services pursuant to Article 1.1 (§ 
15.2-2108.2 et seq.) of Chapter 21 of Title 15.2 if 
disclosure of such information would be harmful 
to the competitive position of the locality.

In order for confidential proprietary infor-
mation or trade secrets to be excluded from the 
provisions of this chapter, the locality in writing 
shall (a) invoke the protections of this subdivi-
sion, (b) identify with specificity the information 
for which protection is sought, and (c) state the 
reasons why protection is necessary. However, 
the exemption provided by this subdivision shall 
not apply to any authority created pursuant to 
the BVU Authority Act (§ 15.2-7200 et seq.).

19. Confidential proprietary information and trade 
secrets developed by or for a local authority cre-
ated in accordance with the Virginia Wireless 
Service Authorities Act (§ 15.2-5431.1 et seq.) to 
provide qualifying communications services as 
authorized by Article 5.1 (§ 56-484.7:1 et seq.) of 
Chapter 15 of Title 56, where disclosure of such 
information would be harmful to the competitive 
position of the authority, except that information 
required to be maintained in accordance with § 
15.2-2160 shall be released.

20. Trade secrets as defined in the Uniform Trade 
Secrets Act (§ 59.1-336 et seq.) or financial infor-
mation of a business, including balance sheets 
and financial statements, that are not gener-
ally available to the public through regulatory 



2016-2017 Virginia Freedom of  Information Act | Conflict of  Interests Act | Virginia Public Records Act            35

disclosure or otherwise, provided to the Depart-
ment of Small Business and Supplier Diversity as 
part of an application for certification as a small, 
women-owned, or minority-owned business in 
accordance with Chapter 16.1 (§ 2.2-1603 et 
seq.). In order for such trade secrets or financial 
information to be excluded from the provisions 
of this chapter, the business shall (i) invoke such 
exclusion upon submission of the data or other 
materials for which protection from disclosure 
is sought, (ii) identify the data or other materials 
for which protection is sought, and (iii) state the 
reasons why protection is necessary.

21. Information of a proprietary or confidential 
nature disclosed by a carrier to the State Health 
Commissioner pursuant to §§ 32.1-276.5:1 and 
32.1-276.7:1.

22. Trade secrets, as defined in the Uniform Trade 
Secrets Act (§ 59.1-336 et seq.), including, but not 
limited to, financial information, including bal-
ance sheets and financial statements, that are not 
generally available to the public through regula-
tory disclosure or otherwise, and revenue and 
cost projections supplied by a private or nongov-
ernmental entity to the State Inspector General 
for the purpose of an audit, special investigation, 
or any study requested by the Office of the State 
Inspector General in accordance with law.

In order for the information specified in this 
subdivision to be excluded from the provisions 
of this chapter, the private or nongovernmental 
entity shall make a written request to the State 
Inspector General:

a. Invoking such exclusion upon submission 
of the data or other materials for which protec-
tion from disclosure is sought;

b. Identifying with specificity the data or 
other materials for which protection is sought; 
and

c. Stating the reasons why protection is neces-
sary.

The State Inspector General shall determine 
whether the requested exclusion from disclosure 
is necessary to protect the trade secrets or finan-
cial information of the private entity. The State 
Inspector General shall make a written determi-
nation of the nature and scope of the protection 
to be afforded by it under this subdivision.

23. Information relating to a grant application, or 
accompanying a grant application, submitted to 
the Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission 

that would (i) reveal (a) trade secrets as defined 
in the Uniform Trade Secrets Act (§ 59.1-336 et 
seq.), (b) financial information of a grant appli-
cant that is not a public body, including balance 
sheets and financial statements, that are not 
generally available to the public through regu-
latory disclosure or otherwise, or (c) research-
related information produced or collected by the 
applicant in the conduct of or as a result of study 
or research on medical, rehabilitative, scientific, 
technical, technological, or scholarly issues, when 
such information has not been publicly released, 
published, copyrighted, or patented, and (ii) be 
harmful to the competitive position of the ap-
plicant; and memoranda, staff evaluations, or 
other information prepared by the Commission 
or its staff exclusively for the evaluation of grant 
applications. The exclusion provided by this 
subdivision shall apply to grants that are con-
sistent with the powers of and in furtherance of 
the performance of the duties of the Commission 
pursuant to § 3.2-3103.

In order for the information specified in this 
subdivision to be excluded from the provisions of 
this chapter, the applicant shall make a written 
request to the Commission:

a. Invoking such exclusion upon submission 
of the data or other materials for which protec-
tion from disclosure is sought;

b. Identifying with specificity the data, infor-
mation or other materials for which protection is 
sought; and

c. Stating the reasons why protection is neces-
sary.

The Commission shall determine whether the 
requested exclusion from disclosure is necessary 
to protect the trade secrets, financial information, 
or research-related information of the applicant. 
The Commission shall make a written determi-
nation of the nature and scope of the protection 
to be afforded by it under this subdivision.

24. a. Information held by the Commercial Space 
Flight Authority relating to rate structures or 
charges for the use of projects of, the sale of 
products of, or services rendered by the Authority 
if disclosure of such information would adversely 
affect the financial interest or bargaining position 
of the Authority or a private entity providing the 
information to the Authority; or

b. Information provided by a private entity to 
the Commercial Space Flight Authority if disclo-
sure of such information would (i) reveal (a) trade 
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secrets of the private entity as defined in the Uni-
form Trade Secrets Act (§ 59.1-336 et seq.); (b) 
financial information of the private entity, includ-
ing balance sheets and financial statements, that 
are not generally available to the public through 
regulatory disclosure or otherwise; or (c) other in-
formation submitted by the private entity and (ii) 
adversely affect the financial interest or bargain-
ing position of the Authority or private entity.

In order for the information specified in 
clauses (a), (b), and (c) of subdivision 24 b to be 
excluded from the provisions of this chapter, the 
private entity shall make a written request to the 
Authority:

(1) Invoking such exclusion upon submission 
of the data or other materials for which protec-
tion from disclosure is sought;

(2) Identifying with specificity the data or 
other materials for which protection is sought; 
and

(3) Stating the reasons why protection is 
necessary.

The Authority shall determine whether the 
requested exclusion from disclosure is necessary 
to protect the trade secrets or financial infor-
mation of the private entity. To protect other 
information submitted by the private entity from 
disclosure, the Authority shall determine whether 
public disclosure would adversely affect the 
financial interest or bargaining position of the 
Authority or private entity. The Authority shall 
make a written determination of the nature and 
scope of the protection to be afforded by it under 
this subdivision.

25. Information of a proprietary nature furnished 
by an agricultural landowner or operator to the 
Department of Conservation and Recreation, the 
Department of Environmental Quality, the De-
partment of Agriculture and Consumer Services, 
or any political subdivision, agency, or board of 
the Commonwealth pursuant to §§ 10.1-104.7, 
10.1-104.8, and 10.1-104.9, other than when 
required as part of a state or federal regulatory 
enforcement action.

26. Trade secrets, as defined in the Uniform Trade 
Secrets Act (§ 59.1-336 et seq.), provided to the 
Department of Environmental Quality pursuant 
to the provisions of § 10.1-1458. In order for such 
trade secrets to be excluded from the provisions 
of this chapter, the submitting party shall (i) 
invoke this exclusion upon submission of the data 
or materials for which protection from disclo-

sure is sought, (ii) identify the data or materials 
for which protection is sought, and (iii) state the 
reasons why protection is necessary.

27. Information of a proprietary nature 
furnished by a licensed public-use airport to 
the Department of Aviation for funding from 
programs administered by the Department of 
Aviation or the Virginia Aviation Board, where 
if such information was made public, the finan-
cial interest of the public-use airport would be 
adversely affected.

In order for the information specified in this 
subdivision to be excluded from the provisions of 
this chapter, the public-use airport shall make a 
written request to the Department of Aviation:

a. Invoking such exclusion upon submission 
of the data or other materials for which protec-
tion from disclosure is sought;

b. Identifying with specificity the data or 
other materials for which protection is sought; 
and

c. Stating the reasons why protection is neces-
sary.

28. Records submitted as a grant or loan applica-
tion, or accompanying a grant or loan applica-
tion, for an award from the Virginia Research 
Investment Fund pursuant to Article 8 (§ 23.1-
3130 et seq.) of Chapter 31 of Title 23.1, to the 
extent that such records contain proprietary busi-
ness or research-related information produced or 
collected by the applicant in the conduct of or as a 
result of study or research on medical, rehabilita-
tive, scientific, technical, technological, or scholarly 
issues, when such information has not been publicly 
released, published, copyrighted, or patented, if the 
disclosure of such information would be harmful to 
the competitive position of the applicant.

29. Information contained in engineering and con-
struction drawings and plans submitted for the 
sole purpose of complying with the Building Code 
in obtaining a building permit if disclosure of such 
information would identify specific trade secrets 
or other information that would be harmful to the 
competitive position of the owner or lessee. How-
ever, such information shall be exempt only until 
the building is completed. Information relating 
to the safety or environmental soundness of any 
building shall not be exempt from disclosure.
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§ 2.2-3705.7. Exclusions to application of 
chapter; records of specific public bodies and 
certain other limited exclusions.

The following information contained in a public 
record is excluded from the mandatory disclosure 
provisions of this chapter but may be disclosed by the 
custodian in his discretion, except where such disclo-
sure is prohibited by law. Redaction of information 
excluded under this section from a public record shall 
be conducted in accordance with § 2.2-3704.01.

1. State income, business, and estate tax returns, 
personal property tax returns, and confidential 
records held pursuant to § 58.1-3.

2. Working papers and correspondence of the Of-
fice of the Governor;, the Lieutenant Governor;, 
or the Attorney General; the members of the 
General Assembly, the Division of Legislative 
Services, or the Clerks of the House of Delegates 
and or the Senate of Virginia; the mayor or chief 
executive officer of any political subdivision of 
the Commonwealth; or the president or other 
chief executive officer of any public institution 
of higher education in Virginia. However, no 
information that is otherwise open to inspection 
under this chapter shall be deemed excluded 
by virtue of the fact that it has been attached to 
or incorporated within any working paper or 
correspondence. Further, information publicly 
available or not otherwise subject to an exclusion 
under this chapter or other provision of law that 
has been aggregated, combined, or changed in 
format without substantive analysis or revision 
shall not be deemed working papers. Nothing in 
this subdivision shall be construed to authorize 
the withholding of any resumes or applications 
submitted by persons who are appointed by the 
Governor pursuant to § 2.2-106 or 2.2-107.

As used in this subdivision:
“Members of the General Assembly” means 

each member of the Senate of Virginia and the 
House of Delegates and their legislative aides 
when working on behalf of such member.

“Office of the Governor” means the Gov-
ernor; the Governor’s chief of staff, counsel, 
director of policy, and Cabinet Secretaries, the 
Assistant to the Governor for Intergovernmen-
tal Affairs; and those individuals to whom the 
Governor has delegated his authority pursuant to 
§ 2.2-104.

“Working papers” means those records pre-
pared by or for a public official identified in this 

subdivision for his personal or deliberative use.
3 . Information contained in library records that 

can be used to identify (i) both (a) any library 
patron who has borrowed material from a library 
and (b) the material such patron borrowed or (ii) 
any library patron under 18 years of age. For the 
purposes of clause (ii), access shall not be denied 
to the parent, including a noncustodial parent, or 
guardian of such library patron

4. Contract cost estimates prepared for the confi-
dential use of the Department of Transportation 
in awarding contracts for construction or the 
purchase of goods or services, and records and 
automated systems prepared for the Depart-
ment’s Bid Analysis and Monitoring Program.

5. Lists of registered owners of bonds issued by 
a political subdivision of the Commonwealth, 
whether the lists are maintained by the political 
subdivision itself or by a single fiduciary desig-
nated by the political subdivision.

6. Information furnished by a member of the 
General Assembly to a meeting of a standing 
committee, special committee, or subcommittee 
of his house established solely for the purpose of 
reviewing members’ annual disclosure statements 
and supporting materials filed under § 30-110 or 
of formulating advisory opinions to members on 
standards of conduct, or both.

7. Customer account information of a public util-
ity affiliated with a political subdivision of the 
Commonwealth, including the customer’s name 
and service address, but excluding the amount of 
utility service provided and the amount of money 
charged or paid for such utility service.

8. Personal information, as defined in § 2.2-3801, 
(i) filed with the Virginia Housing Development 
Authority concerning individuals who have 
applied for or received loans or other housing 
assistance or who have applied for occupancy 
of or have occupied housing financed, owned 
or otherwise assisted by the Virginia Housing 
Development Authority; (ii) concerning persons 
participating in or persons on the waiting list for 
federally funded rent-assistance programs; (iii) 
filed with any local redevelopment and housing 
authority created pursuant to § 36-4 concerning 
persons participating in or persons on the waiting 
list for housing assistance programs funded by lo-
cal governments or by any such authority; or (iv) 
filed with any local redevelopment and housing 
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authority created pursuant to § 36-4 or any other 
local government agency concerning persons 
who have applied for occupancy or who have 
occupied affordable dwelling units established 
pursuant to § 15.2-2304 or 15.2-2305. However, 
access to one’s own information shall not be 
denied.

9. Information regarding the siting of hazardous 
waste facilities, except as provided in § 10.1-1441, 
if disclosure of such information would have a 
detrimental effect upon the negotiating position 
of a governing body or on the establishment of 
the terms, conditions, and provisions of the siting 
agreement.

10. Information on the site-specific location of rare, 
threatened, endangered, or otherwise imperiled 
plant and animal species, natural communities, 
caves, and significant historic and archaeological 
sites if, in the opinion of the public body that has 
the responsibility for such information, disclosure 
of the information would jeopardize the contin-
ued existence or the integrity of the resource. 
This exclusion shall not apply to requests from 
the owner of the land upon which the resource is 
located.

11. Memoranda, graphics, video or audio tapes, 
production models, data, and information of a 
proprietary nature produced by or for or col-
lected by or for the Virginia Lottery relating to 
matters of a specific lottery game design, devel-
opment, production, operation, ticket price, prize 
structure, manner of selecting the winning ticket, 
manner of payment of prizes to holders of win-
ning tickets, frequency of drawings or selections 
of winning tickets, odds of winning, advertis-
ing, or marketing, where such information not 
been publicly released, published, copyrighted, 
or patented. Whether released, published, or 
copyrighted, all game-related information shall 
be subject to public disclosure under this chapter 
upon the first day of sales for the specific lottery 
game to which it pertains.

12. Information held by the Virginia Retirement 
System, acting pursuant to § 51.1-124.30, or a 
local retirement system, acting pursuant to § 
51.1-803, or by a local finance board or board 
of trustees of a trust established by one or more 
local public bodies to invest funds for post-retire-
ment benefits other than pensions, acting pursu-
ant to Article 8 (§ 15.2-1544 et seq.) of Chapter 15 
of Title 15.2, or by the Rector and Visitors of the 

University of Virginia, acting pursuant to § 23.1-
2210, or by the Virginia College Savings Plan, 
acting pursuant to § 23.1-704, relating to the ac-
quisition, holding, or disposition of a security or 
other ownership interest in an entity, where such 
security or ownership interest is not traded on a 
governmentally regulated securities exchange, 
if disclosure of such information would (i) reveal 
confidential analyses prepared for the Rector and 
Visitors of the University of Virginia, prepared 
by the retirement system, a local finance board or 
board of trustees, or the Virginia College Sav-
ings Plan, or provided to the retirement system, 
a local finance board or board of trustees, or the 
Virginia College Savings Plan under a prom-
ise of confidentiality of the future value of such 
ownership interest or the future financial perfor-
mance of the entity and (ii) have an adverse effect 
on the value of the investment to be acquired, 
held, or disposed of by the retirement system, 
a local finance board or board of trustees, the 
Rector and Visitors of the University of Virginia, 
or the Virginia College Savings Plan. Nothing in 
this subdivision shall be construed to prevent the 
disclosure of information relating to the identity 
of any investment held, the amount invested, or 
the present value of such investment.

13. Financial, medical, rehabilitative, and other 
personal information concerning applicants for 
or recipients of loan funds submitted to or main-
tained by the Assistive Technology Loan Fund 
Authority under Chapter 11 (§ 51.5-53 et seq.) of 
Title 51.5.

14. Information held by the Virginia Common-
wealth University Health System Authority 
pertaining to any of the following: an individual’s 
qualifications for or continued membership on 
its medical or teaching staffs; proprietary in-
formation gathered by or in the possession of 
the Authority from third parties pursuant to a 
promise of confidentiality; contract cost estimates 
prepared for confidential use in awarding con-
tracts for construction or the purchase of goods 
or services; information of a proprietary nature 
produced or collected by or for the Authority or 
members of its medical or teaching staffs; finan-
cial statements not publicly available that may 
be filed with the Authority from third parties; 
the identity, accounts, or account status of any 
customer of the Authority; consulting or other 
reports paid for by the Authority to assist the 
Authority in connection with its strategic plan-



2016-2017 Virginia Freedom of  Information Act | Conflict of  Interests Act | Virginia Public Records Act            39

ning and goals; the determination of marketing 
and operational strategies where disclosure of 
such strategies would be harmful to the competi-
tive position of the Authority; and information 
of a proprietary nature produced or collected by 
or for employees of the Authority, other than the 
Authority’s financial or administrative records, in 
the conduct of or as a result of study or research 
on medical, scientific, technical, or scholarly is-
sues, whether sponsored by the Authority alone 
or in conjunction with a governmental body or a 
private concern, when such information has not 
been publicly released, published, copyrighted, 
or patented. This exclusion shall also apply when 
such information is in the possession of Virginia 
Commonwealth University.

15. Information held by the Department of En-
vironmental Quality, the State Water Control 
Board, the State Air Pollution Control Board, or 
the Virginia Waste Management Board relat-
ing to (i) active federal environmental enforce-
ment actions that are considered confidential 
under federal law and (ii) enforcement strategies, 
including proposed sanctions for enforcement 
actions. Upon request, such information shall 
be disclosed after a proposed sanction resulting 
from the investigation has been proposed to the 
director of the agency. This subdivision shall not 
be construed to prevent the disclosure of infor-
mation related to inspection reports, notices of 
violation, and documents detailing the nature of 
any environmental contamination that may have 
occurred or similar documents.

16. Information related to the operation of toll 
facilities that identifies an individual, vehicle, or 
travel itinerary, including vehicle identification 
data or vehicle enforcement system information; 
video or photographic images; Social Security 
or other identification numbers appearing on 
driver’s licenses; credit card or bank account 
data; home addresses; phone numbers; or records 
of the date or time of toll facility use.

17. Information held by the Virginia Lottery 
pertaining to (i) the social security number, tax 
identification number, state sales tax number, 
home address and telephone number, personal 
and lottery banking account and transit numbers 
of a retailer, and financial information regarding 
the nonlottery operations of specific retail loca-
tions and (ii) individual lottery winners, except 
that a winner’s name, hometown, and amount 

won shall be disclosed.
18. Information held by the Board for Branch Pilots 

relating to the chemical or drug testing of a per-
son regulated by the Board, where such person 
has tested negative or has not been the subject of 
a disciplinary action by the Board for a positive 
test result.

19. Information pertaining to the planning, sched-
uling, and performance of examinations of 
holder records pursuant to the Uniform Disposi-
tion of Unclaimed Property Act (§ 55-210.1 et 
seq.) prepared by or for the State Treasurer or his 
agents or employees or persons employed to per-
form an audit or examination of holder records.

20. Information held by the Virginia Department 
of Emergency Management or a local govern-
ing body relating to citizen emergency response 
teams established pursuant to an ordinance of 
a local governing body that reveal the name, 
address, including e-mail address, telephone or 
pager numbers, or operating schedule of an indi-
vidual participant in the program.

21. Information held by state or local park and 
recreation departments and local and regional 
park authorities concerning identifiable individu-
als under the age of 18 years. However, nothing 
in this subdivision shall operate to  prevent the 
disclosure of information defined as directory 
information under regulations implementing 
the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 
20 U.S.C. § 1232g, unless the public body has 
undertaken the parental notification and opt-
out requirements provided by such regulations. 
Access shall not be denied to the parent, includ-
ing a noncustodial parent, or guardian of such 
person, unless the parent’s parental rights have 
been terminated or a court of competent jurisdic-
tion has restricted or denied such access. For such 
information of persons who are emancipated, 
the right of access may be asserted by the subject 
thereof. Any parent or emancipated person who 
is the subject of the information may waive, in 
writing, the protections afforded by this subdivi-
sion. If the protections are so waived, the public 
body shall open such information for inspection 
and copying.

22. Information submitted for inclusion in the 
Statewide Alert Network administered by the 
Department of Emergency Management that re-
veal names, physical addresses, email addresses, 
computer or internet protocol information, tele-
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phone numbers, pager numbers, other wireless 
or portable communications device information, 
or operating schedules of individuals or agen-
cies, where the release of such information would 
compromise the security of the Statewide Alert 
Network or individuals participating in the State-
wide Alert Network.

23. Information held by the Judicial Inquiry and 
Review Commission made confidential by § 17.1-
913.

24. Information held by the Virginia Retirement 
System acting pursuant to § 51.1-124.30, a local 
retirement system acting pursuant to § 51.1-803 
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the retire-
ment system), or the Virginia College Savings 
Plan, acting pursuant to § 23.1-704 relating to:

a. Internal deliberations of or decisions by 
the retirement system or the Virginia College 
Savings Plan on the pursuit of particular invest-
ment strategies, or the selection or termination 
of investment managers, prior to the execution 
of such investment strategies or the selection or 
termination of such managers, if disclosure of 
such information would have an adverse impact 
on the financial interest of the retirement system 
or the Virginia College Savings Plan; and

b. Trade secrets, as defined in the Uniform 
Trade Secrets Act (§ 59.1-336 et seq.), provided 
by a private entity to the retirement system or 
the Virginia College Savings Plan if disclosure 
of such records would have an adverse impact on 
the financial interest of the retirement system or 
the Virginia College Savings Plan.

For the records specified in subdivision b to 
be excluded from the provisions of this chapter, 
the entity shall make a written request to the re-
tirement system or the Virginia College Savings 
Plan:

(1) Invoking such exclusion prior to or upon 
submission of the data or other materials for 
which protection from disclosure is sought;

(2) Identifying with specificity the data or 
other materials for which protection is sought; 
and

(3) Stating the reasons why protection is 
necessary.

The retirement system or the Virginia Col-
lege Savings Plan shall determine whether the 
requested exclusion from disclosure meets the 
requirements set forth in subdivision b.

Nothing in this subdivision shall be con-
strued to prevent the disclosure of the identity 

or amount of any investment held or the present 
value and performance of all asset classes and 
subclasses.

25. Information held by the Department of Correc-
tions made confidential by § 53.1-233.

26. Information maintained by the Department of 
the Treasury or participants in the Local Gov-
ernment Investment Pool (§ 2.2-4600 et seq.) and 
required to be provided by such participants to 
the Department to establish accounts in accor-
dance with § 2.2-4602.

27. Personal information, as defined in § 2.2-3801, 
contained in the Veterans Care Center Resident 
Trust Funds concerning residents or patients of 
the Department of Veterans Services Care Cen-
ters, except that access shall not be denied to the 
person who is the subject of the information.

28. Information maintained in connection with 
fundraising activities by the Veterans Services 
Foundation pursuant to § 2.2-2716 that reveal the 
address, electronic mail address, facsimile or tele-
phone number, social security number or other 
identification number appearing on a driver’s 
license, or credit card or bank account data of 
identifiable donors, except that access shall not 
be denied to the person who is the subject of the 
information. Nothing in this subdivision, how-
ever, shall be construed to prevent the disclosure 
of information relating to the amount, date, 
purpose, and terms of the pledge or donation or 
the identity of the donor, unless the donor has 
requested anonymity in connection with or as a 
condition of making a pledge or donation. The 
exclusion provided by this subdivision shall not 
apply to protect from disclosure (i) the identities 
of sponsors providing grants to or contracting 
with the foundation for the performance of ser-
vices or other work or (ii) the terms and condi-
tions of such grants or contracts.

29. Information prepared for and utilized by the 
Commonwealth’s Attorneys’ Services Coun-
cil in the training of state prosecutors or law-
enforcement personnel, where such information 
is not otherwise available to the public and the 
disclosure of such information would reveal con-
fidential strategies, methods, or procedures to be 
employed in law-enforcement activities or materi-
als created for the investigation and prosecution 
of a criminal case.

30. Information provided to the Department of 
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Aviation by other entities of the Commonwealth 
in connection with the operation of aircraft 
where the information would not be subject to 
disclosure by the entity providing the informa-
tion. The entity providing the information to the 
Department of Aviation shall identify the specific 
information to be protected and the applicable 
provision of this chapter that excludes the infor-
mation from mandatory disclosure.

31. Information created or maintained by or on 
the behalf of the judicial performance evalu-
ation program related to an evaluation of any 
individual justice or judge made confidential by § 
17.1-100.

32. Information reflecting the substance of meetings 
in which (i) individual sexual assault cases are 
discussed by any sexual assault team established 
pursuant to § 15.2-1627.4 or (ii) individual child 
abuse or neglect cases or sex offenses involving 
a child are discussed by multidisciplinary child 
abuse teams established pursuant to § 15.2-
1627.5. The findings of any such team may be 
disclosed or published in statistical or other ag-
gregated form that does not disclose the identity 
of specific individuals.

§ 2.2-3705.8. Limitation on record exclusions.
Nothing in this chapter shall be construed as deny-

ing public access to the nonexempt portions of a report 
of a consultant hired by or at the request of a local pub-
lic body or the mayor or chief executive or administra-
tive officer of such public body if (i) the contents of such 
report have been distributed or disclosed to members 
of the local public body or (ii) the local public body has 
scheduled any action on a matter that is the subject of 
the consultant›s report.

§ 2.2-3706. Disclosure of criminal records; 
limitations.

A. All public bodies engaged in criminal law-en-
forcement activities shall provide requested records in 
accordance with this chapter as follows:

1. Records required to be released:
a. Criminal incident information relating to 

felony offenses, which shall include:
(1) A general description of the criminal activ-

ity reported;
(2) The date the alleged crime was commit-

ted;
(3) The general location where the alleged 

crime was committed;
(4) The identity of the investigating officer or 

other point of contact; and
(5) A general description of any injuries suf-

fered or property damaged or stolen.
A verbal response as agreed to by the request-

er and the public body is sufficient to satisfy the 
requirements of subdivision a.

Where the release of criminal incident 
information, however, is likely to jeopardize an 
ongoing investigation or prosecution or the safety 
of an individual, cause a suspect to flee or evade 
detection, or result in the destruction of evidence, 
such information may be withheld until the 
above-referenced damage is no longer likely to 
occur from release of the information. Nothing in 
subdivision a shall be construed to authorize the 
withholding of those portions of such information 
that are not likely to cause the above-referenced 
damage;

b. Adult arrestee photographs taken during 
the initial intake following the arrest and as part 
of the routine booking procedure, except when 
necessary to avoid jeopardizing an investigation 
in felony cases until such time as the release of 
the photograph will no longer jeopardize the 
investigation;

c. Information relative to the identity of any 
individual, other than a juvenile, who is arrested 
and charged, and the status of the charge or ar-
rest; and

d. Records of completed unattended death 
investigations to the parent or spouse of the 
decedent or, if there is no living parent or spouse, 
to the most immediate family member of the 
decedent, provided the person is not a person 
of interest or a suspect. For the purposes of this 
subdivision, “unattended death” means a death 
determined to be a suicide, accidental or natural 
death where no criminal charges will be initi-
ated, and “immediate family” means the dece-
dent’s personal representative or, if no personal 
representative has qualified, the decedent’s next 
of kin in order of intestate succession as set forth 
in § 64.2-200.

2. Discretionary releases. The following records are 
excluded from the mandatory disclosure provi-
sions of this chapter, but may be disclosed by the 
custodian, in his discretion, except where such 
disclosure is prohibited by law:

a. Criminal investigative files, defined as 
any documents and information, including 
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complaints, court orders, memoranda, notes, 
diagrams, maps, photographs, correspondence, 
reports, witness statements, and evidence relating 
to a criminal investigation or prosecution, other 
than criminal incident information subject to 
release in accordance with subdivision 1 a;

b. Reports submitted in confidence to (i) state 
and local law-enforcement agencies, (ii) investiga-
tors authorized pursuant to Chapter 3.2 (§ 2.2-
307 et seq.), and (iii) campus police departments 
of public institutions of higher education estab-
lished pursuant to Article 3 (§ 23.1-809 et seq.) of 
Chapter 8 of Title 23.1;

c. Records of local law-enforcement agen-
cies relating to neighborhood watch programs 
that include the names, addresses, and operating 
schedules of individual participants in the pro-
gram that are provided to such agencies under a 
promise of anonymity;

d. All records of persons imprisoned in penal 
institutions in the Commonwealth provided such 
records relate to the imprisonment;

e. Records of law-enforcement agencies, to 
the extent that such records contain specific tacti-
cal plans, the disclosure of which would jeop-
ardize the safety or security of law-enforcement 
personnel or the general public;

f. All records of adult persons under (i) inves-
tigation or supervision by a local pretrial services 
agency in accordance with Article 5 (§ 19.2-152.2 
et seq.) of Chapter 9 of Title 19.2; (ii) investiga-
tion, probation supervision, or monitoring by a 
local community-based probation services agency 
in accordance with Article 9 (§ 9.1-173 et seq.) 
of Chapter 1 of Title 9.1; or (iii) investigation or 
supervision by state probation and parole services 
in accordance with Article 2 (§ 53.1-141 et seq.) of 
Chapter 4 of Title 53.1;

g. Records of a law-enforcement agency to 
the extent that they disclose the telephone num-
bers for cellular telephones, pagers, or compara-
ble portable communication devices provided to 
its personnel for use in the performance of their 
official duties;

h. Those portions of any records containing 
information related to undercover operations or 
protective details that would reveal the staffing, 
logistics, or tactical plans of such undercover 
operations or protective details. Nothing in this 
subdivision shall operate to allow the withhold-
ing of information concerning the overall costs or 
expenses associated with undercover operations 

or protective details;
i. Records of (i) background investigations of 

applicants for law-enforcement agency employ-
ment, (ii) administrative investigations relating to 
allegations of wrongdoing by employees of a law-
enforcement agency, and (iii) other administra-
tive investigations conducted by law-enforcement 
agencies that are made confidential by law;

j. The identity of any victim, witness, or 
undercover officer, or investigative techniques or 
procedures. However, the identity of any victim 
or witness shall be withheld if disclosure is pro-
hibited or restricted under § 19.2-11.2; and

k. Records of the Sex Offender and Crimes 
Against Minors Registry maintained by the 
Department of State Police pursuant to Chapter 
9 (§ 9.1-900 et seq.) of Title 9.1, including infor-
mation obtained from state, local, and regional 
officials, except to the extent that information is 
required to be posted on the Internet pursuant to 
§ 9.1-913; and

3. Prohibited releases. The identity of any indi-
vidual providing information about a crime or 
criminal activity under a promise of anonymity 
shall not be disclosed.

B. Noncriminal records. Those portions 
of noncriminal incident or other noncriminal 
investigative reports or materials that contain 
identifying information of a personal, medical, 
or financial nature may be withheld where the 
release of such information would jeopardize 
the safety or privacy of any person. Access to 
personnel records of persons employed by a law-
enforcement agency shall be governed by the 
provisions of subdivision A 2 i of this section and 
subdivision 1 of § 2.2-3705.1, as applicable.

C. Records of any call for service or other 
communication to an emergency 911 system or 
communicated with any other equivalent report-
ing system shall be subject to the provisions of 
this chapter.

D. Conflict resolution. In the event of conflict 
between this section as it relates to requests made 
under this section and other provisions of law, 
this section shall control.

2.2-3707. Meetings to be public; notice of 
meetings; recordings; minutes.

A. All meetings of public bodies shall be open, ex-
cept as provided in §§ 2.2-3707.01 and 2.2-3711.

B. No meeting shall be conducted through tel-
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ephonic, video, electronic or other communication 
means where the members are not physically assembled 
to discuss or transact public business, except as provid-
ed in § 2.2-3708, 2.2-3708.1 or as may be specifically 
provided in Title 54.1 for the summary suspension of 
professional licenses.

C. Every public body shall give notice of the date, 
time, and location of its meetings by

1. Posting such notice on its official public govern-
ment website, if any;

2. Placing such notice in a prominent public loca-
tion at which notices are regularly posted; and 

3. Placing such notice at the office of the clerk of the 
public body or, in the case of a public body that 
has no clerk, at the office of the chief administra-
tor.

All state public bodies subject to the provi-
sions of this chapter shall also post notice of 
their meetings on a central, publicly available 
electronic calendar maintained by the Com-
monwealth. Publication of meeting notices by 
electronic means by other public bodies shall be 
encouraged. 

The notice shall be posted at least three work-
ing days prior to the meeting.

D. Notice, reasonable under the circumstance, of 
special, emergency, or continued meetings shall be given 
contemporaneously with the notice provided to the 
members of the public body conducting the meeting.

E. Any person may annually file a written request 
for notification with a public body. The request shall in-
clude the requester’s name, address, zip code, daytime 
telephone number, electronic mail address, if avail-
able, and organization, if any. The public body receiv-
ing such request shall provide notice of all meetings 
directly to each such person. Without objection by the 
person, the public body may provide electronic notice 
of all meetings in response to such requests.

F. At least one copy of the proposed agenda and all 
agenda packets and, unless exempt, all materials fur-
nished to members of a public body for a meeting shall 
be made available for public inspection at the same 
time such documents are furnished to the members of 
the public body. The proposed agendas for meetings of 
state public bodies where at least one member has been 
appointed by the Governor shall state whether or not 
public comment will be received at the meeting and, 
if so, the approximate point during the meeting when 
public comment will be received.

G. Any person may photograph, film, record or 

otherwise reproduce any portion of a meeting required 
to be open. The public body conducting the meeting 
may adopt rules governing the placement and use of 
equipment necessary for broadcasting, photographing, 
filming or recording a meeting to prevent interference 
with the proceedings, but shall not prohibit or other-
wise prevent any person from photographing, filming, 
recording, or otherwise reproducing any portion of 
a meeting required to be open. No public body shall 
conduct a meeting required to be open in any building 
or facility where such recording devices are prohibited.

H. Minutes shall be recorded at all open meetings. 
However, minutes shall not be required to be taken at 
deliberations of (i) standing and other committees of the 
General Assembly; (ii) legislative interim study com-
missions and committees, including the Virginia Code 
Commission; (iii) study committees or commissions ap-
pointed by the Governor; or (iv) study commissions or 
study committees, or any other committees or subcom-
mittees appointed by the governing bodies or school 
boards of counties, cities and towns, except where the 
membership of any such commission, committee or 
subcommittee includes a majority of the governing 
body of the county, city or town or school board.

Minutes, including draft minutes, and all other 
records of open meetings, including audio or audio/vi-
sual records shall be deemed public records and subject 
to the provisions of this chapter.

Minutes shall be in writing and shall include (i) 
the date, time, and location of the meeting; (ii) the 
members of the public body recorded as present and 
absent; and (iii) a summary of the discussion on matters 
proposed, deliberated or decided, and a record of any 
votes taken. In addition, for electronic communication 
meetings conducted in accordance with § 2.2-3708, 
minutes of state public bodies shall include (a) the iden-
tity of the members of the public body at each remote 
location identified in the notice who participated in the 
meeting through electronic communications means, 
(b) the identity of the members of the public body who 
were physically assembled at the primary or central 
meeting location, and (c) the identity of the members of 
the public body who were not present at the locations 
identified in clauses (a) and (b), but who monitored such 
meeting through electronic communications means.

§ 2.2-3707.01. Meetings of the General 
Assembly.

A. Except as provided in subsection B, public access 
to any meeting of the General Assembly or a portion 
thereof shall be governed by rules established by the 
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Joint Rules Committee and approved by a majority 
vote of each house at the next regular session of the 
General Assembly. At least 60 days before the adoption 
of such rules, the Joint Rules Committee shall (i) hold 
regional public hearings on such proposed rules and (ii) 
provide a copy of such proposed rules to the Virginia 
Freedom of Information Advisory Council.

B. Floor sessions of either house of the General 
Assembly; meetings, including work sessions, of any 
standing or interim study committee of the Gen-
eral Assembly; meetings, including work sessions, of 
any subcommittee of such standing or interim study 
committee; and joint committees of conference of the 
General Assembly; or a quorum of any such commit-
tees or subcommittees, shall be open and governed by 
this chapter.

C. Meetings of the respective political party caucus-
es of either house of the General Assembly, including 
meetings conducted by telephonic or other electronic 
communication means, without regard to (i) whether 
the General Assembly is in or out of regular or spe-
cial session or (ii) whether such caucuses invite staff or 
guests to participate in their deliberations, shall not be 
deemed meetings for the purposes of this chapter.

D. No regular, special, or reconvened session of the 
General Assembly held pursuant to Article IV, Section 
6 of the Constitution of Virginia shall be conducted 
using electronic communication means pursuant § 2.2-
3708.

§ 2.2-3707.1. Posting of minutes for state 
boards and commissions.

All boards, commissions, councils, and other public 
bodies created in the executive branch of state govern-
ment and subject to the provisions of this chapter shall 
post minutes of their meetings on such body›s official 
public government website, and on a central electronic 
calendar maintained by the Commonwealth. Draft 
minutes of meetings shall be posted as soon as possible 
but no later than 10 working days after the conclusion 
of the meeting. Final approved meeting minutes shall 
be posted within three working days of final approval 
of the minutes.

§ 2.2-3708. Electronic communication 
meetings; applicability; physical quorum 
required; exceptions; notice; report.

A. Except as expressly provided in subsection G of 
this section or § 2.2-3708.1, no local governing body, 
school board, or any authority, board, bureau, com-

mission, district or agency of local government, any 
committee thereof, or any entity created by a local 
governing body, school board, or any local authority, 
board, or commission shall conduct a meeting wherein 
the public business is discussed or transacted through 
telephonic, video, electronic or other communication 
means where the members are not physically as-
sembled. Nothing in this section shall be construed to 
prohibit the use of interactive audio or video means to 
expand public participation.

B. Except as provided in subsection G or H of this 
section or subsection D of § 2.2-3707.01, state public bod-
ies may conduct any meeting wherein the public business 
is discussed or transacted through electronic communi-
cation means, provided (i) a quorum of the public body is 
physically assembled at one primary or central meeting 
location, (ii) notice of the meeting has been given in ac-
cordance with subsection C, and (iii) the remote loca-
tions, from which additional members of the public body 
participate through electronic communication means, 
are open to the public. All persons attending the meet-
ing at any of the meeting locations shall be afforded the 
same opportunity to address the public body as persons 
attending the primary or central location.

If an authorized public body holds an electronic 
meeting pursuant to this section, it shall also hold at 
least one meeting annually where members in atten-
dance at the meeting are physically assembled at one 
location and where no members participate by elec-
tronic communication means.

C. Notice of any regular meeting held pursuant to 
this section shall be provided at least three working 
days in advance of the date scheduled for the meeting. 
Notice, reasonable under the circumstance, of special, 
emergency, or continued meetings held pursuant to this 
section shall be given contemporaneously with the no-
tice provided to members of the public body conduct-
ing the meeting. For the purposes of this subsection, 
“continued meeting” means a meeting that is continued 
to address an emergency or to conclude the agenda of a 
meeting for which proper notice was given. 

The notice shall include the date, time, place, and 
purpose for the meeting; shall identify the locations for 
the meeting; and shall include a telephone number that 
may be used at remote locations to notify the primary 
or central meeting location of any interruption in the 
telephonic or video broadcast of the meeting to the 
remote locations. Any interruption in the telephonic or 
video broadcast of the meeting shall result in the sus-
pension of action at the meeting until repairs are made 
and public access restored.
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D. A copy of the proposed agenda and agenda 
packets and, unless exempt, all materials that will be 
distributed to members of the public body and that 
have been made available to the staff of the public body 
in sufficient time for duplication and forwarding to all 
locations where public access will be provided shall be 
made available to the public at the time of the meeting. 
Minutes of all meetings held by electronic communica-
tion means shall be recorded as required by § 2.2-3707. 
Votes taken during any meeting conducted through 
electronic communication means shall be recorded by 
name in roll-call fashion and included in the minutes.

E. Three working days’ notice shall not be required 
for meetings authorized under this section held in ac-
cordance with subsection G. Public bodies conducting 
emergency meetings through electronic communica-
tion means shall comply with the provisions of subsec-
tion D requiring minutes of the meeting. The nature of 
the emergency shall be stated in the minutes.

F. Any authorized public body that meets by 
electronic communication means shall make a writ-
ten report of the following to the Virginia Freedom of 
Information Advisory Council by December 15 of each 
year:

1. The total number of electronic communication 
meetings held that year;

2. The dates and purposes of the meetings;
3. A copy of the agenda for the meeting;
4. The number of sites for each meeting;
5. The types of electronic communication means by 

which the meetings were held;
6. The number of participants, including members 

of the public, at each meeting location;
7. The identity of the members of the public body 

recorded as absent and those recorded as present 
at each meeting location;

8. A summary of any public comment received 
about the electronic communication meetings; 
and

9. A written summary of the public body’s experi-
ence using electronic communication meetings, 
including its logistical and technical experience.

In addition, any authorized public body 
shall make available to the public at any meet-
ing conducted in accordance with this section a 
public comment form prepared by the Virginia 
Freedom of Information Advisory Council in ac-
cordance with § 30-179.

G. Any public body may meet by electronic commu-

nication means without a quorum of the public body 
physically assembled at one location when the Gover-
nor has declared a state of emergency in accordance 
with § 44-146.17, provided that (i) the catastrophic na-
ture of the declared emergency makes it impracticable 
or unsafe to assemble a quorum in a single location and 
(ii) the purpose of the meeting is to address the emer-
gency. The public body convening a meeting in accor-
dance with this subsection shall (a) give public notice 
using the best available method given the nature of the 
emergency, which notice shall be given contemporane-
ously with the notice provided members of the public 
body conducting the meeting; (b) make arrangements 
for public access to such meeting; and (c) otherwise 
comply with the provisions of this section. The nature 
of the emergency, the fact that the meeting was held 
by electronic communication means, and the type of 
electronic communication means by which the meeting 
was held shall be stated in the minutes.

§ 2.2-3708.1. Participation in meetings due to 
personal matter; certain disabilities; distance 
from meeting location for certain public 
bodies.

A. A member of a public body may participate in a 
meeting governed by this chapter through electronic 
communication means from a remote location that is 
not open to the public only as follows and subject to the 
requirements of subsection B:

1. If, on or before the day of a meeting, a member 
of the public body holding the meeting notifies 
the chair of the public body that such member is 
unable to attend the meeting due to a personal 
matter and identifies with specificity the nature 
of the personal matter, and the public body hold-
ing the meeting records in its minutes the specific 
nature of the personal matter and the remote 
location from which the member participated. If 
a member’s participation from a remote location 
is disapproved because such participation would 
violate the policy adopted pursuant to subsec-
tion B, such disapproval shall be recorded in the 
minutes with specificity.

Such participation by the member shall be 
limited each calendar year to two meetings.

2. If a member of a public body notifies the chair of 
the public body that such member is unable to 
attend a meeting due to a temporary or perma-
nent disability or other medical condition that 
prevents the member’s physical attendance and 
the public body records this fact and the remote 



46 2016-2017 Virginia Freedom of  Information Act | Conflict of  Interests Act | Virginia Public Records Act          

location from which the member participated in 
its minutes; or

3. If, on the day of a meeting, a member of a re-
gional public body notifies the chair of the public 
body that such member’s principal residence is 
more than 60 miles from the meeting location 
identified in the required notice for such meeting 
and the public body holding the meeting records 
in its minutes the remote location from which the 
member participated. If a member’s participation 
from a remote location is disapproved because 
such participation would violate the policy ad-
opted pursuant to subsection B, such disapproval 
shall be recorded in the minutes with specificity.

B. Participation by a member of a public body as 
authorized under subsection A shall be only under the 
following conditions:

1. The public body has adopted a written policy 
allowing for and governing participation of its 
members by electronic communication means, 
including an approval process for such participa-
tion, subject to the express limitations imposed 
by this section. Once adopted, the policy shall be 
applied strictly and uniformly, without exception, 
to the entire membership and without regard to 
the identity of the member requesting remote 
participation or the matters that will be consid-
ered or voted on at the meeting;

2. A quorum of the public body is physically assem-
bled at the primary or central meeting location; 
and

3. The public body makes arrangements for the voice 
of the remote participant to be heard by all per-
sons at the primary or central meeting location.

§ 2.2-3710. Transaction of public business 
other than by votes at meetings prohibited.

A. Unless otherwise specifically provided by law, 
no vote of any kind of the membership, or any part 
thereof, of any public body shall be taken to authorize 
the transaction of any public business, other than a vote 
taken at a meeting conducted in accordance with the 
provisions of this chapter. No public body shall vote by 
secret or written ballot, and unless expressly provided 
by this chapter, no public body shall vote by telephone 
or other electronic communication means.

B. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing con-
tained herein shall be construed to prohibit (i) separate-
ly contacting the membership, or any part thereof, of 
any public body for the purpose of ascertaining a mem-

ber’s position with respect to the transaction of public 
business, whether such contact is done in person, by 
telephone or by electronic communication, provided the 
contact is done on a basis that does not constitute a meet-
ing as defined in this chapter or (ii) the House of Delegates 
or the Senate of Virginia from adopting rules relating to 
the casting of votes by members of standing committees. 
Nothing in this subsection shall operate to exclude any 
public record from the provisions of this chapter.

§ 2.2-3711. Closed meetings authorized for 
certain limited purposes.

A. Public bodies may hold closed meetings only for 
the following purposes:

1. Discussion, consideration, or interviews of pro-
spective candidates for employment; assignment, 
appointment, promotion, performance, demo-
tion, salaries, disciplining, or resignation of spe-
cific public officers, appointees, or employees of 
any public body; and evaluation of performance 
of departments or schools of public institutions 
of higher education where such evaluation will 
necessarily involve discussion of the performance 
of specific individuals. Any teacher shall be 
permitted to be present during a closed meeting 
in which there is a discussion or consideration of 
a disciplinary matter that involves the teacher 
and some student and the student involved in the 
matter is present, provided the teacher makes a 
written request to be present to the presiding offi-
cer of the appropriate board. Nothing in this sub-
division, however, shall be construed to authorize 
a closed meeting by a local governing body or 
an elected school board to discuss compensation 
matters that affect the membership of such body 
or board collectively.

2. Discussion or consideration of admission or disci-
plinary matters or any other matters that would 
involve the disclosure of information contained in 
a scholastic record concerning any student of any 
Virginia public institution of higher education 
or any state school system. However, any such 
student, legal counsel and, if the student is a mi-
nor, the student›s parents or legal guardians shall 
be permitted to be present during the taking of 
testimony or presentation of evidence at a closed 
meeting, if such student, parents, or guardians so 
request in writing and such request is submitted 
to the presiding officer of the appropriate board.

3. Discussion or consideration of the acquisition 
of real property for a public purpose, or of the 
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disposition of publicly held real property, where 
discussion in an open meeting would adversely 
affect the bargaining position or negotiating 
strategy of the public body.

4. The protection of the privacy of individuals in 
personal matters not related to public business.

5. Discussion concerning a prospective business or 
industry or the expansion of an existing business 
or industry where no previous announcement has 
been made of the business› or industry›s interest 
in locating or expanding its facilities in the com-
munity.

6. Discussion or consideration of the investment of 
public funds where competition or bargaining 
is involved, where, if made public initially, the 
financial interest of the governmental unit would 
be adversely affected.

7. Consultation with legal counsel and briefings by 
staff members or consultants pertaining to actual 
or probable litigation, where such consultation 
or briefing in open meeting would adversely 
affect the negotiating or litigating posture of the 
public body. For the purposes of this subdivi-
sion, «probable litigation» means litigation that 
has been specifically threatened or on which the 
public body or its legal counsel has a reasonable 
basis to believe will be commenced by or against 
a known party. Nothing in this subdivision shall 
be construed to permit the closure of a meet-
ing merely because an attorney representing the 
public body is in attendance or is consulted on a 
matter.

8. Consultation with legal counsel employed or 
retained by a public body regarding specific legal 
matters requiring the provision of legal advice by 
such counsel.  Nothing in the subdivision shall 
be construed to permit the closure of a meet-
ing merely because an attorney representing the 
public body is in attendance or is consulted on a 
matter.

9. Discussion or consideration by boards of visitors 
of public institutions of higher education of mat-
ters relating to gifts, bequests and fund-raising 
activities, and grants and contracts for services or 
work to be performed by such institution. How-
ever, the terms and conditions of any such gifts, 
bequests, grants, and contracts made by a foreign 
government, a foreign legal entity, or a foreign 
person and accepted by a public institution of 
higher education in Virginia shall be subject to 

public disclosure upon written request to the 
appropriate board of visitors. For the purpose of 
this subdivision, (i) “foreign government” means 
any government other than the United States 
government or the government of a state or a 
political subdivision thereof; (ii) “foreign legal en-
tity” means any legal entity (a) created under the 
laws of the United States or of any state thereof if 
a majority of the ownership of the stock of such 
legal entity is owned by foreign governments or 
foreign persons or if a majority of the member-
ship of any such entity is composed of foreign 
persons or foreign legal entities, (b) created under 
the laws of a foreign government; and (iii) “for-
eign person” means any individual who is not a 
citizen or national of the United States or a trust 
territory or protectorate thereof.

10. Discussion or consideration by the boards of 
trustees of the Virginia Museum of Fine Arts, 
the Virginia Museum of Natural History, the 
Jamestown-Yorktown Foundation, and The Sci-
ence Museum of Virginia, of matters relating to 
specific gifts, bequests, and grants from private 
sources.

11. Discussion or consideration of honorary degrees 
or special awards.

12. Discussion or consideration of tests, examina-
tions, or other information used, administered, 
or prepared by a public body and subject to the 
exclusion in subdivision 4 of § 2.2-3705.1.

13. Discussion, consideration, or review by the ap-
propriate House or Senate committees of possible 
disciplinary action against a member arising out 
of the possible inadequacy of the disclosure state-
ment filed by the member, provided the member 
may request in writing that the committee meet-
ing not be conducted in a closed meeting.

14. Discussion of strategy with respect to the nego-
tiation of a hazardous waste siting agreement or 
to consider the terms, conditions, and provisions 
of a hazardous waste siting agreement if the gov-
erning body in open meeting finds that an open 
meeting will have an adverse effect upon the 
negotiating position of the governing body or the 
establishment of the terms, conditions and provi-
sions of the siting agreement, or both. All discus-
sions with the applicant or its representatives may 
be conducted in a closed meeting.

15. Discussion by the Governor and any economic 
advisory board reviewing forecasts of economic 
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activity and estimating general and nongeneral 
fund revenues.

16. Discussion or consideration of medical and 
mental health records subject to the exclusion in 
subdivision 1 of § 2.2-3705.5.

17. Deliberations of the Virginia Lottery Board in 
a licensing appeal action conducted pursuant 
to subsection D of § 58.1-4007 regarding the 
denial or revocation of a license of a lottery sales 
agent; and discussion, consideration or review of 
Virginia Lottery matters related to proprietary 
lottery game information and studies or investi-
gations  excluded from disclosure under subdi-
vision 6 of § 2.2-3705.3 and subdivision 11 of § 
2.2-3705.7.

18. Those portions of meetings in which the Board 
of Corrections discusses or discloses the identity 
of, or information tending to identify, any pris-
oner who (i) provides information about crimes 
or criminal activities, (ii) renders assistance in 
preventing the escape of another prisoner or in 
the apprehension of an escaped prisoner, or (iii) 
voluntarily or at the instance of a prison official 
renders other extraordinary services, the disclo-
sure of which is likely to jeopardize the prisoner’s 
life or safety.

19. Discussion of plans to protect public safety as 
it relates to terrorist activity or specific cyberse-
curity threats or vulnerabilities and briefings by 
staff members, legal counsel, or law-enforcement 
or emergency service officials concerning actions 
taken to respond to such matters or a related 
threat to public safety; discussion of informa-
tion  subject to the exclusion in  subdivision 3 or 
4 2 or 14 of § 2.2-3705.2, where discussion in an 
open meeting would jeopardize the safety of any 
person or the security of any facility, building, 
structure, information technology system, or soft-
ware program; or discussion of reports or plans 
related to the security of any governmental facil-
ity, building or structure, or the safety of persons 
using such facility, building or structure.

20. Discussion by the Board of the Virginia Retire-
ment System, acting pursuant to § 51.1-124.30, 
or of any local retirement system, acting pursu-
ant to § 51.1-803, or by a local finance board or 
board of trustees of a trust established by one 
or more local public bodies to invest funds for 
postemployment benefits other than pensions, 
acting pursuant to Article 8 (§ 15.2-1544 et seq.) 
of Chapter 15 of Title 15.2, or by the Rector 

and Visitors of the University of Virginia, acting 
pursuant to § 23.1-2210, or by the Board of the 
Virginia College Savings Plan, acting pursuant 
to § 23.1-706, regarding the acquisition, holding 
or disposition of a security or other ownership 
interest in an entity, where such security or own-
ership interest is not traded on a governmentally 
regulated securities exchange, to the extent that 
such discussion (i) concerns confidential analy-
ses prepared for the Rector and Visitors of the 
University of Virginia, prepared by the retire-
ment system, or a local finance board or board of 
trustees, or the Virginia College Savings Plan or 
provided to the retirement system, a local finance 
board or board of trustees of such a trust pursu-
ant to Article 8 (§15.2-1544 et seq.) of Chapter 
15 of Title 15.2, or the Virginia College Savings 
Plan under a promise of confidentiality, of the 
future value of such ownership interest or the 
future financial performance of the entity, and (ii) 
would have an adverse effect on the value of the 
investment to be acquired, held or disposed of by 
the retirement system, a local finance board or 
board of trustees of such a trust pursuant to Ar-
ticle 8 (§15.2-1544 et seq.) of Chapter 15 of Title 
15.2 the Rector and Visitors of the University of 
Virginia, or the Virginia College Savings Plan. 
Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed to 
prevent the disclosure of information relating to 
the identity of any investment held, the amount 
invested or the present value of such investment.

21. Those portions of meetings in which individual 
child death cases are discussed by the State 
Child Fatality Review team established pursu-
ant to § 32.1-283.1, those portions of meetings in 
which individual child death cases are discussed 
by a regional or local child fatality review team 
established pursuant to § 32.1-283.2, those por-
tions of meetings in which individual death cases 
are discussed by family violence fatality review 
teams established pursuant to § 32.1-283.3, those 
portions of meetings in which individual adult 
death cases are discussed by the state Adult 
Fatality Review Team established pursuant to 
§ 32.1-283.5, and those portions of meetings in 
which individual adult death cases are discussed 
by a local or regional adult fatality review team 
established pursuant to § 32.1-283.6.

22. Those portions of meetings of the University 
of Virginia Board of Visitors or the Eastern 
Virginia Medical School Board of Visitors, as 
the case may be, and those portions of meetings 
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of any persons to whom management respon-
sibilities for the University of Virginia Medical 
Center or Eastern Virginia Medical School, as 
the case may be, have been delegated, in which 
there is discussed proprietary, business-related 
information pertaining to the operations of the 
University of Virginia Medical Center or Eastern 
Virginia Medical School, as the case may be, 
including business development or marketing 
strategies and activities with existing or future 
joint venturers, partners, or other parties with 
whom the University of Virginia Medical Center 
or Eastern Virginia Medical School, as the case 
may be, has formed, or forms, any arrangement 
for the delivery of health care, if disclosure of 
such information would adversely affect the com-
petitive position of the Medical Center or Eastern 
Virginia Medical School, as the case may be.

23. Discussion or consideration by the Virginia 
Commonwealth University Health System Au-
thority or the Virginia Commonwealth Univer-
sity Board of Visitors  of any of the following: the 
acquisition or disposition by the Authority of real 
property, equipment, or technology software or 
hardware and related goods or services,  where 
disclosure would adversely affect the bargaining 
position or negotiating strategy of the Authority; 
matters relating to gifts or bequests to,and fund-
raising activities of, the Authority; grants and 
contracts for services or work to be performed by 
the Authority; marketing or operational strate-
gies plans of the Authority where disclosure of 
such strategies or plans would adversely affect the 
competitive position of the Authority; and  mem-
bers of Authority’s medical and teaching staffs 
and qualifications for appointments thereto.

24. Those portions of the meetings of the Health 
Practitioners’ Monitoring Program Committee 
within the Department of Health Professions to 
the extent such discussions identify any practi-
tioner who may be, or who actually is, impaired 
pursuant to Chapter 25.1 (§ 54.1-2515 et seq.) of 
Title 54.1.

25. Meetings or portions of meetings of the Board 
of the Virginia College Savings Plan wherein 
personal information, as defined in § 2.2-3801, 
which has been provided to the Board or its 
employees by or on behalf of individuals who 
have requested information about, applied for, or 
entered into prepaid tuition contracts or savings 
trust account agreements pursuant to Chapter 7 

(§ 23.1-700 et seq.) of Title 23.1 is discussed.
26. Discussion or consideration, by the Wireless 

Carrier E-911 Cost Recovery Subcommittee 
created pursuant to § 56-484.15, of trade secrets, 
as defined in the Uniform Trade Secrets Act (§ 
59.1-336 et seq.), submitted by CMRS providers 
as defined in § 56-484.12, related to the provision 
of wireless E-911 service.

27. Those portions of disciplinary proceedings by 
any regulatory board within the Department 
of Professional and Occupational Regulation, 
Department of Health Professions, or the Board 
of Accountancy conducted pursuant to § 2.2-
4019 or 2.2-4020 during which the board delib-
erates to reach a decision or meetings of health 
regulatory boards or conference committees of 
such boards to consider settlement proposals in 
pending disciplinary actions or modifications to 
previously issued board orders as requested by 
either of the parties.

28. Discussion or consideration of information 
subject to the exclusion in subdivision 11 of § 
2.2-3705.6 by a responsible public entity or an 
affected locality or public entity, as those terms 
are defined in § 33.2-1800, or any independent 
review panel appointed to review information 
and advise the responsible public entity concern-
ing such records.

29. Discussion of the award of a public contract 
involving the expenditure of public funds, includ-
ing interviews of bidders or offerors, and discus-
sion of the terms or scope of such contract, where 
discussion in an open session would adversely 
affect the bargaining position or negotiating 
strategy of the public body.

30. Discussion or consideration of grant or loan ap-
plication information subject to the exclusion in 
subdivision 17 of § 2.2-3705.6 by (i) the Common-
wealth Health Research Board or (ii) the Innova-
tion and Entrepreneurship Investment Authority 
or the Research and Technology Investment 
Advisory Committee appointed to advise the 
Innovation and Entrepreneurship Investment 
Authority.

31. Discussion or consideration by the Commitment 
Review Committee of subject to the exclusion in 
subdivision 8 5 of § 2.2-3705.2 relating to indi-
viduals subject to commitment as sexually violent 
predators under Chapter 9 (§ 37.2-900 et seq.) of 
Title 37.2.
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32. Discussion or consideration of confidential pro-
prietary information and trade secrets developed 
and held by a local public body providing certain 
telecommunication services or cable service and 
subject to the exclusion in  subdivision 18 of § 
2.2-3705.6. However, the exemption provided by 
this subdivision shall not apply to any authority 
created pursuant to the BVU Authority Act (§ 
15.2-7200 et seq.).

33. Discussion or consideration by a local authority 
created in accordance with the Virginia Wireless 
Service Authorities Act (§ 15.2-5431.1 et seq.) of 
confidential proprietary information and trade 
subject to the exclusion in subdivision 19 of § 2.2-
3705.6.

34. Discussion or consideration by the State Board 
of Elections or local electoral boards of voting 
security matters made confidential pursuant to § 
24.2-625.1.

35. Discussion or consideration by the Forensic Sci-
ence Board or the Scientific Advisory Committee 
created pursuant to Article 2 (§ 9.1-1109 et seq.) 
of Chapter 11 of Title 9.1 of criminal investiga-
tive files subject to the exclusion in subdivision A 
2 a of § 2.2-3706.

36. Discussion or consideration by the Brown v. 
Board of Education Scholarship Committee of 
information or confidential matters subject to the 
exclusion in subdivision 3 of § 2.2-3705.4, and 
meetings of the Committee to deliberate con-
cerning the annual maximum scholarship award, 
review and consider scholarship applications and 
requests for scholarship award renewal, and can-
cel, rescind, or recover scholarship awards.

37. Discussion or consideration by the Virginia Port 
Authority of information subject to the exclusion 
in subdivision 1 of § 2.2-3705.6 related to certain 
proprietary information gathered by or for the 
Virginia Port Authority.

38.  Discussion or consideration by the Board of 
Trustees of the Virginia Retirement System act-
ing pursuant to § 51.1-124.30, by the Investment 
Advisory Committee appointed pursuant to § 
51.1-124.26, by any local retirement system, act-
ing pursuant to § 51.1-803, by the Board of the 
Virginia College Savings Plan acting pursuant 
to § 23.1-706, or by the Virginia College Savings 
Plan’s Investment Advisory Committee appoint-
ed pursuant to § 23.1-702 of information subject 
to the exclusion in subdivision 24 of § 2.2-3705.7.

39.  Discussion or consideration of information 
subject to the exclusion in subdivision 3 of § 2.2-
3705.6 related to economic development.

40. Discussion or consideration by the Board of 
Education of information relating to the denial, 
suspension, or revocation of teacher licenses 
subject to the exclusion in subdivision 11 of § 2.2-
3705.3.

41. Those portions of meetings of the Virginia 
Military Advisory Council or any commission 
created by executive order for the purpose of 
studying and making recommendations regard-
ing preventing closure or realignment of federal 
military and national security installations and 
facilities located in Virginia and relocation of 
such facilities to Virginia, or a local or regional 
military affairs organization appointed by a local 
governing body, during which there is discussion 
of information subject to the exclusion in subdivi-
sion 8 of § 2.2-3705.2.

42. Discussion or consideration by the Board of 
Trustees of the Veterans Services Foundation 
of information subject to the exclusion in sub-
division 28 of § 2.2-3705.7 related to personally 
identifiable information of donors.

43. Discussion or consideration by the Virginia 
Tobacco Region Revitalization Commission of 
information subject to the exclusion in subdivi-
sion 23 of § 2.2-3705.6 related to certain informa-
tion contained in grant application.

44. Discussion or consideration by the board of 
directors of the Commercial Space Flight Au-
thority of information  subject to the exclusion 
in subdivision 24 of § 2.2-3705.6 related to rate 
structures or charges for the use of projects of the 
sale of products of, or services rendered by the 
Authority and certain proprietary information of 
a private entity provided to the Authority.

45. Discussion or consideration of personal and 
proprietary information related to the resource 
management plan program and subject to the 
exclusion in (i) subdivision 25 of § 2.2-3705.6 or 
(ii) subsection E of § 10.1-104.7. This exclusion 
shall not apply to the discussion or consideration 
of records that contain information that has been 
certified for release by the person who is the 
subject of the information or transformed into a 
statistical or aggregate form that does not allow 
identification of the person who supplied, or is 
the subject of, the information.
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46. (Effective July 1, 2018) Discussion or consider-
ation by the Board of Directors of the Virginia 
Alcoholic Beverage Control Authority of infor-
mation subject to the exclusion in subdivision 1 
of § 2.2-3705.3 or subdivision 34 of § 2.2-3705.7 
related to investigations of applicants for licenses 
and permits and of licensees and permittees. 

47. Discussion or consideration of grant or loan 
application records subject to the exclusion in 
subdivision 28 of § 2.2-3705.6 related to the 
submission of an application for an award from 
the Virginia Research Investment Fund pursuant 
to Article 8 (§ 23.1-3130 et seq.) of Chapter 31 of 
Title 23.1.

48. Discussion or development of grant proposals by 
a regional council established pursuant to Article 
26 (§ 2.2-2484 et seq.) of Chapter 24 to be submit-
ted for consideration to the Virginia Growth and 
Opportunity Board.

49. Discussion or consideration of (i) individual 
sexual assault cases by a sexual assault team 
established pursuant to § 15.2-1627.4 or (ii) indi-
vidual child abuse or neglect cases or sex offenses 
involving a child by a child abuse team estab-
lished pursuant to § 15.2-1627.5.

B. No resolution, ordinance, rule, contract, regula-
tion or motion adopted, passed or agreed to in a closed 
meeting shall become effective unless the public body, 
following the meeting, reconvenes in open meeting 
and takes a vote of the membership on such resolution, 
ordinance, rule, contract, regulation, or motion that 
shall have its substance reasonably identified in the 
open meeting.

C. Public officers improperly selected due to the 
failure of the public body to comply with the other 
provisions of this section shall be de facto officers and, 
as such, their official actions are valid until they obtain 
notice of the legal defect in their election.

D. Nothing in this section shall be construed to 
prevent the holding of conferences between two or 
more public bodies, or their representatives, but these 
conferences shall be subject to the same procedures for 
holding closed meetings as are applicable to any other 
public body.

E. This section shall not be construed to (i) require 
the disclosure of any contract between the Department 
of Health Professions and an impaired practitioner en-
tered into pursuant to Chapter 25.1 (§ 54.1-2515 et seq.) 
of Title 54.1 or (ii) require the board of directors of any 
authority created pursuant to the Industrial Develop-

ment and Revenue Bond Act (§ 15.2-4900 et seq.), or 
any public body empowered to issue industrial revenue 
bonds by general or special law, to identify a business 
or industry to which subdivision A 5 applies. However, 
such business or industry shall be identified as a matter 
of public record at least 30 days prior to the actual date 
of the board’s authorization of the sale or issuance of 
such bonds.

§ 2.2-3712. Closed meetings procedures; 
certification of proceedings.

A. No closed meeting shall be held unless the public 
body proposing to convene such meeting has taken 
an affirmative recorded vote in an open meeting ap-
proving a motion that (i) identifies the subject matter, 
(ii) states the purpose of the meeting as authorized in 
subsection A of § 2.2-3711 or other provision of law and 
(iii) cites the applicable exemption from open meeting 
requirements provided in §2.2-3707 subsection A of § 
2.2-3711 or other provision of law. The matters con-
tained in such motion shall be set forth in detail in the 
minutes of the open meeting. A general reference to the 
provisions of this chapter, the authorized exemptions 
from open meeting requirements, or the subject matter 
of the closed meeting shall not be sufficient to satisfy 
the requirements for holding a closed meeting.

B. The notice provisions of this chapter shall not ap-
ply to closed meetings of any public body held solely for 
the purpose of interviewing candidates for the position 
of chief administrative officer. Prior to any such closed 
meeting for the purpose of interviewing candidates, 
the public body shall announce in an open meeting 
that such closed meeting shall be held at a disclosed or 
undisclosed location within 15 days thereafter.

C. The public body holding a closed meeting shall 
restrict its discussion during the closed meeting only to 
those matters specifically exempted from the provisions 
of this chapter and identified in the motion required by 
subsection A.

D. At the conclusion of any closed meeting, the 
public body holding such meeting shall immediately 
reconvene in an open meeting and shall take a roll call 
or other recorded vote to be included in the minutes of 
that body, certifying that to the best of each member’s 
knowledge (i) only public business matters lawfully 
exempted from open meeting requirements under this 
chapter and (ii) only such public business matters as 
were identified in the motion by which the closed meet-
ing was convened were heard, discussed or considered 
in the meeting by the public body. Any member of the 
public body who believes that there was a departure 
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from the requirements of clauses (i) and (ii), shall so 
state prior to the vote, indicating the substance of the 
departure that, in his judgment, has taken place. The 
statement shall be recorded in the minutes of the public 
body.

E. Failure of the certification required by subsection 
D to receive the affirmative vote of a majority of the 
members of the public body present during a meeting 
shall not affect the validity or confidentiality of such 
meeting with respect to matters considered therein in 
compliance with the provisions of this chapter. The 
recorded vote and any statement made in connection 
therewith, shall upon proper authentication, constitute 
evidence in any proceeding brought to enforce the 
provisions of this chapter.

F. A public body may permit nonmembers to attend 
a closed meeting if such persons are deemed necessary or 
if their presence will reasonably aid the public body in its 
consideration of a topic that is a subject of the meeting.

G. A member of a public body shall be permitted 
to attend a closed meeting held by any committee or 
subcommittee of that public body, or a closed meeting 
of any entity, however designated, created to perform 
the delegated functions of or to advise that public body. 
Such member shall in all cases be permitted to observe 
the closed meeting of the committee, subcommittee or 
entity. In addition to the requirements of § 2.2-3707, the 
minutes of the committee or other entity shall include 
the identity of the member of the parent public body 
who attended the closed meeting.

H. Except as specifically authorized by law, in no 
event may any public body take action on matters dis-
cussed in any closed meeting, except at an open meeting 
for which notice was given as required by § 2.2-3707.

I. Minutes may be taken during closed meetings of 
a public body, but shall not be required. Such minutes 
shall not be subject to mandatory public disclosure.

§ 2.2-3713. Proceedings for enforcement of 
chapter.

A. Any person, including the attorney for the Com-
monwealth acting in his official or individual capacity, 
denied the rights and privileges conferred by this chap-
ter may proceed to enforce such rights and privileges by 
filing a petition for mandamus or injunction, supported 
by an affidavit showing good cause. Such petition may 
be brought in the name of the person notwithstand-
ing that a request for public records was made by the 
person›s attorney in his representative capacity. Venue 
for the petition shall be addressed as follows:

1. In a case involving a local public body, to the 
general district court or circuit court of the 
county or city from which the public body has 
been elected or appointed to serve and in which 
such rights and privileges were so denied;

2. In a case involving a regional public body, to the 
general district or circuit court of the county or 
city where the principal business office of such 
body is located; and

3. In a case involving a board, bureau, commission, 
authority, district, institution, or agency of the 
state government, including a public institution of 
higher education, or a standing or other commit-
tee of the General Assembly, to the general dis-
trict court or the circuit court of the residence of 
the aggrieved party or of the City of Richmond.

B. In any action brought before a general district 
court, a corporate petitioner may appear through its of-
ficer, director or managing agent without the assistance 
of counsel, notwithstanding any provision of law or 
Rule of the Supreme Court of Virginia to the contrary.

C. Notwithstanding the provisions of § 8.01-644, 
the petition for mandamus or injunction shall be 
heard within seven days of the date when the same is 
made, provided the party against whom the petition 
is brought has received a copy of the petition at least 
three working days prior to filing. The hearing on any 
petition made outside of the regular terms of the circuit 
court of a locality that is included in a judicial circuit 
with another locality or localities shall be given prece-
dence on the docket of such court over all cases that are 
not otherwise given precedence by law.

D. The petition shall allege with reasonable speci-
ficity the circumstances of the denial of the rights and 
privileges conferred by this chapter. A single instance 
of denial of the rights and privileges conferred by 
this chapter shall be sufficient to invoke the remedies 
granted herein. If the court finds the denial to be in 
violation of the provisions of this chapter, the petitioner 
shall be entitled to recover reasonable costs, includ-
ing costs and reasonable fees for expert witnesses, and 
attorneys’ fees from the public body if the petitioner 
substantially prevails on the merits of the case, unless 
special circumstances would make an award unjust. 
In making this determination, a court may consider, 
among other things, the reliance of a public body on an 
opinion of the Attorney General or a decision of a court 
that substantially supports the public body’s position.

E. In any action to enforce the provisions of this 
chapter, the public body shall bear the burden of proof 
to establish an exclusion by a preponderance of the evi-
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dence. No court shall be required to accord any weight 
to the determination of a public body as to whether an 
exclusion applies. Any failure by a public body to fol-
low the procedures established by this chapter shall be 
presumed to be a violation of this chapter.

F. Failure by any person to request and receive 
notice of the time and place of meetings as provided in 
§ 2.2-3707 shall not preclude any person from enforcing 
his rights and privileges conferred by this chapter.

§ 2.2-3714. Violations and penalties.
In a proceeding commenced against any officer, 

employee, or member of a public body under § 2.2-
3713 for a violation of § 2.2-3704, 2.2-3705.1 through 
2.2-3705.8 2.2-3705.7, 2.2-3706, 2.2-3707, 2.2-3708, 
2.2-3708.1, 2.2-3710, 2.2-3711 or 2.2-3712, the court, 
if it finds that a violation was willfully and knowingly 
made, shall impose upon such officer, employee, or 
member in his individual capacity, whether a writ of 
mandamus or injunctive relief is awarded or not, a civil 
penalty of not less than $500 nor more than $2,000, 
which amount shall be paid into the State Literary 
Fund. For a second or subsequent violation, such civil 
penalty shall be not less than $2,000 nor more than 
$5,000.

30-178. Virginia Freedom of Information Advisory 
Council; membership; terms; quorum; expenses.

A. The Virginia Freedom of Information Advisory 
Council (the Council) is hereby created as an advisory 
council in the legislative branch to encourage and 
facilitate compliance with the Freedom of Information 
Act (§ 2.2-3700 et seq.).

B. The Council shall consist of 14 members as fol-
lows: the Attorney General or his designee; the Librar-
ian of Virginia or his designee; the Director of the 
Division of Legislative Services or his designee; five 
members appointed by the Speaker of the House of 
Delegates, two of whom shall be members of the House 
of Delegates, and three nonlegislative citizen members, 
at least one of whom shall be or have been a represen-
tative of the news media; four members appointed by 
the Senate Committee on Rules, two of whom shall be 
members of the Senate, one of whom shall be or have 
been an officer of local government, and one nonlegis-
lative citizen at-large member; and two nonlegislative 
citizen members appointed by the Governor, one of 
whom shall not be a state employee. The local govern-
ment representative may be selected from a list recom-
mended by the Virginia Association of Counties and 
the Virginia Municipal League, after due consideration 
of such list by the Senate Committee on Rules. The 

citizen members may be selected from a list recom-
mended by the Virginia Press Association, the Virginia 
Association of Broadcasters, and the Virginia Coalition 
for Open Government, after due consideration of such 
list by the appointing authorities.

C. All appointments following the initial staggering 
of terms shall be for terms of four years, except that ap-
pointments to fill vacancies shall be for the unexpired 
terms in the same manner as the original appointment. 
No nonlegislative citizen member shall be eligible to 
serve for more than two successive four-year terms. At 
the end of a term, a nonlegislative citizen member shall 
continue to serve until a successor is appointed Howev-
er, after the expiration of a term of three years or less, 
or after the expiration of the remainder of a term to 
which appointed to fill a vacancy, two additional terms 
may be served by such member if appointed thereto. 
Legislative members and other state government of-
ficials shall serve terms coincident with their terms of 
office. Legislative members may be reappointed for 
successive terms.

D. The members of the Council shall elect from 
among their membership a chairman and a vice-chair-
man for two-year terms. The chairman and vice-chair-
man may not succeed themselves to the same position. 

E. The Council shall hold meetings quarterly or 
upon the call of the chairman. A majority of the Coun-
cil shall constitute a quorum. Notwithstanding the 
provisions of subsection C, if any nonlegislative citizen 
member of the Council fails to attend a majority of 
meetings of the Council in a calendar year, the Council 
shall notify the member’s appointing authority. Upon 
receipt of such notification, the appointing authority 
may remove the member and appoint a successor as 
soon as practicable.

F. Members of the Council shall receive no com-
pensation for their services but shall be reimbursed for 
all reasonable and necessary expenses incurred in the 
performance of their duties as provided in §§ 2.2-2813, 
2.2-2825 and 30-19.12, as appropriate. Funding for ex-
penses of the members shall be provided from existing 
appropriations to the Council.

§ 30-179. Powers and duties of the Council.
The Council shall:
1. Furnish, upon request, advisory opinions or 

guidelines, and other appropriate information regard-
ing the Freedom of Information Act (§ 2.2-3700 et seq.) 
to any person or agency of state or local government, in 
an expeditious manner;
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2. Conduct training seminars and educational 
programs for the members and staff of public bodies 
and other interested persons on the requirements of the 
Freedom of Information Act (§ 2.2-3700 et seq.);

3. Publish such educational materials as it deems 
appropriate on the provisions of the Freedom of Infor-
mation Act (§ 2.2-3700 et seq.);

4. Request from any agency of state or local gov-
ernment such assistance, services and information 
as will enable the Council to effectively carry out its 
responsibilities. Information provided to the Council 
by an agency of state or local government shall not be 
released to any other party unless authorized by such 
agency;

5. Assist in the development and implementation of 
the provisions of § 2.2-3704.1;

6. Develop the public comment form for use by 
designated public bodies in accordance with subsection 
F of § 2.2-3708; 

7. Develop an online public comment form to be 
posted on the Council’s official public government web-
site to enable any requester to comment on the qual-
ity of assistance provided to the requester by a public 
body; and

8. Report annually on or before December 1 of each 
year on its activities and findings regarding the Free-
dom of Information Act (§ 2.2-3700 et seq.), including 
recommendations for changes in the law, to the Gener-
al Assembly and the Governor. The annual report shall 
be published as a state document.

§ 36-105.3. Security of certain records.
Building Code officials shall institute procedures to 

ensure the safe storage and secure handling by local of-
ficials having access to or in the possession of engineer-
ing and construction drawings and plans containing 
critical structural components, security equipment and 
systems, ventilation systems, fire protection equipment, 
mandatory building emergency equipment or systems, 
elevators, electrical systems, telecommunications equip-
ment and systems, and other utility equipment and 
systems submitted for the purpose of complying with 
the Uniform Statewide Building Code (§ 36-97 et seq.) 
or the Statewide Fire Prevention Code (§ 27-94 et seq.).

Further, information contained in engineering and 
construction drawings and plans for any single-family 
residential dwelling submitted for the purpose of com-
plying with the Uniform Statewide Building Code (§ 
36-97 et seq.) or the Statewide Fire Prevention Code 
(§ 27-94 et seq.) shall be confidential and shall not be 

subject to disclosure under the Virginia Freedom of 
Information Act (§ 2.2-3700 et seq.), except to the appli-
cant or the owner of the property upon the applicant’s 
or owner’s request.

§ 17.1-293. Posting and availability of certain 
information on the Internet; prohibitions.

A. Notwithstanding Chapter 37 (§ 2.2-3700 et seq.) 
of Title 2.2 or subsection B, it shall be unlawful for 
any court clerk to disclose the social security number 
or other identification numbers appearing on driver’s li-
censes or information on credit cards, debit cards, bank 
accounts, or other electronic billing and payment sys-
tems that was supplied to a court clerk for the purpose 
of paying fees, fines, taxes, or other charges collected by 
such court clerk. The prohibition shall not apply where 
disclosure of such information is required (i) to conduct 
or complete the transaction for which such information 
was submitted or (ii) by other law or court order.

B. Beginning January 1, 2004, no court clerk shall 
post on the Internet any document that contains the 
following information: (i) an actual signature, (ii) a so-
cial security number, (iii) a date of birth identified with 
a particular person, (iv) the maiden name of a person’s 
parent so as to be identified with a particular person, 
(v) any financial account number or numbers, or (vi) the 
name and age of any minor child.

C. Each such clerk shall post notice that includes 
a list of the documents routinely posted on its website. 
However, the clerk shall not post information on his 
website that includes private activity for private finan-
cial gain.

D. Nothing in this section shall be construed to 
prohibit access to any original document as provided 
by law.

E. This section shall not apply to the following:
1. Providing access to any document among the 

land records via secure remote access pursuant to 
§ 17.1-294;

2. Postings related to legitimate law-enforcement 
purposes;

3. Postings of historical, genealogical, interpretive, 
or educational documents and information about 
historic persons and events;

4. Postings of instruments and records filed or re-
corded that are more than 100 years old;

5. Providing secure remote access to any person, his 
counsel, or staff which counsel directly super-
vises to documents filed in matters to which such 
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person is a party;
6. Providing official certificates and certified 

records in digital form of any document main-
tained by the clerk pursuant to § 17.1-258.3:2; 
and

7. Providing secure remote access to nonconfiden-
tial court records, subject to any fees charged by 
the clerk, to members in good standing with the 
Virginia State Bar and their authorized agents, 
pro hac vice attorneys authorized by the court for 
purposes of the practice of law, and such govern-
mental agencies as authorized by the clerk.

F. Nothing in this section shall prohibit the Supreme 
Court or any other court clerk from providing online 
access to a case management system that may include 
abstracts of case filings and proceedings in the courts of 
the Commonwealth, including online access to sub-
scribers of nonconfidential criminal case information to 
confirm the complete date of birth of a defendant.

G. The court clerk shall be immune from suit aris-
ing from any acts or omissions relating to providing 
remote access on the Internet pursuant to this section 
unless the clerk was grossly negligent or engaged in 
willful misconduct.

This subsection shall not be construed to limit, 
withdraw, or overturn any defense or immunity already 
existing in statutory or common law, or to affect any 
cause of action accruing prior to July 1, 2005.

H. Nothing in this section shall be construed to 
permit any data accessed by secure remote access to be 
sold or posted on any other website or in any way redis-
tributed to any third party, and the clerk, in his discre-
tion, may deny secure remote access to ensure compli-
ance with these provisions. However, the data accessed 
by secure remote access may be included in products 
or services provided to a third party of the subscriber 
provided that (i) such data is not made available to the 
general public and (ii) the subscriber maintains admin-
istrative, technical, and security safeguards to protect 
the confidentiality, integrity, and limited availability of 
the data.

§ 17.1-295. Definitions.
As used in this title:
“Confidential court records” means any civil or 

criminal record maintained by a clerk of the circuit 
court designated by this Code as confidential or any 
such record sealed pursuant to court order.

“Electronic filing of court records” means the net-
works or systems maintained by a clerk of the circuit 

court, or the clerk›s designated application service pro-
viders, for the submittal of instruments for electronic 
filing of court records in accordance with this title, the 
Rules of the Supreme Court of Virginia, and the secure 
remote access standards developed by the Virginia 
Information Technologies Agency.

“Electronic recording of land records” means the 
networks or systems maintained by a clerk of the circuit 
court, or the clerk›s designated application service pro-
viders, for the submittal of instruments for electronic 
filing of land records in accordance with the Uniform 
Real Property Electronic Recording Act (§ 55-142.10 
et seq.), the provisions of Article 2.1 (§ 55-66.8 et seq.) 
of Chapter 4 of Title 55 regarding the satisfaction of 
mortgages and the provisions of this title.

“Operational expenses” means expenses of the 
clerk of court used to maintain the clerk’s office and 
includes, but is not limited to, (i) computer support, 
maintenance, enhancements, upgrades, and replace-
ments and office automation and information technol-
ogy equipment, including software and conversion 
services; (ii) preserving, maintaining, and enhancing 
court records, including, but not limited to, the costs 
of repairs, maintenance, consulting services, service 
contracts, redaction of social security numbers from 
certain records, and system replacements or upgrades; 
and (iii) improving public access to records maintained 
by the clerk, including locating technology in an offsite 
facility for such purposes or for implementation of a 
disaster recovery plan.

“Public access” means that the clerk of the circuit 
court has made available to subscribers that are other 
than governmental agencies, secure remote access to 
records maintained by the clerk in accordance with      
§ 17.1-294.

“Secure remote access to court records” means pub-
lic access by electronic means on a network or system 
to court records maintained by the clerk of the circuit 
court or the clerk’s designated application service 
providers, in compliance with this title, the Rules of the 
Supreme Court of Virginia, and the secure remote ac-
cess standards developed by the Virginia Information 
Technologies Agency.

“Secure remote access to land records” means pub-
lic access by electronic means on a network or system 
to land records maintained by the clerk of the circuit 
court or the clerk’s designated application service 
providers, in compliance with the Secure Remote Ac-
cess Standards developed by the Virginia Information 
Technologies Agency.

“Subscriber” means any person who has entered 
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into a subscriber agreement with the clerk of the circuit 
court authorizing the subscriber to have secure remote 
access to land records or secure remote access to court 
records maintained by the clerk or the clerk’s desig-
nated application service providers. If the subscriber is 
an entity with more than one person who will use the 
network or system to access land records maintained by 
the clerk, or the clerk’s designated application service 
providers, each individual user shall execute a sub-
scriber agreement and obtain a separate “user id” and 
“password” from the clerk. The subscriber is respon-
sible for the fees due under this title and the proper use 
of the secure remote access system pursuant to the sub-
scriber agreement, applicable Virginia law, and Secure 
Remote Access Standards developed by the Virginia 
Information Technologies Agency.

§ 15.2-2103.1. Solar services agreements; 
nondisclosure of proprietary information.

A. A solar services agreement may be structured 
as a service agreement or may be subject to available 
appropriation.

B. Nothing in this article shall be construed to re-
quire the disclosure of proprietary information volun-
tarily provided by a private entity in connection with a 
franchise, lease, or use under a solar services agreement 
that is excluded from mandatory disclosure pursuant to 
subdivision 29 of § 2.2-3705.6 of the Virginia Freedom 
of Information Act (§ 2.2-3700 et seq.).

C. Nothing in this section, however, shall be con-
strued as authorizing the withholding of the financial 
terms of such agreements
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Virginia Conflict 
of Interests Act

Guide for Local Government Officials

Introduction
The Virginia Conflict of Interests Act regulates the fi-

nancial relationship of council members and mayors with 
their city, town and with any other governmental agency 
that is related to the local government. The act is intended 
to be the one-stop-shopping law for a council member’s 
financial involvement in dealings with the city or town.  
While this guide refers to councils, cities and towns, it is 
equally applicable to boards of supervisors and counties.

The act regulates how involved a council member 
may be in an item being considered by council if he 
or she has a financial interest in that item. The act 
also defines what constitutes bribery and taking unfair 
advantage of information gained by reason of being on 
council. It sets penalties for violations and provides a 
procedural framework for its enforcement. 

The Conflict of Interests Act is codified in Title 
2.2, Chapter 31 of the Code of Virginia,   § 2.2-3100 
and following. While this guide describes the general 
operation of the law, the reader should consult the law’s 
specific language for a better understanding (code ref-
erences are given throughout the guide). Furthermore, 
a council member with questions about a contract or 
transaction should consult the city or town attorney.

The 2014 General Assembly created the Virginia 
Conflict of Interest and Ethics Advisory Council 
(“Council”) to review and post online disclosure forms 
filed by lobbyists and persons subject to the conflict of 
interest as well as to provide formal opinions, informal 
advice, education and training.  The Council also en-
courages and facilitates compliance with sections of the 
code to include, State and Local Government Conflict 
of Interests Act.   The duties and responsibilities of the 
Council are discussed throughout this report.

Since the Council was created many changes to the 
law have occurred as the General Assembly attempts 
to strike a balance between the need for disclosure 
and the practicality of complying with the law.  For 
instance, the forms were supposed to be filed semi-an-
nually but now will be filed annually.  The definition of 
gift and how to include family members’ interests have 
also been the subject of many changes to this law.

 

Purpose of the act
The first section of the act, Va. Code § 2.2-3100, sets 

out the purpose of the law, citing three main goals:
1. To help ensure that the government will fully 

represent the public in its operation;
2. To give citizens confidence in public officials and 

the government so they will trust the govern-
ment, by creating a clear set of rules for govern-
ment officials; and,

3. To assemble all the laws affecting conflict of 
interests in a single location in order to create 
uniform rules. (While COIA largely accomplish-
es this purpose, additional rules are stated in the 
Virginia Procurement Act and in various other 
code sections.)

The act contains three general areas of regulation 
(listed below). The act also has procedural, enforce-
ment, and penalty provisions that apply to the substan-
tive areas of the law.

Areas of regulation
The act regulates the financial relationship of coun-

cil members in their localities in three general areas:
1. General provisions covering bribes and other il-

legal behavior.
2. Regulation of financial interests a council mem-

ber may have in business dealings with his or her 
locality and with agencies related to his or her 
locality. The act calls this a personal interest in a 
contract.

3. Regulation of the level of involvement a person, 
in his role as a council member or other public 
office or job, may have in an item being consid-
ered by the member’s locality that involves the 
member’s business, property or other personal 
financial interest. The act calls this a personal 
interest in a transaction.
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I. Generally Prohibited Conduct
Bribes and other illegal behavior

Section 2.2-3103 prohibits public officials from 
taking or soliciting bribes and from allowing money to 
influence their actions. This section applies to a per-
son’s actions as a government official; the prohibitions 
are not aimed at private businesses that may offer the 
bribes.

The act prohibits a council member from solicit-
ing or accepting money or benefits for doing his or her 
work as a public official. § 2.2-3103(1). An example 
would be a council member who takes money for vot-
ing on a rezoning to help a developer build a large 
project. Similarly, a council member may not offer or 
take money in exchange for landing himself or herself 
or another person a job with a government agency, or 
in exchange for obtaining a contract or business deal 
with the government. §§ 2.2-3103(1) & 3103(2).

Undue influence
One step below the outright bribery rule is the 

prohibition on taking gifts and opportunities while 
serving as a public official. §§ 2.2-3103(5), (6), (8), (9) & 
2.2-3103.1. The act prohibits a council member from 
accepting money, loans, gifts, services, business oppor-
tunities, or other benefits if it is reasonable to construe 
that the benefit was given to influence the council 
member in his or her duties. An exception is made for 
political campaign contributions – but only if the con-
tribution is used for a political campaign or constitu-
ent service purposes and is reported pursuant to the 
campaign disclosure laws.

A typical example of this issue for cities and towns is 
when a large developer gives Christmas gifts of sub-
stantial value to the members of council. Whether the 
gift complies with the act is a judgment call in most 
cases. Is a Christmas turkey reasonable if the developer 
is also giving the same gift to his employees, his busi-
ness associates, and his materials suppliers? The cir-
cumstances of the specific case usually indicate whether 
the gifts are appropriate.

The following items are exempted from the prohibi-
tion on gifts: (1) coupons and tickets that are not used; 
(2) honorary degrees; (3) scholarships or financial aid 
awards that were awarded in the same manner as they 
would be to the general public; (4) campaign contribu-
tions that are properly received and reported; (5) a gift 
that relates to the private profession or volunteer service 
of the officer or a member of the officer’s immediate 
family; (6) food or beverages consumed while attending 

an event at which the filer is performing official duties 
related to public service, (7) food or beverages received 
at or registration of attendance fees waived for any 
event at which the filer is a featured speaker, presenter, 
or lecturer, (8) unsolicited awards of appreciation or 
recognition; (9) a devise or inheritance; (10) travel 
disclosed under the Campaign Finance Disclosure Act 
(§24.2-945 et seq.); (11) travel paid for or provided by 
a government entity; (12) travel provided to facilitate 
attendance by a legislator at a regular or special session 
of General Assembly or other meeting approved by 
the House or Senate Committee on Rules; (13) travel 
related to an official meeting of, or any meal provided 
for attendance at such meeting by, the Commonwealth, 
political subdivisions, or any board, commission, 
authority, or other entity, or any charitable organiza-
tion established pursuant to §501(c)(3) of the Internal 
Revenue Code affiliated with such entity, to which such 
person has been appointed or elected or is a member 
by virtue of his office or employment; (14) gifts with a 
value less than $20; (15) attendance at a reception or 
similar function where food, such as hors d’oeuvres, 
and beverages that can be conveniently consumed by 
a person while standing or walking are offered; or (16) 
gifts from relatives or personal friends as the act defines 
“personal friend”. § 2.2-3101.

For purposes of §2.2-3101 and what is not a gift, a 
relative is defined as the donee’s spouse, child, uncle, 
aunt, niece, nephew, or first cousin; a person to whom 
the done is engaged to marry, the donee and their 
spouses’ parent, grandparent, grandchild, brother, sis-
ter, step-parent, step-grandparent, step-grandchild, step-
brother, or step-sister or the donee’s brother’s or sister’s 
spouse or the donee’s son-in-law or daughter-in-law.  

The act limits who can be considered a personal  
friend for the purposes of the disclosure exemption. 
The reason for this limitation is to ensure that the term 
“personal friend” is not applied loosely, allowing any-
one to qualify for the gift disclosure exemption. 

Section 2.2-3103.1 pertains to prohibited gifts.  This 
provision applies to all candidates, officers, and em-
ployees of local governments and advisory agencies. 
These individuals may not solicit, accept or receive a 
tangible gift that is valued at over $100 or a combina-
tion of gifts within a year with an aggregate value of 
over $100 if it is given to him by (1) a lobbyist, (2) a 
lobbyist’s principal, or (3) a person, organization, or 
business that is seeking to be or already is a party to a 
contract with the local agency of which he is an of-
ficer or employee.  However, the limit only applies to 
individuals that are required to file a disclosure form 
prescribed in §2.2-3117. Therefore, it does apply to of-
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ficials of localities with a population under 3,500.
A lobbyist or a lobbyist’s principal cannot be 

considered a personal friend, with one exception. A 
person, organization, or business cannot be considered 
a personal friend if that entity or person is a party to a 
contract with the local government or agency for which 
the officer or employee works.  This is true whether 
the contract has been granted or if the person, organi-
zation, or business is just seeking to be a party to the 
contract.   However, an official may accept a gift with 
a value in excess of $100 if the gift was from a personal 
friend.  The following factors shall be considered in 
determining whether someone is a personal friend: (a) 
the circumstances under which the gift was offered; (b) 
the history of the relationship to include the nature, 
duration and previous gift exchanges; (c) to the extent 
known whether the donor personally paid for the gift or 
sought a tax deduction or business reimbursement and 
(d) whether the donor has given similar gifts to other 
persons required to file disclosure forms. §2.2-3103.1.

 Some may wonder how an officer or official would 
even try to argue that he or she has a personal friend-
ship with an organization or business. In this context, 
the terms “organization” and “business” include those 
who are officers, directors, owners, or have a control-
ling ownership interest in the organization or business. 
§ 2.2-3101.

A council member is also prohibited from taking 
benefits if he or she knows it is being offered to influ-
ence him or her.  § 2.2-3103(5). Therefore, even if the 
gift is not unreasonable, the council member may not 
accept it if the circumstances or statements of the per-
son giving it make it clear that the money is being given 
to influence the council member.

A further prohibition is aimed at gifts given by a pri-
vate party looking for a specific action by the govern-
ment. § 2.2-3103(8). It prohibits a council member from 
accepting a gift from a private party whose interests 
can be affected by the council member’s actions, where 
the timing of the gift would lead a reasonable person 
to question whether the gift is being given to influence 
the council member. For example, if the day before an 
important council vote on a rezoning, the applicant for 
that rezoning gives the council member $2,000 and 
calls it a campaign contribution, it would be reason-
able to think the money was given to influence the vote. 
Also, if a council member accepts gifts so often that it 
creates the appearance that he or she accepts gifts for 
doing his or her job, that behavior constitutes a viola-
tion. § 2.2-3103(9). Violations of these two prohibitions 
may not be the basis for a criminal charge.

Local governments can adopt ordinance 
limiting dollar value of gifts

Local governments may adopt an ordinance to limit 
the dollar value of gifts to the officials and employees of 
the locality. § 2.2-3104.2. The ordinance can include a 
required disclosure provision.  While legally you may 
have nothing to fear when disclosing, keep in mind that 
the appearance of impropriety is often more harmful 
than the impropriety itself.  A $50 limit is often used. 
While this amount is arbitrary, it does make it simpler 
for all involved to know what behavior is permissible. 
Whether or not the locality adopts an ordinance limit-
ing gift amounts, if an award is made to a local govern-
ment employee for meritorious service by an entity that 
is a 501(c)(3) charitable organization, there is no conflict 
and no limit on the gift.

Insider information
It is a violation of the act for a public official to 

use information not available to the public for his 
or her own or another person’s economic benefit.                     
§ 2.2-3103(4). For council members, this prohibition 
is sometimes unfairly alleged. For example, a local 
businessman on council who pays attention to public 
plans submitted to the locality and buys land around the 
project is not violating the provision. Envious business 
folks, however, may allege a violation of insider informa-
tion due to the appearance of the situation. When their 
actions are based on publicly available information, 
council members have nothing to fear from such claims.

II. Regulation of council member’s 
actions as citizen.

Personal interest in a contract
The act sets forth what financial interests a council 

member may have in business dealings with his or her 
locality and with agencies related to his or her locality. 
§ 2.2-3107. The act calls this a personal interest in a 
contract. While this guide’s discussion is limited to the 
restrictions on council members, the act also sets forth 
different restrictions for school board members (§ 2.2-
3108) and for local government employees  (§ 2.2-3109). 
Council members need to keep in mind the restrictions 
on the employees of a city or town as they carry out 
their duties and watch over the affairs of the locality.

According to § 2.2-3107(A), “no person elected or 
appointed as a member of the governing body of a 
county, city or town” shall have “a personal interest in 
a contract” with his or her city or town or with certain 
other government agencies. (The definition of a per-
sonal interest in a contract is described below.)
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The council member may not have a personal inter-
est in a contract with any agency of his or her locality, 
including the departments of the city or town. In ad-
dition, he or she may not have a personal interest in a 
contract with any government agency that is under the 
council’s ultimate control. For example, if the council 
appoints a library board, then council members would 
have ultimate control over the library. Therefore, a 
council member could not be involved in a contract 
with the library board.

This section of the act also prohibits involvement 
in a contract with any agency if the council appoints 
a majority of the members of that agency’s govern-
ing body. For example, if the locality is a member of 
a regional jail and its council appoints four of the jail 
board’s seven members, then a council member would 
be prohibited from being involved in a contract with 
the jail board.

Definition of personal interest and personal 
interest in a contract

The act only prohibits a council member’s participa-
tion if he or she has a personal interest in the contract 
with one of the agencies described. The definition of 
“personal interest in a contract” has three parts: “a 
personal interest,” a “personal interest in a transaction” 
and a “personal interest in a contract.” § 2.2-3101.

Personal interest. The definition of a personal 
interest is the key building block of the act. The term is 
used throughout. A personal interest exists if any one of 
the following tests is met:

1. The council member owns at least 3 percent of 
the equity of a business.

2. The council member has annual income that is 
or reasonably could be in excess of $5,000 from 
owning real or personal property or from owning 
a business.

3. The council member has a salary, other compen-
sation, fringe benefits, or benefits from the use of 
property or any combination thereof, from the 
business involved in a contract that exceeds or 
reasonably could exceed $5,000 annually.

4. The council member’s ownership interest in 
property exceeds $5,000.

5. The council member’s liability for a business 
exceeds 3 percent of the equity of the business.

6. The council member has an option on prop-
erty and, upon exercise of the option, his or her 
ownership will meet the levels in either test 1 or 
4, above.

Immediate Family. In addition to the council 
member, if any person in the council member’s imme-
diate family has one of the six types of a personal inter-
est, the personal interest exists for the council member. 
The term “immediate family” always includes the 
person’s spouse. The term also includes any child living 
in the home who is the council member’s dependent. 
The term “child” is defined in Title 1 of the state code 
as anyone who is less than 18 years old. Therefore, the 
definition applies to all minor dependents regardless 
of their relationship to the council member but it does 
not apply to adult children of the member, even if he is 
claimed as a dependent. §1-207. If the child, however, 
is not a dependent of the council member, the child 
would not be included. §2.2-3101. 

As this definition demonstrates, if a council mem-
ber’s wife has a personal interest in a business that 
would like to contract with the city, the contract is 
prohibited even though the husband/council member 
has no involvement. 

Personal Interest in a transaction.   A personal inter-
est exists when an officer or employee or immediate 
family member has a personal interest in property or a 
business and such property or business is:

The subject of the transaction
May realize a reasonable foreseeable direct or indi-

rect benefit or detriment as a result of the action of the 
agency considering the transaction.

A personal interest in a transaction does not exist 
when:

An elected member of a local governing body serves 
without renumeration as a member of the board of 
trustees of a not-for-profit and the member and his im-
mediate family have no personal interest in the entity.

An officer, employee, or elected member of a local 
governing body is appointed by such local governing 
body to serve on a governmental agency and the per-
sonal interest in the transaction is the result of benefits 
provided to the member or his immediate family.  

Personal interest in a contract. If the council 
member’s involvement meets any one of the six defini-
tions of a personal interest, the next step is determining 
whether the council member has a personal interest in 
the contract in question. According to the act’s defini-
tion, a council member has a personal interest in a 
contract with a government agency if that contract is 
with the council member or with a business in which he 
or she has a personal interest. § 2.2-3101.

In looking at a particular contract, it is important 
to ask: Is a council member or his or her business or 
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property involved in the contract? Does that council 
member have a personal interest as defined by the act? 
The answers to these questions will help determine if 
the contract is prohibited under the act.

Situations where conflicts do not exist
Some situations are not conflicts under the act, even 

though they may appear to be natural conflicts. If a 
council member earns a total salary of $4,900 per year 
from a business, that business could contract with the 
locality, because the council member would not have 
a personal interest for purposes of the act. As the third 
test of the definition – salary – shows, the salary must 
exceed $5,000 per year to create a personal interest.

If a council member serves on the board of a 
charitable entity, the fact that the council member has 
divided loyalties between the charity and the locality 
does not create a conflict, so long as the council mem-
ber serves on the charity’s board for less than $5,000 
compensation per year and doesn’t own as much as 
three percent of the equity of the charity. § 2.2-3101.

Exceptions to conflicts in contracts
The act sets out a series of exceptions to the prohibi-

tions on having a personal interest in a contract. 

Exceptions that apply only to council members. 
Several exceptions are specific to council members. 

§ 2.2-3107(B).
1. A council member may be an employee of the 

locality as long as the employment predates his ap-
pointment or election to council. § 2.2-3107(B)(1). This 
section of the law also allows employment and service 
on council if the person was an employee prior to July 
1, 1983, whether or not he or she was elected to council 
after that date. Even though the law allows employees 
to serve on council, some localities have banned the 
practice by charter or by local regulation. If an employ-
ee serves on council, he or she will regularly run into 
potential conflicts when matters come before council 
that affect his or her employment, such as salary and 
discipline decisions. (This issue is explored below, in 
the section on personal interests in a transaction).

2. A council member may buy goods or services 
from his or her locality as long as they are made avail-
able to the public at uniform prices. § 2.2-3107(B)(2).

3. A council member may sell goods to his or her 
locality if the following conditions are met, pursuant to 
§ 2.2-3107(B)(3):

a. The purchase must be made by competitive 

sealed bidding. Therefore, if the contract is being 
solicited by a request for proposals, the exception 
doesn’t apply.

b. The contract must be for goods, not services, and 
the need for the goods must have been estab-
lished prior to the person’s coming on council. 
An example is if the city needs a tractor, if a 
council member has a tractor dealership, and if 
the city had bought tractors prior to the council 
member’s election, the dealership could continue 
to bid on the contract. 

c. The council member who wants to sell to the 
locality must play no role in preparing the speci-
fications for the purchase.

d. The remaining members of council must pass a 
resolution in writing that the council member’s 
bidding on the contract is in the public interest.

Note: this exception does not apply to providing 
services, rather only goods. For example, a council 
member who is an accountant could not provide audit-
ing services to his or her town or city.

Eight exceptions that apply to all local 
government officials and employees. 

The following eight exceptions to the prohibition on 
having a personal interest in a contract apply not only 
to council members, but to all other local government 
officials and employees as well. § 2.2-3110(A).

1. Any sale, lease, or exchange of real property 
between a council member and his or her locality is 
allowed as long as the council member doesn’t partici-
pate in the deal on behalf of council, and the fact that 
the member wasn’t involved is recorded in the public 
record of the government involved in the transaction. 
The reason for this exception is that each parcel of real 
estate is deemed to be unique. If a city needs a certain 
lot or parcel, the fact that a council member owns it 
should not prohibit the purchase by the city. § 2.2-
3110(A)(1).

2. The prohibition does not apply to contracts for 
the publication of official notices, presumably so that 
the local newspaper may be used for ads required by 
state law even when a council member is an owner or 
employee of that paper. This is a balancing of needs: 
the state code requires many notices to be run in the 
local paper. Without this exception, those requirements 
could not be met. § 2.2-3110(A)(2).

3. For towns and cities with a population under 
10,000 Michelle does this apply to counties as well?, 
contracts between a council member and his or her 
locality are allowed, despite the general prohibition, 
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if the total of those contracts does not exceed $10,000 
per year. Further, contracts up to $25,000 are allowed 
if the contract is awarded by competitive sealed bid-
ding. This higher level only applies if the public official 
has filed a statement of economic interests form. Every 
council member in a locality with a population greater 
than 3,500 must file that form, so the requirement does 
not create an added obligation, unless the locality has a 
population of less than 3,500 § 2.2-3110(A)(3).   

4. If the sole personal interest the council member 
has in the contract is his or her employment by the con-
tracting business and has an annual salary exceeding 
$10,000, the business may contract with the locality. 
For this exception to apply, the council member and 
members of his or her immediate family must have no 
authority to participate in the deal, and must not par-
ticipate in the deal. Further, the council member must 
not participate in the deal on behalf of the locality. A 
typical example is a contract with a large engineering 
firm that is the council member’s employer. § 2.2-
3110(A)(4).

5. If the council member is employed by a public 
service corporation, a bank, a savings and loan asso-
ciation, or a public utility, and if he or she disqualifies 
himself from participating on behalf of the city or town 
and does not participate for his or her locality, then the 
utility, bank, etc., may contract with the locality. § 2.2-
3110(A)(6).

6. The prohibition does not apply to contracts for 
goods or services below $500. But if a locality normally 
purchased paper on an annual contract, for example, 
could it split up a year’s worth of paper contracts so 
that each is less than $500? While the section is silent 
on splitting up a larger contract to meet this exception, 
the consensus is that this circumvention would violate 
the law.   § 2.2-3110(A)(7).

7. Program grants made to a council member are 
allowed if the rates or amounts paid to all qualified 
applicants are uniform and are established solely by the 
agency administering the grants. § 2.2-3110(A)(8).

8. If the spouse of a council member is employed by 
the locality, the personal interest prohibition does not 
apply if the spouse was employed by the agency five 
or more years prior to marrying the council member. 
§ 2.2-3110(A)(9).  If one spouse is the supervisor of the 
other spouse, the conflict does not exist if the subordi-
nate spouse earns less than $35,000 per year. § 2.2-
3110(B).

III. Council member’s participation 
as public official
Personal interest in a transaction

The rule concerning a personal interest in a trans-
action sets out the level of involvement a council 
member may have in an item being considered by his 
or her council (the transaction) that involves his or her 
business, property, or other personal financial interest.  
§ 2.2-3112.

As with a personal interest in a contract, the first 
step is to determine whether the council member has a 
personal interest in the transaction. The same defini-
tion of a personal interest is used in the transactions 
provisions as in the contracts provisions, but the defini-
tion of personal interest in a transaction goes beyond 
the definition of a personal interest in a contract.

Definition of transaction & personal interest in 
a transaction

Transaction. In the context of a city or town 
council, a transaction is defined as any matter consid-
ered by the council, a council committee or subcom-
mittee, or any department, agency, or board of the 
locality, if any official action is taken or is being con-
templated. § 2.2-3101.

Personal interest in a transaction. This term 
is broadly defined as a personal interest of a council 
member “in any matter considered by his [locality]”.    
§ 2.2-3101. Specifically, a personal interest in a transac-
tion exists if a council member or immediate family 
member has a personal interest (as defined in Part II) 
in property, business, or governmental agency – or rep-
resents/provides services to any individual or business 
property – and the property, business, or represented/
served individual or business either (1) is the subject of 
the transaction, or (2) may realize a reasonably foresee-
able benefit or detriment as the result of the transaction. 

A typical example of representing or servicing an 
individual or business is where the council member is 
an accountant and his or her accounting firm handles 
the books of the business that is the subject of the trans-
action. Another common example is where the council 
member or spouse is a principal in an engineering 
firm that represents an applicant for a land-use permit 
before council. In these cases, the council member may 
well have a personal interest in the transaction unless 
he or she is not directly involved in the representation. 
An example of a reasonably foreseeable benefit is a 
council member who loaned $100,000 to a developer, 
and the developer needs a rezoning to repay the loan.
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In practice, if a matter comes before council or a 
council committee or involves any department of the 
locality, and a council member has a personal interest 
in the subject matter or represents the business in-
volved, the council member must then follow the act’s 
requirements for his or her participation in § 2.2-3112 
(discussed below in “Levels of transactions” section).

Exceptions and limitation on conflicts
A personal interest in a transaction does not exist 

if the council member serves on a not-for-profit board 
without pay and neither the council member nor his 
immediate family has a personal interest in the not-for-
profit organization. (Definition of personal interest in 
§2.2-3101.)

No conflict exists if an employee or council member 
of a locality is appointed by his locality to an ex-officio 
role in a governmental agency and the conflict exists 
solely due to the employment with the locality or the 
employment by the locality is of his or her spouse. See 
the definition of “personal interest in a transaction” in 
§ 2.2-3101. 

The act provides in § 2.2-3112(C) that if an em-
ployee, but not a council member, is disqualified from 
participating in the transaction, the employee may still 
represent his private interests before council as long as 
he isn’t paid for the representation and discloses the 
nature of his interest.  This appears to not apply to 
council members.  

Other employees
Section 2.2-3109 sets out the rules for other govern-

ment employees having a personal interest in a transac-
tion. The section also contains a list of exceptions that 
apply to the employees of the government agencies in 
the locality. Those rules and exceptions do not apply to 
council members. For example, an employee’s spouse 
may contract with the locality to provide services (for 
example, accounting) if certain conditions are met. In 
contrast, a council member’s spouse could not provide 
services to the locality. 

Levels of transactions
The fact that a council member has a personal 

interest in a transaction before council does not always 
require the member to disqualify himself. The act’s 
requirements for participation, if a personal interest in 
the transaction does exist, set out three levels of trans-
actions. § 2.2-3112(B).

1. If the council member is in a firm that represents 
the subject of the transaction, but the council member 
does not personally represent the subject in the transac-

tion, he may participate in the council discussion pro-
vided he complies with the declaration requirements of 
§ 2.2-3114(G) or §2.2-3115(I).

2. If the transaction affects a business, profession, 
occupation or group of three or more members to 
which the council member belongs, he may participate 
in the transaction only if he completes a disclosure 
form, described in the “Disclosures” section, below.      
§ 2.2-3112(A)(2). For example, if a council votes on the 
tax rate for professionals, and if the council member is 
an attorney, that puts him in the subject group affected 
by the professional license tax. If a town only has two 
attorneys, then the council member/attorney must 
disqualify himself from participating. 

3. If the transaction affects the public generally, the 
council member may participate. A council member 
may obviously vote on raising taxes, even though it 
affects him, because it affects the public generally. In 
comparing items 2 and 3, many transactions are con-
sidered to affect the public generally, even though not 
every member of the public is affected. For example, 
the real estate tax applies only to property owners, but 
it is considered to affect the general public.

Additional exception
Disqualification under the provisions of this sec-

tion shall not prevent any employee having a personal 
interest in a transaction in which his agency is involved 
from representing himself or a member of his immedi-
ate family in such transaction provided he does not re-
ceive compensation for such representation and provid-
ed he complies with the disqualification and relevant 
disclosure requirements of this chapter. §2.2-3112(C)

Effects of disqualification
If a council member is disqualified from partici-

pating in a transaction, the act requires several steps.         
§ 2.2-3112:

1. The council member must disclose the inter-
est that causes the disqualification by identifying the 
interest, including the name and address of the business 
or property. § 2.2-3115(F). The disclosure is required 
whether the law requires the disqualification or the 
council member voluntarily disqualifies himself out of 
an abundance of caution.

2. The disclosure must be kept for five years in the 
records of the council.

3. The council member may not vote on or partici-
pate in discussion on the transaction.

4. The council member may not attend the portion of 
a closed meeting at which the transaction is discussed.
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5. The council member may not discuss the matter 
with anyone in the government who is involved in the 
transaction.

Savings clause for certain votes
The act contains a savings clause to allow the 

remainder of council to vote when disqualifications rob 
the council of a quorum.  § 2.2-3112(D). The council 
may act by a vote of the majority of the members who 
are not disqualified. Even if the law requires a unani-
mous vote, it only has to be by a unanimous vote of 
the remaining members. This provision would seem 
to have the odd result of having only one member of a 
seven-member council being able to vote and fulfill a 
unanimous vote requirement if the other six members 
are disqualified. One caution - the Virginia Supreme 
Court has ruled that when there are disqualifica-
tions, and a vote is taken using this savings clause, the 
disqualified members of council must remain present to 
maintain a quorum. If the disqualified members leave 
the meeting, such that fewer members are present than 
required for a quorum – a quorum does not exist and 
the meeting cannot continue. See Jakabcin v. Front Royal, 
271 Va. 660, 628 S.E.2d 319 (2006).

In order for a council to sell or lease land, state 
law requires a three-fourths vote of all people elected 
to council. § 15.2-2100. Section 2.2-3112(D) of the act 
allows a council member to participate in a discussion 
and vote on a proposed sale, lease, or similar convey-
ance of land if the council member’s only personal 
interest in that sale is that he or she is employed by the 
business that is subject to the contract for the deal.

The Council issued a formal advisory opinion 
(2017-F-001) on April 24, 2017 confirming the quorum 
analysis above.  The opinion states in part that when 5 
members of a 7 member board are in attendance and 2 
persons are disqualified from voting, the 3 remaining 
members do constitute a quorum.  

IV. Disclosures
If a transaction affects a group, business, or profes-

sion as set forth in § 2.2-3112(B)(1), the council member 
may participate if he or she certifies in good faith that 
he or she can represent the public fairly in the transac-
tion. The certification requires the following elements 
to be identified - § 2.2-3115(H):

• The transaction;
• The nature of the personal interest; 
• The fact that the council member is a member of a 

business, profession, occupation, or group that will 

be affected by the transaction; 
• A statement that the council member is able to 

participate fairly, objectively, and in the public 
interest.

If the transaction affects a party that the council 
member’s firm represents but the council member is not 
involved on behalf of the firm, the disclosure requires 
the following elements to be identified. § 2.2-3115(I):

• The transaction involved;
• The fact that a party to the transaction is a client 

of the council member’s firm;
• A statement that the council member does not 

personally represent the client;
• A statement that the council member is able to 

participate fairly, objectively, and in the public 
interest.

If either of the disclosures is required, the council 
member must either state it at the meeting or file it in 
writing with the clerk of the council or the manager. A 
written disclosure should be filed before the meeting or, 
if that is impracticable, by the end of the following busi-
ness day. § 2.2-3115(H), (I). In both cases, the disclosure 
is public. VML advises that it is better to make the 
disclosure at the meeting, orally, when the transaction 
is on the floor. This conveys a clearer message of self-
disqualification than simply handing the clerk a written 
statement. If the disqualification is handed in with no 
announcement, the public will wonder why the council 
member is not participating. 

Annual Statement of Economic Interests Form
In addition to transaction-specific disclosures, each 

council member of every locality with a population of 
more than 3,500 must file the Statement of Economic 
Interests form. The Statement of Economic Interests 
form must be filed annually on or before February 1st 
for the preceding calendar year.  § 2.2-3115. 

This disclosure form will be created and provided 
by the COIA Council at least 30 days prior to the filing 
deadline.  Forms should be disseminated by the clerks 
of the governing body not less than 20 days prior to the 
filing deadline.  The forms shall be available for review 
by the public no later than six weeks after the deadline 
and shall be maintained for five years in the Clerk’s 
Office. §2.2-3115.

The forms for 2017 and forward will require the 
disclosure of holdings in excess of $5,000, which is a 
change from the previous bar of $10,000. § 2.2-3117. 

Council may also adopt an ordinance to require 
other officials and employees of the locality to file the 
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Statement of Economic Interests form pursuant to        
§ 2.2-3115(A). Typically, this provision is used for the 
city or town manager, but some localities require nu-
merous employees to file the form. Many localities do 
not require the form to be completed by any employees 
or officials. The council may require boards, commis-
sions and councils it appoints to file a disclosure form.  
§ 2.2-3115(B). 

In localities with a population of more than 3,500, 
members of planning commissions, boards of zoning 
appeals, real estate assessors, and all county, city and 
town managers must file an annual disclosure of real 
estate interests. § 2.2-3115(G).  That form is also created 
by the COIA council and filed with your local clerk.  

The section clarifies that no local government of-
ficer or employee is required to file any disclosures not 
specifically mentioned in the article. § 2.2-3115(C).

Who Files Disclosure Form
The following local officials are required to file the 

State and Local Statement of Economic Interests per    
§ 2.2-3115:

• Members of the Board of Supervisors
• Members of the City Council
• Members of the Town Council, if the town has a 

population exceeding 3,500
• Members of the school board
• Persons holding positions of trust appointed or em-

ployed by the governing body if the governing body 
has passed an ordinance requiring them to file

• Persons holding positions of trust appointed or 
employed by school board if the school board has 
adopted a policy requiring them to file

• Members of the governing body of any entity 
established in a county or city with the power to 
issue bonds or expend funds in excess of $10,000 
in any fiscal year if the governing body of the ap-
pointing jurisdiction has required them to submit 
this form

 The following local officials are required to file the 
Financial Disclosure Statement per § 2.2-3115:

Members of the governing body of any entity estab-
lished in a county or city with the power to issue bonds 
or expend funds in excess of $10,000 in any fiscal year 
unless required to file the Statement of Economic Inter-
est by the governing body of the appointing jurisdiction

Non-salaried citizen members of local boards, 
commissions, and councils if the governing body has 
designated them to file.

The following local officials are required to file the 
Real Estate Disclosure per § 2.2-3115 (G):

• Planning commission members
• Members of board of zoning appeals
• Real estate assessors
• County, city, or town managers
• Executive officers 
• V. Enforcement & penalties
• Criminal penalties
A knowing violation of the Conflict of Interests Act 

is a Class 1 misdemeanor.  § 2.2-3120. According to the 
act, a violation is knowingly made if the council mem-
ber acts or refuses to act when he or she knows that the 
behavior is either prohibited or required by the act. An 
example of refusing to do a required act is a council 
member’s refusal to file a disclosure form. A Class 1 
misdemeanor has maximum penalties of one year in 
jail and a fine of $2,500.

Three other specific violations have a lower, Class 3 
penalty (maximum $500 fine):

1. Failure to disqualify oneself from participating in 
a transaction.

2. Failure to file the annual statement of economic 
interests.

3. Failure to file the statement of reasons for a dis-
qualification in a transaction.

Additional consequences for violations
In addition to the criminal consequences, if the 

council member is found guilty of a knowing violation, 
he is also guilty of malfeasance in office. In that case, 
the judge may order the forfeiture of the seat on coun-
cil. § 2.2-3122.

If a contract is entered into that involves either a 
council member who violated the general provisions 
relating to bribes, insider information, undue influence 
(§ 2.2-3103), or a violation of the “personal interest in 
a contract” provisions, the council may rescind the 
contract. In that case, an innocent contractor may not 
receive the profits he anticipated in the deal. The con-
tractor may only receive a “reasonable value,” accord-
ing to § 2.2-3123.

If a council action involves a violation of “the per-
sonal interest in a transaction” requirements, the coun-
cil may rescind the award of a contract or other deci-
sion made. In rescinding the action, the best interests of 
the locality and any third parties are to be considered. 
§ 2.2-3112(C).

If a council member violates any of the general 
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provisions related to bribes and other illegal behavior, 
the personal interest in a contract rules, or the per-
sonal interest in a transaction rules, any value he or she 
received from the deal is to be forfeited. If the violation 
was knowingly made, the judge may impose a civil pen-
alty equal to the value received.

If your form is filed after the deadline, there is an 
additional civil penalty of $250, §2.2-3124.  §30-356.2 
outlines the process for an extension in filing the form 
as well as the penalty if the Clerk failed to provide the 
form in a timely manner.  First, the person shall receive 
a five-day extension upon request.  In addition, the 
governing body of the locality responsible for providing 
the disclosure form will be assessed a civil penalty of 
$250.

Advisory opinions
Commonwealth’s Attorney

The law allows some opportunity to avoid a prob-
lem by setting up a process to obtain an opinion on 
the matter from the commonwealth’s attorney. The 
commonwealth’s attorney is required by § 2.2-3126(B) 
to issue advisory opinions on whether a fact situation 
constitutes a violation. In addition to issuing opinions, 
the commonwealth’s attorney is charged with prosecut-
ing violations of the act by local officials. If the council 
member gives the attorney all the relevant facts and the 
attorney determines that the council member is allowed 
by law to participate, the council member may not be 
prosecuted for doing so. § 2.2-3121(B). If the common-
wealth’s attorney opines that the facts constitute a viola-
tion, the council member then may ask the attorney 
general to review and override the local opinion. The 
law makes it clear that any written opinions are public 
records and are therefore available to the public. 

If the council member obtains a written opinion 
from the town or city attorney, based on full disclosure 
of the facts, the council member may introduce the 
favorable opinion from the attorney upon challenge. § 
2.2-3121(C).

The Virginia Conflict of Interest and Ethics 
Advisory Council

The Council is another resource that may be used 
to help localities and local officials avoid a conflicts 
or ethics problem. It has the authority to issue formal 
advisory opinions and guidelines relating to ethics and 
conflicts issues. Additionally, the Council may issue 
informal advice in response to specific questions. Any 
informal advice issued by the Council is protected by 

attorney-client privilege and is exempt from disclosure 
under the Virginia Freedom of Information Act.  How-
ever, if the recipient invokes the immunity provisions of 
§2.2-3121 or §30-124, the record of the request and the 
informal advice shall be deemed to be a public record 
and released upon request. 

Formal advisory opinions can be found on the 
COIA Council website as well as the adopted proce-
dures for issuing formal advisory opinions.  Formal 
opinions are public records, but may have some per-
sonal information redacted.    

Another role of the Council is to provide trainings 
on ethics and conflicts issues. These training seminars 
will be available to lobbyists, state and local govern-
ment officers and employees, legislators, and other in-
terested persons.  The materials for these trainings will 
also be published by the Council, when it is deemed 
appropriate. § 30-356(7), (9).

What’s New
In the 2017 session, the Conflict of Interest and 

Ethics Advisory Council proposed 28 changes to the 
COIA statutes.  While the concern continues to be 
state officials, some of the changes have a significant 
impact on local officials as well.  Here are the major 
changes affecting local government.  

The good news is that the filing deadline has been 
extended; the deadline to file will be February 1st 
instead of January 15th.  (§2.2-3118.2, §2.2-3116, §30-
111.1)  Another change that was made regarding filing 
was that if a filer misses the deadline because he was 
denied access to the form, he is granted an extension of 
5 days upon request and the late penalty becomes the 
responsibility of the clerk.  

All of the forms will be made public 6 weeks after 
the filing deadline.  The changes to §2.2-3115( J) allow 
for a Clerk to redact personal information: home ad-
dress (unless the form is the disclosure of real estate) 
phone number and signature.  This is to protect the 
filer.  

Definition of “Gift” - §30-101 and §2.2-3101 contin-
ues to be modified:  

A modification of the definition was made in subsec-
tion (xiii) of both code sections allowing for officials to 
accept a meal when in attendance at an official meeting. 

Currently the definition of gift excludes: any gift 
related to your private profession occupation; the code 
was amended this year to also include any gift related 
to volunteer service. §30-101(v) and §2.2-3101(v).

An exclusion for gifts from relatives or personal 
friends. §2.2-3101(xvi)
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A modification of the definition of “relative” within 
the gift code sections §30-101, §2.2-3101, was made to 
include son and daughters in law.  

The Definition of “Widely attended event” was also 
modified (§2.2-419, §30-103.1 and §2.2-3103.1)  

The criteria which required the individuals to 
“share a common interest” was removed.  The effect 
of this is that a filer can no longer accept tickets to a 
sporting event merely because more than 25 people 
would be likely attending the event.  However, it still al-
lows local officials to attend, at the expense of a lobbyist 
or a contractor and outside the $100 gift cap, events 
such a Rotary or a holiday reception by the Chamber 
of Commerce.  

The definition of “Immunity” was also clarified 
under §30-124 and §2.2-3121; if the Virginia Conflict of 
Interest and Ethics Advisory Council provides written 
informal advice to a councilmember, officer or employ-
ee; he cannot be prosecuted for good faith reliance on 
that advice, if there was a full disclosure of the facts.  

For purposes of defining “personal interest” the 
limit of $10,000 was lowered to $5,000 but two code 
sections §2.2-3110(A)(3) relating to local government 
and §30-106(A)(3) were overlooked.  §2.2-3110(A)(3) 
states that contracts between the government or school 
board and an officer or an employee of a town or city 
with a population of less than 10,000 are not prohibited 
if the total of such contracts does not exceed $10,000 
per year or is less than $25,000 if awarded on a sealed 
bid basis.  

Summary
The Virginia Conflict of Interests Act determines 

when public officials and employees have personal 
interests in public contracts or transactions, if those in-
terests conflict with the officials’ public duties, and how 
the officials should behave considering such a conflict. 
COIA dictates the terms for disclosure of public offi-
cials’ personal and financial interests and decides when 
officials must disqualify themselves. The act also defines 
other types of conduct that public officials are prohib-
ited from engaging in, including involvement in bribery, 
undue influence, and use of insider information. 

Council members should always consult COIA’s 
specific language if a potential conflict may arise. 
Inquiries about specific contracts or transactions should 
be directed to the relevant city or town attorney. We 
hope this guide will help local governments become 
better informed of their responsibilities if a prospective 
conflict may occur. 
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Article 1. General Provisions.
§ 2.2-3100. Policy; application; construction.

The General Assembly, recognizing that our 
system of representative government is dependent in 
part upon (i) citizen legislative members represent-
ing fully the public in the legislative process and (ii) its 
citizens maintaining the highest trust in their public 
officers and employees, finds and declares that the 
citizens are entitled to be assured that the judgment of 
public officers and employees will be guided by a law 
that defines and prohibits inappropriate conflicts and 
requires disclosure of economic interests. To that end 
and for the purpose of establishing a single body of law 
applicable to all state and local government officers 
and employees on the subject of conflict of interests, the 
General Assembly enacts this State and Local Govern-
ment Conflict of Interests Act so that the standards of 
conduct for such officers and employees may be uni-
form throughout the Commonwealth.

This chapter shall supersede all general and special 
acts and charter provisions which purport to deal with 
matters covered by this chapter except that the provisions 
of §§ 15.2-852, 15.2-2287, 15.2-2287.1, and 15.2-2289 and 
ordinances adopted pursuant thereto shall remain in force 
and effect. The provisions of this chapter shall be supple-
mented but not superseded by the provisions on ethics 
in public contracting in Article 6 (§ 2.2-4367 et seq.) of 
Chapter 43 of this title and ordinances adopted pursuant 
to § 2.2-3104.2 regulating receipt of gifts.

The provisions of this chapter do not preclude 
prosecution for any violation of any criminal law of 
the Commonwealth, including Articles 2 (Bribery and 
Related Offenses, § 18.2-438 et seq.) and 3 (Bribery of 
Public Servants and Party Officials, § 18.2-446 et seq.) 
of Chapter 10 of Title 18.2, and do not constitute a 
defense to any prosecution for such a violation.

This chapter shall be liberally construed to accom-
plish its purpose.

§ 2.2-3100.1. Copy of chapter; review by 
officers and employees.

Any person required to file a disclosure statement 
of personal interests pursuant to subsections A or B of § 
2.2-3114, subsections A or B of § 2.2-3115 or § 2.2-3116 
shall be furnished by the public body’s administrator 
a copy of this chapter within two weeks following the 
person’s election, reelection, employment, appointment 
or reappointment.

All officers and employees shall read and familiarize 
themselves with the provisions of this chapter.

§ 2.2-3101. Definitions.
As used in this chapter, unless the context requires a 

different meaning:
“Advisory agency” means any board, commission, 

committee or post which does not exercise any sover-
eign power or duty, but is appointed by a governmental 
agency or officer or is created by law for the purpose 
of making studies or recommendations, or advising or 
consulting with a governmental agency.

“Affiliated business entity relationship” means a 
relationship, other than a parent-subsidiary relation-
ship, that exists when (i) one business entity has a 
controlling ownership interest in the other business 
entity, (ii) a controlling owner in one entity is also a 
controlling owner in the other entity, or (iii) there is 
shared management or control between the business 
entities. Factors that may be considered in determining 
the existence of an affiliated business entity relationship 
include that the same person or substantially the same 
person owns or manages the two entities, there are 
common or commingled funds or assets, the business 
entities share the use of the same offices or employees, 
or otherwise share activities, resources or personnel on 
a regular basis, or there is otherwise a close working 
relationship between the entities.

“Business” means a corporation, partnership, sole 
proprietorship, firm, enterprise, franchise, association, 
trust or foundation, or any other individual or entity 
carrying on a business or profession, whether or not for 
profit.

“Candidate” means a person who seeks or cam-
paigns for an office of the Commonwealth or one of its 
governmental units in a general, primary, or special 
election and who is qualified to have his name placed 
on the ballot for the office. The candidate shall become 
subject to the provisions of this chapter upon the filing 
of a statement of qualification pursuant to § 24.2-501. 
The State Board of Elections or general registrar shall 
notify each such candidate of the provisions of this 
chapter. Notification made by the general registrar 
shall consist of information developed by the State 
Board of Elections.

“Contract” means any agreement to which a 
governmental agency is a party, or any agreement on 
behalf of a governmental agency that involves the pay-
ment of money appropriated by the General Assembly 
or a political subdivision, whether or not such agree-
ment is executed in the name of the Commonwealth, or 
some political subdivision thereof. “Contract” includes 
a subcontract only when the contract of which it is a 
part is with the officer’s or employee’s own governmen-
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tal agency.
“Council” means the Virginia Conflict of Interest 

and Ethics Advisory Council established in § 30-355.
“Employee” means all persons employed by a gov-

ernmental or advisory agency, unless otherwise limited 
by the context of its use.

“Financial institution” means any bank, trust com-
pany, savings institution, industrial loan association, 
consumer finance company, credit union, broker-dealer 
as defined in subsection A of § 13.1-501, or invest-
ment company or advisor registered under the federal 
Investment Advisors Act or Investment Company Act 
of 1940.

“Gift” means any gratuity, favor, discount, enter-
tainment, hospitality, loan, forbearance, or other item 
having monetary value. It includes services as well as 
gifts of transportation, local travel, lodgings and meals, 
whether provided in-kind, by purchase of a ticket, pay-
ment in advance or reimbursement after the expense 
has been incurred. “Gift” does not include (i) any offer 
of a ticket, coupon, or other admission or pass unless 
the ticket, coupon, admission, or pass is used; (ii) hon-
orary degrees; (iii) any athletic, merit, or need-based 
scholarship or any other financial aid awarded by a 
public or private school, institution of higher education, 
or other educational program pursuant to such school, 
institution, or program’s financial aid standards and 
procedures applicable to the general public; (iv) a cam-
paign contribution properly received and reported pur-
suant to Chapter 9.3 (§ 24.2-945 et seq.) of Title 24.2; (v) 
any gift related to the private profession or occupation 
or volunteer service of an officer or employee or of a 
member of his immediate family; (vi) food or beverages 
consumed while attending an event at which the filer is 
performing official duties related to his public service; 
(vii) food and beverages received at or registration 
or attendance fees waived for any event at which the 
filer is a featured speaker, presenter, or lecturer; (viii) 
unsolicited awards of appreciation or recognition in the 
form of a plaque, trophy, wall memento, or similar item 
that is given in recognition of public, civic, charitable, 
or professional service; (ix) a devise or inheritance; (x) 
travel disclosed pursuant to the Campaign Finance 
Disclosure Act (§ 24.2-945 et seq.); (xi) travel paid for or 
provided by the government of the United States, any 
of its territories, or any state or any political subdivision 
of such state; (xii) travel provided to facilitate atten-
dance by a legislator at a regular or special session of 
the General Assembly, a meeting of a legislative com-
mittee or commission, or a national conference where 
attendance is approved by the House Committee on 

Rules or its Chairman or the Senate Committee on 
Rules or its Chairman; (xiii) travel related to an of-
ficial meeting of, or any meal provided for attendance 
at such meeting by, the Commonwealth, its political 
subdivisions, or any board, commission, authority, or 
other entity, or any charitable organization established 
pursuant to § 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code 
affiliated with such entity, to which such person has 
been appointed or elected or is a member by virtue of 
his office or employment; (xiv) gifts with a value of less 
than $20; (xv) attendance at a reception or similar func-
tion where food, such as hors d’oeuvres, and beverages 
that can be conveniently consumed by a person while 
standing or walking are offered; or (xvi) gifts from rela-
tives or personal friends. For the purpose of this defini-
tion, “relative” means the donee’s spouse, child, uncle, 
aunt, niece, nephew, or first cousin; a person to whom 
the donee is engaged to be married; the donee’s or 
his spouse’s parent, grandparent, grandchild, brother, 
sister, step-parent, step-grandparent, step-grandchild, 
step-brother, or step-sister; or the donee’s brother’s or 
sister’s spouse or the donee’s son-in-law or daughter-
in-law. For the purpose of this definition, “personal 
friend” does not include any person that the filer knows 
or has reason to know is (a) a lobbyist registered pursu-
ant to Article 3 (§ 2.2-418 et seq.) of Chapter 4 of Title 
2.2; (b) a lobbyist’s principal as defined in § 2.2-419; (c) 
for an officer or employee of a local governmental or 
advisory agency, a person, organization, or business 
who is a party to or is seeking to become a party to a 
contract with the local agency of which he is an officer 
or an employee; or (d) for an officer or employee of a 
state governmental or advisory agency, a person, orga-
nization, or business who is a party to or is seeking to 
become a party to a contract with the Commonwealth. 
For purposes of this definition, “person, organization, 
or business” includes individuals who are officers, di-
rectors, or owners of or who have a controlling owner-
ship interest in such organization or business.

“Governmental agency” means each component 
part of the legislative, executive or judicial branches 
of state and local government, including each office, 
department, authority, post, commission, committee, 
and each institution or board created by law to exercise 
some regulatory or sovereign power or duty as distin-
guished from purely advisory powers or duties. Corpo-
rations organized or controlled by the Virginia Retire-
ment System are “governmental agencies” for purposes 
of this chapter.

“Immediate family” means (i) a spouse and (ii) any 
other person who resides in the same household as the 
officer or employee and who is a dependent of the of-
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ficer or employee.
“Officer” means any person appointed or elected to 

any governmental or advisory agency including local 
school boards, whether or not he receives compensa-
tion or other emolument of office. Unless the context 
requires otherwise, “officer” includes members of the 
judiciary.

“Parent-subsidiary relationship” means a rela-
tionship that exists when one corporation directly or 
indirectly owns shares possessing more than 50 percent 
of the voting power of another corporation.

“Personal interest” means a financial benefit or 
liability accruing to an officer or employee or to a 
member of his immediate family. Such interest shall 
exist by reason of (i) ownership in a business if the 
ownership interest exceeds three percent of the total 
equity of the business; (ii) annual income that exceeds, 
or may reasonably be anticipated to exceed, $5,000 
from ownership in real or personal property or a busi-
ness; (iii) salary, other compensation, fringe benefits, or 
benefits from the use of property, or any combination 
thereof, paid or provided by a business or governmental 
agency that exceeds, or may reasonably be anticipated 
to exceed, $5,000 annually; (iv) ownership of real or 
personal property if the interest exceeds $5,000 in 
value and excluding ownership in a business, income, 
or salary, other compensation, fringe benefits or ben-
efits from the use of property; (v) personal liability in-
curred or assumed on behalf of a business if the liability 
exceeds three percent of the asset value of the business; 
or (vi) an option for ownership of a business or real or 
personal property if the ownership interest will consist 
of clause (i) or (iv). 

“Personal interest in a contract” means a personal 
interest that an officer or employee has in a contract 
with a governmental agency, whether due to his being 
a party to the contract or due to a personal interest in a 
business that is a party to the contract.

“Personal interest in a transaction” means a per-
sonal interest of an officer or employee in any matter 
considered by his agency. Such personal interest exists 
when an officer or employee or a member of his im-
mediate family has a personal interest in property or 
a business or governmental agency, or represents or 
provides services to any individual or business and such 
property, business or represented or served individual 
or business (i) is the subject of the transaction or (ii) 
may realize a reasonably foreseeable direct or indirect 
benefit or detriment as a result of the action of the 
agency considering the transaction. Notwithstanding 
the above, such personal interest in a transaction shall 

not be deemed to exist where (a) an elected member of 
a local governing body serves without remuneration 
as a member of the board of trustees of a not-for-profit 
entity and such elected member or member of his 
immediate family has no personal interest related to 
the not-for-profit entity or (b) an officer, employee, or 
elected member of a local governing body is appointed 
by such local governing body to serve on a governmen-
tal agency, or an officer, employee, or elected member 
of a separate local governmental agency formed by a 
local governing body is appointed to serve on a govern-
mental agency, and the personal interest in the trans-
action of the governmental agency is the result of the 
salary, other compensation, fringe benefits, or benefits 
provided by the local governing body or the separate 
governmental agency to the officer, employee, elected 
member, or member of his immediate family.

“State and local government officers and employees” 
shall not include members of the General Assembly.

“State filer” means those officers and employees 
required to file a disclosure statement of their personal 
interests pursuant to subsection A or B of § 2.2-3114.

“Transaction” means any matter considered by any 
governmental or advisory agency, whether in a com-
mittee, subcommittee, or other entity of that agency or 
before the agency itself, on which official action is taken 
or contemplated.

Article 2. Generally Prohibited and 
Unlawful Conduct.
§ 2.2-3102. Application.

This article applies to generally prohibited conduct 
that shall be unlawful and to state and local govern-
ment officers and employees.

§ 2.2-3103. Prohibited conduct.
No officer or employee of a state or local govern-

mental or advisory agency shall:
1. Solicit or accept money or other thing of value 

for services performed within the scope of his 
official duties, except the compensation, expenses 
or other remuneration paid by the agency of 
which he is an officer or employee. This prohibi-
tion shall not apply to the acceptance of special 
benefits that may be authorized by law;

2. Offer or accept any money or other thing of value 
for or in consideration of obtaining employment, 
appointment, or promotion of any person with 
any governmental or advisory agency;
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3. Offer or accept any money or other thing of value 
for or in consideration of the use of his public po-
sition to obtain a contract for any person or busi-
ness with any governmental or advisory agency;

4. Use for his own economic benefit or that of 
another party confidential information that he 
has acquired by reason of his public position and 
which is not available to the public;

5. Accept any money, loan, gift, favor, service, or 
business or professional opportunity that reason-
ably tends to influence him in the performance 
of his official duties. This subdivision shall not 
apply to any political contribution actually used 
for political campaign or constituent service pur-
poses and reported as required by Chapter 9.3 (§ 
24.2-945 et seq.) of Title 24.2;

6. Accept any business or professional opportunity 
when he knows that there is a reasonable likeli-
hood that the opportunity is being afforded him 
to influence him in the performance of his official 
duties;

7. Accept any honoraria for any appearance, 
speech, or article in which the officer or em-
ployee provides expertise or opinions related to 
the performance of his official duties. The term 
“honoraria” shall not include any payment for 
or reimbursement to such person for his actual 
travel, lodging, or subsistence expenses incurred 
in connection with such appearance, speech, or 
article or in the alternative a payment of money 
or anything of value not in excess of the per diem 
deduction allowable under § 162 of the Internal 
Revenue Code, as amended from time to time. 
The prohibition in this subdivision shall apply 
only to the Governor, Lieutenant Governor, 
Attorney General, Governor’s Secretaries, and 
heads of departments of state government;

8. Accept a gift from a person who has interests that 
may be substantially affected by the performance 
of the officer’s or employee’s official duties under 
circumstances where the timing and nature of 
the gift would cause a reasonable person to ques-
tion the officer’s or employee’s impartiality in 
the matter affecting the donor. Violations of this 
subdivision shall not be subject to criminal law 
penalties;

9. Accept gifts from sources on a basis so frequent as 
to raise an appearance of the use of his public of-
fice for private gain. Violations of this subdivision 
shall not be subject to criminal law penalties; or

10. Use his public position to retaliate or threaten to 
retaliate against any person for expressing views 
on matters of public concern or for exercising any 
right that is otherwise protected by law, provided, 
however, that this subdivision shall not restrict 
the authority of any public employer to govern 
conduct of its employees, and to take disciplin-
ary action, in accordance with applicable law, 
and provided further that this subdivision shall 
not limit the authority of a constitutional officer 
to discipline or discharge an employee with or 
without cause.

2.2-3103.1. Certain gifts prohibited.
A. For purposes of this section:
“Person, organization, or business” includes indi-

viduals who are officers, directors, or owners of or who 
have a controlling ownership interest in such organiza-
tion or business.

“Widely attended event” means an event at which 
at least 25 persons have been invited to attend or there 
is a reasonable expectation that at least 25 persons will 
attend the event and the event is open to individuals 
(i) who are members of a public, civic, charitable, or 
professional organization, (ii) who are from a particular 
industry or profession, or (iii) who represent persons 
interested in a particular issue.

B. No officer or employee of a local governmental 
or advisory agency or candidate required to file the 
disclosure form prescribed in § 2.2-3117 or a member 
of his immediate family shall solicit, accept, or receive 
any single gift with a value in excess of $100 or any 
combination of gifts with an aggregate value in excess 
of $100 within any calendar year for himself or a mem-
ber of his immediate family from any person that he or 
a member of his immediate family knows or has reason 
to know is (i) a lobbyist registered pursuant to Article 3 
(§ 2.2-418 et seq.) of Chapter 4; (ii) a lobbyist’s principal 
as defined in § 2.2-419; or (iii) a person, organization, 
or business who is or is seeking to become a party to a 
contract with the local agency of which he is an officer 
or an employee. Gifts with a value of less than $20 are 
not subject to aggregation for purposes of this prohibi-
tion.

C. No officer or employee of a state governmental 
or advisory agency or candidate required to file the 
disclosure form prescribed in § 2.2-3117 or a member 
of his immediate family shall solicit, accept, or receive 
any single gift with a value in excess of $100 or any 
combination of gifts with an aggregate value in excess 
of $100 within any calendar year for himself or a mem-
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ber of his immediate family from any person that he or 
a member of his immediate family knows or has reason 
to know is (i) a lobbyist registered pursuant to Article 3 
(§ 2.2-418 et seq.) of Chapter 4; (ii) a lobbyist’s principal 
as defined in § 2.2-419; or (iii) a person, organization, 
or business who is or is seeking to become a party to 
a contract with the state governmental or advisory 
agency of which he is an officer or an employee or 
over which he has the authority to direct such agency’s 
activities. Gifts with a value of less than $20 are not 
subject to aggregation for purposes of this prohibition.

D. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections B 
and C, such officer, employee, or candidate or a mem-
ber of his immediate family may accept or receive a 
gift of food and beverages, entertainment, or the cost of 
admission with a value in excess of $100 when such gift 
is accepted or received while in attendance at a widely 
attended event and is associated with the event. Such 
gifts shall be reported on the disclosure form prescribed 
in § 2.2-3117.

E. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections 
B and C, such officer or employee or a member of his 
immediate family may accept or receive a gift from 
a foreign dignitary with a value exceeding $100 for 
which the fair market value or a gift of greater or equal 
value has not been provided or exchanged. Such gift 
shall be accepted on behalf of the Commonwealth or 
a locality and archived in accordance with guidelines 
established by the Library of Virginia. Such gift shall 
be disclosed as having been accepted on behalf of the 
Commonwealth or a locality, but the value of such gift 
shall not be required to be disclosed.

F. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections B 
and C, such officer, employee, or candidate or a mem-
ber of his immediate family may accept or receive cer-
tain gifts with a value in excess of $100 from a person 
listed in subsection B or C if such gift was provided to 
such officer, employee, or candidate or a member of his 
immediate family on the basis of a personal friendship. 
Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a person 
listed in subsection B or C may be a personal friend of 
such officer, employee, or candidate or his immediate 
family for purposes of this subsection. In determining 
whether a person listed in subsection B or C is a per-
sonal friend, the following factors shall be considered: 
(i) the circumstances under which the gift was offered; 
(ii) the history of the relationship between the person 
and the donor, including the nature and length of the 
friendship and any previous exchange of gifts between 
them; (iii) to the extent known to the person, whether 
the donor personally paid for the gift or sought a tax 
deduction or business reimbursement for the gift; and 

(iv) whether the donor has given the same or similar 
gifts to other persons required to file the disclosure 
form prescribed in § 2.2-3117 or 30-111.

G. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections 
B and C, such officer, employee, or candidate or a 
member of his immediate family may accept or receive 
gifts of travel, including travel-related transportation, 
lodging, hospitality, food or beverages, or other thing of 
value, with a value in excess of $100 that is paid for or 
provided by a person listed in subsection B or C when 
the officer, employee, or candidate has submitted a 
request for approval of such travel to the Council and 
has received the approval of the Council pursuant to § 
30-356.1. Such gifts shall be reported on the disclosure 
form prescribed in § 2.2-3117.

H. During the pendency of a civil action in any 
state or federal court to which the Commonwealth is 
a party, the Governor or the Attorney General or any 
employee of the Governor or the Attorney General who 
is subject to the provisions of this chapter shall not so-
licit, accept, or receive any gift from any person that he 
knows or has reason to know is a person, organization, 
or business that is a party to such civil action. A person, 
organization, or business that is a party to such civil ac-
tion shall not knowingly give any gift to the Governor 
or the Attorney General or any of their employees who 
are subject to the provisions of this chapter.

I. The $100 limitation imposed in accordance with 
this section shall be adjusted by the Council every five 
years, as of January 1 of that year, in an amount equal 
to the annual increases for that five-year period in the 
United States Average Consumer Price Index for all 
items, all urban consumers (CPI-U), as published by 
the Bureau of Labor Statistics of the U.S. Department 
of Labor, rounded to the nearest whole dollar.

J. The provisions of this section shall not apply to 
any justice of the Supreme Court of Virginia, judge of 
the Court of Appeals of Virginia, judge of any circuit 
court, or judge or substitute judge of any district court. 
However, nothing in this subsection shall be construed 
to authorize the acceptance of any gift if such accep-
tance would constitute a violation of the Canons of 
Judicial Conduct for the State of Virginia.

§ 2.2-3103.2. Return of gifts.
No person shall be in violation of any provision of 

this chapter prohibiting the acceptance of a gift if (i) the 
gift is not used by such person and the gift or its equiva-
lent in money is returned to the donor or delivered to 
a charitable organization within a reasonable period 
of time upon the discovery of the value of the gift and 
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is not claimed as a charitable contribution for federal 
income tax purposes or (ii) consideration is given by the 
donee to the donor for the value of the gift within a rea-
sonable period of time upon the discovery of the value 
of the gift provided that such consideration reduces the 
value of the gift to an amount not in excess of $100 as 
provided in subsection B or C of § 2.2-3103.1.

§ 2.2-3104. Prohibited conduct for certain 
officers and employees of state government.

For one year after the termination of public employ-
ment or service, no state officer or employee shall, be-
fore the agency of which he was an officer or employee, 
represent a client or act in a representative capacity 
on behalf of any person or group, for compensation, 
on matters related to legislation, executive orders, or 
regulations promulgated by the agency of which he was 
an officer or employee. This prohibition shall be in ad-
dition to the prohibitions contained in § 2.2-3103.

For the purposes of this section, “state officer or 
employee” shall mean (i) the Governor, Lieutenant 
Governor, Attorney General, and officers appointed by 
the Governor, whether confirmation by the General 
Assembly or by either house thereof is required or not, 
who are regularly employed on a full-time salaried 
basis; those officers and employees of executive branch 
agencies who report directly to the agency head; and 
those at the level immediately below those who report 
directly to the agency head and are at a payband 6 or 
higher and (ii) the officers and professional employees 
of the legislative branch designated by the joint rules 
committee of the General Assembly. For the purposes 
of this section, the General Assembly and the legislative 
branch agencies shall be deemed one agency.

To the extent this prohibition applies to the Gover-
nor’s Secretaries, “agency” means all agencies assigned 
to the Secretary by law or by executive order of the 
Governor.

Any person subject to the provisions of this sec-
tion may apply to the Council or Attorney General, 
as provided in § 2.2-3121 or 2.2-3126, for an advisory 
opinion as to the application of the restriction imposed 
by this section on any post-public employment position 
or opportunity.

1994, cc. 727, 776, § 2.1-639.4:1; 2001, c. 844; 2013, 
c. 648; 2014, cc. 792, 804; 2015, cc. 763, 777.

§ 2.2-3104.01. Prohibited conduct; bids 
or proposals under the Virginia Public 
Procurement Act, Public-Private Transportation 
Act, and Public-Private Education Facilities 
and Infrastructure Act; loans or grants from 
the Commonwealth’s Development Opportunity 
Fund.

A. Neither the Governor, his political action com-
mittee, or the Governor›s Secretaries, if the Secretary 
is responsible to the Governor for an executive branch 
agency with jurisdiction over the matters at issue, shall 
knowingly solicit or accept a contribution, gift, or other 
item with a value greater than $50 from any bidder, of-
feror, or private entity, or from an officer or director of 
such bidder, offeror, or private entity, who has submit-
ted a bid or proposal to an executive branch agency 
that is directly responsible to the Governor pursuant 
to the Virginia Public Procurement Act (§ 2.2-4300 et 
seq.), the Public-Private Transportation Act of 1995 (§ 
33.2-1800 et seq.), or the Public-Private Education Fa-
cilities and Infrastructure Act of 2002 (§ 56-575.1 et seq.)
(i) during the period between the submission of the bid 
and the award of the public contract under the Virginia 
Public Procurement Act or (ii) following the submission 
of a proposal under the Public-Private Transportation 
Act of 1995 or the Public-Private Education Facilities 
and Infrastructure Act of 2002 until the execution of a 
comprehensive agreement thereunder.

B. The provisions of this section shall apply only for 
public contracts, proposals, or comprehensive agree-
ments where the stated or expected value of the con-
tract is $5 million or more. The provisions of this sec-
tion shall not apply to contracts awarded as the result of 
competitive sealed bidding as set forth in § 2.2-4302.1.

C. Any person who knowingly violates this section 
shall be subject to a civil penalty of $500 or up to two 
times the amount of the contribution or gift, whichever 
is greater, and the contribution, gift, or other item shall 
be returned to the donor. The attorney for the Com-
monwealth shall initiate civil proceedings to enforce 
the civil penalties. Any civil penalties collected shall be 
payable to the State Treasurer for deposit to the general 
fund and shall be used exclusively to fund the Council.

§ 2.2-3104.02. Prohibited conduct for 
constitutional officers.

In addition to the prohibitions contained in § 2.2-
3103, no constitutional officer shall, during the one 
year after the termination of his public service, act in 
a representative capacity on behalf of any person or 
group, for compensation, on any matter before the 
agency of which he was an officer.
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The provisions of this section shall not apply to any 
attorney for the Commonwealth.

Any person subject to the provisions of this section 
may apply to the attorney for the Commonwealth for 
the jurisdiction where such person was elected as pro-
vided in § 2.2-3126, for an advisory opinion as to the 
application of the restriction imposed by this section on 
any post-public employment position or opportunity.

§ 2.2-3104.1. Exclusion of certain awards   
from scope of chapter.

The provisions of this chapter shall not be con-
strued to prohibit or apply to the acceptance by (i) any 
employee of a local government, or (ii) a teacher or 
other employee of a local school board of an award or 
payment in honor of meritorious or exceptional services 
performed by the teacher or employee and made by 
an organization exempt from federal income taxation 
pursuant to the provisions of Section 501(c)(3) of the 
Internal Revenue Code .

§ 2.2-3104.2. Ordinance regulating receipt     
of gifts.

The governing body of any county, city, or town 
may adopt an ordinance setting a monetary limit on 
the acceptance of any gift by the officers, appointees or 
employees of the county, city or town and requiring the 
disclosure by such officers, appointees or employees of 
the receipt of any gift.

Article 3. Prohibited Conduct 
Relating to Contracts.
§ 2.2-3105. Application.

This article proscribes certain conduct relating 
to contracts by state and local government officers 
and employees. The provisions of this article shall be 
supplemented but not superseded by the provisions on 
ethics in public contracting in Article 6 (§ 2.2-4367 et 
seq.) of Chapter 43 of this title.

1987, Sp. Sess., c. 1, § 2.1-639.5; 2001, c. 844; 2003, 
c. 694.

§ 2.2-3106. Prohibited contracts by officers 
and employees of state government and 
Eastern Virginia Medical School.

A. No officer or employee of any governmental 
agency of state government or Eastern Virginia Medical 
School shall have a personal interest in a contract with 
the governmental agency of which he is an officer or 
employee, other than his own contract of employment.

B. No officer or employee of any governmental 
agency of state government or Eastern Virginia Medi-
cal School shall have a personal interest in a contract 
with any other governmental agency of state govern-
ment unless such contract is (i) awarded as a result of 
competitive sealed bidding or competitive negotia-
tion as set forth in § 2.2-4302.1 or 2.2-4302.2 or (ii) is 
awarded after a finding, in writing, by the administra-
tive head of the governmental agency that competitive 
bidding or negotiation is contrary to the best interest of 
the public.

C. The provisions of this section shall not apply to:
1. An employee’s personal interest in additional con-

tracts of employment with his own governmental 
agency that accrue to him because of a member 
of his immediate family, provided the employee 
does not exercise any control over the employ-
ment or the employment activities of the member 
of his immediate family and the employee is not 
in a position to influence those activities;

2. The personal interest of an officer or employee of 
a state institution of higher education or the East-
ern Virginia Medical School in additional con-
tracts of employment with his own governmental 
agency that accrue to him because of a member 
of his immediate family, provided (i) the officer or 
employee and the immediate family member are 
engaged in teaching, research or administrative 
support positions at the educational institution 
or the Eastern Virginia Medical School, (ii) the 
governing board of the educational institution 
finds that it is in the best interests of the institu-
tion or the Eastern Virginia Medical School 
and the Commonwealth for such dual employ-
ment to exist, and (iii) after such finding, the 
governing board of the educational institution 
or the Eastern Virginia Medical School ensures 
that the officer or employee, or the immediate 
family member, does not have sole authority to 
supervise, evaluate or make personnel decisions 
regarding the other;

3. An officer’s or employee’s personal interest in a 
contract of employment with any other govern-
mental agency of state government;

4. Contracts for the sale by a governmental agency 
or the Eastern Virginia Medical School of ser-
vices or goods at uniform prices available to the 
general public;

5. An employee’s personal interest in a contract 
between a public institution of higher education 
in Virginia or the Eastern Virginia Medical 
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School and a publisher or wholesaler of textbooks 
or other educational materials for students, which 
accrues to him solely because he has authored or 
otherwise created such textbooks or materials;

6. An employee’s personal interest in a contract with 
his or her employing public institution of higher 
education to acquire the collections or schol-
arly works owned by the employee, including 
manuscripts, musical scores, poetry, paintings, 
books or other materials, writings, or papers of 
an academic, research, or cultural value to the 
institution, provided the president of the institu-
tion approves the acquisition of such collections 
or scholarly works as being in the best interests of 
the institution’s public mission of service, re-
search, or education;

7. Subject to approval by the board of visitors, an 
employee’s personal interest in a contract be-
tween the Eastern Virginia Medical School or a 
public institution of higher education in Virginia 
that operates a school of medicine or dentistry 
and a not-for-profit nonstock corporation that 
operates a clinical practice within such public 
institution of higher education or the Eastern 
Virginia Medical School and of which such em-
ployee is a member or employee;

8. Subject to approval by the relevant board of 
visitors, an employee’s personal interest in a 
contract for research and development or com-
mercialization of intellectual property between 
a public institution of higher education in Vir-
ginia or the Eastern Virginia Medical School 
and a business in which the employee has a 
personal interest, if (i) the employee’s personal 
interest has been disclosed to and approved by 
such public institution of higher education or the 
Eastern Virginia Medical School prior to the 
time at which the contract is entered into; (ii) the 
employee promptly files a disclosure statement 
pursuant to § 2.2-3117 and thereafter files such 
statement annually on or before January 15; (iii) 
the institution has established a formal policy 
regarding such contracts, approved by the State 
Council of Higher Education or, in the case of 
the Eastern Virginia Medical School, a formal 
policy regarding such contracts in conformity 
with any applicable federal regulations that has 
been approved by its board of visitors; and (iv) no 
later than December 31 of each year, the insti-
tution or the Eastern Virginia Medical School 
files an annual report with the Secretary of the 

Commonwealth disclosing each open contract 
entered into subject to this provision, the names 
of the parties to each contract, the date each 
contract was executed and its term, the subject of 
each contractual arrangement, the nature of the 
conflict of interest, the institution’s or the Eastern 
Virginia Medical School’s employee responsible 
for administering each contract, the details of 
the institution’s or the Eastern Virginia Medical 
School’s commitment or investment of resources 
or finances for each contract, and any other 
information requested by the Secretary of the 
Commonwealth; or

9. Subject to approval by the relevant board of visi-
tors, an employee’s personal interest in a contract 
between a public institution of higher education 
in Virginia or the Eastern Virginia Medical 
School and a business in which the employee has 
a personal interest, if (i) the personal interest has 
been disclosed to the institution or the Eastern 
Virginia Medical School prior to the time the 
contract is entered into; (ii) the employee files a 
disclosure statement pursuant to § 2.2-3117 and 
thereafter annually on or before January 15; (iii) 
the employee does not participate in the institu-
tion’s or the Eastern Virginia Medical School’s 
decision to contract; (iv) the president of the in-
stitution or the Eastern Virginia Medical School 
finds and certifies in writing that the contract is 
for goods and services needed for quality patient 
care, including related medical education or re-
search, by the institution’s medical center or the 
Eastern Virginia Medical School, its affiliated 
teaching hospitals and other organizations neces-
sary for the fulfillment of its mission, including 
the acquisition of drugs, therapies and medical 
technologies; and (v) no later than December 31 
of each year, the institution or the Eastern Vir-
ginia Medical School files an annual report with 
the Secretary of the Commonwealth disclosing 
each open contract entered subject to this provi-
sion, the names of the parties to each contract, 
the date each contract was executed and its term, 
the subject of each contractual arrangement, 
the nature of the conflict of interest, the institu-
tion’s or the Eastern Virginia Medical School’s 
employee responsible for administering each 
contract, the details of the institution’s or the 
Eastern Virginia Medical School’s commitment 
or investment of resources or finances for each 
contract, and any other information requested by 
the Secretary of the Commonwealth.
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D. Notwithstanding the provisions of subdivisions C 
8 and C 9, if the research and development or com-
mercialization of intellectual property or the employee’s 
personal interest in a contract with a business is subject 
to policies and regulations governing conflicts of inter-
est promulgated by any agency of the United States 
government, including the adoption of policies requir-
ing the disclosure and management of such conflicts of 
interests, the policies established by the Eastern Vir-
ginia Medical School pursuant to such federal require-
ments shall constitute compliance with subdivisions C 
8 and C 9, upon notification by the Eastern Virginia 
Medical School to the Secretary of the Commonwealth 
by January 31 of each year of evidence of their compli-
ance with such federal policies and regulations.

E. The board of visitors may delegate the authority 
granted under subdivision C 8 to the president of the 
institution. If the board elects to delegate such author-
ity, the board shall include this delegation of authority 
in the formal policy required by clause (iii) of subdi-
vision C 8. In those instances where the board has 
delegated such authority, on or before December 1 of 
each year, the president of the relevant institution shall 
file a report with the relevant board of visitors disclos-
ing each open contract entered into subject to this 
provision, the names of the parties to each contract, 
the date each contract was executed and its term, the 
subject of each contractual arrangement, the nature of 
the conflict of interest, the institution’s or the Eastern 
Virginia Medical School’s employee responsible for ad-
ministering each contract, the details of the institution’s 
or the Eastern Virginia Medical School’s commitment 
or investment of resources or finances for each contract, 
the details of how revenues are to be dispersed, and any 
other information requested by the board of visitors.

§ 2.2-3107. Prohibited contracts by members of 
county boards of supervisors, city councils and 
town councils.

A. No person elected or appointed as a member of 
the governing body of a county, city or town shall have 
a personal interest in (i) any contract with his govern-
ing body, or (ii) any contract with any governmental 
agency that is a component part of his local govern-
ment and which is subject to the ultimate control of the 
governing body of which he is a member, or (iii) any 
contract other than a contract of employment with any 
other governmental agency if such person›s governing 
body appoints a majority of the members of the govern-
ing body of the second governmental agency.

B. The provisions of this section shall not apply to:
1. A member’s personal interest in a contract of 

employment provided (i) the officer or employee 
was employed by the governmental agency prior 
to July 1, 1983, in accordance with the provisions 
of the former Conflict of Interests Act, Chapter 
22 (§ 2.1-347 et seq.) of Title 2.1 as it existed on 
June 30, 1983, or (ii) the employment first began 
prior to the member becoming a member of the 
governing body;

2. Contracts for the sale by a governmental agency 
of services or goods at uniform prices available to 
the public; or

3. A contract awarded to a member of a governing 
body as a result of competitive sealed bidding 
where the governing body has established a 
need for the same or substantially similar goods 
through purchases prior to the election or ap-
pointment of the member to serve on the govern-
ing body. However, the member shall have no in-
volvement in the preparation of the specifications 
for such contract, and the remaining members of 
the governing body, by written resolution, shall 
state that it is in the public interest for the mem-
ber to bid on such contract.

§ 2.2-3108. Prohibited contracts by members 
of school boards.

A. No person elected or appointed as a member of 
a local school board shall have a personal interest in (i) 
any contract with his school board or (ii) any contract 
with any governmental agency that is subject to the 
ultimate control of the school board of which he is a 
member.

B. The provisions of this section shall not apply to:
1. A member’s personal interest in a contract of em-

ployment provided the employment first began 
prior to the member becoming a member of the 
school board;

2. Contracts for the sale by a governmental agency 
of services or goods at uniform prices available to 
the public; or

3. A contract awarded to a member of a school 
board as a result of competitive sealed bidding 
where the school board has established a need for 
the same or substantially similar goods through 
purchases prior to the election or appointment of 
the member to serve on the school board. How-
ever, the member shall have no involvement in the 
preparation of the specifications for such contract, 
and the remaining members of the school board, by 
written resolution, shall state that it is in the public 
interest for the member to bid on such contract.
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§ 2.2-3109. Prohibited contracts by other 
officers and employees of local governmental 
agencies.

A. No other officer or employee of any governmen-
tal agency of local government, including a hospital 
authority as defined in § 2.2-3109.1, shall have a per-
sonal interest in a contract with the agency of which he 
is an officer or employee other than his own contract of 
employment.

B. No officer or employee of any governmental 
agency of local government, including a hospital au-
thority as defined in § 2.2-3109.1, shall have a personal 
interest in a contract with any other governmental 
agency that is a component of the government of his 
county, city or town unless such contract is (i) awarded 
as a result of competitive sealed bidding or competitive 
negotiation as set forth in § 2.2-4302.1 or 2.2-4302.2 
or is awarded as a result of a procedure embodying 
competitive principles as authorized by subdivision A 
10 or 11 of § 2.2-4343 or (ii) is awarded after a finding, 
in writing, by the administrative head of the govern-
mental agency that competitive bidding or negotiation 
is contrary to the best interest of the public.

C. The provisions of this section shall not apply to:
1. An employee’s personal interest in additional 

contracts for goods or services, or contracts of 
employment with his own governmental agency 
that accrue to him because of a member of his 
immediate family, provided the employee does 
not exercise any control over (i) the employment 
or the employment activities of the member of his 
immediate family and (ii) the employee is not in a 
position to influence those activities or the award 
of the contract for goods or services;

2. An officer’s or employee’s personal interest in a 
contract of employment with any other govern-
mental agency that is a component part of the 
government of his county, city or town;

3. Contracts for the sale by a governmental agency 
of services or goods at uniform prices available to 
the general public;

4. Members of local governing bodies who are sub-
ject to § 2.2-3107;

5. Members of local school boards who are subject 
to § 2.2-3108; or

6. Any ownership or financial interest of members 
of the governing body, administrators, and other 
personnel serving in a public charter school in 
renovating, lending, granting, or leasing pub-
lic charter school facilities, as the case may be, 

provided such interest has been disclosed in the 
public charter school application as required by § 
22.1-212.8.

§ 2.2-3109.1. Prohibited contracts; additional 
exclusions for contracts by officers and 
employees of hospital authorities.

A. As used in this section, «hospital authority» 
means a hospital authority established pursuant to 
Chapter 53 (§ 15.2-5300 et seq.) of Title 15.2 or an Act 
of Assembly.

B. The provisions of § 2.2-3109 shall not apply to:
1. The personal interest of an officer or employee 

of a hospital authority in additional contracts of 
employment with his own governmental agency 
that accrue to him because of a member of his 
immediate family, provided (i) the officer or 
employee and the immediate family member 
are licensed members of the medical profession 
or hold administrative support positions at the 
hospital authority, (ii) the governing board of the 
hospital authority finds that it is in the best inter-
ests of the hospital authority and the county, city, 
or town for such dual employment to exist, and 
(iii) after such finding, the governing board of the 
hospital authority ensures that neither the officer 
or employee, nor the immediate family member, 
has sole authority to supervise, evaluate, or make 
personnel decisions regarding the other;

2. Subject to approval by the governing board of the 
hospital authority, an officer or employee’s per-
sonal interest in a contract between his hospital 
authority and a professional entity that operates 
a clinical practice at any medical facilities of such 
other hospital authority and of which such officer 
or employee is a member or employee;

3. Subject to approval by the relevant governing 
body, an officer or employee’s personal interest in 
a contract for research and development or com-
mercialization of intellectual property between 
the hospital authority and a business in which the 
employee has a personal interest, provided (i) the 
officer or employee’s personal interest has been 
disclosed to and approved by the hospital au-
thority prior to the time at which the contract is 
entered into; (ii) the officer or employee promptly 
files a disclosure statement pursuant to § 2.2-3117 
and thereafter files such statement annually on or 
before January 15; (iii) the local hospital author-
ity has established a formal policy regarding 
such contracts in conformity with any applicable 
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federal regulations that has been approved by its 
governing body; and (iv) no later than December 
31 of each year, the local hospital authority files 
an annual report with the Virginia Conflict of 
Interest and Ethics Advisory Council disclos-
ing each open contract entered into subject to 
this provision, the names of the parties to each 
contract, the date each contract was executed 
and its term, the subject of each contractual ar-
rangement, the nature of the conflict of interest, 
the hospital authority’s employee responsible for 
administering each contract, the details of such 
hospital authority’s commitment or investment 
of resources or finances for each contract, and 
any other information requested by the Virginia 
Conflict of Interest and Ethics Advisory Council; 
or

4. Subject to approval by the relevant governing 
body, an officer or employee’s personal inter-
est in a contract between the hospital authority 
and a business in which the officer or employee 
has a personal interest, provided (i) the personal 
interest has been disclosed to the hospital author-
ity prior to the time the contract is entered into; (ii) 
the officer or employee files a disclosure statement 
pursuant to § 2.2-3117 and thereafter annually on 
or before January 15; (iii) the officer or employee 
does not participate in the hospital authority’s de-
cision to contract; (iv) the president or chief execu-
tive officer of the hospital authority finds and certi-
fies in writing that the contract is for goods and 
services needed for quality patient care, including 
related medical education or research, by any of 
the hospital authority’s medical facilities or any of 
its affiliated organizations, or is otherwise neces-
sary for the fulfillment of its mission, including but 
not limited to the acquisition of drugs, therapies, 
and medical technologies; and (v) no later than 
December 31 of each year, the hospital authority 
files an annual report with the Virginia Conflict 
of Interest and Ethics Advisory Council disclos-
ing each open contract entered into subject to this 
provision, the names of the parties to each con-
tract, the date each contract was executed and its 
term, the subject of each contractual arrangement, 
the nature of the conflict of interest, the hospital 
authority’s employee responsible for administering 
each contract, the details of the hospital author-
ity’s commitment or investment of resources or 
finances for each contract, and any other informa-
tion requested by the Virginia Conflict of Interest 
and Ethics Advisory Council.

C. Notwithstanding the provisions of subdivisions B 
3 and B 4, if the research and development or com-
mercialization of intellectual property or the officer 
or employee’s personal interest in a contract with a 
business is subject to policies and regulations govern-
ing conflicts of interest promulgated by any agency of 
the United States government, including the adoption 
of policies requiring the disclosure and management 
of such conflicts of interest, the policies established by 
the hospital authority pursuant to such federal require-
ments shall constitute compliance with subdivisions B 
3 and B 4, upon notification by the hospital authority 
to the Virginia Conflict of Interest and Ethics Advisory 
Council by January 31 of each year of evidence of its 
compliance with such federal policies and regulations.

D. The governing body may delegate the author-
ity granted under subdivision B 2 to the president 
or chief executive officer of hospital authority. If the 
board elects to delegate such authority, the board shall 
include this delegation of authority in the formal policy 
required by clause (iii) of subdivision B 3. In those 
instances where the board has delegated such authority, 
on or before December 1 of each year, the president or 
chief executive officer of the hospital authority shall file 
a report with the relevant governing body disclosing 
each open contract entered into subject to this provi-
sion, the names of the parties to each contract, the date 
each contract was executed and its term, the subject 
of each contractual arrangement, the nature of the 
conflict of interest, the hospital authority’s employee 
responsible for administering each contract, the details 
of the hospital authority’s commitment or investment 
of resources or finances for each contract, the details of 
how revenues are to be dispersed, and any other infor-
mation requested by the governing body.

§ § 2.2-3110. Further exceptions.
A. The provisions of Article 3 (§ 2.2-3106 et seq.) 

shall not apply to:
1. The sale, lease or exchange of real property be-

tween an officer or employee and a governmental 
agency, provided the officer or employee does not 
participate in any way as such officer or employee 
in such sale, lease or exchange, and this fact is set 
forth as a matter of public record by the govern-
ing body of the governmental agency or by the 
administrative head thereof;

2. The publication of official notices;
3. Contracts between the government or school 

board of a county, city, or town with a population 
of less than 10,000 and an officer or employee of 
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that county, city, or town government or school 
board when the total of such contracts between 
the government or school board and the of-
ficer or employee of that government or school 
board or a business controlled by him does not 
exceed $5,000 per year or such amount exceeds 
$5,000 and is less than $25,000 but results from 
contracts arising from awards made on a sealed 
bid basis, and such officer or employee has made 
disclosure as provided for in § 2.2-3115;

4. An officer or employee whose sole personal inter-
est in a contract with the governmental agency 
is by reason of income from the contracting firm 
or governmental agency in excess of $5,000 per 
year, provided the officer or employee or a mem-
ber of his immediate family does not participate 
and has no authority to participate in the pro-
curement or letting of such contract on behalf of 
the contracting firm and the officer or employee 
either does not have authority to participate in 
the procurement or letting of the contract on be-
half of his governmental agency or he disqualifies 
himself as a matter of public record and does not 
participate on behalf of his governmental agency 
in negotiating the contract or in approving the 
contract;

5. When the governmental agency is a public insti-
tution of higher education, an officer or employee 
whose personal interest in a contract with the 
institution is by reason of an ownership in the 
contracting firm in excess of three percent of 
the contracting firm’s equity or such ownership 
interest and income from the contracting firm is 
in excess of $5,000 per year, provided that (i) the 
officer or employee’s ownership interest, or own-
ership and income interest, and that of any im-
mediate family member in the contracting firm is 
disclosed in writing to the president of the institu-
tion, which writing certifies that the officer or 
employee has not and will not participate in the 
contract negotiations on behalf of the contract-
ing firm or the institution, (ii) the president of the 
institution makes a written finding as a matter of 
public record that the contract is in the best inter-
ests of the institution, (iii) the officer or employee 
either does not have authority to participate in 
the procurement or letting of the contract on 
behalf of the institution or disqualifies himself as 
a matter of public record, and (iv) does not par-
ticipate on behalf of the institution in negotiating 
the contract or approving the contract;

6. Except when the governmental agency is the Vir-
ginia Retirement System, contracts between an 
officer’s or employee’s governmental agency and 
a public service corporation, financial institution, 
or company furnishing public utilities in which 
the officer or employee has a personal interest, 
provided the officer or employee disqualifies 
himself as a matter of public record and does not 
participate on behalf of his governmental agency 
in negotiating the contract or in approving the 
contract;

7. Contracts for the purchase of goods or services 
when the contract does not exceed $500;

8. Grants or other payment under any program 
wherein uniform rates for, or the amounts paid 
to, all qualified applicants are established solely 
by the administering governmental agency;

9. An officer or employee whose sole personal 
interest in a contract with his own governmen-
tal agency is by reason of his marriage to his 
spouse who is employed by the same agency, if 
the spouse was employed by such agency for five 
or more years prior to marrying such officer or 
employee; or

10. Contracts entered into by an officer or employee 
or immediate family member of an officer or 
employee of a soil and water conservation district 
created pursuant to Article 3 (§ 10.1-506 et seq.) 
of Chapter 5 of Title 10.1 to participate in the 
Virginia Agricultural Best Management Practic-
es Cost-Share Program (the Program) established 
in accordance with § 10.1-546.1 or to participate 
in other cost-share programs for the installation 
of best management practices to improve water 
quality. This subdivision shall not apply to sub-
contracts or other agreements entered into by an 
officer or employee of a soil and water conserva-
tion district to provide services for implementa-
tion of a cost-share contract established under the 
Program or such other cost-share programs.

B. Neither the provisions of this chapter nor, unless 
expressly provided otherwise, any amendments thereto 
shall apply to those employment contracts or renewals 
thereof or to any other contracts entered into prior to 
August 1, 1987, which were in compliance with either 
the former Virginia Conflict of Interests Act, Chapter 
22 (§ 2.1-347 et seq.) or the former Comprehensive 
Conflict of Interests Act, Chapter 40 (§ 2.1-599 et seq.) 
of Title 2.1 at the time of their formation and thereaf-
ter. Those contracts shall continue to be governed by 
the provisions of the appropriate prior Act. Notwith-



82 2016-2017 Virginia Freedom of  Information Act | Conflict of  Interests Act | Virginia Public Records Act          

standing the provisions of subdivision (f ) (4) of former 
§ 2.1-348 of Title 2.1 in effect prior to July 1, 1983, the 
employment by the same governmental agency of an of-
ficer or employee and spouse or any other relative resid-
ing in the same household shall not be deemed to create 
a material financial interest except when one of such 
persons is employed in a direct supervisory or adminis-
trative position, or both, with respect to such spouse or 
other relative residing in his household and the annual 
salary of such subordinate is $35,000 or more.

Article 4. Prohibited Conduct 
Relating to Transactions.
§ 2.2-3111. Application.

This article proscribes certain conduct by state and 
local government officers and employees having a per-
sonal interest in a transaction.

2.2-3112. Prohibited conduct concerning 
personal interest in a transaction; exceptions.

A. Each officer and employee of any state or local 
governmental or advisory agency who has a personal 
interest in a transaction:

1. Shall disqualify himself from participating in the 
transaction if (i) the transaction has application 
solely to property or a business or governmental 
agency in which he has a personal interest or a 
business that has a parent-subsidiary or affiliated 
business entity relationship with the business in 
which he has a personal interest or (ii) he is un-
able to participate pursuant to subdivision B 1, 
2, or 3. Any disqualification under the provisions 
of this subsection shall be recorded in the public 
records of the officer’s or employee’s governmen-
tal or advisory agency. The officer or employee 
shall disclose his personal interest as required 
by subsection E of § 2.2-3114 or subsection F of 
§ 2.2-3115 and shall not vote or in any manner 
act on behalf of his agency in the transaction. 
The officer or employee shall be prohibited from 
(i) attending any portion of a closed meeting 
authorized by the Virginia Freedom of Informa-
tion Act (§ 2.2-3700 et seq.) when the matter in 
which he has a personal interest is discussed and 
(ii) discussing the matter in which he has a per-
sonal interest with other governmental officers or 
employees at any time;.

B. An officer or employee of any state or local gov-
ernment or advisory agency who has a personal interest 
in a transaction may participate in the transaction:

1. If he is a member of a business, profession, oc-
cupation, or group of three or more persons the 
members of which are affected by the trans-
action, and he complies with the declaration 
requirements of subsection F of § 2.2-3114 or 
subsection H of § 2.2-3115;

2. When a party to the transaction is a client of his 
firm if he does not personally represent or pro-
vide services to such client and he complies with 
the declaration requirements of subsection G of § 
2.2-3114 or subsection I of § 2.2-3115; or

3. If it affects the public generally, even though his 
personal interest, as a member of the public, may 
also be affected by that transaction.

C. Disqualification under the provisions of this sec-
tion shall not prevent any employee having a personal 
interest in a transaction in which his agency is involved 
from representing himself or a member of his im-
mediate family in such transaction provided he does 
not receive compensation for such representation and 
provided he complies with the disqualification and 
relevant disclosure requirements of this chapter.

D. Notwithstanding any other provision of law, if 
disqualifications of officers or employees in accordance 
with this section leave less than the number required 
by law to act, the remaining member or members shall 
constitute a quorum for the conduct of business and 
have authority to act for the agency by majority vote, 
unless a unanimous vote of all members is required 
by law, in which case authority to act shall require 
a unanimous vote of remaining members. Notwith-
standing any provisions of this chapter to the contrary, 
members of a local governing body whose sole interest 
in any proposed sale, contract of sale, exchange, lease 
or conveyance is by virtue of their employment by a 
business involved in a proposed sale, contract of sale, 
exchange, lease or conveyance, and where such mem-
ber’s or members’ vote is essential to a constitutional 
majority required pursuant to Article VII, Section 9 
of the Constitution of Virginia and § 15.2-2100, such 
member or members of the local governing body may 
vote and participate in the deliberations of the govern-
ing body concerning whether to approve, enter into or 
execute such sale, contract of sale, exchange, lease or 
conveyance. Official action taken under circumstances 
that violate this section may be rescinded by the agency 
on such terms as the interests of the agency and inno-
cent third parties require.

E. The provisions of subsection A shall not prevent 
an officer or employee from participating in a transac-
tion merely because such officer or employee is a party 
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in a legal proceeding of a civil nature concerning such 
transaction.

F. The provisions of subsection A shall not pre-
vent an employee from participating in a transaction 
regarding textbooks or other educational material for 
students at state institutions of higher education, when 
those textbooks or materials have been authored or 
otherwise created by the employee.

G. The provisions of this section shall not prevent 
any justice of the Supreme Court of Virginia, judge of 
the Court of Appeals of Virginia, judge of any circuit 
court, judge or substitute judge of any district court, 
member of the State Corporation Commission, or 
member of the Virginia Workers’ Compensation Com-
mission from participating in a transaction where such 
individual’s participation involves the performance 
of adjudicative responsibilities as set forth in Canon 
3 of the Canons of Judicial Conduct for the State of 
Virginia. However, nothing in this subsection shall be 
construed to authorize such individual’s participation 
in a transaction if such participation would constitute 
a violation of the Canons of Judicial Conduct for the 
State of Virginia.

Article 5. Disclosure Statements 
Required to Be Filed.
§ 2.2-3113. Application.

This article requires disclosure of certain personal 
and financial interests by state and local government 
officers and employees.

2.2-3114. Disclosure by state officers and 
employees.

A. In accordance with the requirements set forth in 
§ 2.2-3118.2, the Governor, Lieutenant Governor, At-
torney General, Justices of the Supreme Court, judges 
of the Court of Appeals, judges of any circuit court, 
judges and substitute judges of any district court, mem-
bers of the State Corporation Commission, members 
of the Virginia Workers’ Compensation Commission, 
members of the Commonwealth Transportation Board, 
members of the Board of Trustees of the Virginia 
Retirement System, members of the Virginia Alcoholic 
Beverage Control Board, and members of the Virginia 
Lottery Board and other persons occupying such offices 
or positions of trust or employment in state govern-
ment, including members of the governing bodies of 
authorities, as may be designated by the Governor, 
or officers or employees of the legislative branch, as 
may be designated by the Joint Rules Committee of 

the General Assembly, shall file with the Council, as a 
condition to assuming office or employment, a disclo-
sure statement of their personal interests and such other 
information as is required on the form prescribed by 
the Council pursuant to § 2.2-3117 and thereafter shall 
file such a statement annually on or before February 1.

B.In accordance with the requirements set forth in 
§ 2.2-3118.2, nonsalaried citizen members of all policy 
and supervisory boards, commissions and councils in 
the executive branch of state government, other than 
the Commonwealth Transportation Board, members of 
the Board of Trustees of the Virginia Retirement Sys-
tem, and the Virginia Lottery Board, shall file with the 
Council, as a condition to assuming office, a disclosure 
form of their personal interests and such other infor-
mation as is required on the form prescribed by the 
Council pursuant to § 2.2-3118 and thereafter shall file 
such form annually on or before February 1. Nonsala-
ried citizen members of other boards, commissions and 
councils, including advisory boards and authorities, 
may be required to file a disclosure form if so desig-
nated by the Governor, in which case the form shall be 
that prescribed by the Council pursuant to § 2.2-3118.

C. The disclosure forms required by subsections A 
and B shall be made available by the Council at least 
30 days prior to the filing deadline. Disclosure forms 
shall be filed electronically with the Council in accor-
dance with the standards approved by it pursuant to § 
30-356. All forms shall be maintained as public records 
for five years in the office of the Council. Such forms 
shall be made public no later than six weeks after the 
filing deadline.

D. Candidates for the offices of Governor, Lieuten-
ant Governor or Attorney General shall file a disclo-
sure statement of their personal interests as required by 
§ 24.2-502.

E. Any officer or employee of state government who 
has a personal interest in any transaction before the 
governmental or advisory agency of which he is an of-
ficer or employee and who is disqualified from partici-
pating in that transaction pursuant to subsection A of § 
2.2-3112, or otherwise elects to disqualify himself, shall 
forthwith make disclosure of the existence of his inter-
est, including the full name and address of the business 
and the address or parcel number for the real estate if 
the interest involves a business or real estate, and his 
disclosure shall also be reflected in the public records of 
the agency for five years in the office of the administra-
tive head of the officer’s or employee’s governmental 
agency or advisory agency or, if the agency has a clerk, 
in the clerk’s office.
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F. An officer or employee of state government who 
is required to declare his interest pursuant to subdi-
vision B 1 of § 2.2-3112, shall declare his interest by 
stating (i) the transaction involved, (ii) the nature of 
the officer’s or employee’s personal interest affected by 
the transaction, (iii) that he is a member of a business, 
profession, occupation, or group the members of which 
are affected by the transaction, and (iv) that he is able 
to participate in the transaction fairly, objectively, and 
in the public interest. The officer or employee shall 
either make his declaration orally to be recorded in 
written minutes for his agency or file a signed written 
declaration with the clerk or administrative head of 
his governmental or advisory agency, as appropriate, 
who shall, in either case, retain and make available for 
public inspection such declaration for a period of five 
years from the date of recording or receipt. If reason-
able time is not available to comply with the provisions 
of this subsection prior to participation in the transac-
tion, the officer or employee shall prepare and file the 
required declaration by the end of the next business 
day.

G. An officer or employee of state government who 
is required to declare his interest pursuant to subdivi-
sion B 2 of § 2.2-3112, shall declare his interest by stat-
ing (i) the transaction involved, (ii) that a party to the 
transaction is a client of his firm, (iii) that he does not 
personally represent or provide services to the client, 
and (iv) that he is able to participate in the transaction 
fairly, objectively, and in the public interest. The officer 
or employee shall either make his declaration orally to 
be recorded in written minutes for his agency or file a 
signed written declaration with the clerk or administra-
tive head of his governmental or advisory agency, as 
appropriate, who shall, in either case, retain and make 
available for public inspection such declaration for a 
period of five years from the date of recording or re-
ceipt. If reasonable time is not available to comply with 
the provisions of this subsection prior to participation 
in the transaction, the officer or employee shall prepare 
and file the required declaration by the end of the next 
business day.

H. Notwithstanding any other provision of law, 
chairs of departments at a public institution of higher 
education in the Commonwealth shall not be required 
to file the disclosure form prescribed by the Council 
pursuant to § 2.2-3117 or 2.2-3118.

§ 2.2-3114.1. Filings of statements of 
economic interests by General Assembly 
members.

The filing of a current statement of economic in-
terests by a General Assembly member, member-elect, 
or candidate for the General Assembly pursuant to §§ 
30-110 and 30-111 of the General Assembly Conflicts 
of Interests Act (§ 30-100 et seq.) shall suffice for the 
purposes of this chapter. The Secretary of the Com-
monwealth may obtain from the Council a copy of the 
statement of a General Assembly member who is ap-
pointed to a position for which a statement is required 
pursuant to § 2.2-3114. No General Assembly member, 
member-elect, or candidate shall be required to file a 
separate statement of economic interests for the pur-
poses of § 2.2-3114.

§ 2.2-3114.2. Report of gifts by certain 
officers and employees of state government.

The Governor, Lieutenant Governor, Attorney 
General, and each member of the Governor›s Cabinet 
shall file, on or before May 1, a report of gifts accepted 
or received by him or a member of his immediate fam-
ily during the period beginning on January 1 complete 
through adjournment sine die of the regular session 
of the General Assembly. The gift report shall be on 
a form prescribed by the Council and shall be filed 
electronically with the Council in accordance with the 
standards approved by it pursuant to § 30-356. For 
purposes of this section, “adjournment sine die” means 
adjournment on the last legislative day of the regular 
session and does not include the ensuing reconvened 
session. Any gifts reported pursuant to this section shall 
not be listed on the annual disclosure form prescribed 
by the Council pursuant to § 2.2-3117.

2016, cc. 773, 774.

§ 2.2-3115. Disclosure by local government 
officers and employees.

A.In accordance with the requirements set forth in 
§ 2.2-3118.2, the members of every governing body and 
school board of each county and city and of towns with 
populations in excess of 3,500 shall file, as a condition 
to assuming office or employment, a disclosure state-
ment of their personal interests and other information 
as is required on the form prescribed by the Council 
pursuant to § 2.2-3117 and thereafter shall file such a 
statement annually on or before  February 1.

In accordance with the requirements set forth in § 
2.2-3118.2, the members of the governing body of any 
authority established in any county or city, or part or 
combination thereof, and having the power to issue 
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bonds or expend funds in excess of $10,000 in any 
fiscal year, shall file, as a condition to assuming office, 
a disclosure statement of their personal interests and 
other information as is required on the form prescribed 
by the Council pursuant to § 2.2-3118 and thereafter 
shall file such a statement annually on or before Febru-
ary 1, unless the governing body of the jurisdiction that 
appoints the members requires that the members file 
the form set forth in § 2.2-3117.

In accordance with the requirements set forth in      
§ 2.2-3118.2, persons occupying such positions of trust 
appointed by governing bodies and persons occupying 
such positions of employment with governing bodies as 
may be designated to file by ordinance of the govern-
ing body shall file, as a condition to assuming office or 
employment, a disclosure statement of their personal 
interests and other information as is required on the 
form prescribed by the Council pursuant to § 2.2-3117 
and thereafter shall file such a statement annually on or 
before February 1.

In accordance with the requirements set forth in  
§ 2.2-3118.2, persons occupying such positions of trust 
appointed by school boards and persons occupying 
such positions of employment with school boards as 
may be designated to file by an adopted policy of the 
school board shall file, as a condition to assuming office 
or employment, a disclosure statement of their personal 
interests and other information as is required on the 
form prescribed by the Council pursuant to § 2.2-3117 
and thereafter shall file such a statement annually on or 
before February 1.

B.In accordance with the requirements set forth 
in § 2.2-3118.2, nonsalaried citizen members of local 
boards, commissions and councils as may be desig-
nated by the governing body shall file, as a condition 
to assuming office, a disclosure form of their personal 
interests and such other information as is required on 
the form prescribed by the Council pursuant to § 2.2-
3118 and thereafter shall file such form annually on or 
before February 1.

C. No person shall be mandated to file any disclo-
sure not otherwise required by this article.

D. The disclosure forms required by subsections A 
and B shall be made available by the Virginia Conflict 
of Interest and Ethics Advisory Council at least 30 days 
prior to the filing deadline, and the clerks of the gov-
erning body and school board shall distribute the forms 
to designated individuals at least 20 days prior to the 
filing deadline. Forms shall be filed and maintained as 
public records for five years in the office of the clerk of 
the respective governing body or school board. Forms 

filed by members of governing bodies of authorities 
shall be filed and maintained as public records for five 
years in the office of the clerk of the governing body of 
the county or city. Such forms shall be made public no 
later than six weeks after the filing deadline.

E. Candidates for membership in the governing 
body or school board of any county, city or town with a 
population of more than 3,500 persons shall file a dis-
closure statement of their personal interests as required 
by § 24.2-502.

F. Any officer or employee of local government who 
has a personal interest in any transaction before the 
governmental or advisory agency of which he is an of-
ficer or employee and who is disqualified from partici-
pating in that transaction pursuant to subsection A of 
§ 2.2-3112 or otherwise elects to disqualify himself, shall 
forthwith make disclosure of the existence of his inter-
est, including the full name and address of the business 
and the address or parcel number for the real estate if 
the interest involves a business or real estate, and his 
disclosure shall be reflected in the public records of the 
agency for five years in the office of the administra-
tive head of the officer’s or employee’s governmental or 
advisory agency.

G. In addition to any disclosure required by sub-
sections A and B, in each county and city and in 
towns with populations in excess of 3,500, members of 
planning commissions, boards of zoning appeals, real 
estate assessors, and all county, city and town manag-
ers or executive officers shall make annual disclosures 
of all their interests in real estate located in the county, 
city or town in which they are elected, appointed, or 
employed. Such disclosure shall include any business 
in which such persons own an interest, or from which 
income is received, if the primary purpose of the busi-
ness is to own, develop or derive compensation through 
the sale, exchange or development of real estate in the 
county, city or town. In accordance with the require-
ments set forth in § 2.2-3118.2, such disclosure shall be 
filed as a condition to assuming office or employment, 
and thereafter shall be filed annually with the clerk of 
the governing body of such county, city, or town on or 
before February 1. Such disclosures shall be filed and 
maintained as public records for five years. Such forms 
shall be made public no later than six weeks after the 
filing deadline. Forms for the filing of such reports shall 
be made available by the Virginia Conflict of Inter-
est and Ethics Advisory Council to the clerk of each 
governing body.

H. An officer or employee of local government who 
is required to declare his interest pursuant to subdi-
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vision B 1 of § 2.2-3112 shall declare his interest by 
stating (i) the transaction involved, (ii) the nature of 
the officer’s or employee’s personal interest affected by 
the transaction, (iii) that he is a member of a business, 
profession, occupation, or group the members of which 
are affected by the transaction, and (iv) that he is able 
to participate in the transaction fairly, objectively, and 
in the public interest. The officer or employee shall 
either make his declaration orally to be recorded in 
written minutes for his agency or file a signed written 
declaration with the clerk or administrative head of 
his governmental or advisory agency, as appropriate, 
who shall, in either case, retain and make available for 
public inspection such declaration for a period of five 
years from the date of recording or receipt. If reason-
able time is not available to comply with the provisions 
of this subsection prior to participation in the transac-
tion, the officer or employee shall prepare and file the 
required declaration by the end of the next business 
day. The officer or employee shall also orally disclose 
the existence of the interest during each meeting of the 
governmental or advisory agency at which the transac-
tion is discussed and such disclosure shall be recorded 
in the minutes of the meeting.

I. An officer or employee of local government who is 
required to declare his interest pursuant to subdivision 
B 2 of § 2.2-3112, shall declare his interest by stat-
ing (i) the transaction involved, (ii) that a party to the 
transaction is a client of his firm, (iii) that he does not 
personally represent or provide services to the client, 
and (iv) that he is able to participate in the transaction 
fairly, objectively, and in the public interest. The officer 
or employee shall either make his declaration orally to 
be recorded in written minutes for his agency or file a 
signed written declaration with the clerk or administra-
tive head of his governmental or advisory agency, as 
appropriate, who shall, in either case, retain and make 
available for public inspection such declaration for a 
period of five years from the date of recording or re-
ceipt. If reasonable time is not available to comply with 
the provisions of this subsection prior to participation 
in the transaction, the officer or employee shall prepare 
and file the required declaration by the end of the next 
business day.

J. The clerk of the governing body or school board 
that releases any form to the public pursuant to this 
section shall redact from the form any residential ad-
dress, personal telephone number, or signature con-
tained on such form; however, any form filed pursuant 
to subsection G shall not have any residential addresses 
redacted.

§ 2.2-3116. Disclosure by certain constitutional 
officers.

For the purposes of this chapter, holders of the con-
stitutional offices of treasurer, sheriff, attorney for the 
Commonwealth, clerk of the circuit court, and com-
missioner of the revenue of each county and city shall 
be required to file with the Council, as a condition to 
assuming office, the Statement of Economic Interests 
prescribed by the Council pursuant to § 2.2-3117. These 
officers shall file statements annually on or before 
January 15 February 1. Candidates shall file statements 
as required by § 24.2-502. Statements shall be filed 
electronically with the Council in accordance with the 
standards approved by it pursuant to § 30-356. These 
officers shall be subject to the prohibition on certain 
gifts set forth in subsection B of § 2.2-3103.1.

§ 2.2-3117. (Effective January 1, 2017) 
Disclosure form.

The disclosure form to be used for filings required 
by subsections A and D of § 2.2-3114 and subsections 
A and E of § 2.2-3115 shall be prescribed by the Coun-
cil. Except as otherwise provided in § 2.2-3115, all 
completed forms shall be filed electronically with the 
Council in accordance with the standards approved 
by it pursuant to § 30-356. Any person who knowingly 
and intentionally makes a false statement of a material 
fact on the Statement of Economic Interests is guilty of 
a Class 5 felony.

 § 2.2-3118. (Effective January 1, 2017) 
Disclosure form; certain citizen members.

The financial disclosure form to be used for filings 
required pursuant to subsection B of § 2.2-3114 and 
subsection B of § 2.2-3115 shall be filed in accordance 
with the provisions of § 30-356. The financial disclo-
sure form shall be prescribed by the Council. Except as 
otherwise provided in § 2.2-3115, all completed forms 
shall be filed electronically with the Council in accor-
dance with the standards approved by it pursuant to § 
30-356.

§ 2.2-3118.1. Special provisions for individuals 
serving in or seeking multiple positions or 
offices; reappointees.

A. The filing of a single current statement of eco-
nomic interests by an individual required to file the 
form prescribed in § 2.2-3117 shall suffice for the 
purposes of this chapter as filing for all positions or 
offices held or sought by such individual during a single 
reporting period. The filing of a single current finan-
cial disclosure statement by an individual required to 
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file the form prescribed in § 2.2-3118 shall suffice for 
the purposes of this chapter as filing for all positions or 
offices held or sought by such individual and requiring 
the filing of the § 2.2-3118 form during a single report-
ing period.

B. Any individual who has met the requirement for 
periodically filing a statement provided in § 2.2-3117 
or 2.2-3118 shall not be required to file an additional 
statement upon such individual’s reappointment to the 
same office or position for which he is required to file, 
provided such reappointment occurs within six months 
after filing a statement pursuant to § 2.2-3117 and 
within 12 months after filing a statement pursuant to § 
2.2-3118.

§ 2.2-3118.2. Disclosure form; filing 
requirements.

A. An officer or employee required to file an annual 
disclosure on or before February 1 pursuant to this 
article shall disclose his personal interests and other 
information as required on the form prescribed by 
the Council for the preceding calendar year complete 
through December 31. An officer or employee required 
to file a disclosure as a condition to assuming office or 
employment shall file such disclosure on or before the 
day such office or position of employment is assumed 
and disclose his personal interests and other informa-
tion as required on the form prescribed by the Council 
for the preceding 12-month period complete through 
the last day of the month immediately preceding the 
month in which the office or position of employment is 
assumed; however, any officer or employee who as-
sumes office or a position of employment in January 
shall be required to only file an annual disclosure on 
or before February 1 for the preceding calendar year 
complete through December 31.

B. When the deadline for filing any disclosure pur-
suant to this article falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or legal 
holiday, the deadline for filing shall be the next day 
that is not a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday.

Article 6. School Boards and 
Employees of School Boards.
§ 2.2-3119. Additional provisions applicable to 
school boards and employees of school boards; 
exceptions.

A. Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
chapter, it shall be unlawful for the school board of any 
county or city or of any town constituting a separate 
school division to employ or pay any teacher or other 

school board employee from the public funds, fed-
eral, state or local, or for a division superintendent to 
recommend to the school board the employment of any 
teacher or other employee, if the teacher or other em-
ployee is the father, mother, brother, sister, spouse, son, 
daughter, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, sister-in-law or 
brother-in-law of the superintendent, or of any member 
of the school board.

This section shall apply to any person employed 
by any school board in the operation of the public free 
school system, adult education programs or any other 
program maintained and operated by a local county, 
city or town school board.

B. This section shall not be construed to prohibit 
the employment, promotion, or transfer within a school 
division of any person within a relationship described 
in subsection A when such person:

1. Has been employed pursuant to a written con-
tract with a school board or employed as a sub-
stitute teacher or teacher’s aide by a school board 
prior to the taking of office of any member of 
such board or division superintendent of schools; 
or

2. Has been employed pursuant to a written con-
tract with a school board or employed as a sub-
stitute teacher or teacher’s aide by a school board 
prior to the inception of such relationship; or

3. Was employed by a school board at any time 
prior to June 10, 1994, and had been employed 
at any time as a teacher or other employee of any 
Virginia school board prior to the taking of office 
of any member of such school board or division 
superintendent of schools.

C. A person employed as a substitute teacher may 
not be employed to any greater extent than he was 
employed by the school board in the last full school 
year prior to the taking of office of such board member 
or division superintendent or to the inception of such 
relationship. The exceptions in subdivisions B 1, B 2, 
and B 3 shall apply only if the prior employment has 
been in the same school divisions where the employee 
and the superintendent or school board member now 
seek to serve simultaneously.

D. If any member of the school board or any divi-
sion superintendent knowingly violates these provisions, 
he shall be personally liable to refund to the local trea-
sury any amounts paid in violation of this law, and the 
funds shall be recovered from the individual by action 
or suit in the name of the Commonwealth on the peti-
tion of the attorney for the Commonwealth. Recovered 
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funds shall be paid into the local treasury for the use of 
the public schools.

E The provisions of this section shall not apply to 
employment by a school district located in Planning 
Districts 3, 4, 11, 12,13, and 17 of the father, mother, 
brother, sister, spouse, son, daughter, son-in-law, 
daughter-in-law, sister-in-law, or brother-in-law of any 
member of the school board provided (i) the member 
certifies that he had no involvement with the hiring 
decision and (ii) the superintendent certifies to the 
remaining members of the governing body in writing 
that the employment is based upon merit and fitness 
and the competitive rating of the qualifications of the 
individual and that no member of the board had any 
involvement with the hiring decision.

Article 7. Penalties and Remedies.
§ 2.2-3120. Knowing violation of chapter a 
misdemeanor.

Any person who knowingly violates any of the 
provisions of Articles 2 through 6 (§§ 2.2-3102 through 
2.2-3119) of this chapter shall be guilty of a Class 1 mis-
demeanor, except that any member of a local governing 
body who knowingly violates subsection A of § 2.2-3112 
or subsection D or F of § 2.2-3115 shall be guilty of a 
Class 3 misdemeanor. A knowing violation under this 
section is one in which the person engages in conduct, 
performs an act or refuses to perform an act when he 
knows that the conduct is prohibited or required by this 
chapter.

§ 2.2-3121. Advisory opinions.
A. A state officer or employee shall not be prosecut-

ed for a knowing violation of this chapter if the alleged 
violation resulted from his good faith reliance on a 
written opinion of the Attorney General or a formal 
opinion or written informal advice of the Council made 
in response to his written request for such opinion or 
advice and the opinion or advice was made after a 
full disclosure of the facts regardless of whether such 
opinion or advice is later withdrawn provided the al-
leged violation occurred prior to the withdrawal of the 
opinion or advice.

B. A local officer or employee shall not be pros-
ecuted for a knowing violation of this chapter if the 
alleged violation resulted from his good faith reliance 
on a written opinion of the attorney for the Common-
wealth or a formal opinion or written informal advice 
of the Council made in response to his written request 
for such opinion or advice and the opinion or advice 

was made after a full disclosure of the facts regardless 
of whether such opinion or advice is later withdrawn, 
provided that the alleged violation occurred prior to 
the withdrawal of the opinion or advice. The written 
opinion of the attorney for the Commonwealth shall be 
a public record and shall be released upon request.

C. If any officer or employee serving at the local 
level of government is charged with a knowing viola-
tion of this chapter, and the alleged violation resulted 
from his reliance upon a written opinion of his county, 
city, or town attorney, made after a full disclosure of 
the facts, that such action was not in violation of this 
chapter, then the officer or employee shall have the 
right to introduce a copy of the opinion at his trial as 
evidence that he did not knowingly violate this chapter.

§ 2.2-3122. Knowing violation of chapter 
constitutes malfeasance in office or 
employment.

Any person who knowingly violates any of the 
provisions of this chapter shall be guilty of malfeasance 
in office or employment. Upon conviction thereof, the 
judge or jury trying the case, in addition to any other 
fine or penalty provided by law, may order the forfei-
ture of such office or employment.

§ 2.2-3123. Invalidation of contract;     
recision of sales.

A. Any contract made in violation of § 2.2-3103 or 
§§ 2.2-3106 through 2.2-3109 may be declared void 
and may be rescinded by the governing body of the 
contracting or selling governmental agency within five 
years of the date of such contract. In cases in which the 
contract is invalidated, the contractor shall retain or 
receive only the reasonable value, with no increment 
for profit or commission, of the property or services 
furnished prior to the date of receiving notice that the 
contract has been voided. In cases of recision of a con-
tract of sale, any refund or restitution shall be made to 
the contracting or selling governmental agency.

B. Any purchase by an officer or employee made 
in violation of § 2.2-3103 or §§ 2.2-3106 through 2.2-
3109 may be rescinded by the governing body of the 
contracting or selling governmental agency within five 
years of the date of such purchase.

§ 2.2-3124. Civil penalty from violation of this 
chapter.

A. In addition to any other fine or penalty provided 
by law, an officer or employee who knowingly violates 
any provision of §§ 2.2-3103 through 2.2-3112 shall 
be subject to a civil penalty in an amount equal to the 
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amount of money or thing of value received as a result 
of such violation. If the thing of value received by the 
officer or employee in violation of §§ 2.2-3103 through 
2.2-3112 increases in value between the time of the 
violation and the time of discovery of the violation, the 
greater value shall determine the amount of the civil 
penalty. Further, all money or other things of value 
received as a result of such violation shall be forfeited in 
accordance with the provisions of § 19.2-386.33.

B. An officer or employee required to file the dis-
closure form prescribed by § 2.2-3117 who fails to file 
such form within the time period prescribed shall be 
assessed a civil penalty in an amount equal to $250. 
The Council shall notify the Attorney General of any 
state officer’s or employee’s failure to file the required 
form and the Attorney General shall assess and collect 
the civil penalty. The clerk of the school board or the 
clerk of the governing body of the county, city, or town 
shall notify the attorney for the Commonwealth for the 
locality in which the officer or employee was elected or 
is employed of any local officer’s or employee’s failure 
to file the required form and the attorney for the Com-
monwealth shall assess and collect the civil penalty. 
The Council shall notify the Attorney General and the 
clerk shall notify the attorney for the Commonwealth 
within 30 days of the deadline for filing. All civil 
penalties collected pursuant to this subsection shall be 
deposited into the general fund and used exclusively to 
fund the Council.

§ 2.2-3125. Limitation of actions.
The statute of limitations for the criminal prosecu-

tion of a person for violation of any provision of this 
chapter shall be one year from the time the Attorney 
General, if the violation is by a state officer or em-
ployee, or the attorney for the Commonwealth, if the 
violation is by a local officer or employee, has actual 
knowledge of the violation or five years from the date of 
the violation, whichever event occurs first. Any pros-
ecution for malfeasance in office shall be governed by 
the statute of limitations provided by law.

§ 2.2-3126. Enforcement.
A. The provisions of this chapter relating to an offi-

cer or employee serving at the state level of government 
shall be enforced by the Attorney General.

In addition to any other powers and duties pre-
scribed by law, the Attorney General shall have the 
following powers and duties within the area for which 
he is responsible under this section:

1. He shall advise the agencies of state government 
and officers and employees serving at the state 

level of government on appropriate procedures 
for complying with the requirements of this chap-
ter. He may review any disclosure statements, 
without notice to the affected person, for the pur-
pose of determining satisfactory compliance, and 
shall investigate matters that come to his atten-
tion reflecting possible violations of the provisions 
of this chapter by officers and employees serving 
at the state level of government;

2. If he determines that there is a reasonable basis to 
conclude that any officer or employee serving at 
the state level of government has knowingly vio-
lated any provision of this chapter, he shall des-
ignate an attorney for the Commonwealth who 
shall have complete and independent discretion 
in the prosecution of such officer or employee;

3. He shall render advisory opinions to any state of-
ficer or employee who seeks advice as to whether 
the facts in a particular case would constitute 
a violation of the provisions of this chapter. 
He shall determine which opinions or portions 
thereof are of general interest to the public and 
may, from time to time, be published.

Irrespective of whether an opinion of the At-
torney General has been requested and rendered, 
any person has the right to seek a declaratory 
judgment or other judicial relief as provided by 
law.

B. The provisions of this chapter relating to an 
officer or employee serving at the local level of govern-
ment shall be enforced by the attorney for the Com-
monwealth within the political subdivision for which he 
is elected.

Each attorney for the Commonwealth shall be 
responsible for prosecuting violations by an officer or 
employee serving at the local level of government and, 
if the Attorney General designates such attorney for the 
Commonwealth, violations by an officer or employee 
serving at the state level of government. In the event 
the violation by an officer or employee serving at the 
local level of government involves more than one lo-
cal jurisdiction, the Attorney General shall designate 
which of the attorneys for the Commonwealth of the 
involved local jurisdictions shall enforce the provisions 
of this chapter with regard to such violation.

Each attorney for the Commonwealth shall estab-
lish an appropriate written procedure for implementing 
the disclosure requirements of local officers and em-
ployees of his county, city or town, and for other politi-
cal subdivisions, whose principal offices are located 
within the jurisdiction served by such attorney for the 
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Commonwealth. The attorney for the Commonwealth 
shall provide a copy of this act to all local officers and 
employees in the jurisdiction served by such attorney 
who are required to file a disclosure statement pursuant 
to Article 5 (§ 2.2-3113 et seq.) of this chapter. Failure to 
receive a copy of the act shall not be a defense to such 
officers and employees if they are prosecuted for viola-
tions of the act.

Each attorney for the Commonwealth shall render 
advisory opinions as to whether the facts in a particular 
case would constitute a violation of the provisions of 
this chapter to the governing body and any local officer 
or employee in his jurisdiction and to political subdi-
visions other than a county, city or town, including 
regional political subdivisions whose principal offices 
are located within the jurisdiction served by such at-
torney for the Commonwealth. If the advisory opinion 
is written, then such written opinion shall be a public 
record and shall be released upon request. In case the 
opinion given by the attorney for the Commonwealth 
indicates that the facts would constitute a violation, the 
officer or employee affected thereby may request that 
the Attorney General review the opinion. A conflicting 
opinion by the Attorney General shall act to revoke the 
opinion of the attorney for the Commonwealth. The 
Attorney General shall determine which of his review-
ing opinions or portions thereof are of general interest 
to the public and may, from time to time, be published.

Irrespective of whether an opinion of the attorney 
for the Commonwealth or the Attorney General has 
been requested and rendered, any person has the right 
to seek a declaratory judgment or other judicial relief as 
provided by law.

§ 2.2-3127. Venue.
Any prosecution for a violation involving an of-

ficer serving at the state level of government shall be 
brought in the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond. 
Any prosecution for a violation involving an employee 
serving at the state level of government shall be within 
the jurisdiction in which the employee has his principal 
place of state employment.

Any proceeding provided in this chapter shall be 
brought in a court of competent jurisdiction within the 
county or city in which the violation occurs if the viola-
tion involves an officer or employee serving at the local 
level of government.

Article 8. Orientation for State 
Filers.
§ 2.2-3128. Semiannual orientation course.

Each state agency shall offer at least semiannually 
to each of its state filers an orientation course on this 
chapter, on ethics in public contracting pursuant to 
Article 6 (§ 2.2-4367 et seq.) of Chapter 43 of this title, 
if applicable to the filer, and on any other applicable 
regulations that govern the official conduct of state of-
ficers and employees.

§ 2.2-3129. Records of attendance.
Each state agency shall maintain records indicat-

ing the specific attendees, each attendee›s job title, and 
dates of their attendance for each orientation course 
offered pursuant to § 2.2-3128 for a period of not less 
than five years after each course is given. These records 
shall be public records subject to inspection and copy-
ing consistent with § 2.2-3704.

§ 2.2-3130. Attendance requirements.
Except as set forth in § 2.2-3131, each state filer shall 

attend the orientation course required in § 2.2-3128, as 
follows:

1. For a state filer who holds a position with the 
agency on January 1, 2004, not later than De-
cember 31, 2004 and, thereafter, at least once 
during each consecutive period of two calendar 
years commencing on January 1, 2006.

2. For a person who becomes a state filer with the 
agency after January 1, 2004, within two months 
after he or she becomes a state filer and at least 
once during each consecutive period of two 
calendar years commencing on the first odd-
numbered year thereafter.

§ 2.2-3131. Exemptions.
A. The requirements of § 2.2-3130 shall not apply 

to state filers with a state agency who have taken an 
equivalent ethics orientation course through another 
state agency within the time periods set forth in subdi-
vision 1 or 2 of § 2.2-3130, as applicable.

B. State agencies may jointly conduct and state filers 
from more than one state agency may jointly attend an 
orientation course required by § 2.2-3128, as long as 
the course content is relevant to the official duties of the 
attending state filers.

C. Before conducting each orientation course re-
quired by § 2.2-3128, state agencies shall consult with 
the Attorney General and the Virginia Conflict of In-
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terest and Ethics Advisory Council regarding appropri-
ate course content.

§ 2.2-4369. Proscribed participation by public 
employees in procurement transactions.

Except as may be specifically allowed by subdivi-
sions B 1, 2, and 3 of § 2.2-3112, no public employee 
having official responsibility for a procurement transac-
tion shall participate in that transaction on behalf of 
the public body when the employee knows that:

1. The employee is contemporaneously employed 
by a bidder, offeror or contractor involved in the 
procurement transaction;

2. The employee, the employee’s partner, or any 
member of the employee’s immediate family 
holds a position with a bidder, offeror or contrac-
tor such as an officer, director, trustee, partner 
or the like, or is employed in a capacity involv-
ing personal and substantial participation in the 
procurement transaction, or owns or controls an 
interest of more than five percent;

3. The employee, the employee’s partner, or any 
member of the employee’s immediate family has 
a pecuniary interest arising from the procure-
ment transaction; or

4. The employee, the employee’s partner, or any 
member of the employee’s immediate family is 
negotiating, or has an arrangement concerning, 
prospective employment with a bidder, offeror or 
contractor.

§ 24.2-502. Statement of economic interests as 
requirement of candidacy.

It shall be a requirement of candidacy that a writ-
ten statement of economic interests shall be filed by 
(i) a candidate for Governor, Lieutenant Governor, or 
Attorney General, and a candidate for the Senate or 
House of Delegates with the State Board, (ii) a candi-
date for a constitutional office with the general registrar 
for the county or city, and (iii) a candidate for member 
of the governing body or elected school board of any 
county, city, or town with a population in excess of 
3,500 persons with the general registrar for the county 
or city. The statement of economic interests shall be 
that specified in § 30-111 for candidates for the General 
Assembly and in § 2.2-3117 for all other candidates. 
The foregoing requirement shall not apply to a candi-
date for reelection to the same office who has met the 
requirement of annually filing a statement pursuant to 
§ 2.2-3114, 2.2-3115, 2.2-3116, or 30-110.

The general registrar, the clerk of the local govern-
ing body, or the clerk of the school board, as appropri-
ate, shall transmit to the local electoral board, imme-
diately after the filing deadline, a list of the candidates 
who have filed initial or annual statements of economic 
interests.
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Mayor D. Dwayne Tuggle called a regular monthly meeting of the Amherst Town Council to order on 

December 13, 2017, at 6:30 P.M. in the Council Chambers of the Town Hall at 174 S. Main Street. Council 

members Andrá Higginbotham, Kenneth S. Watts, Kenneth G. Bunch, Mark A. Stinnett, and Rachel A. 

Carton were present.  Interim Town Manager Peter Huber, Town Attorney W. Thomas Berry, Office 

Manager Tracie Wright, Clerk of Council Vicki K. Hunt, and Police Chief Robert A. Shiflett, II, were 

present. 

 

Mr.  Watts made the following motion, which was seconded by Mr. Higginbotham and carried 5-0 with 

Mrs. Carton and Messrs. Higginbotham, Bunch, Stinnett and Watts voting in favor: I move that the Town 

Council go into closed session per §2.2-3711A.1 and A7 of the Code of Virginia as related to discussion 

of the hiring of the new town manager.  

 

At 6:33 PM Mr. Watts made the following motion, which was seconded by Mrs. Carton and carried 5-0 

with Mrs. Carton and Messrs. Higginbotham, Bunch, Stinnett and Watts voting in favor: I move that the 

Town Council return to open session.  

 

Mr. Watts made the following motion, which was seconded by Mr. Stinnett and carried 5-0 on a roll call 

vote with Mrs. Carton and Messrs. Higginbotham, Bunch, Stinnett and Watts voting in favor certifying 

that to the best of each councilors’ knowledge that (i) only public business matters lawfully exempted 

from open meeting requirements under Title 2.2, Chapter 37 and §15.2-2907 of the Code of Virginia and 

(ii) only such public business matters as were identified in the motion by which the closed session was 

convened were heard, discussed or considered in the session.   

Council recessed until 7:00 PM. 

Recitation of the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag was followed by an invocation given by Andrá 

Higginbotham. 

 

Mayor D. Dwayne Tuggle opened the floor for citizen comments.  

 

Janice Norvell Wheaton, Amherst, VA, came forward, citing concerns over the numerous pavement color 

markings beginning to look “junky” and stated that she has not noticed color markings of this type in any 

other nearby city. 

  

Mr. Watts made a motion that was seconded by Mr. Higginbotham to hire Sara Carter as the Amherst 

Town Manager who will begin full time on January 10, 2018.  The motion passed 5-0 with Mrs. Carton 

and Messrs. Watts, Higginbotham, Stinnett and Bunch voting “Aye.”   

Following a report by Interim Town Manager Huber a duly advertised public hearing on the rezoning 

request by Waukeshaw Development, Inc., through its representative J. David McCormack, would, if 

approved, rezone 7.17 acres of land at 140 Union Hill Road (TM#s96A7 A 26-29) otherwise known as 

the Old Mill Property, from General Residential District R-2 to B-2 for the purpose of allowing a brewery 

and related restaurant to be located on the property was opened at 7:08 PM.   

 

David McCormick, Owner of Trapezium Brewing, and representative of Waukeshaw Development, Inc., 

was present to answer questions.  

 



 

Harvey Sellers, Amherst, VA, came forward, and spoke in opposition citing an increase in traffic on the 

roads that are not now suitable for heavy trucks bringing in raw materials.  

 

David McCormick responded to Mr. Seller’s concern saying that most of the manufacturing needed for 

the incoming business will be done at the facility in Petersburg and that he does not anticipate bringing in 

large amounts of outside ingredients, that it will be a small brewing system using ingredients grown on 

the property.    

 

James (Jeep) W. Newman, Jr., Mount Olive Road, Amherst, VA, came forward in favor of the rezoning 

and development plan.   

 

There being no one else present who wished to speak on the matter, the public hearing closed at 7:19 P.M. 
 
After discussion, Mr. Higginbotham made a motion that was seconded by Mr. Watts, and carried 5-0 to 

approve the rezoning request by Waukeshaw Development, Inc., to rezone 7.17 acres of land at 140 Union 

Hill Road (TM#s96A7 A 26-29) otherwise known as the Old Mill Property, from General Residential 

District R-2 to B-2.  Mrs. Carton and Messrs. Higginbotham, Watts, Bunch, and Stinnett voted “Aye.”    

 

Following a report by Interim Town Manager Peter Huber, a duly advertised public hearing on the 

rezoning request by Matthew Hines, on behalf of Blue Ridge Realty Holdings, would, if approved, rezone 

4.92 acres of land at 258 S. Main Street (TM#96A4-A-49&50 adjacent to Wells Fargo Bank), from 

General Residential District R-2 to R-3 High Density Residential, was opened at 7:26 P.M.  

Matthew Hines, Owner, Blue Ridge Realty Holdings, was present to answer questions and stated that he 

is aware that the property owners are concerned over the chance there could be Section 8 housing if 

rezoned R3 and he is willing to accept conditional R3 zoning that stipulates in writing that no subsidized 

housing can be built on the parcel.   He assured the Town that he only has the best of intentions for the 

Town, that this would be an added value for the Town, and that he is a man of his word.  

Doug Thompson, Amherst, VA came forward to state that he has no objection if Mr. Hines will state in 

writing what he truly intends to put on the property and not just what he will not do.  

Rachel Thompson, 268 Main Street, Amherst, VA, came forward in opposition, presenting a written 

statement to the councilors with attachment referencing that a piece of the property was being marketed 

for sale.  She requests that his intentions to only build patio or townhomes on the property is in writing.       

James (Jeep) W. Newman, Jr, Amherst, VA, came forward in favor citing that it is important to let young 

developers come into the Town of Amherst and that restrictions should not be placed on developers. 

Janice Wheaton, Amherst, VA, came forward and asked that we come together as neighbors and stated 

that if it is rezoned that it is done properly and tastefully.  

Manly Rucker, came forward and stated that it would be nice to know what is going on the property in 

addition to what is not going on the property.     

Wanda Spradley, 153 West Court Street, Amherst, VA, came forward in opposition stating that she has 

been a long time resident and doesn’t want anything done that will jeopardize her neighborhood.  She does 

not want additional traffic on roads that are not already properly maintained.  



 

Andy Klepac, P.E., Hurt & Proffitt, Inc., was present on behalf of Matthew Hines, and stated that because 

of the expense of soil and other testing it is necessary that a decision on the rezoning issue come first in 

order to determine what would be allowed on the property before going forward with testing which would 

then determine what type of homes and how many could be built on the property in accordance with the 

rezoning allowance and restriction agreed to by Mr. Hines for no subsidized housing.  

Mr. Higginbotham stated that even though we would all like to see growth we should want to protect our 

neighborhoods but we need to know what is being approved and it needs to be clearer what Mr. Hines is 

doing.  

Mr. Watts stated that he felt that Mr. and Mrs. Thompson and Mr. Rucker’s request for Mr. Hines to agree 

in writing that he would only place patio or townhomes on the property, if that is his intention, seems 

appropriate.  

Mrs. Carton felt that what the citizens are requesting Mr. Hines to agree to in writing are already stated in 

the R3 zoning allowances. 

There being no one else present who wished to speak on the matter, the public hearing closed at 8:12 P.M. 
 
After discussion, Mr. Bunch made a motion that was seconded by Mrs. Carton to approve the rezoning 

request by Matthew Hines, on behalf of Blue Ridge Realty Holdings to rezone 4.92 acres of land at 258 

S. Main Street (TM#96A4-A-49&50 adjacent to Wells Fargo Bank), from General Residential District R-

2 to R-3 High Density Residential.  The motion failed 3-2 with Mrs. Carton and Mr. Bunch voting “Aye” 

and Messrs. Higginbotham, Watts and Stinnett voting “No.” 

Mayor D. Dwayne Tuggle called for a short recess. 

 

Mayor D. Dwayne Tuggle reopened the meeting at 8:23 PM. 

 

Becky Cash, Lead Water Treatment Plant Operator, was present to answer questions related to testing 

results of Lead and Copper samplings on approximately 6 homes or businesses.  

 

Mrs. Carton made a motion that was seconded by Mr. Stinnett, and carried 5-0 to approve the minutes 

from the November 8, 2017, meeting.  Mrs. Carton and Messrs. Higginbotham, Watts, Bunch, and Stinnett 

voted “Aye.”   

 

Mrs. Carton made a motion that was seconded by Mr. Bunch, and carried 5-0 to authorize closure of Town 

Hall from 2 p.m. to 4 p.m. on Friday, December 15, 2017, for an office staff/employee holiday 

cookout/potluck luncheon, as recommended by Interim Town Manager Peter Huber. 

 

Mrs. Carton made a motion upon recommendation from the Finance Committee, as follows:  

 

1. To authorize utilization of standardized uniform chart of accounts published 

in the Uniform Financial Reporting Manual by the Virginia Auditor of Public 

Accounts, to take effect on July 1, 2018;  

 

2. To authorize updates to the Town of Amherst Procurement Policy to include 

a $100 purchase order minimum and addition of Sole Source purchases; and  



 

 

3. To authorize revision to Town of Amherst Payment Acceptance Policy to 

reflect a $50.00 handling fee and/or bank fee for any payments not honored 

by the bank; and, revision of I.D. requirement for payment of fees by credit 

card when the name on the credit card is not the same as the name reflected 

on the Town's water bill account. 

 

The motion carried 5-0 with Mrs. Carton and Messrs. Higginbotham, Watts, Bunch, and Stinnett voting 

“Aye.”   

 

By consensus of Council Interim Town Manager Huber is authorized to upgrade Town Manager’s office 

furniture and equipment by replacement of desk and the purchase of a large screen TV/monitor, docking 

station and CD reader at total cost estimate of $2,240 (desk $1,500, monitor $400, wall mount $100, 

docking station $200, and CD reader $40).  
 

A public hearing will be held at the next meeting on January 10, 2018, following a recommendation by 

the Town of Amherst Planning Commission. The subject of the hearing is a special use permit requested 

by Reggie Catlett to allow JAK, LLC to do light machining and processing of electrical equipment and 

components in the former Brockman building located at 488 S. Main Street (TM#95A56). 

 

There was a discussion on a committee appointment. It was approved 5-0 to appoint Kenneth G. Bunch 

to the committee for the term listed below subject to his willingness to serve.  Messrs. Higginbotham, 

Watts, Bunch, Stinnett and Mrs. Carton voted “Aye.”   

 

Board  Appointed Term of Office  

Planning Commission  Kenneth G. Bunch 12/31/2017 - 12/31/18  

 

Peter Huber gave an oral report on advertisements for bids which included the Water Treatment Plant 

Upgrades and the West Court Street Water Line Replacement Project.  

 

After discussion, Mr. Watts made a motion which was seconded by Mr. Stinnett, and carried 5-0 to 

authorize Interim Town Manager Peter Huber to accept Sweet Briar’s December 1, 2017, rescission of its 

August 15, 2017, letter stating its intention to terminate the existing cost sharing agreement for sewer 

improvements. Mrs. Carton and Messrs. Higginbotham, Watts, Bunch, and Stinnett voted “Aye.”   

 

After discussion, Mr. Watts made a motion which was seconded by Mr. Higginbotham, and carried 5-0 to 

authorize Interim Town Manager Peter Huber to hire a Sweet Briar intern at the rate of $9.00 per hour for 

10 hours per week for the purpose of file management and assisting with the management of the Water 

Treatment Plant Upgrades and West Court Street Water Line Replacement Project.  Mrs. Carton and 

Messrs. Higginbotham, Watts, Bunch, and Stinnett voted “Aye.” 

 

After discussion, Mr. Watts made a motion which was seconded by Mrs. Carton, and carried 5-0 to 

authorize Interim Town Manager Peter Huber to enter into a contract in the amount of $18,000 with the 

Berkley Group for an Organization Strategic Assessment (OSA) for the Town of Amherst to include 

utilities.   Mrs. Carton and Messrs. Higginbotham, Watts, Bunch, and Stinnett voted “Aye.” 

 

Mayor Tuggle thanked Charles Thompson and Town Maintenance for set-up and clean-up of the 



 

Christmas Parade; Tracie Wright and staff for the Evening with Santa; the Police Department for security; 

and all staff for going above and beyond to make the Christmas Parade a success.    

 

After discussion, Mr. Stinnett made a motion which was seconded by Mr. Bunch, and carried 5-0 to 

contract Hawkins Lock & Key Company to rekey all outside and inside doors at Town Hall at a quote of 

$749.50 plus the cost of a couple of additional locks. Mrs. Carton and Messrs. Higginbotham, Watts, 

Bunch and Stinnett voted “Aye.” 

 

By consensus of Council Mayor D. Dwayne Tuggle is authorized to sign a Proclamation Commemorating 

the 200th Anniversary of the Town of Amherst, New York.  
 

It is the consensus of Council that the Police Department Residency Policy adopted January 12, 2011, is 

revised as follows: 

 

“Policy – All sworn officers employed by the Town of Amherst Police Department on a 

full time basis shall be residents of the Town of Amherst or live in a permanent residence 

within 2 5 miles of the corporate limits of the Town of Amherst within ninety (90) days of 

their first day on the job and must continue to live within this specified area as a condition 

of continued employment.” 

 

By consensus of Council a reception will be held for Interim Town Manager Peter Huber, Carrie Brown, 

and Sara Carter at 6:30 P.M. on January 10, 2018.  

 

Mrs. Carton made a motion which was seconded by Mr. Higginbotham and carried 5-0 to authorize Mayor 

D. Dwayne Tuggle and Town Attorney William Berry to enter into a contract with Sara Carter as Town 

Manager for the Town of Amherst.  Mrs. Carton and Messrs. Higginbotham, Watts, Bunch and Stinnett 

voted “Aye.” 

 

Mayor Tuggle opened the floor to citizen comments. 

 

Clifford Hart, Amherst, VA, came forward and asked whether the Berkley Group offered a reduction in 

its pricing if only a portion of their recommendations are accepted.  Mr. Huber responded that the Berkley 

Group’s fees are on a flat rate basis.  

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned on a motion by Mr. Higginbotham seconded by 

Mr. Stinnett at 9:20 PM.  

______________________________________  

D. Dwayne Tuggle 

Mayor   

 

Attest: ___________________________  

     Clerk of Council 





December 6, 2017 
 

 
Town of Amherst Task Order 2: Organizational Strategic Assessment (OSA) 

Scope of Services 
 

Mission 
Improve organization service delivery through an in-depth analysis of strengths and weaknesses, and the 
subsequent implementation of new protocols. 
 

Approach 
1. Kick-off meeting with organization leaders 

o Set expectations 
o Overview of process and timeline; scope of assessment 
o Establish an assessment baseline (for comparative analysis with individual interviews) 
Deliverable:  Identification of potential programmatic strengths and weaknesses; areas of focus. 

 

2. Survey staff (confidential) 
o Survey Senior Officials (Executive Officer, Attorney, Constitutional Officers) 
o Survey Department Heads 
o Survey line staff (as selected by consultant) 

▪ Evaluation of Executive Officer performance (as applicable) 

▪ Evaluation of Department Head performance 

▪ Evaluation of governing body 

▪ Opinion of organizational strengths and weaknesses 
o Meet with selected staff to follow-up on survey responses (determined by consultant) 
Deliverable:  Multiple independent assessments to compare with the baseline established in the kick-off meeting and 
with one another.  Consistent patterns will emerge along with contradictions.  This information is critical to evaluating 
processes and procedures within the existing corporate culture.  Improving service delivery is contingent on understanding 
these dynamics. 

 

3. Evaluation of Existing Protocols 
o Public interface opportunities (e.g., payments, reservations, permits, etc.) 
o Governing body/staff interface 
o Governing body/appointed body interface 
o Public hearing procedures and other public meeting formats 
Deliverable:  Documentation of existing protocols with subsequent evaluation and recommendations for efficacy 
improvements. 

 

4. Evaluation of Existing Systems 
o Development permitting and other Administrative and Customer based processes 
o Recreational program and facility procedures 
o Public works programs and processes 
o Other service areas upon request (additional cost) 

▪ Financial systems  

▪ Information technology systems 

▪ Legal capacity and service delivery 

▪ Law enforcement 
Deliverable:  Written evaluation of each identified service area with subsequent recommendations for improvements 
and prioritization/funding strategy for any capital improvements. 



5. Final report draft 
o Development of summary of findings 
o Organization of recommendations 

▪ Systemic improvements 

▪ Cultural improvements 

▪ Capital improvements 
o Compilation of final report 

 

6. Present findings to Governing Body 
o Discuss improvement potential and value 
o Define implementation steps 
o Prioritize capital improvements or other funding strategies 
Deliverable:  Organizational Strategic Assessment final report and delivery.   

 

This process will result in service delivery improvements for both internal and external customers.  The 
primary return on investment is more effective and efficient government for the citizens including improved 
responsiveness, transparency, and accountability. 
 
 

Assumptions 
1. Organization staff will fully cooperate with Consultant with interviews and information requests. 
2. Final report will be given directly to the Governing Body upon completion. 
3. The Berkley Group shall provide one digital copy of this study to the locality. 
4. The Berkley Group works with additional third parties for optional services as indicated in this OSA and 

approved by the locality.  These parties shall receive the same full cooperation as the Consultant. 
5. Potential funding strategies for recommended capital improvements can be determined once the initial 

assessment is completed.   
6. Project payments shall be with 50 percent payment commensurate with Notice to Proceed and final 

payment immediately (within 30 days) upon project completion. 
 
Cost 
Base cost is $13,000 plus an evaluation of the Utilities Department, including procedures, policies and rate 
structures, for an additional $5,000.  
 
Schedule 
The OSA can be performed in 60 days and begin with a Notice to Proceed (NTP) and initial payment.   
 
 

 
 
We agree with the services and basis for fee determination in this scope of work and hereby grant the 
consultant notice to proceed for the work herein specified.  
 
 
 
_________________________________________  ______________________________ 
Mayor        Date 
 
 
 
 



DRAFT
Town of 

Amherst, Virginia

Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report

For the year ended June 30, 2017

Davidson, Doyle & Hilton, LLP
916 Main Street

Lynchburg, VA 24504

Town of Amherst, Virginia



DRAFT

Table of Contents
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

Management Discussion & Analysis 1-9

Independent Auditor’s Report 10-11

Basic Financial Statements
     Government-wide Financial Statements

Statement of Net Position 12
Statement of Activities 13          

     Fund Financial Statements
Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds 14
Statement of Revenue, Expenditures & Changes in Fund Balance – Governmental Funds 15-17
Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds 18
Statement of Revenues, Expenses & Changes in Fund Net Assets –

Proprietary Funds   19
Statement of Cash Flows-Proprietary Funds 20

Notes to Financial Statements 21-49

Supplemental Schedules
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 50
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 51

Required Supplemental Information
Budget vs. Actual Statements – Governmental Funds 52-54
Statement of Treasurer’s Accountability 55
Schedule of Town’s Share of Net Pension Liability 56
Schedule of Town Contributions 57
Statistics 58
Notes to Required Supplemental Information 59

Compliance
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

and on Compliance and Other Matters 60-61
Independent Auditor’s Report Compliance for Each Major Program and 

on Internal Control over Compliance Required by The Uniform Guidance 62-63
Summary of Compliance Matters 64
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 65-66



DRAFT

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Honorable Members of the Town Council
Town of Amherst, Virginia

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities and the business-type 
activities of the Town of Amherst as of and for the year ended June 30, 2017, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the Town of Amherst's basic financial statements as listed in 
the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our 
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards 
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of 
the United States, and Specifications for Audit of Counties, Cities and Towns, issued by the Auditor of Public 
Accounts of the Commonwealth of Virginia.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express 
no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
financial position of the governmental activities and the business-type activities of the Town of Amherst as of
June 30, 2017, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the 
year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  

10
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Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's 
discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison information on pages 1 through 9 and 52 through 54 be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which 
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and 
other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Town of Amherst's basic financial statements. The introductory section, statistical section, 
Schedule of Town’s Share of Net Pension Liability, and Schedule of Town Contributions are presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.  The schedule of 
expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by Title 2 U.S. Code 
of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards, and is also not a required part of the basis financial statements.

The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is the responsibility of management and was derived from and 
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements.  Such 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements 
and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated in 
all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.  

The introductory section, statistical section, Schedule of Town’s Share of Net Pension Liability, and Schedule of
Town Contributions have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November xx, 2017, 
on our consideration of the Town of Amherst’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters.  The 
purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town of 
Amherst’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Town of Amherst’s internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance.

Lynchburg, Virginia
November xx, 2017

11



DRAFT

Business

Governmental Type 
Activities Activities Total 

Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 1,295,196 $ 1,606,120             $ 2,901,316            
Investments 203,573 600,000                803,573               
Net Taxes Receivable 24,412 -                       24,412                 
Net Other Accounts Receivable 5,318 -                       5,318                   
Net Enterprise Accounts Receivable -                       250,689                250,689               
Prepaid Expenses 13,199 -                       13,199                 
Inventory -                       96,810                  96,810                 
Restricted Assets:
   Cash and Cash Equivalents -                    123,657                123,657               

Total Current Assets 1,541,698            2,677,276             4,218,974            

Net Fixed Assets 1,743,561 11,095,883           12,839,444          
Net Loan Costs -                       29,817                  29,817                 

Total Long-Term Assets 1,743,561            11,125,700           12,869,261          

Total assets 3,285,259            13,802,976           17,088,235          

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred outflows - pension 354,108 -                       354,108               

Total deferred outflows of resources 354,108               -                       354,108               

Liabilities
Accounts Payable 19,426                 132,834                152,260               
Accrued Liabilities 6,437                   5,531                   11,968                 
Uncompensated absences 34,939                 -                       34,939                 
Current Portion of Notes Payable -                       272,119                272,119               

Total current liabilities 60,802                 410,484                471,286               

OPEB liability 43,188                 -                       43,188                 
Net pension liability 951,675               -                       951,675               
Long-Term Portion of Notes Payable -                       6,441,011             6,441,011            

Total long-term liabilities 994,863               6,441,011             7,435,874            

Total liabilities 1,055,665            6,851,495             7,907,160            

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred inflows - pension 3,033 -                       3,033                   

Total deferred inflows of resources 3,033                   -                       3,033                   

Net Position
Invested in Capital Assets, net of related debt 1,743,561 4,506,411             6,249,972            
Unrestricted 837,108 2,445,070             3,282,178            

Total net position $ 2,580,669            $ 6,951,481             $ 9,532,150            

Town of Amherst, Virginia
Statement of Net Position

Full Accrual Basis
June 30, 2017

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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Net (Expense) Revenue
and Changes in Net Position

Program
Expenses

Charges Operating Capital Business
for Grants and Grants and Governmental Type

Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total

Primary Government:
Governmental activities:

General government administration 741,464$          1,139,448$        2,500$         -$          400,484$          -$                 400,484$              
Public Safety 475,533 -                    66,588 -            (408,945)           -                   (408,945)              
Public Works 671,149 -                    -               -            (671,149)           -                   (671,149)              

Total Government Activities 1,888,146$       1,139,448$        69,088$       -$          (679,610)$         -$                 (679,610)$            

Business type activities
Water, Sewer & Garbage 2,319,921         2,445,056          -               -            -                    125,135            125,135                

Total Primary Government 4,208,067$       3,584,504$        69,088$       -$          (679,610)$         125,135$          (554,475)$            

General revenues:
General property taxes 22,142              -                   22,142                  
Other local taxes 820,158            -                   820,158                
Unrestricted revenues from use of money and property 33,713              -                   33,713                  
Permits and Privilege Fees 9,046                -                   9,046                   
Fines and Forfeitures 9,007                -                   9,007                   
Intergovernmental revenues 29,921              -                   29,921                  

Transfers -                    -                   -                       
Total General Revenues and Transfers 923,987            -                   923,987                

Change in net position 244,377$          125,135$          369,512$              
Net position-beginning 2,336,292         6,826,346         9,162,638             
Net position-ending 2,580,669$       6,951,481$       9,532,150$           

Program Revenues Primary Government

Town of Amherst, Virginia
Statement of Activities

For the year ending June 30, 2017
Full Accrual Basis

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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Governmental 
Activities

Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 1,261,828            
Investments 203,573
Net Taxes Receivable 24,412                 
Net Other Accounts Receivable 5,318                   
Prepaid Expenses 13,199                 

Total Current Assets 1,508,330            

Total Assets $ 1,508,330            

Liabilities
Accounts Payable 19,426
Accrued Liabilities 6,437                   
Deferred Revenue 24,412                 

Total Current Liabilities 50,275                 

Total Liabilities 50,275                 

Fund Balance
Fund Balance - Nonspendable 13,199
Fund Balance - Unassigned 1,444,856

Total Fund Balance 1,458,055            

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance $ 1,508,330            

Town of Amherst, Virginia
Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds
Modified Accrual Basis

June 30, 2017

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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Revenues
General Property Taxes

Personal Property Tax Relief 17,456$               
Penalties 9,171                   

Total General Property Taxes 26,627                 

Other Local Taxes
Meals 348,872               
Lodging 7,965                   
Consumer Utility Taxes 142,172               
Local Sales and Use Taxes 100,048               
Business License Taxes 105,001               
Motor Vehicle Licenses 39,678                 
Bank Stock Taxes 76,422                 

Total Other Local Taxes 820,158               

Permits and Privilege Fees
Communications Lease 9,046                   

Total Permits and Privilege Fees 9,046                   

Fines and Forfeitures
Fines 8,249                   
Seized Property 758                      

Total Fines and Forfeitures 9,007                   

Revenue from Use of Money and Property
Interest Earned 19,597                 

Total Revenue from Use of Money and Property 19,597                 

Miscellaneous Revenue
Miscellaneous 37,522                 
Administrative Fees from Enterprise Funds 1,081,660            
Police Security Revenue 1,266                   
Proceeds from Sale of Building/Vehicles 19,000                 

Total Miscellaneous Revenues 1,139,448            

Intergovernmental Revenues
Non-Categorical Aid From the Commonwealth

Economic Development Recoupment Fee 27,386                 
Rolling Stock 2,535                   

Categorical Aid From the Commonwealth
Virginia State Police Grant 54,588                 
Fire Grant 10,000                 
VML Safety Program Grant 2,000                   
Miscellaneous Grant 2,500                   

Total Intergovernmental Revenues 99,009                 

Total Revenues 2,122,892$          

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Town of Amherst, Virginia
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance

Governmental Funds
Modified Accrual Basis

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
15



DRAFT

Expenditures
General Government Administration
Legislative

Total Mayor and Town Council 10,625$      
Total Legislative 10,625        

Non-Legislative General Government
General Government Salaries 227,652      
Employment Expenses 74,346        
Employee Assistance Program 850             
Town Attorney 22,853        
Office Supplies 31,114        
Office Equipment 24,148        
Bank Account Fees 70               
Miscellaneous 3,573          
Contingency Reserve 21,696        
Capital Expenditures 87,808        
Property & Landscape Maintenance 15,844        
Electric - Streetlights 25,863        
Heat and Electricity 4,830          
Telephone 18,255        
Grants 33,150        
Utility Service Allowance 2,944          
Building Maintenance 9,702          
Decorations 20,904        
Insurance 48,753        
Marketing 5,228          
Publications and Membership 4,125          
Planning & Development 2,270          
Travel and Training 5,568          
Audit & Accounting Services 11,774        
Engineering Services 6,000          
Fire Department 10,000        

Total Non-Legislative General Government 719,320      

Total General Government Administration 729,945$    

Public Safety Expenditures
Law Enforcement and Traffic Control

Public Safety Salaries 272,072$    
Employment Expenses 91,394        
Equipment and Uniforms 64,699        
Travel and Training 6,873          
Vehicles - Fuel 9,120          
Vehicles - Maintenance 7,913          
Miscellaneous 7,905          
Supplies 4,624          
Attorney fees 1,660          

Total Public Safety Expenditures 466,260$    

Town of Amherst, Virginia
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance

Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017
Modified Accrual Basis

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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Expenditures (continued)
Public Works Expenditures
Utilities

Salaries 434,689$     
Employment Expenses 159,164       
Benefits-Contra Capital Projects -               
Heat and Electricity 4,756           
Vehicles - Repair 7,248           
Uniforms 3,240           
Building Maintenance 2,454           
Equipment Maintenance 32,994         
Training and Education 3,765           
Miscellaneous 2,957           
Vehicles - Fuel 9,430           

Total Public Works Expenditures 660,697       

Total Expenditures 1,856,902    

Excess of revenues over expenditures 265,990       

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers out -               

Total other financing sources (uses) -               

Change in Fund Balance 265,990$     

Fund Balance-Beginning 1,192,065    

Fund Balance-Ending 1,458,055$  

Town of Amherst, Virginia
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance

Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017
Modified Accrual Basis

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
17
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Water Sewer Garbage Memorandum
Fund Fund Fund Total

Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 944,062$          638,603$          23,455$            1,606,120$       

Investments 292,405 307,595 -                   600,000            

Net Enterprise Accounts Receivable 119,418 121,516 9,755 250,689            

Inventory 78,596 18,214 -                   96,810              

Restricted Assets:

   Cash and Cash Equivalents 123,657 -                   -                   123,657            

Total Current Assets 1,558,138         1,085,928         33,210              2,677,276         

Net Fixed Assets 7,608,300 3,487,583 -                   11,095,883       

Net Loan Costs 29,817 -                   -                   29,817              

Total Long Term Assets 7,638,117         3,487,583         11,125,700       

Total Assets 9,196,255$       4,573,511$       33,210$            13,802,976$     

Liabilities

Accounts Payable 131,376$          1,458$              -$                 132,834$          

Accrued Liabilities 5,531 -                   -                   5,531                

Current Portion of Notes Payable 221,003            51,116              -                   272,119            

Total Current Liabilities 357,910            52,574              -                   410,484            

Notes Payable 3,840,142 2,600,869 -                   6,441,011         

Total Long Term Liabilities 3,840,142         2,600,869         -                   6,441,011         

Total Liabilities 4,198,052         2,653,443         -                   6,851,495         

Net Position

Invested in Capital Assets, net of related debt 3,670,812         835,599            -                   4,506,411         

Unrestricted 1,327,391         1,084,469         33,210 2,445,070         
Total Net Position 4,998,203$       1,920,068$       33,210$            6,951,481$       

June 30, 2017

Town of Amherst, Virginia

Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds

Full Accrual Basis

Enterprise Funds

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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Water Sewer Garbage
Fund Fund Fund Total

Operating Revenues
Monthly Billing 1,116,563$       967,525$          105,810$          2,189,898$       
Sprinkler Revenue 4,968                -                   -                   4,968                
Penalties 16,126              10,853              1,461 28,440              
Water Service Revenue 109,470            -                   -                   109,470            
Grant Revenue 31,400 -                   -                   31,400              
Miscellaneous Revenue 17,607              -                   -                   17,607              
Dormant Account Fees 3,512 5,059 -                   8,571                
Maintenance and Construction Revenue -                   -                   -                   -                    
Nutrient Credit Revenue -                   1,344 -                   1,344                
Rutledge Creek Operations -                   53,358              -                   53,358              

Total Operating Revenues 1,299,646$       1,038,139$       107,271$          2,445,056$       

Operating Expenses
Administrative Fees 561,027$          504,154$          15,304$            1,080,485$       
Line Materials 18,438              3,455                -                   21,893              
Pump Stations Operations 2,130                3,421                -                   5,551                
Electricity 38,736              39,416              -                   78,152              
Water & Sewer Service 41,882              9,410                -                   51,292              
Curbside Garbage Collection Service -                   -                   81,506 81,506              
Plant Maintenance 21,219              24,485              -                   45,704              
Chemicals 33,770              2,266                -                   36,036              
Water Sampling 9,409                -                   -                   9,409                
Laboratory 8,620                19,024              -                   27,644              
Miscellaneous 935                  19,721              132                  20,788              
Watershed Management 25,111              -                   -                   25,111              
Nutrient Expense -                   2,949 -                   2,949                
Water & Sewer Study & Maps 60,025              1,875 -                   61,900              
Bad Debt Expense 1,079                904                  57                    2,040                
Depreciation Expense 315,190            248,708            -                   563,898            
Amortization Expense 1,220                -                   -                   1,220                

Total Operating Expenses 1,138,791$       879,788$          96,999$            2,115,578$       

Operating income (expense) 160,855$          158,351$          10,272$            329,478$          

Non-operating revenues (expenses)
Interest Expense (93,841)            (110,502)          -                   (204,343)           
Total non-operating Revenues/Expenses (93,841)            (110,502)          -                   (204,343)           

Income (loss) before contributions and transfers 67,014              47,849              10,272              125,135            

Transfers in -                   -                   -                   -                    

Change in Net Position 67,014              47,849              10,272              125,135            

Net Position-Beginning 4,931,189 1,872,219 22,938 6,826,346         

Net Position-Ending 4,998,203$       1,920,068$       33,210$            6,951,481$       

For the Year Ending June 30, 2017

Enterprise Funds

Town of Amherst, Virginia

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Proprietary Funds

Full Accrual Basis

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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Water Sewer Garbage Memorandum
Fund Fund Fund Total Only

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers 1,311,296$       1,020,431$       106,579$          2,438,306$       
Payments to suppliers (261,667)          (124,346)          (88,456)            (474,469)           
Internal activity - payments to other funds (561,027)          (504,154)          (15,304)            (1,080,485)        

Net cash provided by operating activities 488,602           391,931           2,819               883,352            

Noncapital financing activities
Transfers in -                   -                   -                   -                    

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities -                   -                   -                   -                    

Cash flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities
Purchases of capital assets (1,710,847)       (12,398)            -                   (1,723,245)        
Proceeds from capital debt 1,636,675         -                   -                   1,636,675         
Principal paid on capital debt (152,088)          (49,049)            -                   (201,137)           
Interest paid on capital debt (93,841)            (110,502)          -                   (204,343)           

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (320,101)          (171,949)          -                   (492,050)           

Cash flows from Investing Activities
Net sale (purchase) of investments 300,000           -                   -                   300,000            

Net cash used in investing activities 300,000           -                   -                   300,000            

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 468,501           219,982           2,819               691,302            

Cash & Cash Equivalents, beginning of year 599,218           418,621           20,636 1,038,475         

Cash & Cash Equivalents, end of year 1,067,719$       638,603$          23,455$           1,729,777$       

Reconciliation to Statement of Net Position
Cash and cash equivalents 944,062$          638,603$          23,455$           1,606,120$       
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 123,657 -                   -                   123,657            

Total Cash & Cash Equivalents 1,067,719$       638,603$          23,455$           1,729,777$       

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Operating income (loss) 160,855$          158,351$          10,272$           329,478$          
Adjustments to reconcile change in unrestricted net assets

Depreciation and Amortization 316,410           248,708           -                   565,118$          
Decrease/(Increase) in accounts receivable 11,791             (17,708)            (692)                 (6,609)$             
Decrease/(Increase) in grant receivable -                   -                   -                   -$                  
Decrease/(Increase) in inventory 5,351               1,122               -                   6,473$              
(Decrease)/Increase in accounts payable (5,664)              1,458               (6,761)              (10,967)$           
(Decrease)/Increase in accrued liabilities (141)                 -                   -                   (141)$                

Net cash provided by operating activities 488,602$          391,931$          2,819$             883,352$          

Enterprise Funds

Town of Amherst, Virginia
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017
Full Accrual Basis

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
20
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Town of Amherst, Virginia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Note 1:  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Town of Amherst, Virginia (“Town”) is governed by an elected Town Council.  The Town 
Council is responsible for appointing the Town Manager and Treasurer. Effective July 1, 2015, under 
the revised Town charter, the Town Council is responsible for appointing the Town Manager and the 
Police Chief.  The Town Manager appoints the Treasurer.

The financial statements of The Town of Amherst, Virginia have been prepared in conformity with 
the specification promulgated by the Auditor of Public Accounts (APA) of the Commonwealth of 
Virginia, and the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America as 
specified by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (hereafter referred to as the GASB). The 
more significant of the government’s accounting policies are described below.

Financial Statement Presentation

In June 1999, GASB issued Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements – and Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis- for State and Local Governments.  This statement, known as the “Reporting 
Model”, affects the way the Town prepares and presents financial information.  GASB Statement No. 
34 established new requirements and a new reporting model for the annual financial reports of state 
and local governments.  The model was developed to make annual reports easier to understand and 
more useful to the people who use governmental financial information to make decisions.

In June 2011, GASB issued Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of 
Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position.  This statement amended the net asset 
reporting requirements in GASB Statement No. 34, and changed the structure of the government 
balance sheet.

In March 2012, GASB issued Statement No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and Liabilities.  
This statement amended the financial statement classification of certain items included in deferred 
inflows and outflows categories that changed the balance sheet structure in GASB Statement No. 63.  

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

GASB Statement No. 34 requires the financial statements be accompanied by a narrative introduction 
and analytical overview of the government’s financial activities.

Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

Government-wide Financial Statements - The statement of net position and the statement of activities 
report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its component 
units.  These statements include the financial activities of the overall government.  For the most part, 
effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements.  Governmental activities, which 
normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from 
business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support.  Likewise, 
the primary government is reported separately from certain legally separate component units for 
which the primary government is financially accountable.
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Town of Amherst, Virginia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Note 1:  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements (continued)

The statement of net position is designed to display financial position of the primary government 
(government and business-type activities). Governments will report all capital assets, in the 
government-wide Statement of Net Position and will report depreciation expense-the cost of per 
period use of capital assets-in the Statement of Activities.  The new structure under GASB No. 63 
requires that deferred outflows of resources to be reported in a separate section following assets and 
deferred inflows of resources to be reported in a separate section following liabilities.  A deferred 
outflow is a consumption of net assets by the government that is applicable to a future period.  A 
deferred inflow is an acquisition of net assets by the government that is applicable to a future 
reporting period.  Under the GASB No. 63 format, assets plus deferred outflows of resources less 
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources equal net position.  The net position of a government will 
be broken into three categories-1) invested in capital assets, net of related debt; 2) restricted; and 3) 
unrestricted.

The government-wide statement of activities reports expenses and revenues in a format that focuses 
on the cost of each of the government’s functions.  The expense of individual functions is compared 
to the revenues generated directly by the function.  The statement of activities demonstrates the 
degree to which the direct expenses of a given function are offset by program revenues.  Direct 
expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment.  Program revenues 
include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, 
services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that 
are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment.  
Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general 
revenues.

Fund Financial Statements - In the fund financial statements, financial transactions and accounts of 
the Town are organized on the basis of funds.  The operation of each fund is considered to be an 
independent fiscal and separate accounting entity, with a self-balancing set of accounts recording cash 
and/or other financial resources together with all related liabilities and residual equities or balances, 
and changes therein, which are segregated for the purpose of carrying on specific activities or 
attaining certain objectives in accordance with special regulations, restrictions, or limitation. The 
fund types presented in the financial statements are described below:

Governmental Funds - Governmental Funds are those through which most governmental functions 
are financed.  These funds are reported on the modified accrual basis of accounting.  The 
government reports the following major governmental funds.

General Fund - The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the Town.  This fund is 
used to account for all financial transactions and resources except those required to be 
accounted for in another fund.  Revenues are derived primarily from property and other local 
taxes, state and federal distributions, licenses, permits, charges for service, and interest 
income.
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Town of Amherst, Virginia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Note 1:  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements (continued)

Proprietary Funds - Proprietary Funds account for operations that are financed in a manner similar 
to private business enterprises.  These funds are reported on the full accrual basis of accounting.  
The Proprietary Fund measurement focus is upon determination of net income, financial position, 
and changes in financial position.  Proprietary Funds consist of Enterprise funds.

Enterprise Funds - Enterprise funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-
operating items.  Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services 
and producing and delivering goods and services in connection with a proprietary fund’s 
principal ongoing operations.  The principal operating revenues of the Town’s enterprise 
funds are charges to customers for sales and services.  Operating expenses for enterprise 
funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on 
capital assets.  All revenue and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-
operating revenues and expenses.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds.  Major 
individual government funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns 
in the fund financial statements.  For governmental funds and proprietary funds, GASB No. 63 
requires that deferred outflows of resources to be reported in a separate section following assets and 
deferred inflows of resources to be reported in a separate section following liabilities.  Under the 
GASB No. 63 format for governmental funds, assets plus deferred outflows of resources equal 
liabilities plus deferred inflows of resources plus fund balance.  Under the GASB No. 63 format for 
proprietary funds, assets plus deferred outflows of resources less liabilities and deferred inflows of 
resources equal net position.  

Budgetary comparison schedules – Demonstrating compliance with the adopted budget is an 
important component of a government’s accountability to the public.  Many citizens participate in one 
way or another in the process of establishing the annual operating budgets of state and local 
governments, and have a keen interest in following the actual financial progress of their governments 
over the course of the year.

Financial Reporting Entity

The basic criterion for determining whether a governmental department, agency, institution, 
commission, public authority, or other governmental organization should be included in a primary 
governmental unit’s reporting entity for basic financial statements is financial accountability.  

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation

The accompanying financial statements are prepared in accordance with pronouncements issued by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. The principles prescribed by GASB represent 
generally accepted accounting principles applicable to governmental units.
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Town of Amherst, Virginia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Note 1:  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation (continued)

The Town applies all GASB pronouncements as well as the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
pronouncements issued on or before November 30, 1989 unless these pronouncements conflict with 
or contradict GASB pronouncements.

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement 
focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial 
statements.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are record when a liability is incurred, 
regardless of timing of related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the fiscal 
year in which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all 
eligibility requirements imposed by the granting organization are met.

The government-wide statement of activities reflects both the gross and net cost per functional 
category which are otherwise being supported by general government revenues, intergovernmental 
revenues, fines, permits and charges, etc.  The Statement of Activities reduces gross expenses 
(including depreciation) by related program revenues, operating and capital grants, and contributions.  
The program revenues must be directly associated with the function or a business type entity.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  This is the manner in which these 
funds are normally budgeted.  Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and 
available.  Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period 
or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.  For this purpose, the government 
considers revenues to be collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period.  All other 
revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the 
government.  Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual 
accounting.  However, debt service expenditures as well as expenditures related to compensated 
absences and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

State statutes authorize the Town government to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, 
commercial paper, corporate bonds, repurchase agreements, and the Local Government Investment 
Pool.  The Town considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of twelve months or less 
when purchased to be cash equivalents.

Investments

Investments for the government, as well as for its component units, are reported at fair value. 
Investments are stated at fair value which approximates market; no investments are valued at cost.  
Certificates of deposit with maturities less than one year and short-term repurchase agreements are 
reported in the accompanying financial statements as cash and cash equivalents.  Certificates of 
deposit with maturities of greater than twelve months are included in investments at fair value.



DRAFT

25

Town of Amherst, Virginia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Note 1:  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Interfund Balances and Activity

Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the 
end of the fiscal year are referred to as either  “due to other funds” or “due from other funds” (i.e. the 
current portion of interfund loans).  

Receivables and payables

All trade and property tax receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles.  The Town 
calculates its allowance for uncollectible accounts using historical collection data and, in certain 
cases, specific account analysis.  The allowance amounted to approximately $495 at June 30, 2017, 
and is composed of real estate and personal property accounts.

Property is assessed at its value on January 1.  Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property 
as of January 1.  Taxes are payable on December 5th.  The Town bills and collects its own property 
taxes.  Effective July 1, 2014, the Town has reduced real estate and property tax assessments rates to 
zero.

Inventory

Inventory in proprietary fund types consists of materials and supplies held for consumption.  The 
inventory is carried at the lower of cost or market.

Long-term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are 
reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary 
fund statement of net position.  Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or 
discount.

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as 
well as bond insurance costs, during the current period.  The face amount of debt issued is reported as 
other financial sources while discounts on debt insurance are reported as other financing uses.  
Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt 
service expenditures.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue consists primarily of property taxes and other receivables not collected with 60 days 
of yearend.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Note 1:  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Net Position

Net position represents assets plus deferred outflows of resources less liabilities and deferred inflows 
of resources.  Invested in capital assets, net of related debt consists of capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of any borrowings used for the 
acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets.  Components of net position are reported as 
restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use either through the enabling legislation 
adopted by the Town or through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors or laws or 
regulations of other governments.  When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for 
use, it is the Town’s policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are 
needed.

Fund Balance

Fund balance is divided into five classifications based primarily on the extent to which the Town is 
bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources in the governmental funds.  The 
classifications are as follows:

Nonspendable - The nonspendable fund balance category includes amounts that cannot be spent 
because they are not in spendable form, or legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 
The “not in spendable form” criterion includes items that are not expected to be converted to cash. It 
also includes the long-term amount of interfund loans.

Restricted - Fund balance is reported as restricted when constraints placed on the use of resources are 
either externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or 
laws or regulations of other governments or is imposed by law through constitutional provisions or 
enabling legislation.  Enabling legislation authorizes the Town to assess, levy, charge, or otherwise 
mandate payment of resources (from external resource providers) and includes a legally enforceable 
requirement that those resources be used only for the specific purposes stipulated in the legislation.   
Legal enforceability means that the Town can be compelled by an external party-such as citizens, 
public interest groups, or the judiciary to use resources created by enabling legislation only for the 
purposes specified by the legislation.

Committed - The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only for 
the specific purposes imposed by formal action (ordinance or resolution) of Town Council. Those 
committed amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless Town Council removes or changes 
the specified use by taking the same type of action (ordinance or resolution) it employed to previously 
commit those amounts. In contrast to fund balance that is restricted by enabling legislation, 
committed fund balance classification may be redeployed for other purposes with appropriate due 
process.  Constraints imposed on the use of committed amounts are imposed by Town Council,
separate from the authorization to raise the underlying revenue; therefore, compliance with these 
constraints is not considered to be legally enforceable. Committed fund balance also incorporates 
contractual obligations to the extent that existing resources in the fund have been specifically 
committed for use in satisfying those contractual requirements.
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For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Note 1:  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Fund Balance (continued)

Assigned - Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the Town
for specific purposes but do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. In 
governmental funds other than the General Fund, assigned fund balance represents the remaining 
amount that is not restricted or committed. In the General Fund, assigned amounts represent intended 
uses established by Town Council.

Unassigned - Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the General Fund and includes 
all spendable amounts not contained in the other classifications. In other governmental funds, the 
unassigned classification is used only to report a deficit balance resulting from overspending for 
specific purposes for which amounts had been restricted, committed, or assigned.

The Town applies restricted resources first when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which
either restricted or unrestricted (committed, assigned, and unassigned) amounts are available.
Similarly, within unrestricted fund balance, committed amounts are reduced first followed by
assigned, and then unassigned amounts when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which
amounts in any of the unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used.

Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net 
position of the Town’s Retirement Plan and additions to/deductions from the Town’s Retirement
Plan’s net fiduciary position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the 
Virginia Retirement System (VRS).  For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of 
employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  
Investments are reported at fair value.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and 
disclosures.  Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

New Accounting Pronouncements

GASB Statement No. 75, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other 
Than Pensions”, was issued in June 2015.  This statement addresses accounting and financial 
reporting for other postemployment benefits.  This statement is effective for reporting periods 
beginning after June 15, 2017.  GASB Statement No. 85, “Omnibus 2017,” was issued in March 
2017.  This statement addresses a variety of topics including pensions and other postemployment 
benefits (OPEB).  This statement is effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2017.
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Note 2 – Cash and Investments

Deposits: All cash of the primary government and its discretely presented component unit is 
maintained in accounts collateralized in accordance with the Virginia Security for Public Deposits 
Act, Section 2.2-4400 et. Seq. of the Code of Virginia (a multiple financial institution collateral pool) 
or covered by federal depository insurance.  Under the act, banks holding public deposits in excess of 
the amounts insured by FDIC must pledge collateral in the amounts of 50% of excess deposits to a 
collateral pool in the name of the State Treasury Board.  Savings and Loans institutions are required 
to collateralize 100% of deposits in excess of FDIC limits.  Deposits covered by the Act are 
considered insured since the Treasury Board is authorized to make additional assessments.

Investments: Statutes authorize the Town to invest in obligations of the United States or agencies 
thereof, obligations of the Commonwealth of Virginia or political subdivisions thereof, obligations of 
the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (World Bank) and Asian Development 
Bank, commercial Paper Record, banker’s acceptances, repurchase agreements and state Treasurers 
Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP).  Pursuant to Sec 2.1-234.7 of the Code of Virginia, the 
Treasury Board of the Commonwealth sponsors the LGIP and has delegated certain functions to the 
State Treasurer.  The LGIP reports to the Treasury Board at their regularly schedule monthly 
meetings and the fair value of the position in LGIP is the same as the value of the pool shares (i.e., the 
LGIP maintains a stable net asset value of $1 per share).  The Town’s investment in LGIP consists of 
underlying cash investments held for less than twelve months and is reported as cash.  The Town’s 
investment in LGIP as of 6/30/17 was $1,328,692.

The Town maintains its cash balances including certificates of deposit at several financial institutions.  
The accounts at the financial institution are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation up 
to $250,000 at each institution.  The cash balances in excess of the insurance limits are as follows at 
June 30, 2017:

Carter Bank & Trust $1,686,999
Bank of the James $  257,950

Note 3 – Property Taxes Receivable

Property is assessed at its value on January 1.  Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property 
as of January 1.  Taxes are payable on December 5.  The Town bills and collects its own property 
taxes. Effective July 1, 2014, the Town has reduced real estate and property tax assessments rates to 
zero.

Note 4 – Fair Value Measurements

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 72, “Fair Value Measurement and Application”, The Town 
categorizes its investments within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting 
principles.  That framework provides a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques 
used to measure fair value.  The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs 
(Level 3 measurements).
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Note 4 – Fair Value Measurements (continued)

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described as follows:
Level 1 Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets 

or liabilities in active markets that the plan has the ability to access.

Level 2 Inputs to the valuation methodology include
 quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets;
 quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets;
 inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability;
 inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market 

data by correlation or other means.

If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, the Level 2 input must be 
observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 

Level  3 Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value 
measurement.

The asset or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level 
of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement.  Valuation techniques used need to maximize the 
use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.

Following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value.  There have 
been no changes in the methodologies used at June 30, 2017.

Certificates of Deposit: Valued at the face amount of cash deposited plus earned and accrued interest. 

The preceding methods described may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net 
realizable value or reflective of future fair values.  Furthermore, although the plan believes its valuation 
methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies or 
assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value 
measurement at the reporting date.

The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the plan’s assets at fair value as of June 
30, 2017:

Assets at Fair Value as of June 30, 2017
Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Certificates of deposit $ 803,573 $ 803,573 $ - $ -

Total $ 803,573 $ 803,573 $ - $ -

Note 5 – Claims, Judgments and Compensated Absences

In accordance with GASB 16, the Town has accrued liabilities arising from outstanding claims, 
judgments and compensated absences.  Town employees are paid all unused vacation, holiday due 
and compensatory time upon termination.  The Town has $34,939 of accrued compensated absences 
at June 30, 2017.
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Note 6 – Long-Term Debt

Water Fund 

On October 29, 2010, the Town issued a general obligation bond to Suntrust Bank and concurrently 
signed a note with the bank for $2,188,523, at 3.28% interest to refinance the 1995 note with the 
United States Department of Agriculture and the 2007 note with Carter Bank & Trust, both of which 
were used to finance water system improvement programs.  The note is secured by the general 
obligation bond issued by the Town.  Payments of principal and interest of $15,434 are due monthly 
and began on December 15, 2010.  At June 30, 2017 the outstanding balance was $1,360,290.  
Interest of $47,084 was paid during the fiscal year.  A schedule of maturities is as follows:

  For the year ending 
June 30 Principal Interest

2018 $ 142,713 42,493
2019 147,465 37,741
2020 152,375 32,831
2021 157,449 27,757
2022 162,691 22,514

2023 - 2026 597,597 35,188
$ 1,360,290 $ 198,524

On November 1, 2012, the Town issued a general obligation bond to Virginia Water Supply 
Revolving Fund (VWSRF), which is administered by the Virginia Resources Authority (VRA) and 
concurrently signed a financing agreement with VRA not to exceed $565,935, at 3% interest.  The 
financing agreement also included a principal forgiveness loan not to exceed $565,935.  The loans 
from VRA were used to finance the replacement of the Route 60 West waterline.  VRA disbursed the 
loan proceeds to the Town on a reimbursement basis, upon receipt of the appropriate requisition and 
documentation of project costs.  The total amount borrowed under the agreement was $539,152 and 
the total amount of principal forgiveness was $539,152.  An interest only payment on loan proceeds 
was made on January 1, 2014.  Payments of principal and interest of $14,522 are due semi-annually 
beginning July 1, 2014.  At June 30, 2017, the outstanding balance was $492,097.  Interest of $15,078
was paid during the fiscal year.
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Note 6 – Long-Term Debt (continued)

Water Fund (continued)

The schedule of maturities is as follows:
  For the year ending 

June 30 Principal Interest
2018 $ 14,388 14,656
2019 14,823 14,221
2020 15,271 13,773
2021 15,733 13,311
2022 16,208 12,836

2023 - 2027 88,692 56,528
2028 – 2032 102,930 42,289
2033 - 2037 119,455 25,765
2038 - 2041 104,597 6,945

$ 492,097 $ 200,324

On February 4, 2016, the Town issued a general obligation bond to Virginia Water Supply Revolving 
Fund (VWSRF), which is administered by the Virginia Resources Authority (VRA) and concurrently 
signed a financing agreement with VRA not to exceed $2,640,300, at 2.25% interest.  The loan from 
VRA were used to finance the replacement of the Main Street waterline.  VRA disbursed the loan 
proceeds to the Town on a reimbursement basis, upon receipt of the appropriate requisition and 
documentation of project costs.  Loan proceeds of $1,636,675 and $572,083 were received during the 
years ending June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  An interest only payment on loan proceeds due 
on July 1, 2017 was made during the year ending June 30, 2017.  Payments of principal and interest 
of $61,476 are due semi-annually beginning January 1, 2018.  At June 30, 2017, the outstanding 
balance was $2,208,758.  Interest of $31,679 was paid during the fiscal year.

The financing agreement with VRA contains certain restrictive covenants.  Under the financing 
agreement, the Town is required to establish a segregated cash account called "Town of Amherst 
Series 2016 Reserve Fund" to be pledged as security for payment of principal and interest.  The Town 
is required to maintain a balance equal to one year of principal and interest payments.  This account is 
reported as "restricted cash" on the Statement of Net Position.  The Town is also required to maintain 
rates, fees, and charges for services such that net revenues available for debt service equal at least 
100% of the amount required during the fiscal year to make principal and interest payments.  The 
Town is in compliance with these covenants as of June 30, 2017.  
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Note 6 – Long-Term Debt (continued)

Water Fund (continued)

The schedule of maturities is as follows once all loan proceeds are received:
  For the year ending 

June 30 Principal Interest
2018 $ 63,902 59,049
2019 65,348 57,603
2020 66,827 56,125
2021 68,339 54,613
2022 69,885 53,066

2023 - 2027 373,873 240,886
2028 – 2032 418,128 196,630
2033 - 2037 467,622 147,137
2037 - 2042 522,974 91,785
2043 - 2047 523,402 29,881

$ 2,640,300 $ 986,775

Sewer Fund 

On August 4, 2003 the Town obtained interim financing to finance the construction of a new sewer 
plant.  The amount of financing was $3,121,000. On August 12, 2005, the town issued a note, which 
replaced the August 4, 2003 interim financing, with the United States Department of Agriculture, 
secured by a general obligation bond issued by the Town.  The obligation has a rate of interest of 
4.125% and is amortized over a 40 year period. Payments of principal and interest of $13,296 are due 
monthly and began on September 12, 2005. As of June 30, 2017, the outstanding balance was 
$2,651,985. Interest of $110,502 was paid during the current fiscal year.  

A schedule of maturities is as follows:
For the year ending 

June 30 Principal Interest
2018 $ 51,116 108,436
2019 53,265 106,287
2020 55,504 104,048
2021 57,837 101,715
2022 60,269 99,283

2023 - 2027 341,546 456,214
2028 – 2032 419,633 378,127
2033 - 2037 515,572 282,188
2037 - 2042 633,445 164,316
2043 - 2045 463,798 31,130

$ 2,651,985 $ 1,831,744
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Note 6 – Long-Term Debt (continued)

The following is a summary of changes in long-term liabilities for the year ended June 30, 2017:

Balance Balance
July 1, 2016 Issued Retired June 30, 2017

Governmental activities $ - $ - $ - $ -

Business-type activities:
Water Fund 2,576,558 1,636,675 152,088 4,061,145
Sewer Fund 2,701,034 - 49,049 2,651,985
Total Business-type activities 5,277,592 1,636,675 201,137 6,713,130

Total $ 5,277,592 $ 1,636,675 $ 201,137 $ 6,713,130

Note 7 – Retirement Plan

Plan description

All full-time, salaried permanent employees of the Town are automatically covered by the VRS
Retirement Plan upon employment.  The Plan is administered by the Virginia Retirement System 
(VRS) along with plans for other employer groups in the Commonwealth of Virginia.  Members earn 
one month of service credit for each month they are employed and for which they and their employer 
are paying contributions to VRS.  Members are eligible to purchase prior service, based on specific 
criteria as defined in the Code of Virginia, as amended.  Eligible prior service that may be purchased 
includes prior public service, active military service, certain periods of leave, and previously refunded 
service.

VRS administers three different benefit plan structures for covered employees in the VRS State 
Employee Retirement Plan – Plan 1, Plan 2, and Hybrid.  Each of these benefit structures has a 
different eligibility criteria.  The specific information for each plan and the eligibility for covered 
groups within each plan are described below:

 Plan 1 – VRS Plan 1 is a defined benefit plan that covers members hired before July 1, 2010 
and who were vested as of January 1, 2013.  Nonhazardous duty covered Plan 1 members 
were allowed to make an irrevocable decision to opt into the Hybrid Retirement Plan during a 
special election window held January 1 through April 30, 2014.  Retirement eligibility and 
benefits under the plan is as follows:

o Non-hazardous duty members are eligible for an unreduced retirement benefit 
beginning at age 65 with at least 5 years of service credit or age 55 with at least 30 
years of service credit.  They may retire with a reduced benefit as early as age 55 
with at least 5 years of service credit or age 50 with at least 10 years of service credit.  
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Note 7 – Retirement Plan (continued)

Plan description (continued)

 Plan 1 continued –
o Hazardous duty members are eligible for an unreduced benefit beginning at age 60 

with at least 5 years of service credit or age 50 with at least 25 years of service credit.  
These members include sheriffs, deputy sheriffs and hazardous duty employees of 
political subdivisions that have elected to provide enhanced coverage for hazardous 
duty service.  They may retire with a reduced benefit as early as age 50 with at least 5 
years of service credit.  

o The VRS Basic Benefit is a lifetime monthly benefit based on a retirement multiplier 
as a percentage of the member's average final compensation multiplied by the 
member's total service credit.  Under Plan 1, average final compensation is the 
average of the member's 36 consecutive months of highest compensation. The 
retirement multiplier for non-hazardous duty members is 1.70%.  The retirement 
multiplier for sheriffs and regional jail superintendents is 1.85%.  The retirement 
multiplier for eligible political subdivision hazardous duty employees other than 
sheriffs and jail superintendents is 1.70% or 1.85% as elected by the employer.  

o Members become vested in their benefits when they have at least 5 years of 
creditable service.

 Plan 2 – VRS Plan 2 is a defined benefit plan that covers members hired or rehired on or after 
July 1, 2010 and who were not vested as of January 1, 2013.  Eligible Plan 2 members were 
allowed to make an irrevocable decision to opt into the Hybrid Retirement Plan during a 
special election window held January 1 through April 30, 2014.  Retirement eligibility and 
benefits under the plan is as follows:

o Non-hazardous duty members are eligible for an unreduced benefit beginning at their 
normal Social Security retirement age with at least 5 years of service credit or when 
the sum of their age and service equals 90.  They may retire with a reduced benefit as 
early as age 60 with at least 5 years of service credit.

o Hazardous duty are eligible for an unreduced benefit beginning at age 60 with at least 
5 years of service credit or age 50 with at least 25 years of service credit.  These 
members include sheriffs, deputy sheriffs and hazardous duty employees of political 
subdivisions that have elected to provide enhanced coverage for hazardous duty 
service.  They may retire with a reduced benefit as early as age 50 with at least 5 
years of service credit.
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Note 7 – Retirement Plan (continued)

Plan description (continued)

 Plan 2 continued –
o The VRS Basic Benefit is a lifetime monthly benefit based on a retirement multiplier 

as a percentage of the member's average final compensation multiplied by the 
member's total service credit.  Under Plan 2, average final compensation is the 
average of the member's 60 consecutive months of highest compensation.  The 
multiplier for Plan 2 members is 1.70% for service earned, purchased, or granted 
prior to January 1, 2013.  For non-hazardous duty members, the multiplier is 1.65% 
for service earned, purchased or granted on or after January 1, 2013.  The retirement 
multiplier for sheriffs and regional jail superintendents is 1.85%.  The retirement 
multiplier for eligible political subdivision hazardous duty employees other than 
sheriffs and jail superintendents is 1.70% or 1.85% as elected by the employer.    

o Members become vested in their benefits when they have at least 5 years of 
creditable service.

 Hybrid Retirement Plan – VRS Hybrid Retirement Plan combines the features of a defined 
benefit plan and a defined contribution plan and covers members who were hired on or after 
January 1, 2014, as well as VRS Plan 1 and Plan 2 members that opted into the plan during a 
special election window.  Retirement eligibility and benefits under the plan is as follows:

o Under the defined benefit component, members are eligible for an unreduced benefit 
beginning at their normal Social Security retirement age with at least 5 years of 
service credit or when the sum of their age and service equals 90.  They may retire 
with a reduced benefit as early as age 60 with at least 5 years of service credit.

o Under the defined benefit component, the VRS Basic Benefit is a lifetime monthly 
benefit based on a retirement multiplier as a percentage of the member's average final 
compensation multiplied by the member's total service credit.  Under the Hybrid 
Plan, average final compensation is the average of the member's 60 consecutive 
months of highest compensation.  The retirement multiplier for Hybrid Plan members 
is 1.0%  

o Under the defined contribution component, members are eligible to receive 
distributions upon leaving employment, subject to restrictions.  Under the defined 
contribution component, the benefit is based on contributions made by the member 
and any matching contributions made by the employer, plus net investment earnings 
on those contributions.

o Members become vested in their benefits when they have at least 5 years of 
creditable service.  Members are always 100% vested in the contributions that they 
make.
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Note 7 – Retirement Plan (continued)

Plan description (continued)

At retirement, members can elect the Basic Benefit, the Survivor Option, a Partial Lump-Sum Option 
Payment (PLOP) or the Advance Pension Option.  A retirement reduction factor is applied to the 
Basic Benefit amount for members electing the Survivor Option, PLOP or Advance Pension Option 
or those retiring with a reduced benefit.

Retirees are eligible for an annual cost-of-living adjustment (“COLA”) effective July 1 of the second 
calendar year of retirement. Under Plan 1, the COLA cannot exceed 5%; under Plan 2, the COLA 
cannot exceed 3%. The VRS also provides death and disability benefits.  Title 51.1 of the Code of 
Virginia, as amended, assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the General 
Assembly of Virginia.  

The System issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) that includes 
financial statements and required supplementary information for plans administered by VRS.  A copy 
of the report may be obtained by writing to the System’s Chief Financial Officer, P.O. Box 2500, 
Richmond, VA 23218 or from the VRS website at http://www.varetire.org/pdf/publications/2016-
annual-report.pdf.

Employees covered by benefit terms

Number
Inactive members or their beneficiaries currently
   receiving benefits 14

Inactive members
  Vested 1
  Non-vested 3
  Active elsewhere in VRS 2
Total inactive members 6

Active members 18

Total covered employees 38

Contributions

The contribution requirement for active employees is governed by Title 51.1-145 of the Code of 
Virginia, as amended, but may be impacted as a result of funding provided to political subdivisions 
by the Virginia General Assembly.  Employees are required to contribute 5% of their compensation 
toward their retirement.  Prior to July 1, 2012, the 5% member contribution was paid by the employer.  
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Note 7 – Retirement Plan (continued)

Contributions (continued)

Beginning July 1, 2012, new employees were required to pay the 5% member contribution.  In 
addition, for existing employees, employers were required to begin making the employee pay the 5% 
member contribution.  This could be phased in over a period of up to 5 years and the employer is 
required to provide a salary increase equal to the amount of the increase in the employee-paid 
member contribution.  

The Town’s contractually required contribution rate for the year ended June 30, 2017 was 16.91% of 
covered employee compensation.  This rate was based on an actuarially determined rate from an 
actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2015.  This rate, when combined with employee contributions, was 
expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional 
amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability.  Contributions to the pension plan from the Town 
were $132,263 for the year ended June 30, 2017.

Net pension liability

The Town’s net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2016.  The total pension liability used 
to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation performed as of June 
30, 2015, using updated actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement and 
rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2016.

Actuarial Assumptions – General Employees

The total pension liability for General Employees in the Town’s Retirement Plan was based on an 
actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2015, using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method and the 
following assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement and rolled forward to the 
measurement date of June 30, 2016. 

 Inflation –  2.5%
 Salary increases, including inflation -  3.5% – 5.35%
 Investment rate of return  – 7%, net of pension plan investment expense, 

including inflation*

* Administrative expenses as a percent of the market value of assets for the last experience study 
were found to be approximately 0.06% of the market assets for all of the VRS plans. This would 
provide an assumed investment return rate for GASB purposes of slightly more than the assumed 
7.0%. However, since the difference was minimal, and a more conservative 7.0% investment return 
assumption provided a projected plan net position that exceeded the projected benefit payments, the 
long-term expected rate of return on investments was assumed to be 7.0% to simplify preparation of 
pension liabilities.
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Note 7 – Retirement Plan (continued)

Actuarial Assumptions – General Employees (continued)

 Mortality rates: 14% of deaths are assumed to be service related
o Non-LEOS:

 Pre-Retirement: 
 RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 

2020 with males set forward 4 years and females were set back 2
years. 

 Post-Retirement: 
 RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 

2020 with males set forward 1 year.
 Post-Disablement:

 RP-2000 Disability Mortality Table Projected to 2020 with males set 
back 3 years and no provision for future mortality improvement.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2015 valuation were based on the results of an 
actuarial experience study for the period from July 1, 2008 through June 30, 2012. Changes to the 
actuarial assumptions as a result of the experience study are as follows: 

 Update mortality table 
 Decrease in rates of service retirement 
 Decrease in rates of disability retirement
 Reduce rates of salary increase by 0.25% per year 

Actuarial Assumptions – Public Safety Employees

The total pension liability for Public Safety Employees in the Town’s Retirement Plan was based on 
an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2015, using the Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method and the 
following assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement and rolled forward to the 
measurement date of June 30, 2016. 

 Inflation –  2.5%
 Salary increases, including inflation -  3.5% – 4.75%
 Investment rate of return  – 7%, net of pension plan investment expense, 

including inflation*

* Administrative expenses as a percent of the market value of assets for the last experience study 
were found to be approximately 0.06% of the market assets for all of the VRS plans. This would 
provide an assumed investment return rate for GASB purposes of slightly more than the assumed 
7.0%. However, since the difference was minimal, and a more conservative 7.0% investment return 
assumption provided a projected plan net position that exceeded the projected benefit payments, the 
long-term expected rate of return on investments was assumed to be 7.0% to simplify preparation of 
pension liabilities.
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Note 7 – Retirement Plan (continued)

Actuarial Assumptions – Public Safety Employees (continued)

 Mortality rates: 60% of deaths are assumed to be service related
o LEOS:

 Pre-Retirement: 
 RP-2000 Employee Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 

2020 with males set back 2 years and females set back 2 years. 
 Post-Retirement: 

 RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table Projected with Scale AA to 
2020 with males set forward 1 year.

 Post-Disablement:
 RP-2000 Disability Mortality Table Projected to 2020 with males set 

back 3 years and no provision for future mortality improvement.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2015 valuation were based on the results of an 
actuarial experience study for the period from July 1, 2008 through June 30, 2012. Changes to the 
actuarial assumptions as a result of the experience study are as follows: 

 Update mortality table 
 Adjustment to rates of service retirement for females
 Increase in rates of withdrawal
 Decrease in male and female rates of disability

Long-term expected rate of return

The long-term expected rate of return on pension System investments was determined using a log-
normal distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return 
(expected returns, net of pension System investment expense and inflation) are developed for each 
major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by 
weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by 
adding expected inflation.
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Note 7 – Retirement Plan (continued)

Long-term expected rate of return (continued)

The target asset allocation and best estimate of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset 
class are summarized in the following table:

Asset Class (Strategy) Target Allocation

Arithmetic Long-
Term Expected Rate 

of Return

Weighted Average 
Long-Term Expected 

Rate of Return

U. S. Equity 19.50% 6.46% 1.26%
Developed Non U. S. Equity 16.50% 6.28% 1.04%
Emerging Market Equity 6.00% 10.00% 0.60%
Fixed Income 15.00% 0.09% 0.01%
Emerging Debt 3.00% 3.51% 0.11%
Rate Sensitive Credit 4.50% 3.51% 0.16%
Non Rate Sensitive Credit 4.50% 5.00% 0.23%
Convertibles 3.00% 4.81% 0.14%
Public Real Estate 2.25% 6.12% 0.14%
Private Real Estate 12.75% 7.10% 0.91%
Private Equity 12.00% 10.41% 1.25%
Cash 1.00% -1.50% -0.02%
Total 100.00% 5.83%

Inflation 2.50%
*Expected arithmetic nominal return 8.33%

Using stochastic projection results provides an expected range of real rates of return over various time 
horizons.  Looking at one year results produces an expected real return of 8.33% but also has a high 
standard deviation, which means there is high volatility.  Over larger time horizons the volatility 
declines significantly and provides a median return of 7.44%, including expected inflation of 2.50%.

Discount rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The projection of cash flows
used to determine the discount rate assumed that System member contributions will be made per the
VRS Statutes and the employer contributions will be made in accordance with the VRS funding
policy at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates adopted by
the VRS Board of Trustees and the member rate. Through the fiscal year ending June 30, 2018, the 
rate contributed by the employer for the Town’s Retirement Plan will be subject to the portion of the 
VRS Board-certified rates that are funded by the Virginia General Assembly. From July 1, 2018 on, 
participating employers are assumed to contribute 100% of the actuarially determined contribution 
rates. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be 
available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. 
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return was applied to all periods of projected benefit 
payments to determine the total pension liability.
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Note 7 – Retirement Plan (continued)

Changes in net pension liability

Total 
Pension 
Liability

Plan 
Fiduciary 

Net 
Position

Net 
Pension 
Liability

Balances at June 30, 2015 $ 3,993,718 $ 3,406,420 $ 587,298

Changes for the year:
   Service cost 119,138 - 119,138
   Interest 271,142 - 271,142
   Differences between expected and actual 
      experience 173,815 - 173,815
   Contributions – employer - 106,869 (106,869)
   Contributions – employee - 37,381 (37,381)
   Net investment income - 57,637 (57,637)
   Benefit payments, including refunds of      
      employee contributions (240,510) (240,510) -
   Administrative expenses - (2,144) 2,144
   Other changes - (25) 25

      Net changes 323,585 (40,792) 364,377

Balances at June 30, 2016 $ 4,317,303 $ 3,365,628 $ 951,675

Sensitivity of the Town’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the 
Discount Rate

The following presents the Town’s proportionate share of the VRS State Employee Retirement Plan 
net pension liability using the discount rate of 7.00%, as well as what the Town’s proportionate share 
of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage 
point lower (6.00%) or one percentage point higher (8.00%) than the current rate:

1.00% 
Decrease 
(6.00%)

Current 
Discount 

Rate 
(7.00%)

1.00% 
Increase 
(8.00%)

Town’s proportionate share of the VRS 
State Employee Retirement Plan Net 
Pension Liability $ 1,465,890 $ 951,675 $ 519,854



DRAFT

42

Town of Amherst, Virginia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Note 7 – Retirement Plan (continued)

Pension liabilities, pension expense, and deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions

For the year ended June 30, 2017, the Town recognized pension expense of $157,368. At June 30, 
2017, the Town reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions from the following sources:

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $ 135,103 $ 3,033

Change in assumptions - -

Net difference between projected and actual 

    earnings on pension plan investments 86,742 -

Changes in proportion and differences between  

    Employer contributions and proportionate share 

    of contributions - -

Employer contributions subsequent to the 

    measurement date 132,263 -

Total $ 354,108 $ 3,033

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions of $132,263 reported as resulting from the 
Town’s contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the 
Net Pension Liability in the year ended June 30, 2018.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows 
of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension 
expense as follows:

For the year ending 
June 30

2018 $ 37,304
2019 37,302
2020 89,764
2021 54,442
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Note 8 - Defined contribution retirement plan

The Town has a salary reduction 457(b) plan covering substantially all employees, which allows 
employees to defer a percentage of their income for retirement.  The Town does not provide any 
contributions to the plan.

Note 9 - Other Post Employment Benefits

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) has issued it statement No. 45 Financial 
Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other than Pension Plans ("OPEB").  The statement 
established standards for the measurement, recognition and display of OPEB expense and related 
liabilities in the financial statements.  The cost of postemployment healthcare benefits should be 
associated with the periods in which the cost occurs, rather than in the future years when it will be 
paid.  The Town adopted the requirements of GASB Statement No. 45 during the year ended June 30, 
2010.  Recognition of the liability accumulated from prior years will be phased in over 30 years, 
commencing with the 2010 liability.

Plan Description

The Town provides certain benefits for retired employees through a single employer defined benefit 
health and welfare plan.  The Town may change, add or delete benefits with Town Council approval.

Benefits Provided   

The Town provides post employment health, dental, and vision benefits to its retirees, through its 
group insurance health plan.  Retirees must meet the eligibility requirements based on service earned
with VRS (discussed in Note 6) to be eligible to receive benefits upon retirement.  Retirees may elect
to cover a spouse and the spouse can continue coverage upon death of the retiree.

Membership

The number of participants at June 30, 2017 was as follows:

Actives 16
Retirees 3
Spouses/Children 7

Total Participants 26

Funding Policy

The Town currently funds postemployment health care benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis.  During the 
year ended June 30, 2017, the Town recorded $6,876 for the OPEB liability.
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Note 9 - Other Post Employment Benefits (continued)

Annual Other Postemployment Benefit Cost and Net OPEB Obligation

The following table shows the elements of the Town's annual OPEB cost for the year the changes in 
the Town's net OPEB obligation for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017.

Annual required contribution $ 11,700

Annual OPEB cost 11,700
Contributions made (4,824)
Increase in net OPEB obligation 6,876
Net OPEB obligation - beginning of year 36,312
Net OPEB obligation - end of year $ 43,188

The Town's annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the 
net OPEB obligation for the year ended June 30, 2017 are as follows.  

Fiscal Year 
Ending

Annual 
OPEB Cost

Percentage 
of Annual 

OPEB 
Contributed

Net OPEB 
Obligation

6/30/2017 $ 11,700 41 % $ 43,188
6/30/2016 $ 11,100 41 % $ 36,312
6/30/2015 $ 10,500 44 % $ 29,784

Funding Status and Funding Progress

The funded status of the plan as of June 30, 2010 is as follows:
Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) $ 108,000
Actuarial Value of Plan Assets -
Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL) 108,000
Funded Ratio (Actuarial Value of Plan Assets/AAL) 0%
Covered Payroll (Active Plan Members) 677,900
UAAL as a Percentage of Covered Payroll 15.9%

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and 
assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future.  Examples include 
assumptions about future employment, mortality, and healthcare cost trends.  Amounts determined 
regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are 
subject to continued revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates 
are made about the future.  The schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary 
information following the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend information 
about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the 
actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits.
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Note 9 - Other Post Employment Benefits (continued)

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

In the June 30, 2010 valuation, the projected unit credit actuarial cost method was used to develop the 
AAL and the normal cost.  The actuarial assumptions used an investment rate of return of 4% for 
unfunded ARC, a healthcare cost trend of 8.20% graded to 4.70% over 80 years, and payroll growth 
rate of 3.75%.  The unfunded actuarial accrued liability is being amortized over 30 years using the 
Level Percent of Payroll method.  The remaining amortization period at June 30, 2010 is 30 years.

Note 10 – Surety Bonds

The Town maintains a surety bond on all the Town employees in the amount of $100,000 each with 
the Virginia Municipal League Insurance Program.

Note 11 – Risk Management

The Town of Amherst has contracted with insurance carriers to provide coverage for property 
damage, employee dishonesty, general liability and workers compensation.  There has been no 
significant reduction in insurance coverage for the past three years.

The Town contracts with a private carrier for health insurance coverage for its employees.  

Note 12 – Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant and equipment, are reported in the applicable 
governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements.  
Capital assets are defined by the Town as land, buildings, road registered vehicles, and equipment 
with an initial individual cost of more than $5,000 (amount not rounded) and an estimated useful life 
in excess of two years.  Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if 
purchased or constructed.  Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market value at the 
date of donation.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the assets or materially 
extend assets lives are not capitalized.

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed.  Interest 
incurred during the construction phase of capital assets of business-type activities is included as part 
of the capitalized value of the assets constructed.  

Property and Equipment is stated at cost or estimated cost.  Donated property is recorded at market 
value prevailing at the date of donation.  Depreciation on property and equipment commences on the 
first of the fiscal year following the date initially placed into service.  
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Note 12 – Capital Assets (continued)

Depreciation has been provided over the following estimated useful lives using the straight-line 
method:

Water/Sewer system 15-40 years
Buildings 40 years
Equipment 5-15 years

Details of changes in property and equipment in the Government Fund for the fiscal year ending   
June 30, 2017 are as follows:

Balance at
July 1, 2016 Additions Deletions

Balance at
June 30, 2017

Land and Buildings $ 1,544,890 $ - $ - $ 1,544,890
Equipment 699,317 87,808 - 787,125
Subtotal $ 2,244,207 $ 87,808 $ - $ 2,332,015
Less Accumulated 
Depreciation 506,017 82,437 - 588,454
Net Total Capital Assets $ 1,738,190 $ 5,371 $ - $ 1,743,561

Details of changes in property and equipment in the Enterprise Funds for the fiscal year ending     
June 30, 2017 are as follows:

Proprietary Water Fund
Balance at

July 1, 2016 Additions Deletions
Balance at

June 30, 2017
Land $ 5,600 $ - $ - $ 5,600
Equipment 63,061 - - 63,061
Plant and Lines 9,732,951 1,710,847 - 11,443,798
Subtotal $ 9,801,612 $ 1,710,847 $ - $ 11,512,459
Less Accumulated 
Depreciation 3,588,969 315,190 - 3,904,159
Net Total Capital Assets $ 6,212,643 $ 1,395,657 $ - $ 7,608,300

As of June 30, 2017, $2,457,064 of the Proprietary Water Fund property and equipment balance is 
construction in progress and is not being depreciated.
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Note 12 – Capital Assets (continued)

Proprietary Sewer Fund
Balance at

July 1, 2016 Additions Deletions
Balance at

June 30, 2017
Land $ 6,984 $ - $ - $ 6,984
Equipment 41,693 - - 41,693
Plant and Lines 7,154,934 12,398 - 7,167,332
Subtotal $ 7,203,611 $ 12,398 $ - $ 7,216,009
Less Accumulated 
Depreciation 3,479,718 248,708 - 3,728,426
Net Total Capital Assets $ 3,723,893 $ (236,310) $ - $ 3,487,583

As of June 30, 2017, $299,755 of the Proprietary Sewer Fund property and equipment balance is 
construction in progress and is not being depreciated.

Note 13 – Reconciliation of Fund Balances to Governmental Net Position

Detailed explanation of adjustments from fund statements to government-wide statement of net 
position:

Fund Balance-Total $ 1,458,055

When capital assets (land, buildings, equipment) that are 
to be used in governmental activities are purchased or 
constructed, the costs of those assets.

1,743,561

Accounts receivable for real estate taxes 24,412

Uncompensated absence accrual (34,939)

OPEB liability accrual (43,188)

Net pension liability accrual (951,675)

Certificate of deposit interest income accrual 33,368

Deferred outflow – pension 354,108

Deferred inflow - pension (3,033)

Net Position of General Government Activities $ 2,580,669
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Note 14 – Grants

The Town received several grants during the year.  Three grants totaled $12,000 for use in Public 
Safety, one miscellaneous pass-through grant totaled $2,500, and one grant totaled $31,400 for use in 
the Water Fund.  The grant expenses are included in the Statement of Revenue, Expenditures and 
Changes in Fund Balance.  If the use of grants is for capital equipment, the expenditure is reclassified 
as a Capital Asset and depreciated.  

Note 15 – Lease Income

The Town leases land to a corporation, which is used by the corporation for the purpose of operating 
telecommunications equipment.  The commencement date of the lease was March 7, 1997, with 
addendums on March 17, 2000 and December 29, 2009.  The initial lease term was for ten years, with 
six automatic five year renewal terms.  The lease agreement provides for monthly rent to be adjusted 
when the lease is renewed.  Current monthly rent income under the agreement is $783.63 per month.  
Annual lease income for the year ended June 30, 2017 was $9,046.   

Minimum annual lease payments expected to be received by the Town under the lease are as follows:
  

Year Ending Amount

2018 9,404
2019 9,404
2020 9,404
2021 9,404
2022 5,485

Total $ 43,101

Note 16 – Fund Balances

Management implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) Statement No. 54, 
Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions starting with the year ending June 
30, 2011.  In accordance with GASB Statement No. 54, fund balance is classified as nonspendable, 
restricted, committed, assigned and/or unassigned based primarily on the extent to which the Town is 
bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources in the government funds.
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Note 16 – Fund Balances (continued)

The constraints placed on fund balance for the governmental funds are presented below.

Fund Balances General Fund
Total 

Governmental Funds

Nonspendable:
   Prepaid expenses $ 13,199 $ 13,199
Total Nonspendable 13,199 13,199

Unassigned:
   Permanent fund principal 318,434 318,434
   Other unassigned 1,126,422 1,126,422
Total Unassigned 1,444,856 1,444,856

Total Fund Balances $ 1,458,055 $ 1,458,055

In accordance with Town policy, the Town has established a permanent fund principal in the amount 
of 15% of annual general fund revenues in order to meet ongoing expenditure obligations of the 
Town.  The permanent fund principal represents a contingency reserve.  As this permanent fund 
principal does not meet the definitions of restricted, committed or assigned fund balance, it is 
classified as unassigned.

Note 17 – Commitments and contingency

The Town has a potential contingency due to the possibility of water and sewer pipe replacement in 
the near future.  The Town Council is unable to estimate the cost of this replacement, therefore, no 
liability has been established on the government wide financial statements.

In August 2014, the Town Council approved a loan resolution supporting the USDA-financed sewer 
slip-lining project.  The resolution allows for the issuance of bonds in the principal amount up to 
$3,017,000 and allows for the acceptance of a grant not to exceed $1,076,000.

In June 2016, the Town received an initial funding offer from the Virginia Department of Health for a 
principal forgiveness loan of $150,000 to finance the West Court Street Water Line Replacement.  In 
May 2017, the Town received an initial funding offer from the Virginia Department of Health for a 
principal forgiveness loan of $150,000 to finance the WTP Sedimentation Basins Improvement 
project.  

Note 18 - Subsequent Events

The Town has evaluated subsequent events through November xx, 2017, the date the report was 
available for issuance.  One event requiring disclosure was noted.  The Town Manager gave notice of 
resignation in August 2017.
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Federal Grantor/Pass-through Grantor/Program or Cluster Title

Federal 

CFDA 

Number

Pass-through Entity 

Identifying Number

Total Federal 

Expenditures

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

Pass-through programs from:

Virginia Department of Health/Virginia Resources Authority:

Capitalization Grant for Drinking Water State Revolving Funds 66.468 WSL-002-15 1,652,528$   

Capitalization Grant for Drinking Water State Revolving Funds 66.468 PF# 309-16 31,400          

Total U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 1,683,928     

Total expenditures of federal awards 1,683,928$   

Town of Amherst, Virginia

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

See accompanying notes to schedule of expenditures of federal awards
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Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Note 1 – Basis of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the “Schedule”) includes the federal 
award activity of the Town of Amherst under programs of the federal government for the year ended 
June 30, 2017.  The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of 
Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).  Because the Schedule 
presents only a selected portion of the operations of the Town of Amherst, it is not intended to and 
does not present the financial position, changes in net assets, or cash flows of the Town of Amherst.

Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Expenditures

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting.  Such 
expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, 
wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.  Negative 
amounts shown on the Schedule represent adjustments or credits made in the normal course of 
business to amounts reported as expenditures in prior years.

Note 3 – Indirect Cost Rate

The Town of Amherst  has elected not to use the ten percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed 

under the Uniform Guidance.
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Variances
Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

Revenues
General Property Taxes

Personal Property Tax Relief -$                          17,456$                17,456$               
Penalties 7,000                        9,171                    2,171                   

Total General Property Taxes 7,000                        26,627                  19,627                 

Other Local Taxes
Meals 300,000                    348,872                48,872                 
Lodging 9,000                        7,965                    (1,035)                 
Consumer Utility Taxes 144,000                    142,172                (1,828)                 
Local Sales and Use Taxes 91,000                      100,048                9,048                   
Business License Taxes 115,000                    105,001                (9,999)                 
Motor Vehicle Licenses 45,000                      39,678                  (5,322)                 
Bank Stock Taxes 85,000                      76,422                  (8,578)                 

Total Other Local Taxes 789,000                    820,158                31,158                 

Permits and Privilege Fees
Communications Lease 8,790                        9,046                    256                      

Total Permits and Privilege Fees 8,790                        9,046                    256                      

Fines and Forfeitures
Fines 25,000                      8,249                    (16,751)               
Seized Property -                            758                       758                      

Total Fines and Forfeitures 25,000                      9,007                    (15,993)               

Revenue from Use of Money and Property
Interest Earned 8,245                        19,597                  11,352                 

Total Revenue from Use of Money and Property 8,245                        19,597                  11,352                 

Miscellaneous Revenue
Miscellaneous 47,308                      37,522                  (9,786)                 
Administrative Fees from Enterprise Funds 1,080,485                 1,081,660             1,175                   
Police Security Revenue 1,800                        1,266                    (534)                     
Proceeds from Sale of Building/Vehicles -                            19,000                  19,000                 

Total Miscellaneous Revenues 1,129,593                 1,139,448             9,855                   

Intergovernmental Revenues
Non-Categorical Aid From the Commonwealth

Economic Development Recoupment Fee 25,916                      27,386                  1,470                   
Rolling Stock 2,900                        2,535                    (365)                     

Categorical Aid From the Commonwealth
Virginia State Police Grant 54,587                      54,588                  1                          
Fire Grant 8,000                        10,000                  2,000                   
VML Safety Program Grant 2,000                        2,000                    -                       
Police Block Grant -                            -                        -                       
Miscellaneous Grants 2,500                        2,500                    -                       

Total Intergovernmental Revenues 95,903                      99,009                  3,106                   

Total Revenues 2,063,531$               2,122,892$           59,361$               

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

General Fund

Town of Amherst, Virginia
Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget Versus Actual

Governmental Funds
Modified Accrual Basis

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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Variances
Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

Expenditures
General Government Administration
Legislative

Total Mayor and Town Council 11,400$      10,625$      775$         
Total Legislative 11,400        10,625        775           

Non-Legislative General Government
General Government Salaries 235,668      227,652      8,016        
Employment Expenses 77,268        74,346        2,922        
Employee Assistance Program 900             850             50             
Town Attorney 6,000          22,853        (16,853)     
Office Supplies 20,500        31,114        (10,614)     
Office Equipment 24,000        24,148        (148)          
Bank Account Fees -             70               (70)            
Miscellaneous 15,000        3,573          11,427      
Contingency Reserve 87,948        21,696        66,252      
Capital Expenditures 77,500        87,808        (10,308)     
Property & Landscape Maintenance 16,582        15,844        738           
Electric - Streetlights 29,000        25,863        3,137        
Heat and Electricity 5,500          4,830          670           
Telephone 16,000        18,255        (2,255)       
Grants 32,650        33,150        (500)          
Utility Service Allowance 2,200          2,944          (744)          
Building Maintenance 9,000          9,702          (702)          
Decorations 5,255          20,904        (15,649)     
Insurance 51,000        48,753        2,247        
Marketing 48,342        5,228          43,114      
Publications and Membership 4,000          4,125          (125)          
Planning and Development 4,780          2,270          2,510        
Travel and Training 13,500        5,568          7,932        
Audit & Accounting Services 13,500        11,774        1,726        
Engineering Services 6,000          6,000          -            
Fire Department 8,000          10,000        (2,000)       
Bad Debt Expense 3,000          -             3,000        
Reserve for Pay Adj 70,000        -             70,000      
Town Financial Advisor 8,000          -             8,000        
Digital Records Creation 5,000          -             5,000        

Total Non-Legislative General Government 896,093      719,320      176,773    

Total General Government Administration 907,493$    729,945$    177,548$  

Public Safety Expenditures
Law Enforcement and Traffic Control

Public Safety Salaries 266,654      272,072      (5,418)       
Employment Expenses 96,003        91,394        4,609        
Equipment and Uniforms 24,500        64,699        (40,199)     
Travel and Training 5,500          6,873          (1,373)       
Vehicles - Fuel 18,000        9,120          8,880        
Vehicles - Maintenance 11,000        7,913          3,087        
Miscellaneous 7,500          7,905          (405)          
Supplies 5,000          4,624          376           
Attorney Fees 2,955          1,660          1,295        
Police Block Grant Expense 1,000          -             1,000        

Total Public Safety Expenditures 438,112$    466,260$    (28,148)$   

General Fund

Town of Amherst, Virginia
Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget Versus Actual

Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017
Modified Accrual Basis

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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Variances
Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

Expenditures (continued)
Public Works Expenditures
Utilities

Salaries 476,230$        434,689$     41,541$       
Employment Expenses 176,946          159,164       17,782         
Benefits-Contra Capital Projects -                 -               -              
Heat and Electricity 4,500              4,756           (256)            
Vehicles - Repair 7,000              7,248           (248)            
Uniforms 4,500              3,240           1,260           
Building Maintenance 2,200              2,454           (254)            
Equipment Maintenance 19,000            32,994         (13,994)       
Training and Education 6,000              3,765           2,235           
Miscellaneous 4,550              2,957           1,593           
Vehicles - Fuel 17,000            9,430           7,570           

Total Public Works Expenditures 717,926          660,697       57,229         

Total Expenditures 2,063,531       1,856,902    206,629       

Excess of revenues over expenditures -                 265,990       265,990       

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers out -                 -               -              

Total other financing sources (uses) -                 -               -              

Change in Fund Balance 265,990$     

Fund Balance-Beginning 1,192,065    

Fund Balance-Ending 1,458,055$  

General Fund

Town of Amherst, Virginia
Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget Versus Actual

Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017
Modified Accrual Basis

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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Statement of Treasurer's Accountability

Assets Held By Treasurer All Funds

Cash

Cash on Hand 400$                    

Bank of the James 304,376               

Carter Bank & Trust 934,480               

First National Bank of Altavista 123,657               

Local Government Investment Pool 1,328,692            

Total Cash 2,691,605            

Certificates of Deposit

Bank of the James 203,573               

Carter Bank & Trust 900,000               

Total Certificates of Deposit 1,103,573            

Total Assets Held By Treasurer 3,795,178$          

Liabilities Held By Treasurer

Cash Allocated to Funds

General Fund 1,465,401            

Capital Projects Fund -                       

Sewer Fund 946,198

Water Fund 1,360,124            

Garbage Fund 23,455                 

Total Cash Allocated to Funds 3,795,178            

Total Liabilities Held by Treasurer 3,795,178$          

Computation of Legal Debt Margin

Net Assessed Debt Value 175,294,600$     

Debt Limit Percentage 10%

Debt Limit Calculated 17,529,460          

Total Long-Term Debt 6,441,011            

Legal Margin for Creation of Additional Debt 11,088,449          

Schedule of Funding Progress for Other Post Employment Benefits

Actuarial Valuation Date June 30, 2010

Actuarial Value of Assets -$                     
Actuarial Accrued Liability 108,000               

Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL) (108,000)             

Funded Ratio 0%

Annual Covered Payroll 677,900               

UAAL as a Percent of Payroll 15.9%

Town of Amherst, Virginia

Required Supplemental Information

As of June 30, 2017

See accompanying notes to the required supplemental information
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Schedule of Town's Share of Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017*

2017 2016
Total pension liability

Service cost 119,138$         93,912$      
Interest 271,142           264,117      
Changes of benefit terms -                   -              
Differences between expected and actual experience 173,815           (5,469)         
Changes in assumptions -                   -              
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (240,510)          (263,893)     

Net change in total pension liability 323,585           88,667        

Total pension liability - beginning 3,993,718        3,905,051   
Total pension liability - ending 4,317,303$      3,993,718$ 

Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions - employer 106,869$         102,001$    
Contributions - employee 37,381             35,685        
Net investment income 57,637             151,465      
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (240,510)          (263,893)     
Administrative expense (2,144)              (2,170)         
Other (25)                   (31)              

Net change in plan fiduciary net position (40,792)            23,057        

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 3,406,420        3,383,363   
Plan fiduciary net position - ending 3,365,628$      3,406,420$ 

Town's net pension liability 951,675$         587,298$    

Town's net position as a percentage of total pension liability 77.96% 85.29%

Town's covered-employee payroll at 6/30/16 and 6/30/15 759,715$         725,562$    

Town's net pension liability as a percentage of its covered-
   employee payroll 125.27% 80.94%

*The amounts presented have a measurement date of the previous fiscal year-end.

Town of Amherst, Virginia
Required Supplemental Information

As of June 30, 2017

See accompanying notes to the required supplemental information
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Schedule of Town Contributions
VRS State Employee Retirement Plan
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

2017 2016 2015

Contractually Required Contribution 111,087$         107,424$ 102,594$ 

Contributions in Relation to Contractually Required Contribution 132,263$         106,896$ 101,145$ 

Contribution Deficiency (Excess) (21,176)$          528$        1,449$     

Town's covered-employee payroll at year-end 785,624$         759,715$ 725,562$ 

Contributions as a % of Covered Employee Payroll 16.84% 14.07% 13.94%

Town of Amherst, Virginia
Required Supplemental Information

As of June 30, 2017

See accompanying notes to the required supplemental information
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FYE FYE FYE FYE FYE FYE FYE FYE FYE FYE FYE FYE FYE FYE

June 30, 2017 June 30, 2016 June 30, 2015 June 30, 2014 June 30, 2013 June 30, 2012 June 30, 2011 June 30, 2010 June 30, 2009 June 30, 2008 June 30, 2007 June 30, 2006 June 30, 2005 June 30, 2004

Property Tax Levies and Collections

Total Tax Levy -$                   -$                   -$                 113,578$          116,810$          114,714$              110,614$              110,668$              110,754$              108,934$            104,209$               103,239$               97,126$          97,574$                 

Total Tax Collection 21,845 32,193 4,990 115,555 110,671 113,701 110,389 111,148 109,364 108,879 109,200$               114,826$               98,300            98,208                   

Percent of Tax Collection to
Tax Levy 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 101.74% 94.74% 99.12% 99.80% 100.43% 98.74% 99.95% 104.79% 111.22% 101.21% 100.65%

Outstanding Delinquent Taxes 24,412 28,897 26,106 31,158 31,794 22,115 28,494 28,581 34,728 27,134 19,704                   9,891                     -                  17,517                   

Percent of Delinquent Taxes
to Tax Levy 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 27.43% 27.22% 19.28% 25.76% 25.83% 31.36% 24.91% 18.91% 9.58% 0.00% 17.95%

Assessed Value of Taxable Property

Real Estate 177,422,200      174,966,200      175,294,600     177,762,200     178,088,400     177,532,100         177,532,100         177,002,600         177,161,700         118,101,000       117,535,400          114,767,600          114,030,200$ 118,011,200$        

Personal Property 15,423,985        14,756,704        14,518,455       14,311,685       14,492,793       14,056,760           12,747,503           12,713,910           12,828,564           12,404,595         13,060,155            12,131,747            10,425,000     11,372,572            

Public Utility 7,934,880          7,995,189          7,610,219         7,715,526         7,095,686         6,787,165             6,438,670             6,939,129             6,815,354             4,180,032           4,736,689              4,736,689              4,755,969       5,608,023              

Total Assessed Value 200,781,065$    197,718,093$    197,423,274$   199,789,411$   199,676,879$   198,376,025$       196,718,273$       196,655,639$       196,805,618$       134,685,627$     135,332,244$        131,636,036$        129,211,169$ 134,991,795$        

Property Tax Rates (per $100 of Assessed Value)

Real Estate 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 3.6% 3.6% 3.6% 3.6% 3.6% 5.4% 5.4% 5.4% 5.4% 5.4% 5.4%

Personal Property 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 35% 35% 35% 35% 35% 35% 35% 35% 35% 35% 35%

Prior to June 30, 2006 the information in this supplemental schedule was audited by others.

Town of Amherst, Virginia
Required Supplemental Information
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

See accompanying notes to the required supplemental information
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Town of Amherst, Virginia
Notes to the Required Supplemental Information

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Note 1 – Changes in actuarial information 

Changes of benefit terms

There have been no actuarially material changes to the Virginia Retirement System (the “System”) benefit 
provisions since the prior actuarial valuation.  The 2014 valuation includes Hybrid Retirement Plan 
members for the first time.  The hybrid plan applies to most new employees hired on or after January 1, 
2014 and not covered by enhanced hazardous duty benefits.  Because this was a new benefit and the 
number of participants was relatively small, the impact on the liabilities as of the measurement date of June 
30, 2016 are not material.

Changes of assumptions

The following changes in actuarial assumptions were made effective June 30, 2013 based on the most 
recent experience study of the System for the four-year period ending June 30, 2012:

Non-LEOS:
 Update mortality table 
 Decrease in rates of service retirement 
 Decrease in rates of disability retirement
 Reduce rates of salary increase by 0.25% per year 

LEOS:
 Update mortality table 
 Adjustment to rates of service retirement for females
 Increase in rates of withdrawal
 Decrease in male and female rates of disability
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance
and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance

with Government Auditing Standards

To the Honorable Members of Town Council
Town of Amherst, Virginia

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to the financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States, and the Specifications for Audit of Counties, Cities and Towns, issued 
by the Auditor of Public Accounts of the Commonwealth of Virginia, the accompanying financial statements of 
the governmental activities and the business-type activities of the Town of Amherst as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2017, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Town of 
Amherst's basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated November xx, 2017.  

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Town of Amherst’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town of Amherst's internal control.  Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town of Amherst's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal 
control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been 
identified.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town of Amherst’s financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of 
our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards.  

We noted certain matters that we reported to management of the Town of Amherst, in a separate letter dated 
November xx, 2017.
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Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and 
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on 
compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose.

Restriction on Use

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, Town Council, others within the 
entity, and federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities and is not intended to be and should not be used 
by anyone other than these separate parties.  However, this report is a matter of public record and its distribution 
is not limited.

Lynchburg, Virginia
November xx, 2017                              
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Independent Auditor’s Report Compliance for Each Major Program and 
on Internal Control over Compliance Required by The Uniform Guidance

To the Honorable Members of Town Council
Town of Amherst, Virginia

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited Town of Amherst’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the 
OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of the Town of Amherst’s 
major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2017. Town of Amherst’s major federal programs are 
identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned 
costs.

Management’s Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with the federal statutes, regulations, terms and conditions of its
federal awards applicable to its federal programs.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the Town of Amherst’s major federal 
programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit 
of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States; and audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, 
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform 
Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above 
that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, 
on a test basis, evidence about the Town of Amherst’s compliance with those requirements and performing such 
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal 
program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Town of Amherst’s compliance. 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

In our opinion, the Town of Amherst complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance referred to 
above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended June 
30, 2017.
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Report on Internal Control over Compliance

Management of the Town of Amherst is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control 
over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  In planning and performing our 
audit of compliance, we considered the Town of Amherst’s internal control over compliance with the types of 
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the 
auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in 
accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town 
of Amherst’s internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that 
material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or 
detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over 
compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance 
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  We did not identify any deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist 
that have not been identified.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform 
Guidance.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Restriction on Use

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, Town Council, others within the 
entity, and federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities and is not intended to be and should not be used 
by anyone other than these separate parties.  However, this report is a matter of public record and its distribution 
is not limited.

Lynchburg, Virginia
November xx, 2017
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Town of Amherst, Virginia
Summary of Compliance Matters

As more fully described in the Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and 
on Compliance and Other Matters based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards, we performed tests of the Town of Amherst’s compliance with certain 
provisions of the laws, regulations, contracts, and grants shown below.

State Compliance Matters

Code of Virginia
Budget and Appropriation Laws

Cash and Investments Laws
Conflicts of Interest Act

Local Retirement Systems
Debt Provisions

Procurement Laws
Uniform Disposition of Unclaimed Property Act

Federal Compliance Matters

Compliance Supplement for Single Audits of State and Local Governments

Provisions and conditions of agreements related to federal programs selected for testing.
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Town of Amherst, Virginia
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Section I- Summary of Auditor’s Results

Financial Statements

 The auditor's report expresses an unmodified opinion on the financial statements of the Town 
of Amherst.

 No significant deficiencies related to the audit of the financial statements were reported.

 No instances of noncompliance material to the financial statements were disclosed.

Federal Awards

 No significant deficiencies relating to the audit of the major federal award programs were 
reported in the Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major Program and on 
Internal Control over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance.

 The auditor’s report on compliance for the major federal award programs for the Town of 
Amherst expresses an unmodified opinion.

 The audit disclosed no audit findings relating to major programs.

Identification of Major Programs/Programs Tested

 The program tested as a major program was:

CFDA Number Name of Federal Program or Cluster

66.468 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency –
Capitalization Grant for Drinking Water State Revolving Funds

 The threshold used for distinguishing between Type A and Type B programs was $750,000.

 The auditee was determined to be a high-risk auditee.
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Town of Amherst, Virginia
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Section II- Financial Statement Findings

No reportable findings noted.

Section III- Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs

No reportable findings noted.
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Town of Amherst 
Planning Commission Minutes 

January 3, 2018 
 
A meeting of the Town of Amherst Planning Commission was called to order by Chairperson June 
Driskill in the Council Chambers of the Town Hall at 174 S. Main Street at 7:00 PM on January 3, 
2018.  
 
It was noted that a quorum was present as indicated below:  
 

P Kevin Belcher     P William Jones                 

P June Driskill P Kenneth Bunch 

P Ted Finney P   

A 

Clifford Hart 

Michael Mozingo 
     

Interim Town Manager Peter Huber and Clerk of Council Vicki Hunt, in her capacity as Secretary to 
the Commission, were present.   
 
Interim Town Manager Peter Huber reported that the following protocol is suggested for holding 
public hearings by the Commission.  
 

 Town of Amherst Planning Commission  

Public Hearing Process 
 

a. Commission Chair brings up agenda item 

b. Town Manager provides brief outline 

c. Applicant describes project 

d. Commission clarifies issues by asking specific questions  (not opinions) 

e. Commission Chair opens public hearing 

f. Citizens comment 

g. Commission Chair closes public hearing 

h. Commission discusses pros and cons  

i. Commission Chair Mayor asks for a motion  

j. Commission takes up next agenda item 
 

Special Use Request:  488 S. Main Street (TM#95A56) 

 

Interim Town Manager Peter Huber reported that a special use permit requested by Reggie Catlett, 

owner of JAK, LLC, would, if approved, allow JAK, LLC to do light machining and processing of 

electrical equipment and components in the former Brockman building located at 488 S. Main Street 

(TM#95A56).  

 

Copies of the special use permit application, advertising notice, list of adjacent property owners and 

notice, sign affidavit, Table of Zoning Use, and an excerpt from the Town’s Comprehensive Plan 

regarding Economic Development, were provided to the Commissioners.  

 

Reggie Catlett, Owner, JAK, LLC, was present to answer questions.  

 

Commissioners questioned whether the business was being relocated, what the noise level would be, 

whether there would be a need for outside lighting, and if the business would bring any additional jobs 

to the community. 
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Mr. Catlett responded that the business was being relocated from Lynchburg; the noise would be no 

more than an air compressor or no greater than that of an auto repair; he anticipates no outside lighting 

other than for security purposes around doorways; and that he does not anticipate hiring any additional 

workers at this time.   
 

Chairperson June Driskill opened a duly advertised public hearing on the special use permit request at 

7:14 P.M.  
 

Chairperson June Driskill made the following statement: “I am an adjacent property owner and so I 

will not be voting on the process.  I am not opposed to it.  I will just not be voting on it.”    

 

John P. Brockman, Amherst, VA, came forward in favor of the project stating that it would be a boost 

for the community.  
 
There being no one else present who wished to speak on the matter the hearing was closed at 7:16 P.M.  
 

On a motion by Mr. Hart which was seconded by Mr. Bunch the Commission agreed to recommend 

that Town Council approve the special use permit requested by Reggie Catlett to allow JAK, LLC to 

do light machining and processing of electrical equipment and components in the former Brockman 

building located at 488 S. Main Street (TM#95A56).   The motion carried 5-1-1 according to the 

following:  
 

June Driskill  Abstain  Clifford Hart   Aye 

 Kevin Belcher  Aye              Kenneth Bunch Aye   

 Ted Finney  Aye   Mike Mozingo  Absent 

 William Jones  Aye  

 

Interim Town Manager Peter Huber introduced Sara Carter as the New Town Manager for the Town of 

Amherst.      

 
The minutes from the December 6, 2017, Commission meeting were approved on a motion by Mr. 
Bunch seconded by Mr. Finney and carried 6-0-1 according to the following: 
 

June Driskill  Aye   Clifford Hart   Aye 

 Kevin Belcher  Aye              Kenneth Bunch Aye   

 Ted Finney  Aye   Mike Mozingo  Absent 
 William Jones  Aye 
 
Sign Ordinance 
  
Further discussion on revisions to the sign ordinance is deferred to the February meeting.  
 
There being no further business, on motion of Mr. Bunch seconded by Mr. Hart and carried 6-0-1 the 

meeting adjourned at 7:33 PM. 
 

     _______________________________ 

June Driskill, Chairperson  

 

 

Attest:  ______________________________________________ 



 

 

Town Manager’s Report for the January 10, 2018 Town Council Meeting 

 

 

Committee        Report 

 
A. Industrial Development Authority     No meetings/no report 

 

B. Planning Commission      Met on January 3th  

 

C. Board of Zoning Appeals      No meetings/no report 

 

D. Property Maintenance Investigation Board   No meetings/no report 

 

E. Public Safety and Community Relations Committee No meetings/no report 

 

F. Finance Committee      No meetings/no report 

 

G. Utilities Committee      No meetings/no report 

 

H. Personnel Committee      No meetings/no report 

 

I. Joint Committee on Cooperation    No meetings/no report 

 

J. Town/Sweet Briar Sewer Use Advisory Commission No meetings/no report 

 

K. Region 2000 Regional Commission    No report 

 

L. Central Virginia Metropolitan Planning Organization  No report 

 

 

Other Items 

 

A. Property Maintenance  

1. A compilation of properties is being developed for consideration by the property maintenance 

committee. 

 

B. Personnel - Shifts in the Town’s personnel alignment over the past month include: 

1. Resignation of Carrie Brown  

 

C. Office and Computer Operations 

1. Town Manager and Police Chief offices outfitted 

2. Continue to work on organization of computer files 



AMHERST POLICE DEPARTMENT 
MONTHLY ACTIVITY REPORT 

Numbers provided are the best available at the time of report, but may not be exact due to limited data fields available within the system and 
officer recollection of each incident as it occurred.  Data in work time method is the best estimation of time spent as reported by personnel.   

  December 2017 

ACTIVITY TOTALS 

CALLS FOR SERVICE FOR MONTH 277 

Assist Motorist 24 

Assist Other Agency 36 

Assist Other Officer 40 

Building Checks / Alarms 60 

Checking Details 0 

Drug Arrest 4  

DUI / DUID 1 

Emergency Custody Orders - ECO  

EMS Calls 2 

Felonies Cleared 9 

Felonies Investigated 10 

Felony Arrest 14 

Meetings / Public Relations 0  

Misdemeanor Arrest 19 

Parking Tickets  

Protective Orders 8 

Search Warrants 1 

Suspended / Revoked License  4 

Traffic Accidents 7 

Traffic Summons - Accident 0 

Traffic Summons – Non Accident 47 

Traffic Warnings 41 

Warrants Obtained 20 

UNIFORM PATROL WORK TIME METHOD 

Crime Prevention (Hours)   

Directed Patrol (Hours)  

ECO (Hours)   

Radar Assignments (Hours) Approx  

Training and Career Development  (Hours) I.    

Time Spent Out of Town (Hours)   
 



 
 

TOWN OF AMHERST 
     P.O. Box 280    174 S. Main Street   Amherst, VA 24521 
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Respecting the past. Attending the present. Concentrating on the future. 

 

To: Town Council 

From: Tracie Wright 

Date: January 2, 2018 

Re: December Monthly Report  

  
Utilities – 1,160 bills were cut totaling $193,317.34.   
 
A/P – A total of 61 checks were cut totaling $360,378.04.   
 

Meals and Beverage Tax – 16 Businesses paid $27,148.20 in Meals and Beverage Tax for the month of 

November.   
 
Taxes – License Fee bills were mailed out October 31, 2017 and were due December 5, 2017.  The billing 
totals to be collected were $46,545.36, and $12,357.43 is still left outstanding. 
 
Collections – One lien was placed on a property for non-payment of dormant utility charges. 

 160 Norfolk Street 
 

A/R –  

 The Town is now accepting credit cards for ALL payments.  A 3% fee is added to any transactions 
that are not utilities.   

 A link has been put on the Town website to allow online payments.  Any feedback would be 
greatly appreciated.  Notification of the online payments were added to the 12/31/17 utility bills. 

 
Banking – The Town received three Banking Service RFP’s.  A comparison and recommendation are 
separate from this report. 
 
Budget – After the last meeting I forwarded each of you the list of non-profits that a “Donation Request” 
packet was mailed to.  No one responded with additional organizations that may want a packet.   
 
Personal Note – I would like to thank everyone for their support and understanding during the passing of 
my daddy.  I appreciate all the calls, flowers and patience during the week I had to be out.  

 

 



Clerk of Council Report 

December 2017 
 

Committee Meetings 

Attend 12/04/17 Meeting of the Industrial Development Authority; draft minutes for approval; 

post to Town website 

Attend 12/06/17 Meeting of the Planning Commission; draft minutes for approval; post to Town 

website 

Attend 12/13/17 Meeting of the Town Council; draft minutes for approval; post to Town website 

Recodification of Town Code 

Correspond with Municode Senior Code Attorney re Town Code proof progress report.  

Town Website 

Webpage updates - Post new information - track and update meetings notices and other town 

information, i.e. parade information; new Town Manager information; update Town Calendars; 

new employment opportunities  

Christmas Parade 

Miscellaneous e-mails with Octavia Starbuck; Mike Cargill and others  

Town Council/Miscellaneous 

Receive and review agenda packages for IDA, Planning Commission and Town Council Meetings.  

Prepare for meetings 

Prepare and post notices for public hearings to Town bulletin board and newspaper  

Quorums:  Confirm quorums for IDA, Planning Commission and Town Council meetings by e-

mail and/or telephone contact. 

Prepare and Order New Town Manager Business Cards 

Town of Amherst Committees as of December 31, 2017 – Update; See Attached.  



Town of Amherst Committees as of December 31, 2017 
 
 

TOWN COUNCIL 

Appointed/Term Expires Appointed/Term Expires 

D. Dwayne Tuggle, Mayor 01/01/17 12/31/18 

Kenneth S. Watts 01/01/17 12/31/18 

Andra A. Higginbotham 01/01/17 12/31/18 

Mark A. Stinnett 01/01/17 12/31/18 

Rachel A. Carton 01/01/17  12/31/18 

Kenneth G. Bunch 11/08/17  12/31/18 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION  

JOINT COMMITTEE ON COOPERATION(TOWN/COUNTY) 

Andra’ A. Higginbotham 1/11/17 12/31/19 

Kenneth S. Watts 1/14/15 12/31/17 

Rachel Thompson 1/13/16 12/31/18 

(3 Appointments from Amherst County) 

 
TOWN/SWEET BRIAR SEWER USE ADVISORY COMMISSION 

Clifford Hart 02/08/17 12/31/18 

12/31/18 

 

 

Tracy Wilburn 05/10/17 

 
 
 
 

BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS  

 
 
 
 
 

 
INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY  

Lewis Addison, Chairman 04/08/15 06/30/19 

Sharon Watts Turner 01/17/17 06/30/18 

Gary Jennings 05/10/17  06/30/21 

Jacob Bailey 06/08/16 06/30/20 

Manly Rucker 05/10/17  06/30/21 

Vernon Wood 05/14/14 06/30/18 

Richard Wydner 04/08/15 06/30/19 

 
PROPERTY MAINTENANCE INVESTIGATION BOARD 

 

C. Manly Rucker, III 05/10/17 06/30/20 

Bessie H. Kirkwood 04/08/15 06/30/18 

Glenda Hash 06/08/16 06/30/20 

 
REGION 2000 REGIONAL COMMISSION/MPO  

D. Dwayne Tuggle 01/11/17 12/31/18 

Jack Hobbs 01/11/17 12/31/18 

FINANCE COMMITTEE 
Rachel A. Carton (Chairman) and Kenneth S. Watts 

 Monitor the budget development process. 

 Review accounting procedures, budgets, and bookkeeping activities. 
 Interface with auditors. 

 

COMMUNITY RELATIONS COMMITTEE 
Andrá Higginbotham (Chairman) and Mark A. Stinnett 

 Monitor implementation of the Town’s public safety programs. 

 Review Town beautification efforts and programs. 

 Interface with citizens, business operators, Sweet Briar College, and VDOT. 

 

UTILITIES COMMITTEE 
Kenneth S. Watts (Chairman) and Kenneth G. Bunch-(03-06-17-12-31-17) 

 Monitor the development and construction of capital improvement projects. 

 Review proposed utility system upgrades and extensions. 

 Interface and assist developers in coordinating Town policies with proposed new 
developments. 

TOWN COUNCIL COMMITTEES (FOR THE 01/01/17-12/31/18 TERM) Gary Mays, Chairman 04/08/15 08/31/20 

Ed Carton 11/10/14 08/31/19 

Teresa Tatlock 07/10/16 08/31/21 

Marvin Hensley 08/31/17 08/31/22 

Kevin James Akershoek 12/11/13 08/31/18 

 

June Driskill, Chairperson 06/08/16 06/30/20 Kenneth S. Watts 01/11/17 

Kenneth G. Bunch 12/13/17 12/31/18 (TC rep) 

William Jones 04/08/15 06/30/19 YMCA EXPLORATORY COMMITTEE 

Ted Finney 07/01/17 06/30/21 
Erin Minter, Chairperson 05/10/17 

Kevin Belcher 05/14/14 06/30/18 Erin Calhoun 05/10/17 

Clifford Hart 04/08/15 06/30/19 Paul Robert Munn 08/09/17 

Michael Rhett Mozingo, Sr. 08/09/17 06/30/18 Rebecca A. Fitzgerald 08/09/17 

 



Utility/Town Maintenance and Construction Report
Dec.2017

Water Meter Read 1150

Water Meter Re-Read 23

Disconnects 12

VA-811 Service locations 10

Vehicle PM Work Orders 15

Pump Station/Plant Work Orders 20

Banners Installed/Dismantled 1

Water Services Installed/Replaced 2

Sewer Services Installed/Replaced 1

Minor Leaks repairedks Repaired 2

Major Leaks Repaired 0

Minor Sewer Problems Resolved 1

Major Sewer Problems Resolved 64

Man Hours

Meter Reading 80

Street/Sidewalk Maintenance 173

Safety Training 2

Bush Hogging 0

Flushing Water 2

Equipment Maintenance 78

Xmas decorations 24

Major Issues & Comments

Busy month, problems with Christmas lights that had to be addressed before installation. Electrial troubles with 

light hook up as well.Christmas  parade preparation. Many hours spent on Main street and side walks. trash clean up paraden up after parade Lots of time working  with

Garden Club.

Routine/Annual Work Projects/Unusual Work

Service Work Orders Locating Un-marked/Unknown Water & Sewer System Assets

Meter Reading Continue Safety and Shop/Yard Clean-up

Prev-Maint Work Orders Continue Planning System-wide Flushing/Water Quality Program

Disconnects Increased Seasonal Bushogging/repairing Right-of-Ways/Crossings

Re-connects Scoping of Utility Installs at Mill Race Subdivision

Flushing Program 

in Select Locations



Busy month, problems with Christmas lights that had to be addressed before installation. Electrial troubles with 

Lots of time working  with
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Respecting the past. Attending the present. Concentrating on the future. 

 

To: Town Council 

From: Tracie Wright 

Date: January 3, 2018 

Re: Banking Services RFP Recommendation 

 
The Town received three RFP’s in response to our solicitation for Banking Services.  One respondent 

had extremely high rates compared to the other two, which resulted in immediate elimination.   

 

A small comparison of the two lower respondents are outlined below: 

 

Rates 
Bank1 
Unit 
Cost 

Total 
Estimated 
Monthly 

Cost 

Bank2 
Unit 
Cost 

Total 
Estimated 

Monthly Cost 

Deposits 0.002 38.00     0                 0.00 

EFT Deposits 0.2 2 0.25 2.5 

Checks Deposited 0.12 108 0.075 67.5 

Monthly Fee 21 42 10 20 

Checks Paid 0.2 20 0.1 10 

Returned Checks  12 12 6 6 

Remote Deposit Capture 47 47 35 35 

Remote Deposit Set-Up (One Time Fee)   1136        0  0 

Business Bill Pay        0                0.00 10 10 

Stop Payments 35 35 33 33 

Wire (Incoming) 15 15 5 5 

Wire Transfer  25 25 15 15 

Direct Deposit 0.2 14 0.1 7 

Base Fees              160.00 100 100 

        Earnings Credit Rate 0.50%  $       504.11  0.75%  $         665.75  

 
Bank #1 provided a much larger rate schedule with additional maintenance fees and rates for other 
services that the Town may begin to utilize once Online Banking is implemented.  Therefore, as the Town 



  
 

begins to use the services outlined the monthly cost will rise more with Bank #1 due to the higher rates 
associated with each service.   
 
The analysis provided by Bank#1 with all services and fees and after the Earnings Credit is applied, 
estimated a monthly cost of $150.00 based on our current transaction level.  
 
The analysis provided by Bank#2 provided the Town details that included an “Average Balance Required 
to Offset Charges.”  With Bank#2 fees and an applied Earnings Credit, the Town would only need to 
maintain a balance of $500,000 to offset any fees, therefore, the services with Bank#2 would be at no 
cost.  Bank#2 was not able to provide a couple of the services outlined in the Town’s request; however, 
the services not available would only provide minimal benefit.     
 
With the information that has been provided, staff recommends that Council approve contracting 
Banking Services with Bank#2, which is First National Bank of Altavista.      
 
   

  







closed.

At some point the chemical feeders in this room are going to be replaced and the operations monderized,

replacement of the door would be the initial step in that direction.

Views of exterior door of dry chemical feed room. Top left picture is taken from the outside of the 

of the building. While abandoning the door and filling in the opening has been discussed, if done, there

would be the loss of being able to bring large/long pieces of equipment into the main floor. Which was

the original purpose of the door. There is a loading dock situated below it and a hoist beam above.

The other two picture show the warping of the door and frame. Thus the need for the slat to hold it 



screw drive to access the building.

Interior door of dry chemical room needing replacement. Requires several slams to close and remain shut.

Besides the obvious need for replacement in the first of the above three pictures, all locks are at the Water Plant and all use a different key.

Above is the lockset for Waugh's Ferry booster station, the key whereabouts are unknown we use a 



Pictures showing the replacement needs of double doors of influent pumping station at Wastewater Plant.
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